

THE IMPORTANCE OF BEHAVIOR IN THE RECRUITMENT OF MARINE FAUNA AND FLORA

6

EDITED BY: Claire Beatrix Paris and Eric Wolanski PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Marine Science





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relving on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-501-6 DOI 10 3389/978-2-88963-501-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

1

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

THE IMPORTANCE OF BEHAVIOR IN THE RECRUITMENT OF MARINE FAUNA AND FLORA

Topic Editors: **Claire Beatrix Paris,** University of Miami, United States **Eric Wolanski,** James Cook University, Australia

Citation: Paris, C. B., Wolanski, E., eds. (2020). The Importance of Behavior in the Recruitment of Marine Fauna and Flora. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-501-6

Table of Contents

- 04 Response of Gilthead Seabream (Sparus aurata L., 1758) Larvae to Nursery Odor Cues as Described by a New Set of Behavioral Indexes
 Pedro Morais, María P. Parra, Vânia Baptista, Laura Ribeiro,
 Pedro Pousão-Ferreira and Maria A. Teodósio
- 17 Paradigm Lost: Ocean Acidification Will Overturn the Concept of Larval-Fish Biophysical Dispersal Jeffrey M. Leis
- **26** Behavior of Brooded Coral Larvae in Response to Elevated pCO₂ Jessica L. Bergman, Saki Harii, Haruko Kurihara and Peter J. Edmunds
- **37** How Life History Characteristics and Environmental Forcing Shape Settlement Success of Coral Reef Fishes Jennifer A. T. K. Wong-Ala, Christina M. Comfort, Jamison M. Gove, Mark A. Hixon, Margaret A. McManus, Brian S. Powell, Jonathan L. Whitney and Anna B. Neuheimer
- 49 Larval Fish Swimming Behavior Alters Dispersal Patterns From Marine Protected Areas in the North-Western Mediterranean Sea Robin Faillettaz, Claire B. Paris and Jean-Olivier Irisson
- 61 Nearshore Larval Retention and Cross-Shelf Migration of Benthic Crustaceans at an Upwelling Center Steven G. Morgan, Seth H. Miller, Matt J. Robart and John L. Largier
- Wind Conditions on the Great Barrier Reef Influenced the Recruitment of Snapper (Lutjanus carponotatus)
 Jodie A. Schlaefer, Eric Wolanski, Jonathan Lambrechts and Michael J. Kingsford
- 97 Mechanisms of Cross-Shore Transport and Spatial Variability of Phytoplankton on a Rip-Channeled Beach
 Atsushi G. Fujimura, Ad J. H. M. Reniers, Claire B. Paris, Alan L. Shanks, Jamie H. MacMahan and Steven G. Morgan
- 109 The Effects of Anthropogenic Stressors on Reproduction and Recruitment of Corals and Reef Organisms

Robert H. Richmond, Kaho H. Tisthammer and Narrissa P. Spies

118 Biophysical Simulations Support Schooling Behavior of Fish Larvae Throughout Ontogeny

Igal Berenshtein, Claire B. Paris, Hezi Gildor, Erick Fredj, Yael Amitai and Moshe Kiflawi





Response of Gilthead Seabream (Sparus aurata L., 1758) Larvae to Nursery Odor Cues as Described by a New Set of Behavioral Indexes

Pedro Morais^{1,2*}, María P. Parra², Vânia Baptista², Laura Ribeiro³, Pedro Pousão-Ferreira³ and Maria A. Teodósio²

¹ Department of Environmental Science, Policy, and Management, Mulford Hall, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, United States, ² Centre of Marine Sciences (CCMAR), University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal, ³ Aquaculture Research Station (EPPO), Portuguese Institute for the Ocean and Atmosphere (IPMA), Olhão, Portugal

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tilmann Harder, University of Bremen, Germany

Reviewed by:

Rémi M. Daigle, Laval University, Canada Mario Barletta, Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, Brazil Robin Faillettaz, Lille University of Science and Technology, France

> *Correspondence: Pedro Morais pmorais@ualg.pt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 27 April 2017 Accepted: 19 September 2017 Published: 13 October 2017

Citation:

Morais P, Parra MP, Baptista V, Ribeiro L, Pousão-Ferreira P and Teodósio MA (2017) Response of Gilthead Seabream (Sparus aurata L., 1758) Larvae to Nursery Odor Cues as Described by a New Set of Behavioral Indexes. Front. Mar. Sci. 4:318. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2017.00318

Temperate marine fish larvae use a series of environmental cues (e.g., olfactory, hearing, visual) to mediate the selection of nursery habitats. However, habitat selection may vary according to individuals' physiological condition. Therefore, this study aimed to determine the ability of gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata L., 1758) larvae to utilize natural odor cues to locate nursery habitats along ontogeny and to examine how it varies with individual's physiological condition. The hypothesis being tested is that S. aurata larvae prefer coastal rocky reefs as nursery areas, but they might use coastal lagoons as nursery grounds-ecosystems known for their productivity-if under starvation conditions, as a compensatory mechanism to avoid slow growth or even death. A choice-chamber experiment was used to investigate the behavioral responses of satiated and starved laboratory-reared S. aurata larvae, along ontogeny (pre-flexion, flexion, post-flexion), to water collected in a coastal artificial rocky reef and a coastal lagoon. The physiological condition of S. aurata larvae was determined by analyzing several biochemical condition indices. Complementarily, a new set of four preference indexes were developed-Choice-Chamber Preference Indexes-and discussed to provide a clear measure of the behavioral changes of a species along ontogeny by balancing all the behavioral choices made during the experimental trials, including the unresponsive behavior. A developmental threshold was identified at 24 days post-hatching, before which insufficient swimming capability disabled responsive behavior. Beyond this threshold, post-flexion larvae preferred rocky coastal water over lagoon water, even if under starvation conditions or poor physiological condition, despite the fact that the unresponsive behavior was largely predominant. S. aurata larvae displayed a cautionary behavioral strategy, so the compensatory mechanisms to ensure metapopulation stability and resilience have to rely on their feeding plasticity and on being a batch-spawning species (i.e., diversified bet-hedging strategy) to compensate the lack of apparent behavioral plasticity.

Keywords: fish larvae, odor cues, ontogeny, physiological condition, habitat selection, compensatory mechanism

INTRODUCTION

The value of nursery areas relies on a series of components that set their biological relevance, namely those components pertaining to connectivity and population dynamics (connectivity, ontogenic migration, seascape migration), ecological and ecophysiological factors (ecotone effects, ecophysiological factors, food/predation trade-offs, food webs), and resource dynamics (resource availability, ontogenic diet shifts, allochthonous inputs) (Sheaves et al., 2015). Therefore, the ability of species to respond to the intrinsic complexity of this ecosystem framework is vital for them. However, the relevance of the behavioral component of marine fish larvae, hatched from pelagic eggs, on their recruitment into coastal and estuarine temperate regions has never been quantified, and most often not even recognized (see Teodósio et al., 2016 for a review). Recently, the Sense Acuity And Behavioral (SAAB) hypothesis was proposed to explain how temperate fish larvae hatched from pelagic eggs in coastal areas find and swim toward estuarine ecosystems, which they will use as nursery grounds (Teodósio et al., 2016). The first premise of this hypothesis postulates that post-flexion larvae rely on their sense acuity to locate estuarine ecosystems by detecting a suite of environmental cues (odor, sound, visual) originated in these ecosystems when they are in coastal or offshore areas (Teodósio et al., 2016). The second premise postulates that once larvae sense estuarine cues, they will swim toward an estuarine ecosystem using distinct swimming strategies which vary according to their location (offshore areas with no influence of patchy estuarine cues, offshore or nearshore areas under the effect of patchy estuarine cues, estuarine plume, or near the entrance of an estuary). Larvae may also swim toward the coast when they are offshore and away from any estuarine cue as a result of an innate behavior (Faillettaz et al., 2015; Teodósio et al., 2016).

The capacity of fish larvae to respond to environmental cues depends first on their ability to detect stimuli, and then on their swimming abilities to follow those cues (Boehlert and Mundy, 1988; Huijbers et al., 2012). Generally, sense acuity and swimming abilities increase along ontogeny (Teodósio et al., 2016); however, some species are capable of physically responding to stimuli immediately upon hatching, while others may take nearly 2 months to react to stimuli (Arvedlund and Kavanagh, 2009). Potential larval stimuli include water pressure gradients (Burke et al., 1995), magnetism (Qin et al., 2015), visual (Whitfield, 1994; Faillettaz et al., 2015), auditory (Staaterman et al., 2014), and odor-based cues (McCormick and Manassa, 2008; Arvedlund and Kavanagh, 2009), which may be used in tandem to identify suitable habitats (Lecchini et al., 2005; Hale et al., 2008). These environmental cues will then trigger a variety of larval behaviors, such as orientation (Paris et al., 2013; Faillettaz et al., 2015), vertical migration (Fortier and Leggett, 1983), predator avoidance (Lehtiniemi, 2005), and habitat selection (Gerlach et al., 2007).

Fish larvae perceive odor cues over greater distances than any other cue (Teodósio et al., 2016), and they can distinguish the chemical signatures present in the water to pinpoint the location of a nursery habitat (Atema et al., 2002; Døving et al., 2006; Paris et al., 2013). Chemical signatures are determined by abiotic or biotic factors, as type of substrate (V. Baptista, CCMAR, unpublished data), vegetation (Radford et al., 2012), or chemical signals released by conspecifics (Døving et al., 2006). However, most of the research done about habitat selection focused on coral reef fish larvae (see Teodósio et al., 2016 for a review), which suggests the existence of an olfactory-driven homing behavior (Gerlach et al., 2007). Such behavior is also relevant for the understudied temperate fish species (James et al., 2008; Radford et al., 2012), as proposed by the SAAB hypothesis (Teodósio et al., 2016).

Estuarine ecosystems are facultative nursery habitats for some of the temperate fish larvae hatching from pelagic eggs in coastal areas, despite the plentiful of resources and suitable abiotic characteristics that these ecosystems may offer to enhance larvae's growth and survival (Chaoui et al., 2006; Escalas et al., 2015). Indeed, habitat selection is the outcome of a non-random use of space, driven by environmental stimuli and behavioral choices under changing resource conditions (Kramer et al., 1997; Railsback and Harvey, 2002) and balanced by the risks inherent in each behavioral decision (Lima and Dill, 1990). Habitat choice is a mechanism resulting from a coevolutionary process allowing individuals to choose the highest quality habitat available to acquire the greatest fitness benefit (Kristan, 2003), and thus putatively enabling metapopulations with increased stability and resilience. The conditional strategy hypothesis, which states that genetically monomorphic individuals decide on tactics depending on their status (size, sex, age) or condition (energy reserves) to acquire higher fitness (Gross, 1996), frames perfectly the conundrum posed by an individual's habitat choice decisions. In the case of fish, the search for high-quality habitats depends also on density-independent (environmental variables as water temperature, salinity, oxygen concentration, light) (Craig and Crowder, 2002) and density-dependent factors (e.g., competition, predation risk, available substrate, and refuge area) (Craig and Crowder, 2002; Shepherd and Litvak, 2004). Additionally, the combination of factors leading to habitat selection may vary along ontogeny, which makes it a very dynamic process (Craig and Crowder, 2002; Kerr et al., 2010).

Under this framework, we hypothesize that fish larvae that use estuarine habitats as facultative nursery areas will ingress into such nutrient-rich habitats when in poor physiological condition, as a compensatory mechanism to avoid slow growth or even death. Thus, this study used the gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* Linnaeus 1758 (Actinopterygii: Sparidae) larvae as a model species to determine their preference for coastal rocky reef or coastal lagoon habitats along ontogeny and at two different states of food supply (satiation and starvation). Habitat preference was quantified with a choice-chamber experiment, in which water from an artificial coastal rocky reef and a coastal lagoon were used to evaluate larvae's preference.

The evolution of gilthead seabream larvae behavioral responses were quantified along ontogeny with a new set of four preference indexes developed in this paper and named Choice-Chamber Preference Indexes (Preference Index, Minimum Consecutive Time Index, Maximum Consecutive Time Index, Overall Time Index). The development of these indexes is of prime importance because so far there is no consistent methodology to analyze data obtained with choice-chamber experiments. For example, Radford et al. (2012) present their results as the mean percentage of time larvae spent in the preferred water type, while Atema et al. (2002) and Gerlach et al. (2007) calculated a preference index that varied between -100 and +100% and calculated as the difference between the relative mean time spent in waters from two different habitats. Furthermore, and as far as we perceive them, none of these works accounted for unresponsive and inconclusive behavior (Atema et al., 2002; Gerlach et al., 2007; Radford et al., 2012). Thus, we also aim to evaluate the advantages and disadvantages of each one these indexes and their applicability to other taxa.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Model Species: *Sparus aurata* Linnaeus 1758 (Actinopterygii: Sparidae)

Sparidae uses temperate coastal areas as preferential spawning grounds, where larvae might recruit into rocky reef areas or vegetated areas (Harmelin-Vivien et al., 1995; Borges et al., 2006; De Raedemaecker et al., 2010). Sparidae also uses estuarine ecosystems as alternative nursery areas (Chaoui et al., 2006; Abecasis and Erzini, 2008; Isnard et al., 2015), as the gilthead seabream, *S. aurata* Linnaeus, 1758 (Chaoui et al., 2006; Abecasis and Erzini, 2008; Isnard et al., 2015).

S. aurata may ingress into coastal lagoons as larvae (as early as pre-metamorphic larvae) or as juveniles during spring (Mercier et al., 2012; Tournois et al., 2013), returning to the coast during autumn (Mercier et al., 2012). Adults might reingress into coastal lagoons several times during their life even if they spent the juvenile phase at sea (Mercier et al., 2012). While in coastal lagoons, adults use seagrass habitats more frequently than any other type of habitat, but without exhibiting a consistent diel pattern of activity (Abecasis and Erzini, 2008). Yet, adults may exhibit a homing behavior when displaced from their home range within the lagoon (Abecasis and Erzini, 2008), but without necessarily returning to their nursery lagoon later in life (Mercier et al., 2012). S. aurata exhibits high trophic plasticity (i.e., incorporate organic matter with different originsterrestrial, lagoon, marine) (Escalas et al., 2015) and feeding plasticity (Gamito et al., 2003; Tancioni et al., 2003). Some of their prey aggregate in seagrass patches, which might explain why they prefer this habitat over other coastal lagoon habitats (Abecasis and Erzini, 2008).

Experimental Design

The preference of *S. aurata* larvae for coastal and lagoon water was tested with 546 laboratory-reared larvae, of which 306 larvae and 240 larvae were tested under satiation and starvation conditions, respectively (**Table 1**). Each larva is an experimental unit assigned randomly to each treatment among those that were available at the Aquaculture Research Station of the Portuguese Institute for the Ocean and Atmosphere (Olhão, Portugal). The exogenous feeding of larvae used in this work initiated at 4 days post-hatching (DPH) and flexion occurred when larvae reached
 TABLE 1 | Number of Sparus aurata larvae tested along ontogeny under satiation and starvation conditions.

Development stage	Satiation	Starvation
Pre-flexion	120	75
Flexion	20	20
Post-flexion	166	145
Total	306	240

 \sim 7 mm (24 DPH). Generally, the planktonic life duration of *S. aurata* lasts for 60–70 days (Moretti et al., 1999). Experiments were carried out in a temperature controlled room at Ramalhete Marine Station (CCMAR, University of Algarve).

The water types used in this experiment were collected in an artificial rocky reef (coastal jetty) in Quarteira (Portugal, $37^{\circ}03'58''$ N, $8^{\circ}06'13''$ W) and inside the Ria Formosa coastal lagoon (Portugal, $37^{\circ}00'20''$ N, $7^{\circ}57'59''$ W). Each water type was kept aerated in 701 glass aquaria, which flowed into the choice-chamber through a peristaltic pump.

The swimming capabilities of Sparidae increase along ontogeny (Pattrick and Strydom, 2009; Faria et al., 2011), however, swimming capabilities are limited before post-flexionfor example, up to 3-4 times lower for Pagrus aurata (Sparidae) pre-flexion larvae (Clark et al., 2005). Indeed, a developmental threshold was identified at 24 DPH, before which insufficient swimming capability disabled responsive behavior. The flow rate was set at 20 ml min⁻¹ in each choice lane (area 1 and 2 in Figure 1) for larvae younger than 24 DPH (i.e., pre-flexion larvae), and at 60 ml min⁻¹ for larvae older than 24 DPH (i.e., flexion and post-flexion larvae). Such slow flow speeds (both <0.5 cm s⁻¹) may not have altered the behavioral response of larvae to odor cues since they were not forced to swim against the flow to hold their position in the chamber. The initial flow rate was the minimum flow rate possible to set in our choicechamber experiment to guarantee a laminar flow in the chamber, after testing it with a food coloring dye.

Water from the two sites was collected along the course of the experiment. Water temperature was kept at $19.1 \pm 1.1^{\circ}$ C during the entire experiment, while salinity was kept constant during trials. The average salinity at the coast and coastal lagoon was 35.5 ± 1.0 and 35.9 ± 0.3 , respectively. Dwarf eelgrass *Zostera noltii* (Hornemann, 1832) was added to the aquarium containing the coastal lagoon water since this seagrass is a larval settlement habitat within the Ria Formosa lagoon (Cabaço et al., 2005).

The behavioral responses of *S. aurata* larvae to the odor cues present in two water sources were tested in a choice chamber apparatus (**Figure 1**). The chamber's design was based on the one developed by Gerlach et al. (2007) and made with plexiglass $(20 \times 4 \times 5 \text{ cm}, L \times W \times H)$. The chamber features two frontal water inlets (one for each water source; see A and B in **Figure 1**) and a rear water outlet (see C in **Figure 1**). Larvae were tested along ontogeny every 2 days, from 4 to 57 DPH, to encompass all larval ontogenic stages—pre-flexion, flexion, and post-flexion. During the experimental period, larvae were fed sequentially with enriched rotifers (4 to 25 DPH), enriched *Artemia* metanauplii (15 to 30 DPH), and inert micro diet (15 to 57 DPH). Larvae



FIGURE 1 Choice-chamber used to test the response of *Sparus aurata* larvae to odor cues along ontogeny. Legend: A, inlet hose 1; B, inlet hose 2; C, outlet hose; 1, choice-lane 1; 2, choice-lane 2; 3, area where larvae were placed at the beginning of each trial, and also the area where unresponsive behavior is assigned.

tested under starvation conditions were left without food for 2 days before trials.

For each trial, a single larva was placed in the mid-section of the choice-chamber (area 3 in **Figure 1**) and allowed to acclimatize for 2 min. Then, the position of each larva within the choice-chamber was visually tracked at every 10-s interval for 2 min. After, larva rested for 1 min, during which the position of the water inlet hoses was switched for randomization purposes. The larva was then given 2 min for acclimatization, followed by 2 min of behavioral tracking. Unresponsive behavior was assigned to larvae present in the central area of the choicechamber at every 10-s interval (area 3 in **Figure 1**), while lagoon and coastal water preference were assigned to larvae at the corresponding lanes at every 10-s interval. This procedure follows the experimental design of Gerlach et al. (2007).

A minimum of 20 trials per trial-day was attempted; however, this was not always possible for larvae kept in starvation because some died (see **Table 1** for differences in the number of larvae tested in satiation and starved conditions). The alleged interference of the observer on the behavior of larvae during trials was minimized by maintaining the maximum distance possible while assuring a correct observation of each larva behavior. After each trial, larvae were measured (± 1 mm) under a stereomicroscope and preserved in liquid nitrogen ($-196^{\circ}C$) for subsequent RNA and DNA analyses.

Chi-square tests (data not shown) were used to verify the behavior differences displayed by each larva to odor cues before and after switching the water sources for each lane. If the larva showed distinct behavior between trials, then this larva was assigned as unresponsive to the odor cues, and discarded from further analyses. However, if the larva showed the same behavior in both trials, then data was analyzed by combining the observations done in each trial, thus totaling 240 s. Chi-square tests were also used to test for the differences in the absolute frequencies registered between development stages (pre-flexion, flexion, post-flexion) between and within treatments (satiation, starvation).

Choice-Chamber Preference Indexes

The behavioral response of *S. aurata* larvae to olfactory stimuli along ontogeny, and under satiation and starvation conditions, was expressed by the Choice Chamber Preference Indexes: (i) Preference Index (PI), (ii) Minimum Consecutive Time (MinCT) index, (iii) Maximum Consecutive Time (MaxCT) index, (iv) Overall Time (OT) index. It is relevant to highlight that none of these indices account for the inconclusive behavior (i.e., when larvae spend the same time following each cue), whose interpretations have to be done based on its relative frequency.

The Preference Index (PI) (Equation 1) is calculated as follows:

$$PI = \left[\left(\sum t_{LW} - \sum t_{CW} \right) \times T^{-1} \right] \times \left(1 - \sum t_{UNR} \times T^{-1} \right)$$
(1)

where T represents the sum of both trials duration (i.e., 240 s), $\sum t_{LW}$ represents the total time larva spent exhibiting preference for lagoon water, $\sum t_{CW}$ represents the total time larva spent exhibiting preference for coastal water, and $\sum t_{UNR}$ represents the total time larvae spent exhibiting an unresponsive behavior in both trials. PI varies between -1 (coastal water preference during the entire trial) and 1 (lagoon water preference during the entire trial), while 0 indicates that larvae were unresponsive (i.e., without following an odor cue) or undecided (i.e., alternating between the two odor cues during equal period of time).

The MinCT (Equation 2) and MaxCT (Equation 3) indexes are the minimum and maximum consecutive relative time a larva spent oriented toward the preferred water type, or exhibiting an unresponsive behavior during both trials (minCT_{trial 1 v 2}; maxCT_{trial 1 v 2}—the subscript "v" represents the logical symbol "Or"). Please note that these indexes report only to data referring to the predominant behavior during trials, and are normalized by dividing the registered time by the time of one trial (T_{trial}, 120 s). For example, if a larva shows preference for lagoon water, and if the minimum time this larva spent following lagoon water was 30 s during trial 1 (minCT_{trial}) and 50 s during trial 2 (minCT_{trial 2}), in 120 s trials (T_{trial}), then the MinCT for this larva is 0.25 (Equation 2). The same concept applies to the MaxCT index (Equation 3).

MinCT	' =	$MinCT_{trial \ 1}$	$\times (T_{trial})^{-1}$	<i>if</i> $minCT_{trial 1} \le minCT_{trial 2}$ or
MinCT	' =	MinCT _{trial 2}	$\times (T_{trial})^{-1}$	if $minCT_{trial 1} > minCT_{trial 2}$ (2)
MaxCT	' =	MaxCT _{trial 1}	$\times (T_{trial})^{-1}$	if $maxCT_{trial \ 1} \ge maxCT_{trial \ 2}$ or
MaxCT	' =	MaxCT _{trial 2}	$\times (T_{trial})^{-1}$	if $maxCT_{trial 1} < maxCT_{trial 2}$ (3)

The Overall Time (OT) index is calculated for each behavioral response and larva. OT is calculated as the sum of all total non-consecutive time periods that a larva spent in each water source $[t_{LWn}-n]$ partial time periods spent following lagoon water

(LW) cues—Equation 4.1, t_{CWn} —n partial time periods spent following coastal water (CW) cues—Equation 4.2] or exhibiting an unresponsive behavior [t_{UNRn} —n partial time periods spent exhibiting unresponsive behavior (UNR)—Equation 4.3] during both trials, and normalized by the sum of both trials (T, i.e., 240 s) (Equation 4). For example, if a larva spent three periods of 10, 40, and 50 s in trials 1 and 2 (240 s total) following lagoon water, then its' OT_{LW} index is 0.42.

$$OT_{LW} = \sum_{1}^{n} t_{LWn} \times T^{-1}$$
 (4.1)

$$OT_{CW} = \sum_{1}^{n} t_{CWn} \times T^{-1}$$
(4.2)

$$OT_{UNR} = \sum_{1}^{n} t_{UNRn} \times T^{-1}$$
(4.3)

Data for each index is grouped by development stage (preflexion, flexion, post-flexion) and food condition (satiation and starvation), and displayed graphically in box-n-whisker plots for accurate visualization of data—a bar-chart is not appropriate for the correct interpretation of data. Data will often be described using the average and the standard deviation as a measure of data dispersal.

A multiple comparisons test, the Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance, was used to investigate the behavioral responses of *S. aurata* to odor cues along ontogeny (pre-flexion, flexion, post-flexion) and at different states of food supply (satiation, starvation). The significance of differences between each factor level was assessed with the Holm-Sidak *post-hoc* test, which presents unadjusted *p*-values which were compared with adjusted critical levels to avoid type I errors (Glantz, 2012). It was not possible to use a parametric test because ANOVA's assumptions were not met.

Physiological Condition of *Sparus aurata* Post-flexion Larvae

Nucleic acids derived indices, as the RNA/DNA ratio, are useful indicators of the nutritional condition of marine organisms (see Chícharo and Chícharo, 2008 for a review). Individual variability, as genetic background and/or maternal effect (yolk quantity and quality), may explain why individuals with similar age, size, and under the same diet regime exhibit distinct physiological conditions. Finally, the RNA/DNA ratio informs on individuals physiological condition which is essential to interpret their behavior.

Nucleic acid concentrations of 101 and 96 post-flexion *S. aurata* larvae in satiation and starvation conditions, respectively, were quantified according to Esteves et al. (2000) and Caldarone et al. (2001). Due to tissue effects on RNA and DNA concentration, whole larvae were analyzed (Olivar et al., 2009). The methodological analysis involves mechanical and chemical homogenization of tissues and subsequent fluorescence-photometric measurements using ethidium bromide (EB) as a specific nucleic acid fluorochrome dye. Fluorescence was measured on a microplate reader (Biotek Synergy HT model SIAFRTD) using an excitation wavelength of 365 nm and an emission wavelength of 590 nm. Concentrations were determined by running standard curves of DNA-EB and

RNA-EB every day with known concentrations of λ -phagus DNA (0.25 µg µl⁻¹) and 16S-23S *E. coli* RNA (4 µg µl⁻¹) (Roche), in the appropriate range of values. The average ratio of DNA and RNA slopes (mean ± SE) was 4.1 ± 0.96. The nutritional condition was assessed by the following nucleic acid derived indices: sRD, DNA/DW, and RNA/mg indexes. The RNA/DNA ratios were standardized (sRD) using this information and the reference slope ratio of 2.4, according to Caldarone et al. (2006).

The size of post-flexion larvae had no influence on their sRD (N = 197; $R^2 = 0.013$; P = 0.114). sRD ratios were converted to temperature-adjusted protein growth rates by applying the equation from Buckley (1984) and Buckley et al. (2008), considering the average water temperature during the experiment ($19.1 \pm 1.1^{\circ}$ C). Thus, when larvae's protein growth rates are ≤ 0 or > 0, larvae are in poor and good nutritional condition, respectively (Robinson and Ware, 1988). In the case of our *S. aurata* larvae, the calculated sRD critical value was 0.8 (sRD ≤ 0.8 —larvae in poor physiological condition; sRD > 0.8—larvae in good condition. Fish larvae can be in good condition even if submitted to short-term starvation conditions, either due to genetic characteristics and/or to previously feeding history (Robinson and Ware, 1988).

The preference index was set as a dependent variable of sRD. This generates a scatterplot in which larvae are plotted in four quadrants: (i) preference for lagoon water (PI > 0) and in good physiological condition (sRD > 0.8); (ii) preference for lagoon water (PI > 0) and in poor physiological condition (sRD \leq 0.8); (iii) preference for coastal water (PI \leq 0) and in poor physiological condition (sRD \leq 0.8); (iv) preference for coastal water (PI \geq 0) and in good physiological condition (sRD \geq 0.8); (iv) preference for coastal water (PI \geq 0) and in good physiological condition (sRD > 0.8). The differences in the frequency distribution of larvae between treatments (satiation vs. starvation) were investigated with a chi-square test, while differences in the average value of each quadrant between treatments were assessed through a *t*-test if data is normally distributed, or with the corresponding non-parametric Mann-Whitney *U*-test.

RESULTS

Overall, the response of larvae to coastal and lagoon water odor increased along ontogeny. During the pre-flexion stage, 93.3 and 100% of the larvae tested were unresponsive to odor cues under satiation (Figure 2A) and starvation conditions (Figure 2B), respectively. Unresponsive behavior decreased to a minimum of 39.8% for larvae at the post-flexion stage under satiation conditions (Figure 2B). Larvae tended to prefer coastal water in detriment of lagoon water during flexion and post-flexion development stages, either at satiation or starvation conditions. The smallest and biggest difference between the preference for coastal and lagoon water was observed while larvae were at the flexion stage. The maximum difference was 35.0% that was observed under satiation conditions (Figure 2A), while the minimum difference was 5.0% and observed under starvation conditions (Figure 2B). The inconclusive behavior accounted for 5.4 and 7.6% of satiated and starved post-flexion larvae, respectively (Figure 2). Overall, significant differences were





found in the absolute frequencies observed between all levels (pre-flexion, flexion, post-flexion) within treatments (satiation and starvation) (χ^2 test, p = 0.000), and for the level pre-flexion between treatments (χ^2 test, p = 0.000) (**Table 2**).

The preference index varied between -1.0 and 1.0, and averaged between -0.18 ± 0.32 (satiation, flexion larvae) and 0.0 ± 0.0 (starvation, pre-flexion larvae), which shows a slight preference toward coastal water (**Figure 3**). There were no significant differences between larvae at satiation and starvation conditions at any level of development stage (unadjusted P >0.05) (**Table 3**). The only significant difference was observed between pre-flexion and flexion larvae at satiation conditions (unadjusted P = 0.013) (**Table 3**).

The MinCT and MaxCT indices must be evaluated in conjunction with the number of observations made for each behavior type at a given development stage, to assure statistical significance. Thus, data on MinCT and MaxCT will be used only to access the behavior of larvae along ontogeny regarding the time spent performing an unresponsive behavior, and comparing behaviors at the post-flexion stage.

The average MinCT for unresponsive larvae varied between 65 \pm 38 s (flexion at satiation conditions) and 120 \pm 0 s (pre-flexion at starvation conditions) (**Figures 4A,B**). The MinCT index for unresponsive larvae did not vary significantly between larvae at satiation and starvation conditions within each development stage (0.196 < Unadjusted *P* < 0.738), but it varied significantly between pre-flexion and flexion larvae (unadjusted *P* < 0.001) and pre-flexion and post-flexion larvae (unadjusted *P* < 0.001) in the comparison "Development stage," "Development stage within larvae at satiation conditions," and "Development stage at post-flexion, the MinCT index did not vary significantly between larvae at starvation and satiation conditions within each behavioral response (0.107 < unadjusted *P* < 0.790), but it varied significantly between those larvae exhibiting unresponsive

TABLE 2 | Significance level of the comparisons calculated with a Chi-square test for the absolute frequencies registered for the behavior exhibited by *Sparus aurata* larvae (unresponsive to water cues, coastal water preference, lagoon water preference, inconclusive behavior) during choice-chamber trials performed along ontogeny (pre-flexion, flexion, post-flexion) and in satiation and starvation conditions.

Comparisons	p
SAME DEVELOPMENT STAGE BETWEEN CONDITIONS	
Pre-flexion*	0.000
Flexion	0.096
Post-flexion	0.081
DEVELOPMENT STAGES WITHIN SATIATION	
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	0.000
Flexion vs. post-flexion*	0.000
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	0.000
DEVELOPMENT STAGES WITHIN STARVATION	
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	0.000
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	0.000
Flexion vs. post-flexion*	0.000

The asterisk (*) highlights the existence of significant differences.

behavior and coastal water preference (unadjusted P < 0.001) and unresponsive behavior and lagoon water preference (unadjusted P = 0.002) (**Table 5**).

The average MaxCT for unresponsive larvae varied between 101 ± 23 s (flexion at starvation conditions) and 120 ± 0 s (pre-flexion at starvation conditions) (**Figures 4C,D**). The MaxCT index for unresponsive larvae did not vary significantly between larvae at satiation and starvation conditions within each development stage (unadjusted P > 0.05), except for larvae at flexion (unadjusted P = 0.044), but this index varied significantly between larvae at different development stages



determined for *Sparus aurata* larvae under satiation and starvation conditions along their ontogeny. Negative values of this index indicate a preference for coastal water, while positive values indicate a preference for lagoon water. The plot depicts the 1st and 3rd quartiles, median, mean, and outliers, as well as the 5th and 95th percentiles as the minimum and maximum whiskers, respectively. Legend: open squares represent the mean; thick black line represents the median; full black circles represent the outliers; the numbers at the bottom of the graph account for the number of observations made.

(<0.001 < unadjusted P < 0.021) (**Table 6**). For those larvae at post-flexion, the MaxCT index did not vary significantly between larvae at starvation and satiation conditions within each behavioral response (0.282 < unadjusted P < 0.811), but it varied significantly between those larvae exhibiting unresponsive behavior and coastal water preference (unadjusted P < 0.001) and unresponsive behavior and lagoon water preference (unadjusted P = 0.014) (**Table 7**).

The overall time that larvae spent exhibiting an unresponsive behavior decreased along ontogeny development, from 240.0 \pm 0.0 s (pre-flexion, starvation) (**Figure 5B**) to 106.0 \pm 76.8 s (post-flexion, satiation) (**Figure 5A**). In contrast, the time spent following the odor cues from coastal and lagoon water increased.

The average standard RNA:DNA ratio (sRD) of satiated $(n = 101; 0.51 \pm 0.25)$ and starved $(n = 96; 0.50 \pm 0.25)$ post-flexion larvae did not differed significantly (*U*-test, p = 0.941) (**Figure 6**). The distribution of larvae among the four quadrants – combination of lagoon (PI > 0) and coastal (PI \leq 0) preference vs. above and below the 0.8 critical level—is non-significantly different for satiated and starved larvae (χ^2 test, p = 0.17), as well as the average sRD and PI values within each quadrant (p > 0.05, *t*-test) (**Figure 6**).

DISCUSSION

Considerations about the Choice-Chamber Preference Indexes

The Preference Index has two main advantages. First, it aims to provide a uniform methodology enabling researchers to

TABLE 3 | Multiple comparisons' statistical output for the Preference Index.

Comparisons	Diff. of Means	t	Unadjusted P	Critical level
CONDITION				
Satiation vs. starvation	11.537	1.369	0.172	0.050
CONDITION WITHIN EA	CH DEVELOP	IENT	STAGE	
Pre-flexion	2.882	0.284	0.776	0.050
Flexion	37.750	1.732	0.084	0.050
Post-flexion	6.021	0.769	0.442	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE				
Pre-flexion vs. flexion	23.851	1.985	0.048	0.025
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion	14.609	2.280	0.023	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion	9.242	0.798	0.425	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE	WITHIN LARVA	AE AT	SATIATION CO	NDITIONS
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	41.285	2.481	0.013	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion	31.127	1.909	0.057	0.025
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion	10.158	1.230	0.219	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE	WITHIN LARVA	AE AT	STARVATION O	CONDITIONS
Pre-flexion vs. flexion	6.417	0.370	0.711	0.050
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion	19.060	1.945	0.052	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion	12.644	0.769	0.442	0.025

The post-hoc Holm-Sidak test was used to access the statistical significance of the comparisons made for the factors condition and development stage. The asterisk (*) highlights the existence of significant differences.

compare data between species and at distinct development stages, even if data were obtained using different experimental designs (particularly the time length of experimental trials). The second advantage, and probably the most important, is that the Preference Index provides a clear measure of the behavioral changes of a species along ontogeny (or any other grouping factor-sex, habitat, pCO₂) by balancing all the behavioral choices made during the experimental trials, including the unresponsive behavior. We advocate that unresponsive behavior should be included in the calculation of a preference index since its exclusion overestimates, the preference of a certain species for a given habitat, even if slightly. Also, the assignment of a behavioral choice to areas outside the choice lanes is prone to bias since the mixture of water from two different sources in this area does not have to be necessarily uniform at all times.

The MinCT and MaxCT Indexes complement the information provided by the Preference Index. In the particular case of our study, where the Preference Index only suggests that flexion and post-flexion larvae have a slight preference for coastal habitats, these MinCT and MaxCT indexes demonstrate that the unresponsive behavior diminished along ontogeny. This fact is especially evident for the MinCT index, however for other species or the same species but if tested at subsequent life stages, the maximum time spent exhibiting unresponsive behavior would decrease and reveal even more the usefulness of the MaxCT index. The Overall Time (OT) index did not exhibit the constraints shown by the MaxCT index for *S. aurata* larvae since it clearly captured the decrease of the unresponsive behavior, and also the effect of starvation on larvae's behavior.



FIGURE 4 | Box-n-whiskers plots representing the minimum (A,B) and maximum (C,D) consecutive time (seconds) that *Sparus aurata* larvae spent exhibiting a given behavior (unresponsive, or preference for coastal or lagoon water), during choice-chamber trials performed along ontogeny (pre-flexion, flexion, post-flexion) and in satiation (A,C) and starvation (B,D) conditions. The behavior of each larva was assigned after two choice-chamber trials, and those larvae with inconclusive behavior were not considered in these analyses. The plot depicts the 1st and 3rd quartiles, median, mean, and outliers, as well as the 5th and 95th percentiles as the minimum and maximum whiskers, respectively. Legend: open squares represent the mean; thick black line represents the median; full black circles represent the outliers; the numbers at the bottom of the graph account for the number of observations made.

Finally, the Choice Chamber Preference Indexes also have the potential to be important contributors for parameterizing the behavioral responses of fish larvae in lagrangian behavioral models. However, these indexes should be used cautiously when the inconclusive behavior is predominant—which was not the case in our study. In such situations, the information obtained from the frequency of each behavior (as displayed in **Figure 2**) should be preferentially used for the interpretation of larvae behavior and in parameterizing lagrangian models, since the indexes do not account for inconclusive behavior.

Response of *Sparus aurata* Larvae to Odor Cues

The response of *S. aurata* larvae to nursery odor cues increased along ontogeny, thus coinciding with the development of olfactory structures and increased swimming abilities (up to 19.3 cm s⁻¹, 20.2 body lengths s⁻¹, Faria et al., 2011), as proposed by the SAAB hypothesis (Teodósio et al., 2016). The absence of pre-flexion and flexion larvae response to odor cues can be due to their incapacity to swim toward the cues, to sensing incapacity, and/or because their attraction to nursery grounds develop later during the ontogeny closer to settlement. Certainly, immunohistochemistry studies focusing on the development of

TABLE 4 Multiple comparisons' statistical output for the Minimum Consecutive
Time (MinCT) index calculated for all larvae exhibiting an unresponsive behavior.

Comparisons	Diff. of Means	t	Unadjusted P	Critical level
CONDITION				
Satiation vs. starvation	2.550	0.579	0.563	0.050
CONDITION WITHIN EAG	CH DEVELOPM	IENT S	TAGE	
Pre-flexion	5.536	1.295	0.196	0.050
Flexion	3.782	0.330	0.742	0.050
Post-flexion	1.667	0.334	0.738	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE				
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	49.957	8.163	< 0.001	0.025
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	44.884	13.666	< 0.001	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion	5.073	0.811	0.418	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE	WITHIN LARVA	E AT S	ATIATION CON	IDITIONS
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	49.080	5.846	< 0.001	0.025
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	41.282	9.285	< 0.001	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion	7.797	0.897	0.370	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE	WITHIN LARVA	E AT S	TARVATION CO	ONDITIONS
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	50.833	5.706	< 0.001	0.025
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	48.485	10.027	< 0.001	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion	2.348	0.261	0.794	0.050

The post-hoc Holm-Sidak test was used to access the statistical significance of the comparisons made for the factors condition and development stage. The asterisk (*) highlights the existence of significant differences.

odor receptor cells along temperate fish larvae ontogeny will shed light on this issue.

Contrary to our hypothesis, post-flexion larvae did not follow the odor cues from a coastal lagoon (i.e., an alternative nursery area) as a compensatory mechanism to minimize the detrimental effects of starvation on growth and survival. Two hypotheses might have contributed to this outcome.

First, hatchery-reared larvae might have a different response behavior to odor cues than wild larvae. However, in a similar experiment, hatchery-reared larvae preferred seagrass habitat water in detriment of other water types (Radford et al., 2012). The capture of wild larvae in different stages of larval development and controlled conditions of food availability would be impossible given our experimental design. For example, a work using wild larvae in a choice-chamber experiment tested 37 larvae (James et al., 2008), while we tested 546 larvae. In this experiment, larvae preferred estuarine waters, in detriment of coastal water (James et al., 2008). However, it is important to highlight that these two studies did not consider the unresponsive behavior of larvae in their tests which is a trait that cannot be neglected in animal behavior studies.

A second hypothesis concerns with a putative necessity to exist a combination of odor cues, signaling the habitat (i.e., seagrass odor cues) and the presence of prey, and not just the habitat itself. This hypothesis deserves being investigated in future works and was suggested to explain the unresponsive behavior of *S. aurata* larvae in following the odor cues of another seagrass species signaling a nursery habitat in the Mediterranean Sea (Díaz-Gil et al., 2017). In **TABLE 5** | Multiple comparisons' statistical output for the Minimum Consecutive

 Time (MinCT) index calculated for all post-flexion larvae.

Comparisons	Diff. of Means	t	Unadjusted P	Critical level
CONDITION				
Satiation vs. starvation	5.540	1.228	0.220	0.050
CONDITION WITHIN E	ACH BEHAVIOR	AL RE	SPONSE	
Unresponsive	1.667	0.267	0.790	0.050
Coast	11.603	1.616	0.107	0.050
Lagoon	6.683	0.694	0.488	0.050
BEHAVIORAL RESPON	ISE			
Unresponsive vs. coast*	17.261	3.628	<0.001	0.017
Unresponsive vs. lagoon*	17.864	3.114	0.002	0.025
Coast vs. lagoon	0.603	0.100	0.920	0.050
BEHAVIORAL RESPON	ISE OF LARVAE	AT SA	TIATION COND	ITIONS
Unresponsive vs. coast*	23.896	3.667	<0.001	0.017
Unresponsive vs. lagoon*	22.039	2.939	0.004	0.025
Coast vs. lagoon	1.857	0.240	0.810	0.050
BEHAVIORAL RESPON	ISE OF LARVAE	AT ST	ARVATION CON	DITIONS
Unresponsive vs. coast	10.626	1.533	0.126	0.025
Unresponsive vs. lagoon	13.689	1.576	0.116	0.017
Coast vs. lagoon	3.063	0.333	0.739	0.050

The post-hoc Holm-Sidak test was used to access the statistical significance of the comparisons made for the factors condition and response. The asterisk (*) highlights the existence of significant differences.

future studies, it would also be interesting to include offshore and conspecific cues, as well as different temperature and salinity conditions, to rank larvae's preferences among different cues.

The facultative behavior of S. aurata in using coastal lagoons as nursery habitats for larvae, as observed in the Mediterranean Sea (Mercier et al., 2012; Tournois et al., 2013), confirms previous observations made in the Ria Formosa lagoon. The larvae of Sparidae were among the most abundant in this lagoon, and most of these larvae were post-flexion larvae collected during flood tides (Chícharo and Teodósio, 1991). So, the absence of a meaningful number of pre-flexion larvae and the presence of post-flexion larvae during flood tides suggests that spawning does not occur inside the lagoon, as observed for other species in an estuary located nearby (Faria et al., 2006; Morais et al., 2009). Larvae's ingress mechanisms were never evaluated, so larvae's ingress could result from purely stochastic events (e.g., winds, tides) (Hare et al., 2005; Schieler et al., 2014) or due to active ingress strategies (e.g., selective tidal stream transport, bottom-inflow ingress, or ingress near the bottom or margins where water velocity is slower) which include ingress during flood tides (Hare et al., 2005). However, if S. aurata larvae would employ active ingress strategies then larvae would likely use active retention strategies and their abundance would build-up in the lagoon, but this was not observed. The abundance of larvae was almost 900 times higher during the high-tide than during the low-tide (Chícharo and Teodósio, 1991). So, these observations

TABLE 6 Multiple comparisons'	statistical output for the Maximum Consecutive
Time (MaxCT) index calculated fo	r all larvae exhibiting an unresponsive behavior.

Comparisons	Diff. of Means	t	Unadjusted P	Critical level
CONDITION				
Satiation vs. starvation	3.100	1.778	0.076	0.050
CONDITION WITHIN EAG		IENT S	STAGE	
Pre-flexion	0.625	0.369	0.712	0.050
Flexion*	9.167	2.019	0.044	0.050
Post-flexion	0.758	0.384	0.701	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE				
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	14.271	5.892	< 0.001	0.025
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	8.551	6.578	< 0.001	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion*	5.720	2.311	0.021	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE	WITHIN LARVA	AE AT	SATIATION CO	NDITIONS
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	9.375	2.822	0.005	0.025
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	7.860	4.467	< 0.001	0.017
Flexion vs. post-flexion	1.515	0.440	0.660	0.050
DEVELOPMENT STAGE	WITHIN LARVA	AE AT	STARVATION C	ONDITIONS
Pre-flexion vs. flexion*	19.167	5.437	< 0.001	0.017
Pre-flexion vs. post-flexion*	9.242	4.829	< 0.001	0.025
Flexion vs. post-flexion*	9.924	2.789	0.006	0.050

The post-hoc Holm-Sidak test was used to access the statistical significance of the comparisons made for the factors condition and development stage. The asterisk (*) highlights the existence of significant differences.

suggest a passive ingress of *S. aurata* larvae into the Ria Formosa lagoon.

The decision of S. aurata post-larvae to adjust to new contexts (e.g., migrate or explore new habitats in the face of reducing prey availability or presence of a predator—Chapman et al., 2011; Killen et al., 2012), can also depend on individual's personality (i.e., shy or bold). Individuals can deal with uncertainty in three ways: (1) reduce uncertainty by gathering information; (2) use a strategic behavior according to the options available (state-dependent) which will produce distinct levels of reward (i.e., variance-sensitivity), (3) invest in insurance to mitigate the consequences of uncertainty (Mathot et al., 2012). In the case of S. aurata post-flexion larvae, it seems that they prefer insurance (i.e., unresponsive behavior, preference for coastal water) rather than mitigate the effect of starvation with uncertainty (i.e., swim toward lagoon water). Therefore, S. aurata ought to employ other compensatory mechanisms to mitigate the effect of starvation on metapopulation stability and resilience.

Coastal fish larvae can rely, for example, on high feeding plasticity to avoid prey mismatch (Morote et al., 2010; Chícharo et al., 2012), while batch spawning (i.e., multiple spawning events along the spawning season) would compensate for prey mismatch or other biotic and abiotic detrimental conditions (Helfman et al., 2009). In essence, this conundrum fits within the scope of the bet-hedging theory (Helfman et al., 2009). This theory is an evolutionary hypothesis proposing that individuals "optimize fitness in varying and unpredictable environments by sacrificing mean fitness to decrease variation in fitness" which can concern to any life history stage and **TABLE 7** | Multiple comparisons' statistical output for the Maximum Consecutive

 Time (MaxCT) index calculated for all post-flexion larvae.

Comparisons	Diff. of Means	t	Unadjusted P	Critical level
CONDITION				
Satiation vs. starvation	2.592	1.132	0.259	0.050
CONDITION WITHIN E	ACH BEHAVIOR	AL RE	SPONSE	
Unresponsive	0.758	0.239	0.811	0.050
Coast	1.750	0.480	0.631	0.050
Lagoon	5.267	1.078	0.282	0.050
BEHAVIORAL RESPON	SE			
Unresponsive vs. coast*	8.261	3.422	< 0.001	0.017
Unresponsive vs. lagoon*	7.198	2.473	0.014	0.025
Coast vs. lagoon	1.063	0.349	0.727	0.050
BEHAVIORAL RESPON	SE OF LARVAE	AT SA	TIATION COND	ITIONS
Unresponsive vs. coast	7.765	2.348	0.020	0.017
Unresponsive vs. lagoon	4.944	1.299	0.195	0.025
Coast vs. lagoon	2.821	0.719	0.472	0.050
BEHAVIORAL RESPON	SE OF LARVAE	AT ST	ARVATION CON	DITIONS
Unresponsive vs. coast*	8.758	2.489	0.013	0.017
Unresponsive vs. lagoon	9.453	2.145	0.033	0.025
Coast vs. lagoon	0.696	0.149	0.882	0.050

The post-hoc Holm-Sidak test was used to access the statistical significance of the comparisons made for the factors condition and response. The asterisk (*) highlights the existence of significant differences.

not only with a trade-off between the survival of adults and reproduction (Olofsson et al., 2009). Bet-hedging has several strategies, the conservative bet-hedging, the diversified bethedging, the adaptative bet-hedging, and the dynamic bethedging (Crean and Marshall, 2009; Olofsson et al., 2009). The dynamic bet-hedging stipulates that when environmental conditions are unpredictable, as conditions at sea most of the time, mothers will invest in offspring phenotypic plasticity (Crean and Marshall, 2009). However, in the case of S. aurata, it seems that larvae's lack of behavioral plasticity precludes the existence of other strategy or strategies. Probably, S. aurata use a diversified bet-hedging strategy ("don't put all eggs in one basket") (sensu Olofsson et al., 2009) through a protracted reproduction period (i.e., batch spawning), to compensate the lack of larvae's behavioral plasticity regarding using another nursery area to compensate poor physiological condition and prey mismatch (i.e., lack of food). Therefore, the dynamics of the different bet-hedging strategies used by coastal fish, and how it influences their fitness and metapopulation stability and resilience is far from being understood, which turns this topic prone to new research and debate.

ETHICS STATEMENT

CCMAR facilities and their staff are certified to house and conduct experiments with live animals ("group-1" license by the Veterinary General Directorate, Ministry of Agriculture, Rural



FIGURE 5 | Box-n-whiskers plots representing the non-consecutive overall time (seconds) that Sparus aurata larvae spent exhibiting a given behavior (unresponsive, or preference for coastal or lagoon water), during choice-chamber trials, performed along ontogeny (pre-flexion, flexion, post-flexion) and in satiation (A) and starvation (B) conditions. The behavior of each larva was assigned after two choice-chamber trials, and those larvae with inconclusive behavior were not considered in these analyses. The plot depicts the 1st and 3rd quartiles, median, mean and outliers, as well as the 5th and 95th percentiles as the minimum and maximum whiskers, respectively. Legend: open squares represent the mean; thick black line represents the median; full black circles represent the outliers; the numbers at the bottom of the graph account for the number of observations made.



FIGURE 6 | Variability of Sparus aurata post-flexion larvae Preference Index (PI) in function of their standard RNA:DNA ratio (sRD) at satiation (A) and starvation (B) conditions. Negative values of the Preference Index indicate a preference for coastal water, while positive values indicate a preference for lagoon water. The vertical dashed line represents the 0.8 sRD critical level determined for gilthead seabream larvae using the equations of Buckley (1984) and Buckley et al. (2008).

Development and Fisheries of Portugal) in accordance with the three "R" policy and national and European legislation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MT and PM conceived the study. LR and PP provided the fish larvae used in this study. MP performed the fish behavior tests. MP, VB, MT, and PM performed the biochemical analyses. PM, MT, and MP analyzed the data. PM and MP wrote the paper. All authors revised the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Sara Castanho from Estação Piloto de Piscicultura de Olhão (EPPO)/Aquaculture Research Station—Instituto Português do Mar e da Atmosfera (IPMA, Portugal), and João Reis from Centro do Ramalhete (CCMAR) during the fish larvae behavioral tests, and Mark Ashton for the English revision. This study was funded by Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (Portugal) through project UID/Multi/04326/2013. PM is funded by the Delta Stewardship Council and Delta Science Program under Grant No. (1167). The contents of this material do not necessarily reflect the views and policies of the Delta Stewardship Council, nor does mention of trade names or commercial products constitute endorsement or recommendation for use. VB and MT were funded by Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia

REFERENCES

- Abecasis, D., and Erzini, K. (2008). Site fidelity and movements of gilt-head seabream Sparus aurata in a coastal lagoon (Ria Formosa, Portugal). Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 79, 758–763. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2008.06.019
- Arvedlund, M., and Kavanagh, K. (2009). "The senses and environmental cues used by marine larvae of fish and decapod crustaceans to find tropical coastal ecosystems," in *Ecological Connectivity among Tropical Coastal Ecosystems*, ed L. Nagelkerken (Dordrecht: Springer), 135–184.
- Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., and Gerlach, G. (2002). Larval reef fish could use odour for detection, retention and orientation to reefs. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 241, 151–160. doi: 10.3354/meps241151
- Boehlert, G. W., and Mundy, B. C. (1988). Roles of behavioural and physical factors in larval and juvenile fish recruitment to estuarine nursery areas. Am. Fish. Soc. Symp. 3, 51–67.
- Borges, R., Ben-Hamadou, R., Chícharo, M. A., Ré, P., and Gonçalves, E. J. (2006). Horizontal spatial and temporal distribution patterns of nearshore larval fish assemblages at a temperate rocky shore. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 71, 412–428. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2006.08.020
- Buckley, L. (1984). RNA-DNA ratio: an index of larval fish growth in the sea. *Mar. Biol.* 80, 291–298. doi: 10.1007/BF00392824
- Buckley, L. J., Caldarone, E. M., and Clemmesen, C. (2008). Multi-species larval fish growth model based on temperature and fluorometrically derived RNA/DNA ratios: results from a meta-analysis. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 371, 221–232. doi: 10.3354/meps07648
- Burke, J. S., Tanaka, M., and Seikai, T. (1995). Influence of light and salinity on behaviour of larval Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) and implications for inshore migration. *Neth. J. Sea Res.* 34, 59–69. doi: 10.1016/0077-7579(95)90014-4
- Cabaço, S., Alexandre, A., and Santos, R. (2005). Population-level effects of clam harvesting on the seagrass Zostera noltii. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 298, 123–129. doi: 10.3354/meps298123
- Caldarone, E. M., Clemmesen, C., Berdalet, E., Miller, T. J., Folkvord, A., Holt, G., et al. (2006). Intercalibration of four spectrofluorometric protocols for measuring RNA/DNA ratios in larval and juvenile fish. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods* 4, 153–163. doi: 10.4319/lom.2006.4.153
- Caldarone, E. M., Wagner, M., St. Onge-Burns, J., and Buckley, L. J. (2001). Protocol and Guide for Estimating Nucleic Acids in Larval Fish Using a Fluorescence Microplate Reader. Northeast Fisheries Science Center Reference Document 01-11, 22.
- Chaoui, L., Kara, M. H., Faure, E., and Quignard, J. P. (2006). Growth and reproduction of the gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* in Mellah lagoon (northeastern Algeria). *Sci. Mar.* 70, 545–552. doi: 10.3989/scimar.2006.70n3545
- Chapman, B. B., Hulthén, K., Blomqvist, D. R., Hansson, L.-A., Nilsson, J.-A., Brodersen, J., et al. (2011). To boldly go: individual differences in boldness influence migratory tendency. *Ecol. Lett.* 14, 871–876. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01648.x

Chícharo, L. M. Z., and Teodósio, M. A. A. (1991). Caracterização geral do ictioplâncton da Ria Formosa. *Rev. Biol. U. Aveiro* 4, 287–299.

- Chícharo, M. A., Amaral, A., Faria, A., Morais, P., Mendes, C., Piló, D., et al. (2012). Are tidal lagoons ecologically relevant to larval recruitment of small pelagic fish? An approach using nutritional condition and growth rate. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 112, 265–279. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2012.07.033
- Chícharo, M. A., and Chícharo, L. (2008). RNA:DNA ratio and other nucleic acid derived indices in marine ecology. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 9, 1453–1471. doi: 10.3390/ijms9081453
- Clark, D. L., Leis, J. M., Hay, A. C., and Trnski, T. (2005). Swimming ontogeny of larvae of four temperate marine fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser.* 292, 287–300. doi: 10.3354/meps292287

with a Ph.D. (SFRH/BD/104209/2014) and a sabbatical (SFRH/BSAB/113684/2015) fellowship, respectively. The authors also acknowledge the contributions made by three reviewers. Publication made possible in part by support from the Berkeley Research Impact Initiative (BRII) sponsored by the UC Berkeley Library.

- Craig, J. K., and Crowder, L. B. (2002). "Factors influencing habitat selection in fishes with a review of marsh ecosystems," in *Concepts and Controversies in Tidal Marsh Ecology*, eds M. P. Weinstein and D. A. Kreeger (Dordrecht: Springer), 241–266.
- Crean, A. J., and Marshall, D. J. (2009). Coping with environmental uncertainty: dynamic bet hedging as a maternal effect. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 364, 1087–1096. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2008.0237
- De Raedemaecker, F., Miliou, A., and Perkins, R. (2010). Fish community structure on littoral rocky shores in the Eastern Aegean Sea: effects of exposure and substratum. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 90, 35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2010.08.007
- Díaz-Gil, C., Cotgrove, L., Smee, S. L., Simón-Otegui, D., Hinz, H., Grau, A., et al. (2017). Anthropogenic chemical cues can alter the swimming behaviour of juvenile stages of a temperate fish. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 125, 34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.11.009
- Døving, K. B., Stabell, O. B., Östlund-Nilsson, S., and Fisher, R. (2006). Site fidelity and homing in tropical coral reef cardinal fish: are they using olfactory cues? *Chem. Senses* 31, 265–272. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjj028
- Escalas, A., Ferraton, F., Paillon, C., Vidy, G., Carcaillet, F., Salen-Picard, C., et al. (2015). Spatial variations in dietary organic matter sources modulate the size and condition of fish juveniles in temperate lagoon nursery sites. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 152, 78–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2014.11.021
- Esteves, E., Pina, T., Chícharo, M. A., and Andrade, J. P. (2000). The distribution of estuarine fish larvae: nutritional condition and co-occurrence with predators and prey. *Acta Oecol.* 21, 161–173. doi: 10.1016/S1146-609X(00)01078-X
- Faillettaz, R., Blandin, A., Paris, C. B., Koubbi, P., and Irisson, J.-O. (2015). Suncompass orientation in Mediterranean fish larvae. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0135213. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135213
- Faria, A., Chícharo, M. A., and Gonçalves, E. J. (2011). Effects of starvation on swimming performance and body condition of pre-settlement *Sparus aurata* larvae. *Aquat. Biol.* 12, 281–289. doi: 10.3354/ab00345
- Faria, A., Morais, P., and Chícharo, M. A. (2006). Ichthyoplankton dynamics in the Guadiana estuary and adjacent coastal area, South-East Portugal. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 70, 85–97. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2006.05.032
- Fortier, L., and Leggett, W. C. (1983). Vertical migrations and transport of larval fish in a partially mixed estuary. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 40, 1543–1555. doi: 10.1139/f83-179
- Gamito, S., Pires, A., Pita, C., and Erzini, K. (2003). Food availability and the feeding ecology of ichthyofauna of a Ria Formosa (South Portugal) water reservoir. *Estuaries* 26, 938–948. doi: 10.1007/BF02803352
- Gerlach, G., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., Black, K. P., and Miller-Sims, V. (2007). Smelling home can prevent dispersal of reef fish larvae. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 104, 858–863. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606777104
- Glantz, S. A. (2012). *Primer of Biostatistics, 7th Edn.* New York, NY: McGraw Hill. Gross, M. R. (1996). Alternative reproductive strategies and tactics: diversity within
- Gross, M. K. (1996). Alternative reproductive strategies and factics: diversity within sexes. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 11, 92–898. doi: 10.1016/0169-5347(96)81050-0
- Hale, R., Downes, B. J., and Swearer, S. E. (2008). Habitat selection as a source of inter-specific differences in recruitment of two diadromous fish species. *Freshw. Biol.* 53, 2145–2157. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02037.x
- Hare, J. A., Thorrold, S., Walsh, H., Reiss, C., Valle-Levinson, A., and Jones, C. (2005). Biophysical mechanisms of larval fish ingress into Chesapeake Bay. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 303, 295–310. doi: 10.3354/meps303295
- Harmelin-Vivien, M. L., Harmelin, J. G., and Leboulleux, V. (1995). "Microhabitat requirements for settlement of juvenile sparid fishes on Mediterranean rocky shores," in Space Partition within Aquatic Ecosystems; Proceedings of the Second International Congress of Limnology and Oceanography held in Evian, ed G. Balvay (Dordrecht: Springer), 309–320.
- Helfman, G. S., Collette, B. B., Facey, D. E., and Bowen, B. W. (2009). The Diversity of Fishes. Biology, Evolution, and Ecology, 2nd Edn. Petaling Jaya: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Huijbers, C. M., Nagelkerken, I., Lössbroek, P. A. C., Schulten, I. E., Siegenthaler, A., Holderied, M. W., et al. (2012). A test of the senses: fish select novel habitats by responding to multiple cues. *Ecology* 93, 46–55. doi: 10.1890/10-2236.1
- Isnard, E., Tournois, J., McKenzie, D. J., Ferraton, F., Bodin, N., Aliaume, C., et al. (2015). Getting a good start in life? A comparative analysis of the quality of lagoons as juvenile habitats for the gilthead seabream Sparus aurata in the Gulf of Lions. *Estuar. Coast.* 38, 1937–1950. doi: 10.1007/s12237-014-9939-6
- James, N. C., Cowley, P. D., Whitfield, A. K., and Kaiser, H. (2008). Choice chamber experiments to test the attraction of postflexion *Rhabdosargus holubi* larvae to water of estuarine and riverine origin. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 77, 143–149. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2007.09.010
- Kerr, L. A., Cadrin, S. X., and Secor, D. H. (2010). The role of spatial dynamics in the stability, resilience, and productivity of an estuarine fish population. *Ecol. Appl.* 20, 497–507. doi: 10.1890/08-1382.1
- Killen, S. S., Marras, S., Ryan, M. R., Domenici, P., and McKenzie, D. J. (2012). A relationship between metabolic rate and risk-taking behaviour is revealed during hypoxia in juvenile European sea bass. *Funct. Ecol.* 26, 134–143. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2011.01920.x
- Kramer, D. L., Rangeley, R. W., and Chapman, L. J. (1997). "Habitat selection: patterns of spatial distribution from behavioural decisions," in *Behavioural Ecology of Teleost Fishes*, ed J. J. Godin (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 37–80.
- Kristan, W. B. III. (2003). The role of habitat selection behavior in population dynamics: source-sink systems and ecological traps. *Oikos* 103, 457–468. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.12192.x
- Lecchini, D., Shima, J., Banaigs, B., and Galzin, R. (2005). Larval sensory abilities and mechanisms of habitat selection of a coral reef fish during settlement. *Oecology* 143, 326–334. doi: 10.1007/s00442-004-1805-y
- Lehtiniemi, M. (2005). Swim or hide: predator cues cause species specific reactions in young fish larvae. J. Fish Biol. 66, 1285–1299. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-1112.2005.00681.x
- Lima, S. L., and Dill, L. M. (1990). Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. *Can. J. Zool.* 68, 619–640. doi: 10.1139/z90-092
- Mathot, K. J., Wright, J., Kempenaers, B., and Dingemanse, N. J. (2012). Adaptive strategies for managing uncertainty may explain personalityrelated differences in behavioural plasticity. *Oikos* 121, 1009–1020. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2012.20339.x
- McCormick, M. I., and Manassa, R. (2008). Predation risk assessment by olfactory and visual cues in a coral reef fish. *Coral Reefs* 27, 105–113. doi: 10.1007/s00338-007-0296-9
- Mercier, L., Mouillot, D., Bruguier, O., Vigliola, L., and Darnaude, A. M. (2012). Multi-element otolith fingerprints unravel sea-lagoon lifetime migrations of gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 444, 175–194. doi: 10.3354/meps09444
- Morais, P., Faria, A., Chícharo, M. A., and Chícharo, L. (2009). The unexpected occurrence of late *Sardina pilchardus* (Walbaum, 1792) (Osteichthyes: Clupeidae) larvae in a temperate estuary. *Cah. Biol. Mar.* 50, 79–89. Available online at: http://application.sb-roscoff.fr/cbm/issue.htm? execution=e3s1
- Moretti, A., Fernandez-Criado, M. P., Cittollin, G., and Guidastri, R. (1999). Manual on Hatchery Production of Seabass and Gilthead Seabream. Rome: FAO.
- Morote, E., Olivar, M. P., Villate, F., and Uriarte, I. (2010). A comparison of anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*) and sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) larvae feeding in the Northwest Mediterranean: influence of prey availability and ontogeny. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 67, 897–908. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsp302
- Olivar, M. P., Diaz, M. V., and Chícharo, M. A. (2009). Tissue effect on RNA/DNA ratios of marine fish larvae. *Sci. Mar.* 73, 171–182. doi: 10.3989/scimar.2009.73s1171

- Olofsson, H., Ripa, J., and Jonzén, N. (2009). Bet-hedging as an evolutionary game: the trade-off between egg size and number. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 276, 2963–2969. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.0500
- Paris, C. B., Atema, J., Irisson, J. O., Kingsford, M., Gerlach, G., and Guigand, C. M. (2013). Reef odor: a wake up call for navigation in reef fish larvae. *PLoS ONE* 8:e72808. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072808
- Pattrick, P., and Strydom, N. A. (2009). Swimming abilities of wild-caught, late-stage larvae of *Diplodus capensis* and *Sarpa salpa* (Pisces: Sparidae) from temperate South Africa. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 85, 547–554. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2009.09.022
- Qin, S., Yin, H., Yang, C., Dou, Y., Liu, Z., Zhang, P., et al. (2015). A magnetic protein biocompass. *Nat. Mater.* 15, 217–226. doi: 10.1038/nmat4484
- Radford, C. A., Sim-Smith, C. J., and Jeffs, A. G. (2012). Can larval snapper, Pagrus auratus, smell their new home? Mar. Freshw. Res. 63, 898–904. doi: 10.1071/MF12118
- Railsback, S. F., and Harvey, B. C. (2002). Analysis of habitat- selection rules using an individual-based model. *Ecology* 83, 1817–1830. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[1817:AOHSRU]2.0.CO;2
- Robinson, S. M. C., and Ware, D. M. (1988). Ontogenetic development of growth rates in larval Pacific herring, *Clupea harengus* PalIasi, measured with RNA-DNA ratios in the Strait of Georgia, British Columbia. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 45, 1422–1429. doi: 10.1139/f88-166
- Schieler, B. M., Hale, E. A., and Targett, T. E. (2014). Daily variation in ingress of fall-spawned larval fishes into Delaware Bay in relation to alongshore and along-estuary wind components. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 151, 141–147. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2014.10.004
- Sheaves, M., Baker, R., Nagelkerken, I., and Connolly, R. M. (2015). True value of estuarine and coastal nurseries for fish: incorporating complexity and dynamics. *Estuar. Coast.* 38, 401–414. doi: 10.1007/s12237-014-9846-x
- Shepherd, T. D., and Litvak, M. K. (2004). Density-dependent habitat selection and the ideal free distribution in marine fish spatial dynamics: considerations and cautions. *Fish.* 5, 141–152. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-2979.2004.00143.x
- Staaterman, E., Paris, C. B., and Kough, A. S. (2014). First evidence of fish larvae producing sounds. *Biol. Lett.* 10:20140643. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2014.0643
- Tancioni, L., Mariani, S., Maccaroni, A., Mariani, A., Massa, F., Scardi, M., et al. (2003). Locality-specific variation in the feeding of *Sparus aurata* L.: evidence from two Mediterranean lagoon systems. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 57, 469–474. doi: 10.1016/S0272-7714(02)00376-1
- Teodósio, M. A., Paris, C. B., Wolanski, E., and Morais, P. (2016). Biophysical processes leading to the ingress of temperate fish larvae into estuarine nursery areas: a review. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 183, 187–202. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2016.10.022
- Tournois, J., Ferraton, F., Velez, L., McKenzie, D. J., Aliaume, C., Mercier, L., et al. (2013). Temporal stability of otolith elemental fingerprints discriminates among lagoon nursery habitats. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 131, 182–193. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2013.07.006
- Whitfield, A. K. (1994). Abundance of larval and 0+ juvenile marine fishes in the lower reaches of three southern African estuaries with differing freshwater inputs. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 105, 257–267.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Morais, Parra, Baptista, Ribeiro, Pousão-Ferreira and Teodósio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Paradigm Lost: Ocean Acidification Will Overturn the Concept of Larval-Fish Biophysical Dispersal

Jeffrey M. Leis 1,2*

¹ Ecology and Biodiversity Centre, Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies, University of Tasmania, Hobart, TAS, Australia, ² Ichthyology, Australian Museum Research Institute, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Most marine ecologists have in the past 25 years changed from supporting a passive-dispersal paradigm for larval marine fishes to supporting a biophysical-dispersal paradigm wherein the behaviour of larvae plays a central role. Research shows larvae of demersal perciform fishes have considerable swimming and orientation abilities over a major portion of their pelagic larval duration. These abilities depend on sensory function, and some recent research has indicated anthropogenic acidification of the oceans will by the end of the century result in sensory dysfunction. This could strongly alter the ability of fish larvae to orientate in the pelagic environment, to locate suitable settlement habitat, to bet-hedge, and to colonize new locations. This paper evaluates the available publications on the effects of acidification on senses and behaviours relevant to dispersal of fish early life-history stages. A large majority of studies tested CO₂ values predicted for the middle to end of the century. Larvae of fourteen families-all but two perciform-were studied. However, half of studies used Damselfishes (Pomacentridae), and except for swimming, most studies used settlement-stage larvae or later stages. In spite of these taxonomic and ontogenetic restrictions, all but two studies on sensory function (chemosensation, hearing, vision, detection of estuarine cues) found deleterious effects from acidification. The four studies on lateralization and settlement timing all found deleterious effects from acidification. No clear effect of acidification on swimming ability was found. If fish larvae cannot orientate due to sensory dysfunction, their dispersal will, in effect, conform to the passive dispersal paradigm. Modelling incorporating larval behaviour derived from empirical studies indicates that relative to active larvae, passive larvae will have less self-recruitment, higher median and mean dispersal distances, and lower settlement rates: further, bet hedging and colonization of new locations will decrease. The biophysical dispersal paradigm will be lost in theory and in fact, which is predicted to result in lower recruitment and less bet hedging for demersal, perciform fishes. More research is required to determine if the larvae of other Orders will be effected in the same way, or if warm- and cold-water fish faunas will be similarly effected.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Eric Wolanski, James Cook University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Rafael Perez-Dominguez, Office for National Statistics, United Kingdom James Allen Nelson, University of Louisiana at Lafayette, United States

> *Correspondence: Jeffrey M. Leis jeffrey.leis@utas.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 29 November 2017 Accepted: 31 January 2018 Published: 13 February 2018

Citation:

Leis JM (2018) Paradigm Lost: Ocean Acidification Will Overturn the Concept of Larval-Fish Biophysical Dispersal. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:47. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00047

Keywords: fish, larva, dispersal, sensory ability, $\rm CO_2$, acidification, behaviour, connectivity

INTRODUCTION

Most marine bony fishes have a pelagic larval stage that differs morphologically from the adult (Moser, 1981) and that is, at least potentially, dispersive. Especially for demersal fish species in the tropics, adults are often relatively site attached, and dispersal by the larvae determines the spatial scale of population connectivity (Sale, 1980, 1991). Although there are reasons to expect larval dispersal to differ between low and high latitudes (Hunt von Herbing, 2002), there is little evidence that it does. Further, making latitudinal comparisons in dispersal metrics and the factors that determine dispersal outcomes is difficult due to a variety of factors including very large differences in the taxonomic composition of marine fish communities with latitude (Leis et al., 2013). Marine fish larvae spend weeks to months in pelagic open waters away from demersal adult habitat (Luiz et al., 2013) before they must find suitable habit into which to settle. Settlement is often, but not always, associated with abrupt metamorphosis, but regardless of morphological changes, an animal that has experienced nothing but a pelagic environment must quickly adapt to a very different demersal habitat (Leis, 1991).

Traditionally, marine biologists assumed that dispersal of fish larvae is essentially a passive process, with movement of the presumed weakly-swimming larvae totally determined by currents (Roberts, 1997). More recently, swimming, orientation, behavioural, and sensory capabilities of larval marine perciform fishes have been shown to be remarkably strong for much of the pelagic larval duration, or PLD (Leis, 2006, 2010). Larvae can swim in an orientated way at speeds that are often comparable to the currents of the waters in which they live, thus directly influencing their dispersal. Larvae can detect and respond to a range of olfactory, auditory, and visual cues from settlement habitat, from within the pelagic environment (Leis et al., 2011b) and even to celestial (Mouritsen et al., 2013; Leis et al., 2014) and magnetic (Bottesch et al., 2016; O'Connor and Muheim, 2017) cues. By controlling their vertical distribution, larvae may indirectly influence their dispersal because current velocities often vary with depth. The proper functioning of the sense organs of fish larvae is essential in all these processes. As a result of these findings, the passive dispersal paradigm in larval marine fishes has been widely rejected in favour of a biophysical dispersal paradigm that recognizes the strong influence of biological factors, including behaviour of larvae, on dispersal outcomes (Leis, 2015).

As part of this paradigm shift our view of the spatial scale of larval dispersal and population connectivity has altered. Previously, marine ecologists considered populations of demersal marine fishes to be genetically and demographically open (Roberts, 1997)—that is, the new recruits to a given area did not result from propagules produced there, but from larvae that drifted passively with the currents from elsewhere. We now know that most demersal marine fish populations are closed to a greater or lesser extent (Jones et al., 2009), and that this "self-recruitment" is the result of biophysical processes, including behaviour of the larvae themselves (Leis, 2015). Nevertheless, a proportion of the larvae produced in any area are also exported to other areas. These conclusions are supported by modelling that takes into account empirically demonstrated larval-fish behaviour, e.g., Wolanski and Kingsford (2014).

The effects of lower pH as human-produced CO₂ is absorbed by the ocean have received increasing attention, and will perhaps be more profound and less spatially variable than those of the predicted increase in temperature. Acidification can affect dispersal of fish larvae in two ways. It can cause developmental errors that lead to morphological deformities, and damage to organs, including sense organs that may impair their function. Acidification also results in neurotransmitter dysfunction (Nilsson et al., 2012), and as shown in a number of studies, this interferes with the ability of fish larvae to use the sensory systems that are vital to orientation in the ocean. Without orientation ability, swimming by larvae will have greatly diminished net influence on dispersal. It is likely depth selection ability of larvae will also be diminished, resulting in less structured vertical distributions. This has important implications for dispersal outcomes. It is also possible acidification may affect other behaviours, such as swimming ability, that influence dispersal outcomes (Nagelkerken and Munday, 2016).

Studies on fish-larvae behaviour, particularly in situ studies, routinely find statistically significant relationships between, for example, swimming speed or depth and size of the larvae but there is always a high level of variability associated with the relationships (Figures 1A,B, see Leis, 2006, 2010). Some individual larvae have a more meandering swimming path through the ocean than others and will therefore pass over different demersal habitat, and have a slower startto-finish net swim speed than more directional swimmers (Figure 1C). Similarly, fish larvae often have significant amongindividual (within-species) swimming directionality, but there are invariably many individuals that swim in directions other than the overall mean (Figure 1D). These variations mean that a greater or lesser proportion of individuals will have different dispersal outcomes than the majority. This minority with different dispersal outcomes due to differences in behaviour can be regarded as contributing to bet-hedging and to colonizing new localities as, at the end of their PLD, they will be at different locations than the majority, either in direction or distance from their point of origin. Theoretical considerations commonly cite bet hedging and colonization of new localities as reasons for the evolution of a bipartite life history with a pelagic larval dispersal stage.

EVALUATION OF LITERATURE ON EFFECTS OF ACIDIFICATION ON LARVAL DISPERSAL

The present paper evaluates the evidence relating to adverse effects of acidification on behaviour of fish larvae and the function of their sensory systems relevant to orientation and dispersal, and discusses implications for larval dispersal and the implications of this for populations of demersal marine fishes, especially those of lower latitudes.



FIGURE 1 | (A) Ontogenetic change in swimming speed as measured in a laboratory raceway (critical speed [Ucrit], Diamonds), and in the ocean (*in situ* speed, Squares) of a serranid, *Epinephelus coioides*. Note the wide range in speeds at any size, particularly in the ocean. Although there is a significant increase in speed with size for both measures, the laboratory measure relationship explains 92% of the variation over the common size range whereas the *in situ* relationship explains only 54%. Data from Leis et al. (2007, 2009). **(B)** Ontogenetic change in *in situ* depth amplitude (difference between greatest and least depth) in larvae of a serranid, *Epinephelus coioides*. Note the wide range in depth amplitude at any size. The significant ontogenetic decrease in depth amplitude explains only 25% of the variation. Size of larvae is standard length (SL). Data from Leis et al. (2009). **(C)** Frequency distribution of *in situ* orientation precision (*r*, length of the mean vector) of 33 individual larvae of a serranid, *Epinephelus coioides*. The circular insets show the distribution of swimming bearings of two individuals measured every 30 s over a 10 min observation period. Although both individuals have significantly directional swimming to the South-East, the one on the left (*r* = 0.43, *p* = 0.02) has a more meandering swim path than the one on the right (*r* = 0.89, *p* << 0.0001). Data from Leis et al. (2009). The thin black radius is the mean direction, and the arc at its ends the 95% confidence interval. **(D)** *In situ* directional swimming bearings of 205 individually measured a pomacentrik, *Chromis atripectoralis* off the west side of Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef, showing the frequency distribution of mean swimming bearings of 205 individually measured larvae with significant within-individual swimming direction ally. The among-individual swimming direction was to the South-East (mean = 166.7 ± 12.8°), and highly significant (*p* << 0.0001, Rayleigh Test), but 22% of larvae swam in a dir

Relatively few published studies address the effects of ocean acidification on sensory systems or behaviour of fully pelagic larvae, although the numbers of such publications are increasing (Nagelkerken and Munday, 2016). Much of the experimental work on the effects of ocean acidification has been done on fish that are in transition between the pelagic dispersal stage and the relatively site-attached demersal stage. How far the young fishes are through this transition varies, as does the nomenclature used for them by researchers. A study may use settlement-stage larvae captured in light traps as they approach a reef from open water, but then held in a low-pH environment for several days (usually four) before experiments are undertaken. Or, it may use larvae reared in captivity (usually in low pH conditions) and then tested at their normal age of settlement. Larvae undergoing the major ecological transition from being a pelagic animal to being a demersal animal are also undergoing major physiological, morphological and behavioural transitions. For example, the "very high swimming speeds of pre-settlement larval reef fishes are accompanied by the highest rates of oxygen uptake found in ectothermic vertebrates, but once the larvae settle, their capacity for rapid oxygen uptake falls, and the ability for high-affinity oxygen uptake at low oxygen levels increases": they become hypoxia tolerant (Nilsson et al., 2007). Similarly, swimming abilities of larvae abruptly decrease upon settlement (Leis et al., 2011a). In fact, the transitions in physiology and morphology can begin some time before the larvae reach their settlement habitat (Holzer et al., 2017). Therefore, caution is required in assuming results based on larvae in transition apply to fully pelagic individuals. Publications on studies that hold wild settlementstage larvae in low pH conditions for several days before testing seldom describe the tanks in which they are held. The pelagicto-demersal transition can be slowed by holding the larvae in relatively featureless conditions (McCormick, 1999; Holzer et al., 2017). This approach means larvae undergo minimal transition

to their demersal stage before testing, and if it is used, should be mentioned in methods sections of publications. Even more caution is required when assessing results based on young juveniles that have been settled for weeks or longer. Very few demersal bony fishes avoid the pelagic life history stage entirely (Leis, 1991), but the damselfish Acanthochromis polyacanthus is one. This species hatches on the reef well-developed at a relatively large size (Kavanagh, 2000), and is frequently used in experimental work. However, the use of A. polyacanthus young as proxies for pelagic larvae of other species is questionable, as is emphasized by the fact that it's recently hatched young do not undergo the transition from high oxygen consumption to hypoxia tolerance, being well-adapted to hypoxia and having relatively low maximum rates of oxygen uptake from hatching (Nilsson et al., 2007). Therefore, it is important to take into account not only the species that has been tested, but also its life-history stage.

The present evaluation is confined to marine early-life history stages of fishes. A recent paper (Ashur et al., 2017) summarizes the effects of acidification on chemosensation, hearing, and vision in aquatic invertebrates and fishes. The results of that review relevant to the present paper will be drawn upon, plus a few additional publications. Behaviours of relevance to dispersal will also be considered: swimming, lateralization, settlement timing. The early life-history nomenclature used in Ashur et al. (2017) is that of the publications they reviewed, but no standard nomenclature was used by those studies: e.g., settlement-stage larvae held in laboratory tanks for 4 days are called settlementstage larvae or juveniles in different studies. The nomenclature used here (defined in **Table 1**) is based on examination of the methods sections of the original publications, regardless of nomenclature used therein.

Chemosensation

Adding Sundin et al. (2017) to the relevant studies listed by Ashur et al. (2017) gives nine studies of chemosensation covering eight species of two families (Table 1). Seven species are Damselfishes (Pomacentridae), one of which is A. polyacanthus, and the eighth, a Grouper (Serranidae). Three study-by-species combinations are on reared, settlement-stage larvae; four are settlement-stage larvae from light traps held in the laboratory for 4 days; and three are settled juveniles (two of which are A. polyacanthus, and the third, a reared Grouper). Only two are on fully pelagic larvae: reared Damselfish (Amphiprion percula). Eight studies detected an acidification-induced change in behaviour: either a reversal or loss of normal behaviour, or a decrease in it's prevalence. Only a study on the reaction to predator chemical cues of 3-month old A. polyacanthus juveniles did not detect an effect of acidification (Sundin et al., 2017). So, for chemosensation, acidification has the consistent effect of altering normal behaviour in pelagic larvae, and those in transition during settlement.

Hearing

Adding Castro et al. (2017) to the relevant hearing studies listed by Ashur et al. (2017) gives four studies covering four species of four families (**Table 1**). One species is a Damselfish, plus one each Goby (Gobiidae), Croaker (Sciaenidae), and Barramundi (Latidae). Two studies are on settlement-stage larvae, one on both presettlement and settlement-stage larvae, and one on recently settled Damselfish, all reared. In all studies, acidification caused a change in behaviour in relation to a habitat sound. So, for hearing, the results are consistent, and apply to a range of families and early life-history stages, although with only four studies, more research on hearing in fish larvae is needed.

In addition, Ashur et al. (2017) list 10 studies on the effects of acidification on otolith size or shape in marine fish earlylife history stages. Six record an increase in size or change in shape, four found no change. In none of these studies was hearing investigated, even though there are theoretical reasons to expect changed otoliths will change hearing (Lychakov and Rebane, 2005). The otoliths of fishes are involved in both hearing and balance, and otolith size may be more influential on balance and swimming than on hearing (Popper et al., 2005). So it is difficult to predict how changes in otolith shape or size would influence hearing. The mixed results of the effects of acidification on otolith size and shape imply that there will be no simple answer. Therefore, no conclusion is attempted here about the sensory implications of changes in otoliths.

Vision

Ashur et al. (2017) list four relevant vision studies to which can be added Allan et al. (2014) and Munday et al. (2016). These cover six species of three families (**Table 1**): four are on Damselfish (one is *A. polyacanthus*), and one each on a Goby and Yellowtail (Carangidae). Three are on reared larvae, either early preflexion or settlement-stage (Allan et al., 2014). Two are on settlementstage larvae from light traps held in laboratory tanks for 4 days, and one on 55–80 mm, settled *A. polyacanthus* juveniles. The last found a reduced retina maximal flicker frequency, which could impair the fish's capacity to react to fast events. Acidification caused changes in all three vision-related anti-predator behaviour studies. Newly hatched goby larvae had a change in phototactic response (Forsgren et al., 2013). Yellowtail preflexion larvae had no change in startle response or phototaxis (Munday et al., 2016).

In addition, two studies document developmental damage to the eyes of either preflexion or post-flexion reared larvae of Cod (Gadidae) and Tuna (Scombridae) (Frommel et al., 2012, 2016) (**Table 1**). This sort of damage could impair vision, with a variety of deleterious effects on the larvae. It is noteworthy that studies reporting morphological damage to organs of fish larvae do not always mention the full range of organs examined, so there may be unreported results of no acidification-related eye damage.

Although, all but one study report an effect of acidification on vision, none directly tested whether acidification would adversely effect vision in a way that could influence orientation. This might include, for example, using a celestial cue for orientation or using light intensity for adjustment of vertical distribution.

Physio-Chemical

A single study on reared post-flexion larvae of catadromous Barramundi (Latidae) reports acidification changes to temperature and salinity preferences (Pistevos et al., 2017), and also reports a change from avoidance to preference for

Sense or behaviour	Pomacentridae	Other families	Stage	Stage	Stage	Stage	Acidification effect	No acidification effect
	Studies/genera/species	Studies	PreL, PostL	Stl	Stl+	Stj		
Chemosensation	8**/3/7	Serranidae (1)	2	3	4	3**	11*	1*
Hearing	1/1/1	Gobiidae (1), Sciaenidae (1) Latidae (1)	1	2	1	1	5	0
Vision	4*/3/3	Gobiidae (1), Scombridae (1), Gadidae (1), Carangidae (1)	4 (2 [†])	1	2	1*	7* (2 [†])	1
Physio-chemical	0	Latidae (1)	1	0	0	0	1	0
Habitat cue	0	Latidae (1)	1	0	0	0	1	0
Swimming	1/1/1	Carangidae (2), Coryphaenidae (2), Rachycentridae (1) Sparidae (1), Sciaenidae (1), Atherinidae (1) Latidae (1)	9	2	0	0	3	7
Lateralization	3*/2/2	nil	0	0	2	1*	3	0
Settlement timing	1/1/1	nil	0	0	1	0	1	0
Total	18	18	18 (2 [†])	8	10	6***	30**(2 [†])	9*

TABLE 1 | Studies of effects of acidification on sensory function or behaviour relevant to dispersal of marine fish larvae.

The pomacentrid Acanthochromis polyacanthus, lacks a pelagic larval stage, so its relevance to questions of larval dispersal is arguable: the number of studies involving A. polyacanthus is indicated by asterisk (*). ([†]) Indicates studies showing developmental damage to the eye, not behavioural impairment of vision. Hearing category does not include studies that examined only size or shape change of otoliths. Life history Stage: PreL, Preflexion larva (before caudal-fin formation); PostL, Postflexion larva (caudal fin present, but not competent to settle); Stl, Settlement-stage; Stl+, Settlement-stage plus 4 days in laboratory; Stj, Settled juvenile.

estuarine water in preflexion larvae (**Table 1**). The latter may be a response to either physio-chemical or olfactory cues.

Swimming

Nine studies concern aspects of swimming, eight with reared larvae of various stages, and one with wild, post-flexion Silverside (Atherinidae) larvae (Table 1). The Damselfish and Barramundi studies involved settlement-stage larvae. Mean routine or critical swimming speed, both laboratory measures, decreased in Carangidae (Munday et al., 2016, 2017a), Coryphaenidae (Bignami et al., 2014), and Latidae (Rossi et al., 2015), but did not change in Atherinidae (Silva et al., 2016), Coryphaenidae (Pimentel et al., 2014), Pomacentridae (Munday et al., 2009a), or Rachycentridae (Bignami et al., 2013). Other aspects of swimming behaviour had no or minor changes in Gadidae (Maneja et al., 2013), Sciaenidae, and Sparidae (Pimentel et al., 2016). The measures of swimming most relevant to dispersal-in situ speed and endurance-were not tested. The mixed results with swimming speeds are in contrast to the much more consistent results with sensory function. There is little evidence for a widespread effect of acidification on swimming.

Lateralization

Three studies on Damselfishes tested acidification effects on lateralization. Two used wild settlement-stage *Neopomacentrus azysron* larvae from light traps held 4 days in laboratory tanks (Domenici et al., 2011; Nilsson et al., 2012), and the third used

month-old juveniles of *A. polyacanthus* (Welch et al., 2014). The first two studies report a loss of lateralization, and the third a decrease in lateralization.

Settlement Timing

A single study on wild Damselfish *Pomacentrus chrysurus* settlement-stage larvae held for 4 days in the laboratory in low pH conditions found that peak settlement shifted from new to full moon (Devine et al., 2012).

Levels of Acidity Used in Published Studies

The levels of acidity used varies amongst studies. The large majority (32) of studies on senses used atmospheric CO₂ levels predicted for middle and/or end of this century (550-1020 µatm): all but two of these found detrimental changes to sensory performance. One vision and three hearing studies with lowest tested CO2 values above end of century values (1368-1675 µatm) all found an effect. Amongst otolith-only studies, five used mid-to-end of century values, and five used more acidic conditions (1050-1800 µatm), and both low and high CO₂ groups had the same result: three studies with a change in otolith size or shape, and two with no change. For swimming, six studies used CO₂ values for the middle to the end of the century (two had an effect, four did not), whereas four used values of 1400-1800 µatm (one had an effect, three did not). In some cases, higher CO₂ levels were selected based on regional differences in ocean pH such as upwelling (e.g., Castro et al., 2017), but in others, it was not clear upon what basis more acidic conditions were chosen. However, it does not appear that acidity very much higher than expected by 2100 is required for detrimental sensory performance or behaviours to be likely. Most acidification studies use CO_2 levels for the middle to end of this century, but for some marine environments temperature may have already reached very damaging levels before this. Coral reefs, for example, are already experiencing repeated serious bleaching, and may be so degraded by mid-century (Hughes et al., 2017) that questions about acidification effects on larval-fish dispersal may be secondary to questions about whether adult habitat will be able to support reef-dependent fishes.

SUMMARY OF RELEVANT LITERATURE

Several conclusions arise from this evaluation of studies on the effects of acidification on senses and behaviours of fishes during their marine early life history. First, the effects on sensory function are much more consistent than those on behaviours such as swimming speed: sensory functionality is deleteriously impacted, either reversed, lost or decreased by acidification. In only two cases was an adverse effect on sensory function not found: chemosensation in 55-80 mm A. polyacanthus, and vision in preflexion Yellowtail carangid. Second, chemosensation is the most studied sense (n = 9), followed by vision and swimming (n = 8 each), and hearing (n = 4). Third, studies on senses particularly chemosensation and vision-overwhelmingly used Damselfishes and larvae at the end of their pelagic dispersal stage (settlement-stage and beyond). In fact, about half of all studies are on Damselfishes, and if swimming is excluded, nearly twothirds of studies are on Damselfishes. Only a narrow range of 12 families has been studied thus far: 7 are coastal demersal (1 catadromous), 1 coastal epipelagic, and 4 oceanic or neritic. Most studies used tropical or warm temperate species, and there is so little overlap in the studied senses or behaviours that no conclusions can be reached about whether there are latitudinal differences in acidification effects. This situation applies to the general question of whether larval-fish dispersal differs between high and low latitudes (Leis et al., 2013). No clear conclusions can be reached because of the very large differences in taxa (usually at the Order level) between low and high latitudes, and because there are relatively few studies on aspects of larval behaviour or sensory abilities relevant to dispersal from high latitudes (Leis et al., 2013). Fourth, there is little, if any, indication that lifehistory stage influences whether acidification will have an effect, but this has to be qualified by noting that younger, less developed larvae are understudied, except for swimming. In the context of orientation of swimming, the lack of work on preflexion larvae is less important than for post-flexion larvae, because swimming ability of preflexion larvae is much less than that of older larvae (Fisher and Leis, 2009). In contrast, larvae control their vertical distribution for nearly all of their PLD. In one of three cases young A. polyacanthus had results that differed from earlier life history stages of other Damselfishes, emphasising the need for caution in the use of this species as a proxy for the pelagic stages of other species. Of course, it would be preferable to have studies across a wider range of taxa, and with more emphasis on larvae before they start their transition to the demersal environment. However, the consistency of the results to date provide reason to expect that acidification will have deleterious effects on the sensory systems and some behaviours of marine fish larvae of a range of species. Regardless, we need to spread our taxonomic and ontogenetic nets wider to include more families and more presettlement-stage larvae, to obtain a firmer basis of knowledge.

IMPLICATIONS: WILL THE "BIO" IN "BIOPHYSICAL LARVAL DISPERSAL" BE LOST?

The loss or diminution of sensory function due to acidification has serious implications for the orientation ability of fish larvae in the pelagic environment, and for the ability of settlementstage larvae to locate suitable settlement habitat. This has been mentioned before numerous times, but without much detail: e.g., Munday et al. (2009b). The studies evaluated here provide consistent evidence that orientation depending on olfaction, hearing, vision, and lateralization will be disrupted. The effect of acidification on magnetic and celestial senses has not been examined, but given the nature of the source of this sensory dysfunction (Nilsson et al., 2012; Nilsson and Lefevre, 2016), it seems likely that they, too, will be disrupted. In contrast, it does not seem that swimming itself is influenced very much, if at all, by acidification.

The single study showing a change in settlement timing is concerning, as one would expect that the relatively precise settlement timing normally found in many species has evolved to maximize arrival at settlement habitat and minimize mortality during the settlement transition. If true, then settlement at nonoptimal times would result in lower recruitment.

An inherent part of the biophysical dispersal paradigm is that fish larvae influence their dispersal, but without the ability to orientate their swimming or control vertical position or to react appropriately to habitat cues, their ability to influence dispersal either directly or indirectly will be limited. In short, the larvae will disperse in a more passive manner, and the biophysical dispersal paradigm will, in theory and in fact, be lost and replaced by a passive dispersal paradigm. Modelling indicates that dispersal by passive larvae results in a smaller proportion of larvae reaching settlement habitat, a lower level of self-recruitment, and increased mean and median dispersal distances: we can expect the same for real fish larvae in a low pH ocean. This means the shape and height of dispersal kernels which have evolved in the ocean over long periods of time will be altered by human generation of atmospheric CO₂ over a few decades. In addition, the behaviours that lead to bet-hedging and locating new locations will decrease or be lost due to decrease or loss in orientation ability.

We are only now beginning to develop a clear understanding of the biophysical dispersal paradigm, and if it is overturned by ocean acidification, it is ironic that it will be replaced by the traditional passive dispersal paradigm. This may make the job of dispersal modellers simpler by eliminating the need for understanding of and integration into models, of a range of behaviours and abilities that change with ontogeny of larvae. But the cost will be high to aquatic ecosystems and the demersal fisheries from which humans derive a great deal of their protein. We don't know to what extent all of this will apply to higher latitude, cold water demersal fishes and their larvae, just as we don't know if larval dispersal in general differs with latitude (Leis et al., 2013). More research on the effects of acidification on sensory systems of larvae of high-latitude species and on non-perciform species generally, should be a priority.

Ocean acidification may also adversely effect other aspects of larval-fish biology and behaviour such as predator avoidance (Wang et al., 2017), growth rates, and feeding ability, among other things (Nagelkerken and Munday, 2016). Any of these could lead to increased mortality and reduced recruitment, but the results of studies of acidification effects on them have not been consistent. They have not been reviewed here because in an acidified ocean, these aspects would apply equally to larvae that are passively dispersed as to those that behaviourally participate in and influence their dispersal. That is, they would be expected to have a similar effect on the passive dispersal paradigm as on the biophysical dispersal paradigm.

A best-case scenario is that marine fish species may be able to acclimate or adapt through natural selection so their larvae can deal with the low-pH, high temperature conditions of the near future pelagic ocean in which larvae live, develop, grow, and disperse. The exact physiological and biochemical mechanisms involved in sensory disruption in fish larvae are not entirely understood, so prediction is difficult, but there are reasons to expect within-generation acclimation will not be possible (Nilsson and Lefevre, 2016), and research so far supports this expectation (Munday et al., 2013b, 2014).

Research on the possibility of transgenerational acclimation to elevated CO_2 has returned mixed results. Some report improved growth and survival in offspring (Miller et al., 2012; Murray et al., 2014), while others report no or limited capacity for transgenerational acclimation of olfactory responses or predator escape (Allan et al., 2014; Welch et al., 2014). This led to speculation that metabolic traits may have greater potential than behavioural traits for transgenerational acclimation to elevated CO_2 (Welch et al., 2014).

Most studies that test the effects of acidification on senses and behaviours of fish larvae show variation in sensitivity among individuals. This has led to conclusions that there is clear "potential for natural variation in sensitivity among individuals to lead to genetic adaptation in marine fishes" (Leduc et al., 2013). However, this is true only if the variation has a genetic basis and is heritable a recent study on A. polyacanthus has found this for temperature (Munday et al., 2017b). But, thus far, there is no evidence of this for acidification, as has been noted by several-(e.g., Munday et al., 2013a). In larval fishes, ontogenetic changes in many aspects of physiology, behaviour, and morphology are large and ongoing, and variation in sensitivity can have a number of non-genetic bases, among which are variation in size or age of larvae, in how far metamorphosis has progressed, or in nutritional or physiological condition. An example is (Munday et al., 2013a), a study cited by Leduc et al. (2013). In the publication, studied fish were sequentially called larvae upon capture and CO₂ treatment, larvae and juveniles during olfaction tests, and juveniles during observations of behaviour and mortality rates (Munday et al., 2013a): the fish were metamorphosing during the experiments, and individuals varied in developmental stage at any time. Larvae of the study species also varied in age and size at capture: 16–21 days (Munday et al., 2013a), and 15.2–18.0 mm total length (Fisher et al., 2005). These variations might contribute to variation among individuals in sensitivity to acidification at any time. Therefore, although variation among individual larvae in sensitivity to acidification may indicate heritable "raw material" upon which selection can act, other possibilities exist. As noted by Munday et al. (2013a) "quantitative genetic analyses, such as comparisons of parent-offspring or half-sib variation will be required to estimate heritability."

There are two ways of approaching the question of adaptation: measuring standing genetic variation in pH-sensitive traits, and conducting evolution experiments in real time (Sunday et al., 2014). Both approaches have advantages and disadvantages, and the latter especially apply to species such as marine fishes with relatively long life cycles and complex life histories. I was unable to find any published studies using genetic variation to study pH-sensitive traits relevant to larval dispersal in marine fishes. An approach that is used for species with short generation times such as plankton is laboratory rearing over multiple generations in high CO₂ conditions to determine if adaptation takes place (Munday et al., 2013c). This would be extremely challenging in marine demersal fishes because the conditions and challenges that larvae face in the pelagic environment while dispersing are so different than those faced by the more site-attached, bottom-associated adult. So, perhaps it is not surprising that there are apparently no published attempts to do this with marine, demersal fishes. At present, adaptation to acidification in marine fishes is an undemonstrated possibility. It is noteworthy that where adaptation has been demonstrated in marine species with very short generation times, adaptation has taken several hundred generations to occur (Sunday et al., 2014), and CO₂ levels expected before or by the end of this century will already be causing sensory dysfunction in marine fish larvae. In short, even if adaptation to elevated CO₂ levels is possible there is "considerable risk that the present rate of CO₂ increase is too high to allow adaptation through natural selection" (Regan et al., 2016). Further, the physiologist who discovered the mechanism behind elevated CO2 sensory dysfunction in fish larvae has written: "since atmospheric CO₂ levels have probably remained below 500 µatm for the last 30 million years, there is a great risk that genes needed for coping with a sustained elevation of CO₂ are no longer functional" (Nilsson and Lefevre, 2016).

Behaviour and sensory systems of larval marine fish species may or may not acclimate or adapt to elevated (and rising) CO_2 levels, but there is little relevant research on the question, in spite of calls for it. Assuming that acclimation or adaptation will happen quickly enough to overcome the rapid rate at which CO_2 is rising is optimistic given our current level of understanding. A more certain result can be achieved by strongly reducing anthropogenic CO_2 production so ocean pH does not decrease as it will under a "business as usual" scenario.

CONCLUSIONS

Research to date consistently shows that ocean acidification will have a negative effect on the sensory abilities of larval, marine perciform fishes. This will adversely impact on the ability of the larvae to orientate in the ocean, to find settlement habitat and to adjust their vertical distribution, and thus influence their dispersal. In short, the biophysical larval dispersal paradigm will no longer apply. Acidification will also decrease the bet-hedging and colonization of new locations that behavioural variability enables. Dispersal modelling predicts that, as a result, recuitment of demersal fishes will decrease, as will local recruitment while mean and median dispersal distances will increase.

REFERENCES

- Allan, B. J., Miller, G. M., McCormick, M. I., Domenici, P., and Munday, P. L. (2014). Parental effects improve escape performance of juvenile reef fish in a high-CO₂ world. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 281:20132179. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2013.2179
- Ashur, M. M., Johnston, N. K., and Dixson, D. L. (2017). Impacts of ocean acidification on sensory function in marine organisms. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 57, 63–80. doi: 10.1093/icb/icx010
- Bignami, S., Sponaugle, S., and Cowen, R. K. (2013). Response to ocean acidification in larvae of a large tropical marine fish, *Rachycentron canadum*. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 19, 996–1006. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12133
- Bignami, S., Sponaugle, S., and Cowen, R. K. (2014). Effects of ocean acidification on the larvae of a high-value pelagic fisheries species, mahi-mahi *Coryphaena hippurus*. *Aquat. Biol.* 21, 249–260. doi: 10.3354/ab00598
- Bottesch, M., Gerlach, G., Halbach, M., Bally, A., Kingsford, M. J., and Mouritsen, H. (2016). A magnetic compass that might help coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *Curr. Biol.* 26, R1266–R1267. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.10.051
- Castro, J. M., Amorim, M. C. P., Oliveira, A. P., Gonçalves, E. J., Munday, P. L., Simpson, S. D., et al. (2017). Painted goby larvae under high-CO₂ fail to recognize reef sounds. *PLoS ONE* 12:e0170838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170838
- Devine, B. M., Munday, P. L., and Jones, G. P. (2012). Rising CO₂ concentrations affect settlement behaviour of larval damselfishes. *Coral Reefs* 31, 229–238. doi: 10.1007/s00338-011-0837-0
- Domenici, P., Allan, B., McCormick, M. I., and Munday, P. L. (2011). Elevated carbon dioxide affects behavioural lateralization in a coral reef fish. *Biol. Lett.* 8, 1–3. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2011.0591
- Fisher, R., and Leis, J. M. (2009). "Swimming performance in larval fishes: from escaping predators to the potential for long distance migration," in *Fish Locomotion: An Etho-Ecological Approach*, eds P. Domenici and B. G. Kapoor (Enfield, NH: Science Publishers), 333–373.
- Fisher, R., Leis, J. M., Clark, D. L., and Wilson, S. K. (2005). Critical swimming speeds of late-stage coral reef fish larvae: variation within species, among species and between locations. *Mar. Biol.* 147, 1201–1212. doi: 10.1007/s00227-005-0001-x
- Forsgren, E., Dupont, S., Jutfelt, F., and Amundsen, T. (2013). Elevated CO2 affects embryonic development and larval phototaxis in a temperate marine fish. *Ecol. Evol.* 3, 3637–3646. doi: 10.1002/ece3.709
- Frommel, A. Y., Maneja, R., Lowe, D. M., Malzahn, A. M., Geffen, A. J., Folkvord, A., et al. (2012). Severe tissue damage in Atlantic cod larvae under increasing ocean acidification. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2, 42–46. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1324
- Frommel, A. Y., Margulies, D., Wexler, J. B., Stein, M. S., Scholey, V. P., Williamson, J. E., et al. (2016). Ocean acidification has lethal and sub-lethal effects on larval development of yellowfin tuna, *Thunnus albacares. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 482, 18–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2016.04.008
- Holzer, G., Besson, M., Loïc, A. L., Barth, F. P., Gillet, B., Hughes, S., et al. (2017). Fish larval recruitment to reefs is a thyroid hormone-mediated metamorphosis sensitive to the pesticide chlorpyrifos. *Elife* 6:e27595. doi: 10.7554/eLife. 27595

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL conceived, drafted, and is accountable for all aspects of this work, interpreted the data, and gave final approval for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My thanks to: Claire Paris and Eric Wolanski for inviting me to contribute this paper to their collection, Phil Munday for discussions about effects of acidification on the ocean and its fishes, Suzanne Leis for editorial assistance and the reviewers for constructive input.

- Hughes, T. P., Barnes, M. L., Bellwood, D. R., Cinner, J. E., Cumming, G. S., Jackson, J. B. C., et al. (2017). Coral reefs in the anthropocene. *Nature* 546, 82–90. doi: 10.1038/nature22901
- Hunt von Herbing, I. (2002). Effects of temperature on larval fish swimming performance: the importance of physics to physiology. J. Fish Biol. 61, 865–876. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.2002.tb01848.x
- Jones, G. P., Almany, G. R., Russ, G. R., Sale, P. F., Steneck, R. S., van Oppen, M. J. H., et al. (2009). Larval retention and connectivity among populations of corals and reef fishes: history, advances and challenges. *Coral Reefs* 28, 307–326. doi: 10.1007/s00338-009-0469-9
- Kavanagh, K. D. (2000). Larval brooding in the marine damselfish Acanthochromis polyacanthus (Pomacentridae) is correlated with highly divergent morphology, ontogeny and life-history traits. Bull. Mar. Sci. 66, 321–337.
- Leduc, A. O., Munday, P. L., Brown, G. E., and Ferrari, M. C. (2013). Effects of acidification on olfactory-mediated behaviour in freshwater and marine ecosystems: a synthesis. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 368:20120447. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2012.0447
- Leis, J. M. (1991). "The pelagic phase of coral reef fishes:larval biology of coral reef fishes," in *The Ecology of Fishes On Coral Reefs*, ed P. F. Sale (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 183–230.
- Leis, J. M. (2006). Are larvae of demersal fishes plankton or nekton? *Adv. Mar. Biol.* 51, 59–141. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(06)51002-8
- Leis, J. M. (2010). Ontogeny of behaviour in larvae of marine demersal fishes. Ichthyol. Res. 57, 325-342. doi: 10.1007/s10228-010-0177-z
- Leis, J. M. (2015). "Is dispersal of larval reef fishes passive?," in *Ecology of Fishes On Coral Reefs*, ed C. Mora (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 223–226.
- Leis, J. M., Caselle, J. E., Bradbury, I. R., Kristiansen, T., Llopiz, J. K., Miller, M. J., et al. (2013). Does fish larval dispersal differ between high and low latitudes?. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 280, 1–9. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2013.0327
- Leis, J. M., Hay, A. C., and Gaither, M. R. (2011a). Swimming ability and its rapid decrease at settlement in wrasse larvae (Teleostei: Labridae). *Mar. Biol.* 158, 1239–1246. doi: 10.1007/s00227-011-1644-4
- Leis, J. M., Hay, A. C., and Howarth, G. J. (2009). Ontogeny of *in situ* behaviours relevant to dispersal and connectivity in larvae of coral-reef fishes *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 379, 163–179. doi: 10.3354/meps07904
- Leis, J. M., Hay, A. C., Lockett, M. M., Chen, J.-P., and Fang, L. S. (2007). Ontogeny of swimming speed in larvae of pelagic-spawning, tropical, marine fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 349, 257–269. doi: 10.3354/meps07107
- Leis, J. M., Paris, C. B., Irisson, J. O., Yerman, M. N., and Siebeck, U. E. (2014). Orientation of fish larvae *in situ* is consistent among locations, years and methods, but varies with time of day. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 505, 193–208. doi: 10.3354/meps10792
- Leis, J. M., Siebeck, U., and Dixson, D. L. (2011b). How Nemo finds home: the neuroecology of dispersal and of population connectivity in larvae of marine fishes. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 51, 826–843. doi: 10.1093/icb/icr004
- Luiz, O. J., Allen, A. P., Robertson, D. R., Floeter, S. R., Kulbicki, M., Vigliola, L., et al. (2013). Adult and larval traits as determinants of geographic range size among tropical reef fishes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 16498–16502. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1304074110

- Lychakov, D. V., and Rebane, Y. T. (2005). Fish otolith mass asymmetry: morphometry and influence on acoustic functionality. *Hear. Res.* 201, 55–69. doi: 10.1016/j.heares.2004.08.017
- Maneja, R. H., Frommel, A. Y., Browman, H. I., Clemmesen, C., Geffen, A. J., Folkvord, A., et al. (2013). The swimming kinematics of larval Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua* L., are resilient to elevated seawater pCO₂. Mar. Biol. 160, 1963–1972. doi: 10.1007/s00227-012-2054-y
- McCormick, M. I. (1999). Delayed metamorphosis of a tropical reef fish (Acanthurus triostegus): a field experiment. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 176, 25–38. doi: 10.3354/meps176025
- Miller, G. M., Watson, S.-A., Donelson, J. M., McCormick, M. I., and Munday, P. L. (2012). Parental environment mediates impacts of increased carbon dioxide on coral reef fish. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2, 858–861. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1599
- Moser, H. G. (1981). "Morphological and functional aspects of marine fish larvae," in *Marine Fish Larvae: Morphology, Ecology and Relation to Fisheries*, ed R. Lasker (Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press), 90–130.
- Mouritsen, H., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., and Gerlach, G. (2013). Sun compass orientation helps coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *PLoS ONE* 8:e66039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066039
- Munday, P., Allan, B., Mcqueen, D., Nicol, S., Parsons, D., Pether, S., et al. (2017a). "Warming has a greater effect than ocean acidication on the early life history, development and swimming performance of a coastal pelagic fish, Seriola lalandi," in 10th Indo-Pacific Fish Conference (Papeete).
- Munday, P. L., Cheal, A. J., Dixson, D. L., Rummer, J. L., and Fabricius, K. E. (2014). Behavioural impariment in reef fishes caused by ocean acidification at CO₂ seeps. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 4, 487–492. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2195
- Munday, P. L., Donelson, J. M., Dixson, D. L., and Endo, G. G., (2009a). Effects of ocean acidification on the early life history of a tropical marine fish. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 276, 3275–3283. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2009.0784
- Munday, P. L., Donelson, J. M., and Domingos, J. A. (2017b). Potential for adaptation to climate change in a coral reef fish. *Glob. Change Biol.* 23, 307–317. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13419
- Munday, P. L., Leis, J. M., Lough, J. M., Paris, C. B., Kingsford, M. J., Berumen, M. L., et al. (2009b). Climate change and coral reef connectivity. *Coral Reefs* 28, 379–395. doi: 10.1007/s00338-008-0461-9
- Munday, P. L., McCormick, M. I., Meekan, M., Dixson, D. L., Watson, S. A., Chivers, D. P., et al. (2013a). Selective mortality associated with variation in CO₂ tolerance in a marine fish. *Ocean Acidif.* 1, 1–5. doi:10.2478/oac-2012-0001
- Munday, P. L., Pratchett, M. S., Dixson, D. L., Donelson, J. M., Endo, G. G. K., Reynolds, A. D., et al. (2013b). Elevated CO₂ affects the behavior of an ecologically and economically important coral reef fish. *Mar. Biol.* 160, 2137–2144. doi: 10.1007/s00227-012-2111-6
- Munday, P. L., Warner, R. R., Monro, K., Pandolfi, J. M., and Marshall, D. J. (2013c). Predicting evolutionary responses to climate change in the sea. *Ecol. Lett.* 16, 1488–1500. doi: 10.1111/ele.12185
- Munday, P. L., Watson, S. A., Parsons, D. M., King, A., Barr, N. G., Mcleod, I. M., et al. (2016). Effects of elevated CO₂ on early life history development of the yellowtail kingfish, *Seriola lalandi*, a large pelagic fish. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 73, 641–649. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fsv210
- Murray, C. S., Malvezzi, A., Gobler, C. J., and Baumann, H. (2014). Offspring sensitivity to ocean acidification changes seasonally in a coastal marine fish. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 504, 1–11. doi: 10.3354/meps10791
- Nagelkerken, I., and Munday, P. L. (2016). Animal behaviour shapes the ecological effects of ocean acidification and warming: moving from individual to community-level responses. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 22, 974–989. doi: 10.1111/gcb.13167
- Nilsson, G. E., Dixson, D. L., Domenici, P., McCormick, M. I., Sørensen, C., Watson, S. A., et al. (2012). Near-future carbon dioxide levels alter fish behaviour by interfering with neurotransmitter function. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2, 201–204. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1352
- Nilsson, G. E., and Lefevre, S. (2016). Physiological challenges to fishes in a warmer and acidified future. *Physiology* 31, 409–417. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00055.2015
- Nilsson, G. E., Ostlund-Nilsson, S., Penfold, R., and Grutter, A. S. (2007). From record performance to hypoxia tolerance: respiratory transition in damselfish larvae settling on a coral reef. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 274, 79–85. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2006.3706

- O'Connor, J., and Muheim, R. (2017). Pre-settlement coral-reef fish larvae respond to magnetic field changes during the day. *J. Exp. Biol.* 220, 2874–2877. doi: 10.1242/jeb.159491
- Pimentel, M., Pegado, M., Repolho, T., and Rosa, R. (2014). Impact of ocean acidification in the metabolism and swimming behavior of the dolphinfish (*Coryphaena hippurus*) early larvae. *Mar. Biol.* 161, 725–729. doi: 10.1007/s00227-013-2365-7
- Pimentel, M. S., Faleiro, F., Marques, T., Bispo, R., Dionísio, G., Faria, A. M., et al. (2016). Foraging behaviour, swimming performance and malformations of early stages of commercially important fishes under ocean acidification and warming. *Clim. Change* 137, 495–509. doi: 10.1007/s10584-016-1682-5
- Pistevos, J. C., Nagelkerken, I., Rossi, T., and Connell, S. D. (2017). Ocean acidification alters temperature and salinity preferences in larval fish. *Oecologia* 183, 545–553. doi: 10.1007/s00442-016-3778-z
- Popper, A. N., Ramcharitar, J., and Campana, S. E. (2005). Why otoliths? Insights from inner ear physiology and fishery biology. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 56, 497–504. doi: 10.1071/MF04267
- Regan, M. D., Turko, A. J., Heras, J., Andersen, M. K., Lefevre, S., Wang, T., et al. (2016). Ambient CO₂, fish behaviour and altered GABAergic neurotransmission: exploring the mechanism of CO₂-altered behaviour by taking a hypercapnia dweller down to low CO₂ levels. *J. Exp. Biol.* 219, 109–118. doi: 10.1242/jeb.131375
- Roberts, C. M. (1997). Connectivity and management of Caribbean coral reefs. Science 278, 1454–1456. doi: 10.1126/science.278.5342.1454
- Rossi, T., Nagelkerken, I., Simpson, S. D., Pistevos, J. C., Watson, S. A., Merillet, L., et al. (2015). Ocean acidification boosts larval fish development but reduces the window of opportunity for successful settlement. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 282:20151954. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2015.1954
- Sale, P. F. (1980). The ecology of fishes on coral reefs. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 18, 367-421.
- Sale, P. F. (1991). "Reef fish communities: open nonequilibrial systems," in *The Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs*, ed P.F. Sale (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 564–598.
- Silva, C. S., Novais, S. C., Lemos, M. F., Mendes, S., Oliveira, A. P., Gonçalves, E. J., et al. (2016). Effects of ocean acidification on the swimming ability, development and biochemical responses of sand smelt larvae. *Sci. Tot. Environ.* 563–564, 89–98, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.091
- Sunday, J. M., Calosi, P., Dupont, S., Munday, P. L., Stillman, J. H., and Ruesch, T. B. (2014). Evolution in an acidifying ocean. *Trends in Ecol. Evol.* 29, 117–125. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2013.11.001
- Sundin, J., Amcoff, M., Mateos-González, F., Raby, G. D., Jutfelt, F., and Clark, T. D. (2017). Long-term exposure to elevated carbon dioxide does not alter activity levels of a coral reef fish in response to predator chemical cues. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 71, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/s00265-017-2337-x
- Wang, X., Song, L., Chen, Y., Ran, H., and Song, J. (2017). Impact of ocean acidification on the early development and escape behavior of marine medaka (*Oryzias melastigma*). *Mar. Environ. Res.* 131(Suppl. C), 10–18. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2017.09.001
- Welch, M. J., Watson, S. A., Welsh, J. Q., McCormick, M. I., and Munday, P. L. (2014). Effects of elevated CO₂ on fish behaviour undiminished by transgenerational acclimation. *Nat. Clim. Change* 4, 1086–1089. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2400
- Wolanski, E., and Kingsford, M. J. (2014). Oceanographic and behavioural assumptions in models of the fate of coral and coral reef fish larvae. J. R. Soc. Inter. 11:20140209. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.0209

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Leis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Behavior of Brooded Coral Larvae in Response to Elevated pCO₂

Jessica L. Bergman^{1*}, Saki Harii², Haruko Kurihara³ and Peter J. Edmunds¹

¹ Department of Biology, California State University, Northridge, Northridge, CA, United States, ² Sesoko Station, Tropical Biosphere Research Center, University of the Ryukyus, Motobu, Japan, ³ Faculty of Science, University of the Ryukyus, Nishihara, Japan

Elevated pCO₂ threatens coral reefs through impaired calcification. However, the extent to which elevated pCO2 affects the distribution of the pelagic larvae of scleractinian corals, and how this may be interpreted in the context of ocean acidification (OA), remains unknown. We tested the hypothesis that elevated pCO₂ affects one aspect of the behavior (i.e., motility) of brooded larvae from Pocillopora damicornis in Okinawa (Japan), and used UV-transparent tubes that were 68-cm long (45 mm ID) to incubate larvae on a shallow fringing reef. Replicate tubes were filled with seawater at \sim 400 μ atm or \sim 1,000 µatm pCO₂, stocked with 50 larvae each, and incubated vertically for 12 h with their midpoints at 0.3-m (shallow) or 3.3-m (deep) depth over a reef at 4-m depth. Larval behavior was assayed through their position in the tubes, which was scored in situ every 4 h beginning at 08:00 h. Lipid content was measured at the end of the experiment as a potential driver of behavior through its effects on larval buoyancy. Larval position in the tubes varied between depths and time of day at \sim 400 μ atm pCO₂ and \sim 1,000 μ atm pCO₂. At \sim 400 μ atm, larvae moved toward the top (0.1-m) of shallow tubes throughout the day, but in the deep tubes they aggregated at the bottom of the tubes from 08:00 to 20:00 h. In contrast, larvae incubated at \sim 1,000 μ atm pCO₂ aggregated at the bottom of shallow tubes at 08:00 and 20:00 h, however in the deep tubes they were found in the bottom throughout the day. As lipid content of the larvae declined 23–25% at \sim 1,000 vs. \sim 400 μ atm pCO₂, loss of lipid may be a cause of modified larval behavior at high pCO₂. If the pCO₂-mediated changes in behavior and lipid content during this short experiment occur during longer exposures to high pCO₂, our results suggest OA could alter the dispersal capacity of brooded coral larvae.

Keywords: ocean acidification, corals, Pocillopora damicornis, brooded larvae, behavior

INTRODUCTION

Understanding the processes contributing to the distribution of organisms is a cornerstone of ecology (Hastings and Harrison, 1994), and in the marine environment, behaviorally-modulated dispersal of pelagic larvae plays a critical role in determining the spatial distribution of benthic populations (Levin, 2006). Larval behavior contributes to the capacity for pelagic larvae to disperse, which influences gene flow and connectivity among populations (Cowen and Sponaugle, 2009). To quantify the movement of pelagic larvae in the marine environment, their vertical position in the water column must be measured with a high degree of temporal resolution (i.e., hourly), because their vertical position can change within hours (Harii et al., 2002), and vertical changes as small as

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Claire Beatrix Paris, University of Miami, United States

Reviewed by:

Rémi M. Daigle, Laval University, Canada Punyasloke Bhadury, Indian Institute of Science Education and Research Kolkata, India

> *Correspondence: Jessica L. Bergman jesselbergman@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 28 October 2017 Accepted: 02 February 2018 Published: 21 February 2018

Citation:

Bergman JL, Harii S, Kurihara H and Edmunds PJ (2018) Behavior of Brooded Coral Larvae in Response to Elevated pCO₂ Front. Mar. Sci. 5:51. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00051

26

50–100 cm can provide exposure to seawater with differing velocities (Szmant and Meadows, 2006) that are likely to vary throughout the day (e.g., with the tidal cycle). High-resolution descriptions of the vertical position of larvae in the water column requires analyses of their ability to swim, their intrinsic buoyancy, and environmental conditions (e.g., seawater density, temperature, and vertical advection) that together translate into the capacity for dispersal (Metaxas, 2001; Levin, 2006; Gleason and Hofmann, 2011).

The aspects of larval behavior modulating their vertical migration through swimming and buoyancy as a function of environmental conditions and ontogeny (sensu Paris and Cowen, 2004) have been extensively studied in marine organisms (Chia et al., 1984). For coral reef organisms, behaviorally-mediated dispersal of pelagic larvae plays a strong role in determining benthic and pelagic community structure (reviewed in Jones et al., 2009), with these effects evident over areas as small as $\leq 300 \text{ m}^2$ (Jones et al., 2005; Almany et al., 2007) and as big as tens-to-hundreds of kilometers through connectivity mechanisms (Cowen et al., 2006). The framework-builders of coral reefs (i.e., scleractinians) are sessile as adults, but like reef fishes (Doherty et al., 1985) and many other marine benthic invertebrates (Thorson, 1950), are dependent on pelagic larvae for dispersal (Harrison and Wallace, 1990). The dispersal of pelagic larvae from undisturbed to disturbed coral reefs is a key factor mediating the recovery of coral populations that have been severely depleted in abundance (van Oppen et al., 2008). One main finding in studies on connectivity among benthic communities on coral reefs is strong spatiotemporal heterogeneity (Cowen and Sponaugle, 2009), which is an enduring feature of community ecology (Cornell and Lawton, 1992) that also emerges in long-term analyses of community structure (Edmunds, 2000; Bruno and Selig, 2007; Pratchett et al., 2011) and studies of the settlement choices of sessile invertebrate larvae (Whalan et al., 2015).

Environmentally-induced changes in the motility of pelagic larvae are likely to affect their vertical distribution in the seawater column, thereby exposing them to differing abiotic factors (e.g., vertically stratified seawater flow) that can modify the direction, distance, or speed of their dispersal. Changes in larval settlement behavior (e.g., delayed timing of peak settlement, extended settlement window) may also increase the dispersal potential of larvae based on their vertical distribution (Platygyra sinensis, Tay et al., 2011). In shallow coastal seawater, even a change in vertical distribution of a few decimeters can expose larvae to different seawater velocities, since seawater motion in such habitats typically is vertically stratified on a commensurate scale (Cowen and Sponaugle, 2009). For example, wind driven surface currents can cause the 5-cm thick surface layer of seawater over a shallow coral reef to move faster, and in the opposite direction, than seawater at 50-100 cm depth (Harii and Kayanne, 2003). Vertical migration and subsequent advection can subject coral larvae to different environmental conditions compared to the benthic adults (Hughes et al., 2000).

Although the pelagic larvae of many marine organisms are provisioned with maternally-derived defenses against environmental stress (Hamdoun and Epel, 2007), and therefore may be more resistant to stress than their parents (Haryanti et al., 2015), there is evidence that the larvae of at least some tropical scleractinians are more vulnerable than adults to changing environmental conditions (Putnam et al., 2010; Byrne, 2011). For pelagic coral larvae, one aspect of their biology that has not been tested for a response to high pCO_2 is their behavior in the swimming phase. While various physiological responses to high pCO_2 , such as increased size (Putnam et al., 2013) or depressed metabolic rates (Rivest and Hofmann, 2014), have been observed in coral larvae, analysis of their behavior in the swimming phase has yet to be conducted to evaluate the implications of elevated pCO_2 for their dispersal.

In this study, the behavior of brooded scleractinian larvae under contrasting pCO₂ regimes (ambient and elevated) was investigated at two depths to gain insight into the possibility that their dispersal will change in future oceans characterized by higher seawater pCO₂ than present-day. Using experiments conducted on the shallow reefs of Okinawa (Japan), we tested the hypothesis that vertical movement of larvae from *Pocillopora damicornis* is affected by high pCO₂ (\sim 1,000 µ atm). P. damicornis was chosen since it is a brooding scleractinian coral that releases planula larvae on a monthly lunar cycle. Larvae were incubated in acrylic tubes filled with seawater at either ambient or high pCO₂, and suspended vertically in the seawater above a fringing reef. First, the vertical position of the larvae in the tubes was scored over 12 h to test their response to a contrast of ambient vs. elevated pCO₂ in shallow water. The experiment was repeated with the tubes incubated in deeper water, and combination of the two experiments provided an orthogonal contrast of the effects of pCO₂ and depth on larval behavior. Second, the hypothesis that the total lipid content of the larvae would change under elevated pCO₂ vs. ambient pCO₂ was tested to explore the possibility that lipid metabolism mediated the vertical position of the larvae in seawater. Lipids play a role in the buoyancy regulation of a wide variety of planktonic marine organisms (Campbell and Dower, 2003), so we reasoned that modulation of lipid content in larvae from P. damicornis could modify their vertical position in the water column by buoyancy effects (Harii et al., 2002).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Twelve colonies of *Pocillopora damicornis* (Linnaeus 1758) were collected in July and August 2016 from \sim 1-m depth on a patch reef on the northwest shore of Okinawa (26°40′18.24″ N, 127°53′4.78″ E). Colonies were collected prior to expected larval release in Okinawa in both months (S. Harii, unpublished data on the study site), in which peak release occurred \sim 7 days after the new moon. At the times of collection, the ambient seawater temperature at the study site was \sim 29°C.

Following collection, colonies were transferred to Sesoko Station, part of the Tropical Biosphere Research Center University of the Ryukyus, where they were incubated outdoors in individual containers exposed to natural irradiance in flow-through seawater. Ambient seawater was pumped at 3.0 L min⁻¹ (AC Flowmeter, Tokyo Keiso Co., Japan) from 4 to 5-m depth and stored in two 10-L reservoirs. Air was bubbled constantly in to

the reservoirs at 3.0 L min⁻¹ to maintain ambient seawater pCO₂ (i.e., the control conditions). Ambient seawater temperature was measured hourly at 1–2-m depth near the collection site prior to, and during, the experiment (HOBO Pro v2, Onset Computer Corporation, USA), and was $29.9 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C (mean \pm SE, n = 45 days), with a daily minimum of 28.3° C and daily maximum of 31.8° C (R. Prasetia and S. Harii, unpublished data) that reflects summertime diurnal warming in this location (Takahashi and Kurihara, 2013). Temperature in the containers holding the corals was maintained within this range during the experiment (29.8 \pm < 0.2°C, mean \pm SE, n = 31) using a chiller (ZR-130E, Zensui, Japan).

Planulae released from P. damicornis during the first quarter moon of July and August were collected at ~05:00 h following their release at ~03:00 h (Isomura and Nishihira, 2001), using containers lined with 110 µm plankton mesh. Larval color and approximate size were evaluated by eye. As larvae from P. damicornis are physiologically dissimilar among days of release (Fan et al., 2002; Cumbo et al., 2013), larvae were collected from the inferred day of peak release and pooled among colonies releasing larvae on this day. Larvae from July and August were used to test the effects of pCO₂ (two levels) and depths (two levels) on larval behavior, and the experiment was conducted in two parts. The first part (July 2016) tested the effects of two pCO₂ regimes on larval behavior with the tubes positioned with their upper opening adjacent to the air-water interface of the seawater (hereafter "shallow" tubes), and the second part (August 2016) tested the effects of the same two pCO_2 regimes on larval behavior with the tubes positioned with their upper opening \sim 3–4 m below the surface (hereafter "deep" tubes).

Response of Larval Behavior to High pCO₂

To determine the position of *P. damicornis* larvae in the seawater in response to high pCO₂, larvae were transferred from collection containers to UV-transparent acrylic tubes (UV-T, ACRYLITE Colorless 0070 GT, Evonik Industries, New Jersey, USA) and incubated in situ at two depths, which centered the tubes vertically at ~ 0.3 m (July 2016) or ~ 3.3 m (August 2016). The tubes had a wall thickness of 6 mm, were 68-cm long with an inner diameter of 4.5 cm, and were sealed at either end with UV-T acrylic caps. A 6-mm hole was drilled in the top cap so the tubes could be filled with seawater; the hole was later covered with vinyl electrical tape. While the objective was to completely fill the tubes with seawater, in most cases small bubbles were introduced during the filling process and combined when the tubes were positioned vertically to create an air gap of \leq 1-cm height at the top of the tube. The acrylic in these tubes transmitted ~92% of ultraviolet radiation (UV-R) (280–400 nm) (J. Bergman, unpublished data), ensuring larvae were exposed to ecologically relevant light conditions for shallow seawater (Gleason and Hofmann, 2011). Previous studies of the vertical movement of P. damicornis larvae in acrylic tubes (Harii et al., 2002), as well as preliminary observations of larval behavior used in the present study, show that larvae of P. damicornis exposed to ambient seawater generally aggregate either in the top or bottom 0-2 cm of tubes regardless of light conditions (i.e., light vs. dark). Therefore, the vertically-oriented tubes were marked into two

sections for the purpose of scoring the larvae by position: an upper section (21-cm length) and lower section (47-cm length), since we reasoned it would be unlikely that the larvae would accumulate in the center of the tubes. Of the larvae found in the lower section, 83–88% were located in the bottom 23 cm of the tube, which suggested that the greater size of the lower scoring section in the tubes did not upwardly bias estimates of larvae scored as moving downward.

Eight tubes were used for each experiment, during which four were filled with ambient (\sim 400 µ atm pCO₂) seawater, and four with treatment (\sim 1,000 µ atm pCO₂) seawater that simulated the elevated pCO₂ conditions predicted to occur by 2100 under a pessimistic scenario of human activity [RCP6.0 (Moss et al., 2010; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2014)]. Once tubes were filled with seawater, 50 larvae were haphazardly selected from the larval stock obtained by pooling larvae released that morning from maternal colonies, and added using a Pasteur pipette through the 6-mm hole in the cap of the tube. The hole was sealed when the tubes were stocked with larvae. Each tube was carefully inverted to gently mix the 50 larvae, so each trial began with the larvae scattered along the length of the tube. Although the pelagic larval duration (PLD) of P. damicornis can be >100 d (Richmond, 1987), their larvae commonly settle \leq 24 h following release (Richmond, 1987; Isomura and Nishihira, 2001; Harii et al., 2002; but see Cumbo et al., 2012), and therefore, the present incubations were designed to last 12 h starting at 08:00 h.

After the tubes were stocked with larvae on the shore, they were transported by a snorkeler to an adjacent fringing reef and suspended vertically, with the midpoint of the tubes at a median depth (MD) of either ~ 0.3 m (July) or 3.3 m (August) (hereafter referred to as 0.3 and 3.3-m MD) (**Figure 1**). The median depth was recorded at the middle of the vertically oriented tubes, thus the depth range for the 0.3 m MD tubes extended from the surface to 0.7 m, and from 3 to 3.7 m for the 3.3 m MD tubes. To maintain this configuration, the tubes were attached



FIGURE 1 Photograph of 68-cm long tubes deployed *in situ* at ~3.3-m MD on the shallow fringing reef near Sesoko Station in August 2016. Ambient and high pCO_2 treatments were haphazardly distributed among 8 tubes.

to a weight at 5-m depth, and a float was used to keep them suspended vertically. While it is not possible to exclude an effect of time (July vs. August) in confounding the contrast of depth, experimental conditions were kept virtually identical between months to reduce temporal bias. Tubes were stocked with larvae shortly after sunrise, and were installed on the reef within 30 min of filling at \sim 07:30 h. Thereafter, the vertical position of the larvae was scored every 4 h starting at 08:00 h (initial) and finishing at \sim 19:30–20:00 h (sunset); the tubes were removed from the water at 08:00 h the following day and the larvae processed for lipid content (described below). At each census, the position of the larvae in the tubes was scored as the number of larvae in either the top or bottom sections of the tube. Tubes were not evaluated at night because of logistical constraints associated with nighttime snorkeling. The percentage of the total number of larvae present in the tubes at the time of each sampling was calculated for the top section of the tubes and used as the response variable to evaluate the effects of the treatments (depth and pCO₂).

Carbonate Chemistry

High pCO₂ seawater was prepared in a single 10 L plastic reservoir by bubbling air or pure CO₂ gas into seawater using a mass-flow controller (HORIBASTEC, SEC-E40, Japan) that supplied gas at 16 mL min⁻¹. Adjustments of \pm 0.1 mL min⁻¹ in the flow rate of CO₂ gas were made manually as necessary each morning leading up to the experiment to maintain the desired pCO₂, as evaluated from daily measurements of seawater pH and total alkalinity (A_T) used to calculate seawater pCO₂ using CO2SYS software (Lewis and Wallace, 1998). Seawater pH and temperature in the reservoir were measured daily between 09:00 and 11:00 h using a handheld meter (Multi 3410, WTW, Germany) fitted with a combination probe that recorded pH $(\pm 0.001 \text{ pH unit})$ and temperature $(\pm 0.1^{\circ}\text{C})$ (SenTix 940, WTW, Germany). The probe was calibrated daily prior to use with three NBS buffers (Nacalai Tesque, Japan). The salinity of the seawater used to fill the larval incubation tubes was measured using a conductivity meter (TetraCon 325, WTW, Germany), and AT was determined using open-cell titrations conducted with an autoburette titrator (Kimoto, ATT-05, Japan). Titrations of certified reference materials (batch 155) provided by A.G. Dickson (Scripps Institute of Oceanography) yielded AT values that differed on average $\leq 1.3 \,\mu$ mol kg⁻¹ from the certified value $(SE = 9.2 \ \mu \text{mol kg}^{-1}, n = 6)$. Seawater pCO₂, HCO₃⁻, CO₃²⁻, and Ω_{arag} were calculated from pH, temperature, A_T, and salinity using CO2SYS (Lewis and Wallace, 1998) with dissociation constants K1 and K2 from Mehrbach et al. (1973).

Lipid Content

To test for changes in total lipid content in the larvae following incubations under ambient and high pCO_2 , the initial lipid content of larvae was determined in three samples of 50 larvae, freshly released from the maternal colonies at 06:00 h and pooled among them. Each batch of larvae was placed in 1.5-mL vials for processing. The final lipid content of the larvae (i.e., 24 h after the start of incubations) was determined by processing batches of larvae in the same way following 24 h in ambient or high pCO_2 in either shallow (July) or deep (August) locations. Tubes

incubated on the reef were returned to the lab 24 h after the start of each experiment (i.e., 08:00 h the following day), and all living larvae were collected by rinsing the contents of each tube into a collection container. Retrieved larvae were counted, and a single batch of 50 larvae from each tube at both depths was placed in a 1.5 mL vial for measurement of lipid content.

After transferring the batches of larvae to 1.5-mL vials, excess seawater was removed from the vials using a Pasteur pipette, and the larvae were frozen at -80°C for lipid analysis within 2-4 weeks. Following the protocol of Harii et al. (2010), modified by lengthening the extraction time in an ultrasonic bath to 15 min, lipids were extracted with 5 mL dichloromethane-methanol (6:4) at room temperature. Each batch of 50 larvae was extracted three times, with the solvent and eluted lipid pooled among extracts. Extracted lipids were concentrated in a rotary evaporator for 15-20 min, the residue was dissolved in dichloromethane 6 times, and then centrifuged to separate lipids from any remaining water. The solvent containing dissolved lipids was transferred to a new 50 mL flask after each separation. After the replicate dissolutions in dichloromethane, the samples were partially evaporated once again for $\sim 5 \text{ min}$, and passed through a $\sim 1 \text{ cm}$ column of Na₂SO₄ crystals and plastic wool to remove any remaining water. Samples drained by gravity from the column into 4-mL precombusted glass vials (400°C for 4 h), in which they were then dried under nitrogen gas and weighed using a microbalance $(\pm 1 \mu g, MT5, Mettler-Toledo, USA)$. All solvents used were American Chemical Society (ACS) Guaranteed Reagent (GR) grade. Larval lipid content was expressed as μg larva⁻¹. The extraction efficiency of lipids was evaluated by comparing the lipid content of control larvae with the known lipid content of P. damicornis (Rivest and Hofmann, 2015).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using SYSTAT Version 11 software (Systat Software, San Jose, CA). A two-factor Repeated Measures (RM) ANOVA was used to compare the effects of depth and pCO_2 on larval position in the tubes, with time of day as the RM factor, and arcsine-transformed values of the percentage of larvae found in the top of each tube as the dependent variable. Post-hoc analyses were conducted as paired t-tests for tubes at each depth and treatment combination, testing for differences between sequential time points using an $\alpha = 0.05/3$ for three contrasts within each group. Differences in lipid content of larvae were evaluated using a two-sample *t*-test to compare the effect of pCO₂ on total lipid between depths, and a Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test (due to violations of normality in the data) to compare lipid content after pCO₂ incubations regardless of month. Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance for the RM-ANOVA were assessed through graphical analyses of the residuals.

RESULTS

Four hundred larvae were used in July and August for incubations in the eight tubes. Larvae were pale brown and prolate spheroid in shape, actively swam throughout incubations, and behaved similarly to each other following release from maternal colonies in July and August (i.e., before each test of the effect of depth). Larvae used at both depths were collected on lunar day 7, which corresponded to July 10th for 0.3-m MD, and August 8th for 3.3-m MD. Seawater temperature in the 14 days prior to larval release did not statistically differ (2-sample *t*-test, t = 0.617, df = 26, p = 0.118) with a grand mean (pooled among those 14 days in each month) of 29.1 \pm 0.1°C (\pm SE, n = 28 days) (S. Harii, unpublished data).

Behavior of Larvae in High pCO₂

The pCO₂ in the tubes did not differ between the start and end of the 24 h incubations at both 0.3-m MD (t = 2.550, df =5, p = 0.238) and 3.3-m MD (t = 0.007, df = 6, p = 0.995) (Table 1). Pooling pCO₂ treatment levels between depths, and including both initial and final (24 h later) measurements of seawater chemistry, mean treatment levels were 1,060 \pm 31 μ atm pCO₂ and 356 \pm 13 µ atm pCO₂ ($n = 15, \pm$ SE). Larvae incubated in high pCO₂ retained their shape and pale brown color at both depths, and visually were indistinguishable from larvae incubated under control conditions. One treatment incubation tube at 0.3-m MD broke prior to the larval census at 16:00 h, and exclusion of this tube from the statistical analysis provided too few observations to test all interactions in the model. To address this limitation, observations on larval distribution at 16:00 and 20:00 h for the damaged tube were replaced with an imputed mean value calculated from the remaining 3 tubes in the same treatment group, and the degrees of freedom were reduced by one for each replacement (Quinn and Keough, 2002; Zar, 2010).

The percentage of larvae found in the top section of each tube differed between pCO_2 treatments in a pattern that varied among times and depths [i.e., there was a significant interaction among depth, time, and treatment, $F_{(3, 34)} = 3.762$, p = 0.019, **Table 2**] (**Figure 2**). *Post-hoc* analyses were equivocal because of the small sample sizes, but sequential contrasts of times (three comparisons) suggest the interactive effect was caused by differences between 16:00 vs. 20:00 h in the high pCO₂ tubes at 0.3-m MD and ambient pCO₂ tubes at 3.3-m MD, between 08:00 vs. 12:00 h in the ambient pCO₂ tubes at 0.3-m MD, and between 08:00 vs. 12:00 h and 12:00 vs. 16:00 h in the treatment tubes at 3.3-m MD (all p < 0.05). At 0.3-m MD, the percentage of

larvae in the top of the tubes in high pCO₂ described an inverse parabola as a function of time, increasing from \sim 42 to 64% between 8:00 and 16:00 h, but decreasing to 49% at 20:00 h (n =43–50 larvae tube⁻¹). Larval behavior in high pCO₂ contrasted with that observed at ambient pCO₂, where at 0.3-m MD the percentage of larvae in the upper section of the tubes increased throughout the day, starting at 28% at 08:00 h and ending at 84% at 20:00 h. At 3.3-m MD in high pCO₂, 25-50% of the larvae were in the upper section of the tubes regardless of time. Larval behavior was similar at high and ambient pCO₂ at 3.3-m MD, where in ambient pCO₂ the percentage of larvae in the upper section of the tubes was $28 \pm 4\%$ between 8:00 and 20:00 h (mean \pm SE, n = 16 based on 200 larvae at each time), although it decreased to 18% (n = 200 larvae) at 16:00 h. Overall, 66 \pm 6% and $37 \pm 4\%$ of the larvae were found in the upper section of the tubes at 0.3-m MD and 3.3-m MD in high pCO₂, respectively (mean \pm SE, n = 16), and in all cases the remaining larvae were swimming and behaving normally in the bottom sections of the tubes after 12 h.

Lipid Content

The larvae used for lipid analysis were similar to one another in color and size (~1-mm long), and were visible in situ when freshly released from the maternal colonies, and following 24 h in the acrylic tubes. The analytical procedure for the lipid analyses required a minimum of 50 larvae for each determination, and this restriction excluded one tube from each pCO₂ treatment (high and ambient) in both July and August, when 10-15% of the larvae settled on the walls of the tube after 24 h. Mean dry lipid content at 0.3-m MD was 12.19 \pm 0.23 µg lipid larvae⁻¹ after 24 h in ambient pCO₂, but this declined \sim 23% to 9.38 \pm 0.79 µg lipid larvae⁻¹ after 24 h in elevated pCO₂ (both \pm SE, n = 3). Similarly, at 3.3-m MD, mean dry lipid content was 11.96 ± 0.69 μ g lipid larvae⁻¹ after 24 h in ambient pCO₂, declining ~25% to $8.99 \pm 1.24 \ \mu g \ lipid \ larvae^{-1}$ after 24 h in elevated pCO₂ (both \pm SE, n = 3). Lipid content of freshly released larvae did not differ between July and August (t = 0.092, df = 4, p = 0.928), and averaged 11.98 \pm 0.27 µg larvae⁻¹ (\pm SE, n = 6). As lipid content did not differ between months for larvae incubated in ambient pCO₂ (t = 0.248, df = 3, p = 0.820) or high pCO₂ (t =

TABLE 1 Mean carbonate chemistry parameters (mean ± SE, n = 3-4) in sealed vertical tubes in Okinawa, initially and after a 24 h incubation in ambient or h	igh pCO ₂ ,
for trials at 0.3-m MD and 3.3-m MD.	

Time	Treatment	рН	pCO ₂ (μatm)	A _T (μmol kg ⁻¹)	$\Omega_{ m arag}$	Salinity
Initial	Ambient	8.196 ± 0.031	380 ± 35	2,232 ± 1	5.86 ± 0.28	34.6
	High	7.785 ± 0.015	$1,178 \pm 49$	$2,253 \pm 1$	2.73 ± 0.05	34.6
Final	Ambient	8.197 ± 0.022	376.81 ± 24	$2,232 \pm 1$	5.65 ± 0.19	34.5
	High	7.829 ± 0.002	$1,034 \pm 6$	$2,253 \pm 1$	2.78 ± 0.02	34.5
Initial	Ambient	8.227 ± 0.019	349 ± 18	$2,254 \pm 1$	5.93 ± 0.27	34.5
	High	7.836 ± 0.013	$1,018 \pm 29$	$2,256 \pm 1$	2.87 ± 0.13	34.5
Final	Ambient	8.254 ± 0.007	320 ± 7	$2,254 \pm 1$	5.85 ± 0.08	34.5
	High	7.818 ± 0.021	$1,049 \pm 55$	$2,256 \pm 1$	2.57 ± 0.13	34.5
	Time Initial Final Initial Final	TimeTreatmentInitialAmbientHighFinalAmbientHighInitialAmbientHighFinalAmbientHighFinalAmbientHigh	TimeTreatmentpHInitialAmbient 8.196 ± 0.031 High 7.785 ± 0.015 FinalAmbient 8.197 ± 0.022 High 7.829 ± 0.002 InitialAmbient 8.227 ± 0.019 High 7.836 ± 0.013 FinalAmbient 8.254 ± 0.007 High 7.818 ± 0.021	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c } \hline Time & Treatment & pH & pCO_2 (\mu atm) \\ \hline \\ Initial & Ambient & 8.196 \pm 0.031 & 380 \pm 35 \\ & High & 7.785 \pm 0.015 & 1,178 \pm 49 \\ \hline \\ Final & Ambient & 8.197 \pm 0.022 & 376.81 \pm 24 \\ & High & 7.829 \pm 0.002 & 1,034 \pm 6 \\ \hline \\ Initial & Ambient & 8.227 \pm 0.019 & 349 \pm 18 \\ & High & 7.836 \pm 0.013 & 1,018 \pm 29 \\ \hline \\ Final & Ambient & 8.254 \pm 0.007 & 320 \pm 7 \\ & High & 7.818 \pm 0.021 & 1,049 \pm 55 \\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c } \hline Time & Treatment & pH & pCO_2 (\mu atm) & A_T (\mu mol kg^{-1}) \\ \hline \\ Initial & Ambient & 8.196 \pm 0.031 & 380 \pm 35 & 2,232 \pm 1 \\ High & 7.785 \pm 0.015 & 1,178 \pm 49 & 2,253 \pm 1 \\ \hline \\ Final & Ambient & 8.197 \pm 0.022 & 376.81 \pm 24 & 2,232 \pm 1 \\ High & 7.829 \pm 0.002 & 1,034 \pm 6 & 2,253 \pm 1 \\ \hline \\ Initial & Ambient & 8.227 \pm 0.019 & 349 \pm 18 & 2,254 \pm 1 \\ High & 7.836 \pm 0.013 & 1,018 \pm 29 & 2,256 \pm 1 \\ \hline \\ Final & Ambient & 8.254 \pm 0.007 & 320 \pm 7 & 2,254 \pm 1 \\ High & 7.818 \pm 0.021 & 1,049 \pm 55 & 2,256 \pm 1 \\ \hline \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Table displays pH, partial pressure of CO₂ (pCO₂), total alkalinity (TA), aragonite saturation state (Ω_{arag}), and salinity. Treatment (pCO₂) conditions did not differ between initial and final measurements for all treatment in shallow (t = 2.550, df = 5, p = 0.238) or deep (t = 0.007, df = 6, p = 0.995) deployments. SE for salinity was <0.1.

TABLE 2 Results of a two-factor RM AN	OVA.
---	------

Source of variation	df	MS	F	р
BETWEEN SUBJECTS				
pCO ₂	1	0.003	0.080	0.782
Depth	1	1.500	38.252	< 0.001
$pCO_2 \times depth$	1	0.235	6.003	0.031
Error	12	0.039		
WITHIN SUBJECTS				
Time	3	0.207	9.808	< 0.001
Time \times pCO ₂	3	0.045	2.115	0.115
Time \times depth	3	0.174	8.214	< 0.001
Time \times depth \times pCO ₂	3	0.080	3.762	0.019
Error	34	0.021		

Time, pCO_2 , and depth were treated as fixed factors, and arcsine-transformed values of the percentage of larvae found in the top of each tube as the dependent variable. Interactions that were interpreted in the context of the study are shown in bold.

0.267, df = 3, p = 0.803), the results of the lipid analyses following incubations were pooled between months and depths to test for an overall effect of high pCO₂. Lipid content of the larvae differed in high pCO₂ from ambient pCO₂ and initial release (Kruskal Wallis test, H = 9.710, $n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = 6$, p = 0.008) (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

In this study, the vertical position in the water column of Pocillopora damicornis larvae was measured as a function of pCO₂, depth, and time of day to test the hypothesis that their vertical positioning was affected by high pCO₂. Under current ambient pCO₂ conditions directly below the surface, freshly released larvae moved upward in vertically-oriented tubes over 12 h. Upward movement was attenuated by a 3-m increase in median depth, where \sim 38% fewer larvae remained in the upper section of the tubes all day. Larval behavior in tubes close to the surface changed with exposure to high pCO₂, with accentuation of daytime movement that enhanced the occurrence of larvae in the upper portion of the tubes around noon, but this trend reversed in the morning and evening to favor occurrence in the lower portion of the tubes. The pattern of upwards movement at midday disappeared in tubes containing high pCO₂ seawater at 3.3-m MD, in which 50-75% of the larvae were found throughout the day in the bottom portion of the tubes (i.e., there was no vertical migration over the 12h observation period). Lipid content of the larvae declined 23-25% after 24 h at high pCO₂ (but not ambient pCO₂), and changes in buoyancy due to reduction in lipid content may, therefore, have played a role in the shift in larval behavior at high pCO₂. Shifts in vertical position of the larvae on a scale of decimeters as a function of pCO₂ can cause differential advection through exposure to dissimilar current velocities (Bingham and Young, 1991) that occur on vertical scales as small as 50-100 cm in shallow seawater over coral reefs (Harii and Kayanne, 2003; Hench et al., 2008). Exposure to different flow speeds, directions, and water types can cause local retention or decreasing pelagic larval duration (PLD) (Largier, 2003; Cowen and Sponaugle, 2009), and therefore affect dispersal (Savina et al., 2010).

The vertical position of pelagic larvae in the water column allows stratified water masses moving at different speeds or varying directions to be "sampled" as larvae move up and down in the water (Largier, 2003). In Okinawa, for example, pelagic larvae are exposed to hydrodynamic features differing in flow direction and speed between wind-driven surface currents (8 cm s⁻¹ north) and net seawater flow 0.5-1 m below the surface (1.5 cm s^{-1}) southeast) (Harii and Kayanne, 2003), thus modifying their dispersal depending on the vertical position. For larvae in the present study, stratification of currents could lead to increased dispersal, notably for those larvae inferred to spend time in the upper 21 cm of the water column, vs. those positioned deeper in the water column (i.e., the lower 47 cm of the present tubes). Larval dispersal mediated by vertical migration through stratified seawater motion is likely to be common for coral larvae, because seawater is commonly stratified by contrasting horizontal flows speeds in reef habitats (e.g., shallow coastal waters, or on a reef crest). For instance, using a vertical resolution of 1 m, Salas-Monreal et al. (2009) demonstrated differences in east-west and north-south velocity components of seawater in the Gulf of Mexico, with these differences establishing a depth-dependent flow gradient extending from 4 to 16 cm s^{-1} between the surface and 2-m depth. Likewise, measurements of seawater velocity just behind the reef crest in Moorea, French Polynesia, revealed differences of \sim 5–10 cm s⁻¹ between the surface of the reef at 2-m depth, and the surface of the seawater flowing over the reef (Hench et al., 2008).

Additionally, based on the data presented here, the present study suggests that elevated pCO_2 will lead to a higher proportion of larvae at or near the surface of the seawater. In the few coral reef habitats where seawater pCO_2 is naturally elevated and localized, such as the Galápagos (Manzello, 2010), the response reported here of coral larvae to elevated pCO_2 may have beneficial effects. Such effects could result in dispersal away from areas of higher pCO_2 , via surface currents that are typically of a greater magnitude than subsurface currents (Harii and Kayanne, 2003). However, the dispersal of coral larvae away from areas of high pCO_2 may not be advantageous in the context of OA, which is predicted to result in elevated seawater pCO_2 across large spatial scales so that enhanced advection of larvae would not move them to areas of reduced pCO_2 .

The large number of *P. damicornis* larvae (an average of 55% pooled across all treatments and times of day) found in the bottom of the present tubes therefore is also likely to have ecological relevance in determining the "sampling" by larvae of multiple strata of seawater differing in seawater velocities. Larvae aggregating near the bottom of the present tubes probably would have reached the benthos $\sim 5 \text{ m}$ below if they were not contained in capped tubes, and this would have accentuated the sampling of benthic substrata and possibly hastened settlement, effectively reducing PLD (Miller and Mundy, 2003). Testing of this possibility would require two changes to the present experiment: first, to provide larvae with access to a longer vertical section of seawater, and second, to census their vertical position over more than 12 h to evaluate diel periodicity in



initiation of treatment conditions at 08:00 h.

vertical movement (Hodgson, 1985). The potential implications of reduced PLD in coral larvae by accentuated downward migration at \geq 1,000 µatm pCO₂ has ecological relevance, because shorter PLDs are associated with limited dispersal potential and enhanced possibilities of settlement at the natal site (Levin, 2006; Treml et al., 2012).

Lipid Content in High pCO₂

The second goal of the present study was to test the hypothesis that high pCO₂ affected the lipid content of *P. damicornis* larvae after 24 h exposure to high pCO₂ *in situ*. Exploration of this goal was motivated by the inference that a change in lipid content in response to high pCO₂ would affect larval buoyancy (sensu Harii et al., 2007). A leading determinant of buoyancy in invertebrate larvae is lipid content (Chia et al., 1984), and variation in lipid content can modulate their buoyancy, as in larvae of the abalone *Haliotis* spp. (Moran and Manahan, 2003) and a diversity of zooplankton (Lee et al., 2006). It is commonly accepted that brooded coral larvae are positively buoyant immediately following release (Oliver and Willis, 1987; Wood et al., 2016),

and therefore quickly ascend to the surface of the seawater (Harii et al., 2002), where they are subject to rapid advection in wind-driven surface currents (Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014).

In the present study, the lipid content of *P. damicornis* larvae was measured at the start of the incubations and 24 h later. We infer that changes in lipid content occurred linearly over this period, which is consistent with trends observed in the larvae of other corals (Figueiredo et al., 2012) and invertebrates [e.g., abalone (Moran and Manahan, 2003) and sea urchins Sewell, 2005]. A linear decline in the lipid content of coral larvae could be a result of several non-exclusive mechanisms, including the catabolism of fatty acids through aerobic respiration (Harii et al., 2010), the incorporation of lipids into membrane phospholipids (Lee et al., 2006), or the loss of lipids in fat-rich mucus secretions (Gaither and Rowan, 2010; Ricardo et al., 2016). Distinguishing among these possibilities will require physiological analyses of different mechanisms by which lipid reserves are depleted by catabolism, and resolution of the lipids to their component classes (e.g., triacylglycerols and wax esters). The decline in lipid content of P. damicornis larvae that we recorded was detected



based on initial and final sampling after 24 h in the treatment. Intermediate sampling that might have more completely resolved the rate of lipid decline was precluded by the challenges of working offshore at night. Nevertheless, the results show that larval lipid content declined after exposure to high pCO_2 , but not after exposure to ambient pCO_2 .

To our knowledge, the buoyancy of brooded coral larvae has been measured in only one study (Szmant and Meadows, 2006), likely because of the technical difficulty of separating buoyancy from swimming as mechanisms mediating larval motility in this taxon. These difficulties arise from the small size of most coral larvae, the difficulties of quantitatively sampling them in the plankton, and the challenges of quantifying the effects of ciliary swimming. However, larvae freshly released from *P. damicornis* in Mo'orea, French Polynesia, sank when they were anesthetized with eugenol, thus suggesting they were negatively buoyant (L. Bramanti, personal communication to JB), as has been described for the aposymbiotic larvae of the gorgonian *Corallium rubrum* (Martínez-Quintana et al., 2014). When interpreting larval movement in the present experiment, we therefore assume that larvae of *P. damicornis* are negatively buoyant.

Most brooded larvae of tropical scleractinians contain endosymbiotic *Symbiodinium*, which typically are vertically transmitted from the parent colony (Harrison and Wallace, 1990), and can translocate as much as 27% of their fixed carbon to the cnidarian tissue of the planula (Richmond, 1982). However, in addition to obtaining energy resources from their *Symbiodinium*, it is likely that brooded coral larvae also metabolize maternally-derived lipids to meet their energy needs (Harii et al., 2010). The use of lipid reserves for this purpose could be particularly important when the photosynthetic capacity of larval *Symbiodinium* is impaired by light or thermal stress (Haryanti et al., 2015), or in the context of our findings, by increased pCO₂, as has been seen in adult corals (Anthony et al., 2008). Understanding of the mechanisms of lipid catabolism is likely to be enhanced by more information on the lipid classes involved in the inferred catabolism. The lipids in *P. damicornis* larvae are composed of wax esters, triglycerides, and phospholipids, and as wax esters are typically the most abundant class (Harii et al., 2007; Figueiredo et al., 2012), it is reasonable to infer that lipids in the present larvae were also composed of mainly wax esters. The concentration of wax esters in the larvae of *P. damicornis* is particularly important to understanding their behavior, because wax esters have a lower density than triglycerides and phospholipids (Gurr et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2006). Wax esters are also positively buoyant in seawater (Arai et al., 1993), so they could modulate the buoyancy of larvae in which they occur.

Evidence for lipid catabolism as a mechanism to reduce the wax ester content of coral larvae comes from P. damicornis at Heron Island, Australia, where >85% of larval metabolic demand was derived from lipids under low light ($\sim 100 \ \mu mol$ $m^{-2} s^{-1}$) conditions after 31 days in culture (Harii et al., 2010). Calculations corroborate this finding, because a larval respiration rate in *P. damicornis* of 0.15 nmol O_2 larvae⁻¹ min⁻¹ (Cumbo et al., 2013) would consume 2.42 μg lipid larvae^{-1} day^{-1,} assuming lipid was the respiratory substrate and that it required $2 \text{ mL O}_2 \text{ mg}^{-1}$ to be consumed in aerobic respiration (Schmidt-Nielsen, 1997). Over 24 h in the present experiment, larvae consumed ${\sim}2.8~\mu g$ lipid larvae^1 in high pCO2, so while the composition of lipids in P. damicornis larvae was not measured in the present analysis, it is feasible that the decline in lipid content included effects caused by catabolism of wax esters. A reduction of wax esters might be sufficient to reduce the buoyancy of the present larvae incubated at high pCO₂ and 0.3-m MD, therefore favoring downward movement in the tubes.

Elucidating the causes of the vertical movement recorded in the present analysis is challenging due to the likelihood that movement was caused by a combination of buoyancy and ciliary swimming. The inability to distinguish larval movement attributed to ciliary swimming from that attributed to passive buoyancy suggests that at least a portion of the movement recorded in the present study was a result of swimming. Utilization of ciliary swimming might explain the interactive effect of pCO₂ and depth on the position of larvae within the tubes, because the constancy of lipid content between depths at high pCO₂ suggests that changes in buoyancy were independent of depth in high pCO₂. According to this hypothesis, larvae might have swum more actively in high pCO₂. The downwards shift in vertical position of P. damicornis larvae in 3.3-m MD tubes (vs. 0.3-m MD) at high pCO₂ may reflect active swimming, as has been recorded for the larvae of many coral species (Vermeij et al., 2010; Martínez-Quintana et al., 2014), including P. damicornis (Te, 1992; Kuffner and Paul, 2004).

CONCLUSIONS

While the present study shows an effect of high pCO_2 on vertical position of the pelagic larvae of a brooding coral, this outcome should be interpreted within the constraints of the

experimental design employed. First, larval behavior in acrylic tubes is likely to be constrained by the physical conditions in the tubes that differ from the open reef, notably in terms of flow regimes and wall effects. While the implications of these effects should not be ignored, the behavior of brooded coral larvae is similar in vertically-oriented tubes varying in size from 30 cm long \times 1 cm ID (Raimondi and Morse, 2000) to 2.2 m long \times 5 cm ID (Tay et al., 2011). This observation suggests that wall effects and tube dimensions do not alter larval behavior. Second, our interpretation of depth effects was restricted to an experimental design that comingled an effect of time with depth (i.e., the two depths were tested in separate months), necessitated by the logistical challenges of simultaneously establishing an *in situ* experiment at two depths. While we cannot exclude the possibility that time confounded the test of depth, the potential influences of this effect were reduced by stringently standardizing protocols between months, sampling larvae from colonies on the same lunar day of each month [as larval phenotype differs among release days in brooding corals (Cumbo et al., 2013)], using new colonies each month (i.e., they were statistically independent), and testing for differences in ambient seawater temperature between months. With an understanding of the limitations of the study, the present results have relevance in evaluating the likelihood of ocean acidification to modify the dispersal and connectivity of reef corals among populations that are part of a larger metapopulation (Levin, 2006). For larvae of brooded corals, the impacts of high pCO₂ on the physiology, behavior, and response to physical conditions suggests it will be productive to consider these effects in order to evaluate the potential for larval dispersal in a more acidic ocean.

REFERENCES

- Almany, G. R., Berumen, M. L., Thorrold, S. R., Planes, S., and Jones, G. P. (2007). Local replenishment of coral reef fish populations in a marine reserve. *Science* 316, 742–744. doi: 10.1126/science.1140597
- Anthony, K. R. N., Kline, D. I., Diaz-Pulido, G., Dove, S., and Hoegh-Guldber, O. (2008). Ocean acidification causes bleaching and productivity loss in coral reef builders. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 17442–17446. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0804478105
- Arai, I., Kato, M., Heyward, A., Ikeda, Y., Iizuka, T., and Maruyama, T. (1993). Lipid composition of positively buoyant eggs of reef building corals. *Coral Reefs* 12, 71–75. doi: 10.1007/BF00302104
- Bingham, B. L., and Young, C. M. (1991). Larval behavior of the ascidian *Ecteinascidia turbinata* Herdman; an *in situ* experimental study of the effects of swimming on dispersal. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 145, 189–204. doi: 10.1016/0022-0981(91)90175-V
- Bruno, J. F., and Selig, E. R. (2007). Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. *PLoS ONE* 2:e711. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000711
- Byrne, M. (2011). "Impact of ocean warming and ocean acidification on marine invertebrate life history stages: vulnerabilities and potential for persistence in a changing ocean," in *Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review*, eds R. N. Gibson, R. J. A. Atkinson, and J. D. M. Gordon (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 1–42.
- Campbell, R. W., and Dower, J. F. (2003). Role of lipids in the maintenance of neutral buoyancy by zooplankton. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 263, 93–99. doi: 10.3354/meps263093

ANIMAL RIGHTS STATEMENT

All known animal care and ethics issues for invertebrates were followed.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB and PE planned the experiments. JB conducted the experiments. JB, SH, and HK contributed to the experiments. JB analyzed the data with advice from PE. JB and PE wrote the manuscript with contributions, review, and editing from SH and HK.

FUNDING

This research was supported by a grant to JB from the US National Science Foundation - East Asia and Pacific Summer Institutes program (#16-13798), and the Japanese Society for the Promotion of Science Summer Institutes program. Additional funding was provided by Core Research for Evolutional Science and Technology (CREST), Japan Science and Technology Agency, to SH and HK.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was conducted at Sesoko Station, Tropical Biosphere Research Center, in collaboration with the University of the Ryukyus. We thank R. Prasetia and F. Sinniger for guidance and assistance with fieldwork. This is contribution number 263 of the Marine Biology Program of California State University, Northridge.

- Chia, F.-S., Buckland-Nicks, J., and Young, C. M. (1984). Locomotion of marine invertebrate larvae: a review. *Can. J. Zool.* 62, 1205–1222. doi: 10.1139/z8 4-176
- Cornell, H. V., and Lawton, J. H. (1992). Species interactions, local and regional processes, and limits to the richness of ecological communities: a theoretical perspective. J. Anim. Ecol. 61, 1–12. doi: 10.2307/5503
- Cowen, R. K., Paris, C. B., and Srinivasan, A. (2006). Scaling of connectivity in marine populations. *Science* 311, 522–527. doi: 10.1126/science.1122039
- Cowen, R. K., and Sponaugle, S. (2009). Larval dispersal and marine population connectivity. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 1, 443–466. doi: 10.1146/annurev.marine.010908.163757
- Cumbo, V. R., Fan, T. Y., and Edmunds, P. J. (2012). Effects of exposure duration on the response of *Pocillopora damicornis* larvae to elevated temperature and high pCO₂. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 439, 100–107. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2012.10.019
- Cumbo, V. R., Edmunds, P. J., Wall, C. B., and Fan, T. Y. (2013). Brooded coral larvae differ in their response to high temperature and elevated pCO₂ depending on the day of release. *Mar. Biol.* 160, 2903–2917. doi: 10.1007/s00227-013-2280-y
- Doherty, P. J., Williams, D. M., and Sale, P. F. (1985). The adaptive significance of larval dispersal in coral reef fishes. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 12, 81–90. doi: 10.1007/BF00002761
- Edmunds, P. J. (2000). Patterns in the distribution of juvenile corals and coral reef community structure in St. John, US Virgin Islands. *Mar. Ecol. Ser.* 202, 113–124. doi: 10.3354/meps202113
- Fan, T. Y., Li, J. J., Ie, S. X., and Fang, L. S. (2002). Lunar periodicity of larval release by pocilloporid corals in Southern Taiwan. *Zool. Stud.* 41, 288–293

- Figueiredo, J., Baird, A. H., Cohen, M. F., Flot, J.-F., Kamiki, T., Meziane, T., et al. (2012). Ontogenetic change in the lipid and fatty acid composition of scleractinian coral larvae. *Coral Reefs* 31, 613–619. doi: 10.1007/s00338-012-0874-3
- Gaither, M. R., and Rowan, R. (2010). Zooxanthellar symbiosis in planula larvae of the coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 386, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2010.02.003
- Gleason, D. F., and Hofmann, D. K. (2011). Coral larvae: from gametes to recruits. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 408, 42–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2011.07.025
- Gurr, M. I., Harwood, J. L., and Frayn, K. N. (2002). *Lipid Biochemistry*. London: Chapman & Hall. doi: 10.1002/9780470774366
- Hamdoun, A., and Epel, D. (2007). Embryo stability and vulnerability in an always changing world. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 1745–1750. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610108104
- Harii, S., and Kayanne, H. (2003). Larval dispersal, recruitment, and adult distribution of the brooding stony octocoral *Heliopora coerulea* on Ishigaki Island, southwest Japan. *Coral Reefs* 22, 188–196. doi: 10.1007/s00338-003-0302-9
- Harii, S., Kayanne, H., Takigawa, H., Hayashibara, T., and Yamamoto, M. (2002). Larval survivorship, competency periods and settlement of two brooding corals, *Heliopora coerulea* and *Pocillopora damicornis. Mar. Biol.* 141, 39–46. doi: 10.1007/s00227-002-0812-y
- Harii, S., Nadaoka, K., Yamamoto, M., and Iwao, K. (2007). Temporal changes in settlement, lipid content and lipid composition of larvae of the spawning hermatypic coral *Acropora tenuis*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 346, 89–96. doi: 10.3354/meps07114
- Harii, S., Yamamoto, M., and Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2010). The relative contribution of dinoflagellate photosynthesis and stored lipids to the survivorship of symbiotic larvae of the reef-building corals. *Mar. Biol.* 157, 1215–1224. doi: 10.1007/s00227-010-1401-0
- Harrison, P. L., and Wallace, C. C. (1990). "Reproduction, dispersal, and recruitment of scleractinian corals," in *Coral Reefs, Ecosystems of the World*, Vol. 25, ed Z. Dubinsky (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 133–207.
- Haryanti, D., Yasuda, N., Harii, S., and Hidaka, M. (2015). High tolerance of symbiotic larvae of *Pocillopora damicornis* to thermal stress. *Zool. Stud.* 54, 52. doi: 10.1186/s40555-015-0134-7
- Hastings, A., and Harrison, S. (1994). Metapopulation dynamics and genetics. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 25, 167–188. doi: 10.1146/annurev.es.25.110194. 001123
- Hench, J. L., Leichter, J. J., and Monismith, S. G. (2008). Episodic circulation and exchange in a wave-driven coral reef and lagoon system. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 53, 2681–2694. doi: 10.4319/lo.2008.53.6.2681
- Hodgson, G. (1985). Abundance and distribution of planktonic coral larvae in Kaneohe Bay, Oahu, Hawaii. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 26, 61–71. doi: 10.3354/meps026061
- Hughes, T., Baird, A., and Dinsdale, E. (2000). Supply-side ecology works both ways: the link between benthic adults, fecundity, and larval recruits. *Ecology* 81, 2241–2249. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[2241:SSEWBW]2.0.CO;2
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2014). Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change, Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed T. F. Stocker et al. (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press).
- Isomura, N., and Nishihira, M. (2001). Size variation of planulae and its effect on the lifetime of planulae in three pocilloporid corals. *Coral Reefs* 20, 309–315. doi: 10.1007/s003380100180
- Jones, G. P., Almany, G. R., Russ, G. R., Sale, P. F., Steneck, R. S., Van Oppen, M. J. H., et al. (2009). Larval retention and connectivity among populations of corals and reef fishes: history, advances and challenges. *Coral Reefs* 28, 307–325. doi: 10.1007/s00338-009-0469-9
- Jones, G. P., Planes, S., and Thorrold, S. R. (2005). Coral reef fish larvae settle close to home. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 1314–1318. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.06.061
- Kuffner, I. B., and Paul, V. J. (2004). Effects of the benthic cyanobacterium Lyngbya majuscula on larval recruitment of the reef corals Acropora surculosa and Pocillopora damicornis. Coral Reefs 23, 455–458. doi: 10.1007/s00338-004-0416-8
- Largier, J. (2003). Considerations in estimating larval dispersal distances from oceanographic data. *Ecol. Appl.* 13, 71–89. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(2003)013[0071:CIELDD]2.0.CO;2

- Lee, R. F., Hagen, W., and Kattner, G. (2006). Lipid storage in marine zooplankton. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 307, 273–306. doi: 10.3354/meps307273
- Levin, L. A. (2006). Recent progress in understanding larval dispersal: new directions and digressions. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 46, 282–297. doi: 10.1093/icb/icj024
- Lewis, E., and Wallace, D. W. R. (1998). Program Developed for CO₂ System Calculations. Oak Ridge, TN: Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Dept of Energy. ORNL/CDIAC-105.
- Manzello, D. P. (2010). Ocean acidification hotspots: Spatiotemporal dynamics of the seawater CO₂ system of eastern Pacific coral reefs. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 55, 239–248. doi: 10.4319/lo.2010.55.1.0239
- Martínez-Quintana, A., Bramanti, L., Viladrich, N., Rossi, S., and Guizien, K. (2014). Quantification of larval traits driving connectivity: the case of *Corallium rubrum* (L. 1758). *Mar. Biol.* 162, 309–318. doi: 10.1007/s00227-014-2599-z
- Mehrbach, C., Culberson, C. H., Hawley, J. E., and Pytkowicx, R. M. (1973). Measurement of the apparent dissociation constants of carbonic acid in seawater at atmospheric pressure. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 18, 897–907. doi: 10.4319/lo.1973.18.6.0897
- Metaxas, A. (2001). Behaviour in flow: perspectives on the distribution and dispersion of meroplanktonic larvae in the water column. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 58, 86–98. doi: 10.1139/f00-159
- Miller, K., and Mundy, C. (2003). Rapid settlement in broadcast spawning corals: implications for larval dispersal. *Coral Reefs* 22, 99–106. doi: 10.1007/s00338-003-0290-9
- Moran, A. L., and Manahan, D. T. (2003). Energy metabolism during larval development of green and white abalone, *Haliotis fulgens* and *H. sorenseni. Biol. Bull.* 204, 270–277. doi: 10.2307/1543598
- Moss, R. H., Edmonds, J. A., Hibbard, K. A., Manning, M. R., Rose, S. K., van Vuuren, D. P., et al. (2010). The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. *Nature* 463, 747–756. doi: 10.1038/nature08823
- Oliver, J. K., and Willis, B. L. (1987). Coral-spawn slicks in the Great Barrier Reef: preliminary observations. *Mar Biol.* 94, 521–530. doi: 10.1007/BF00431398
- Paris, C. B., and Cowen, R. K. (2004). Direct evidence of a biophysical retention mechanism for coral reef fish larvae. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 49, 1964–1979. doi: 10.4319/lo.2004.49.6.1964
- Pratchett, M. S., Trapon, M., Berumen, M. L., and Chong-Seng, K. (2011). Recent disturbances augment community shifts in coral assemblages in Moorea, French Polynesia. *Coral Reefs* 30, 183–193. doi: 10.1007/s00338-010-0678-2
- Putnam, H. M., Edmunds, P. J., and Fan, T. Y. (2010). Effect of a fluctuating thermal regime on adult and larval reef corals. *Invertebr. Biol.* 129, 199–209. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-7410.2010.00199.x
- Putnam, H. M., Mayfield, A. B., Fan, T. Y., Chen, C. S., and Gates, R. D. (2013). The physiological and molecular responses of larvae from the reef-building coral *Pocillopora damicornis* exposed to near-future increases in temperature and pCO₂. *Mar. Biol.* 160, 2157–2173. doi: 10.1007/s00227-012-2129-9
- Quinn, G., and Keough, M. (2002). Experimental Design and Data Analysis for Biologists. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Raimondi, P. T., and Morse, A. N. C. (2000). The consequences of complex larval behavior in a coral. *Ecology* 81, 3193–3211. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[3193:TCOCLB]2.0.CO;2
- Ricardo, G. F., Jones, R. J., Clode, P. L., and Negri, A. P. (2016). Mucous secretion and cilia beating defend developing coral larvae from suspended sediments. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0162743. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162743
- Richmond, R. H. (1982). "Energetic consideration in the dispersal of Pocillopora damicornis (Linnaeus) planulae," in Proceedings of 4th International Coral Reef Symposium, vol. 2 (Manila), 153–156.
- Richmond, R. H. (1987). Energetics, competence, and long-distance dispersal of planula larvae of the coral *Pocillopora damicornis. Mar. Biol.* 93, 527–533. doi: 10.1007/BF00392790
- Rivest, E. B., and Hofmann, G. E. (2014). Responses of the metabolism of the larvae of *Pocillopora damicornis* to ocean acidification and warming. *PLoS ONE* 9:e96172. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0096172
- Rivest, E. B., and Hofmann, G. E. (2015). Effects of temperature and pCO₂ on lipid use and biological parameters of planulae of *Pocillopora damicornis. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 473, 43–52. doi: 10.1016/J.JEMBE.2015.07.015
- Salas-Monreal, D., Salas-de-León, D. A., Monreal-Gómez, M. A., and Riverón-Enzástiga, M. L. (2009). Current rectification in a tropical coral reef system. *Coral Reefs* 28, 871–879. doi: 10.1007/s00338-009-0521-9
- Savina, M., Lacroix, G., and Ruddick, K. (2010). Modelling the transport of common sole larvae in the southern North Sea: influence of hydrodynamics and larval vertical movements. J. Mar. Syst. 81, 86–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jmarsys.2009.12.008
- Schmidt-Nielsen, K. (1997). Animal Physiology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sewell, M. A. (2005). Utilization of lipids during early development of the sea urchin *Evechinus chloroticus*. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 304, 133–142. doi: 10.3354/meps304133
- Szmant, A. M., and Meadows, M. G. (2006). Developmental changes in coral larval buoyancy and vertical swimming behavior: implications for dispersal and connectivity. *Proceedings of 10th International Coral Reef Symposium*, Vol. 1 (Okinawa), 431–437.
- Takahashi, A., and Kurihara, H. (2013). Ocean acidification does not affect the physiology of the tropical coral *Acropora digitifera* during a 5-week experiment. *Coral Reefs* 32, 305–314. doi: 10.1007/s00338-012-0979-8
- Tay, Y. C., Guest, J. R., Chou, L. M., and Todd, P. A. (2011). Vertical distribution and settlement competencies in broadcast spawning coral larvae: implications for dispersal models. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 409, 324–330. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2011.09.013
- Te, F. T. (1992). Response to higher sediment loads by Pocillopora damicornis planulae. Coral Reefs 11, 131–134. doi: 10.1007/BF00255466
- Thorson, G. (1950). Reproductive and larval ecology of marine bottom invertebrates. *Biol. Rev.* 25, 1–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.1950.tb00585.x
- Treml, E. A., Roberts, J. J., Chao, Y., Halpin, P. N., Possingham, H. P., and Riginos, C. (2012). Reproductive output and duration of the pelagic larval stage determine seascape-wide connectivity of marine populations. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 52, 525–537. doi: 10.1093/icb/ics101

- van Oppen, M. J., Lutz, A., De'ath, G., Peplow, L., and Kininmonth, S. (2008). Genetic traces of recent long-distance dispersal in a predominantly selfrecruiting coral. *PLoS ONE* 3:e3401. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003401
- Vermeij, M. J. A., Marhaver, K. L., Huijbers, C. M., Nagelkerken, I., and Simpson, S. D. (2010). Coral larvae move toward reef sounds. *PLoS ONE* 5:e10660. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010660
- Whalan, S., Abdul Wahab, M. A., Sprungala, S., Poole, A. J., and De Nys, R. (2015). Larval settlement: the role of surface topography for sessile coral reef invertebrates. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0117675. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117675
- Wolanski, E., and Kingsford, M. J. (2014). Oceanographic and behavioural assumptions in models of the fate of coral and coral reef fish larvae. J. R. Soc. Interface 11:20140209. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.0209
- Wood, S., Baums, I. B., Paris, C. B., Ridgwell, A., Kessler, W. S., and Hendy, E. J. (2016). El Niño and coral larval dispersal across the eastern Pacific marine barrier. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12571. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12571
- Zar, J. H. (2010). Biostatistical Analysis. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Bergman, Harii, Kurihara and Edmunds. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





How Life History Characteristics and Environmental Forcing Shape Settlement Success of Coral Reef Fishes

Jennifer A. T. K. Wong-Ala^{1*†}, Christina M. Comfort¹, Jamison M. Gove², Mark A. Hixon³, Margaret A. McManus¹, Brian S. Powell¹, Jonathan L. Whitney^{1,2,4} and Anna B. Neuheimer^{1,5}

¹ Department of Oceanography, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa, Honolulu, HI, United States, ² Pacific Islands Fisheries Science Center, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Honolulu, HI, United States, ³ Department of Biology, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa, Honolulu, HI, United States, ⁴ Joint Institute for Marine and Atmospheric Research, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa, Honolulu, HI, United States, ⁵ Aarhus Institute of Advanced Studies (AIAS), Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Claire Beatrix Paris, University of Miami, United States

Reviewed by:

Gorka Bidegain, University of Southern Mississippi, United States Øyvind Fiksen, University of Bergen, Norway

*Correspondence:

Jennifer A. T. K. Wong-Ala jennwongala@gmail.com

[†]Present Address:

Jennifer A. T. K. Wong-Ala, College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 30 October 2017 Accepted: 12 February 2018 Published: 01 March 2018

Citation:

Wong-Ala JATK, Comfort CM, Gove JM, Hixon MA, McManus MA, Powell BS, Whitney JL and Neuheimer AB (2018) How Life History Characteristics and Environmental Forcing Shape Settlement Success of Coral Reef Fishes. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:65. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00065 Larval settlement is shaped by the interaction of biological processes (e.g., life history strategies, behavior etc.) and the environment (e.g., temperature, currents etc.). This is particularly true for many reef fishes where larval stages disperse offshore, often spending weeks to months in the pelagic realm before settling to shallow-water reefs. Our ability to predict reef fish settlement and subsequent recruitment and population dynamics depends on our ability to characterize how biological processes interact with the dynamic physical environment. Here we develop and apply an individual-based model that combines biological processes with high-resolution physical forcing to predict larval fish dispersal and settlement over time and space. Our model tracks individual larval fish from spawning to settlement and allows for the inclusion of biologically relevant stochasticity (individual variability) in modeled processes. Our model is also trait-based, which allows individuals to vary in life history characteristics, making it possible to mechanistically link the resulting variability in settlement probabilities to underlying traits such as spawning date and location, pelagic larval duration (PLD), body morphology, etc. We employ our biophysical model to examine how biology interacts with the physical environment to shape settlement predictions for reef fish off western and southern Hawai'i Island. Linked to prevailing surface currents, we find increased probabilities of settling associated with shorter PLDs and fish spawned in southern and southwestern locations. Superimposed on this, eddies, common to leeward Hawai'i Island, offer a second pathway to successful settlement for individuals with longer PLDs, particularly for fish spawning in summer months. Finally, we illustrate how lunar-timed spawning as well as morphological features (e.g., fin and head spines) may impact settlement success by altering the mortality landscape experienced by larvae. This work identifies life history characteristics that predict the self-recruitment pathways necessary for population persistence for the relatively isolated Hawai'i Island. Our results can be used to develop future hypotheses regarding temporal and spatial variation in recruitment for reef fishes on Hawai'i Island and beyond.

Keywords: early life history, settlement, recruitment, pelagic larval duration, reef fish, individual-based model, connectivity, Hawai'i Island

37

INTRODUCTION

A large variety of marine invertebrates and fishes begin life with a planktonic larval stage. Coral reef fishes are typical in this respect, and larvae often spend weeks to months in the pelagic realm before settling back to the reef as new recruits (Lester and Ruttenberg, 2005). Survival and dispersal during this vulnerable planktonic stage will influence population connectivity, as well as production and viability of adult populations (Houde, 2009). Self-recruitment is critical for the replenishment of reef fish populations that are not likely to receive recruits from other populations, such as the Hawaiian Islands (Toonen et al., 2011). Hawai'i Island is located at the southern end of the Hawaiian archipelago. Major surface currents in the Hawaiian archipelago include the westward flowing North Equatorial Current that bifurcates around Hawai'i Island to result in northward flowing currents up the archipelago (e.g., Hawaiian Lee Current, North Hawaiian Ridge Current, Lumpkin, 1998, Figure 1). The prevailing currents as well as Hawai'i Island's position at the southernmost end of the archipelago means that this island likely relies on self-recruitment for population persistence and may act as an important source of larvae for islands downstream (Wren et al., 2016). Indeed, self-recruitment has been measured via parentage analysis for reef fish on this island (e.g., lau'ipala or yellow tang, Zebrasoma flavescens; Christie et al., 2010).

The return of young fish to reefs after spending time in the plankton (i.e., "settlement" leading to "recruitment," or the observation of a newly arrived juvenile in the adult habitat, Caley et al., 1996) can be influenced by a variety of biological and physical factors (Victor, 1983; Jones et al., 2005; Puritz et al., 2016). Interactions between a fish's life history characteristics (e.g., birth date, larval morphology, pelagic larval duration or PLD) and the physical environment such as temperature (Balch et al., 1999), food availability (e.g., phytoplankton abundance, Polovina et al., 2001; Platt et al., 2003) and currents (e.g., cyclonic eddies, Fox et al., 2012; Pusack et al., 2014) result in withinand between-species variations in production, connectivity and recruitment. For example, an individual's location and date of birth selects the state of the environment to which they are exposed during pelagic development, including their advective environment, as well as the temperature, food and mortality landscape. An individual's PLD controls the length of time they are exposed to the pelagic environment, and influences their ability to disperse and find suitable reef habitat. In addition, morphological features can influence both the costs of development as well as how larvae experience factors such as mortality during development (Sogard, 1997). For example, larval development of elongate fin and head spines found in a number of reef fish species may reduce size-selective mortality by gape-limiting predation (e.g., Moser, 1981; Price et al., 2015), thereby allowing fish with spine morphology to successfully exploit areas with higher predator densities.

These interactions between larval biology and the physical environment cause inter-annual variation in settlement and recruitment, and they ultimately influence the production and persistence of the resulting adult population (Houde, 2009). Moreover, these biophysical dynamics will shape dispersal and connectivity, as well as the potential for local adaptation (Warner, 1997). Identifying the mechanisms and outcomes regarding these biophysical interactions can help us explain production and population dynamics in coral reef ecosystems. In this contribution, we tested the hypothesis that variation in biological characteristics of birth date, birth location, PLD, and spine morphology result in variations in predicted settlement probabilities for reef fish off the western and southern coasts of Hawai'i Island. To test this hypothesis, we developed and applied an individual-based model (IBM) that included a range in life history strategies forced by high-resolution hydrodynamic estimates of the ocean state for the region generated by the Regional Ocean Modeling System (ROMS). We followed individuals from spawning to settlement and explored the resulting trajectories and settlement success with respect to their individual life history traits. In so doing, we identified biophysical pathways influencing settlement probability and how these biophysical interactions may explain observed patterns in reef fish life histories.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We developed a stage-based model that tracks individuals from spawning, through egg and larval stages, to settlement. Our IBM links biological traits to the physical environment similar to previous IBM modeling tools (e.g., Paris et al., 2005, 2013; North et al., 2008; Banas et al., 2009; Gilbert et al., 2010; Neuheimer et al., 2010; Bidegain et al., 2013), while also allowing for individual variability in life history strategies (e.g., birth date, location, PLD, and morphology) to test the influence of life history variability on settlement probability. Moreover, our model set-up exploits the "individual" in individual-based modeling to track individuals representing all combinations of life-history traits tested. This approach allows us to quantitatively compare effects of different life history traits (e.g., spawning location vs. PLD) on settlement success, as well as consider interactions among effects (e.g., spawning date and PLD). The model followed a population matrix through time where each row was an individual and columns tracked physiological and ecological metrics as the fish moved through time and space (following Neuheimer et al., 2010). The model was initially parameterized with spawning sites and life history traits to represent a range of Hawaiian reef fishes, but at times used values specific to lau'ipala or yellow tang (Z. flavescens), one of the better studied species in this region (e.g., Table S1 for further details).

The model was initialized with one female at each of seven known spawning locations spanning the western and southern coasts of Hawai'i Island (**Figure 1**, Table S1; based on Christie et al., 2010). At each time-step (2 h), the population evolved based on stage-dependent reproduction, development, growth, transport, and mortality. A time-step of 2 h allowed for a balance between computational efficiency and the high-resolution temporal and spatial physical forcing (see also section Transport below). All modeling and data analysis was done in the programming language R (R Core Team, 2016).



FIGURE 1 | (A) Main Hawaiian Islands with major surface currents (after Lumpkin, 1998). Model domain denoted in red. (B) Hawai'i Island with spawning locations (colors) as in Table S1.

Reproduction

At each time-step, individuals were spawned into the larval population. As our intention was not to investigate effects of fecundity characteristics on settlement success, individuals were added to the population based on a constant mean daily number of eggs chosen to be (i) large enough to provide a population of individuals to represent modeled life history trait variability, (ii) small enough to keep computations tractable, and (iii) realistic regarding observed variability in egg production rates among reef fishes. We used an estimate of 425 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹, which was measured for bluehead wrasse (*Thalassoma bifasciatum*) in the Florida Keys (Holt and Riley, 2001) and is within the range of daily egg production rates for other species and locations (e.g., between 44 and >24,000 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹ for *Z. flavescens* off Hawai'i Island, Bushnell et al., 2010).

Individuals were spawned at every time-step and each of seven spawning locations (Figure 1, Table S1) to test the respective influence of birth date and spawning location on the probability of settlement. At spawning, new individuals (rows) were added to the population (matrix) representing the total number of individuals spawned. Their birth date (current time-step) and location (based on their mother) were recorded. We restricted our analyses to pelagic spawners with buoyant eggs (excluding demersal spawners), as these represent the majority of reef fish species (Thresher, 1984; Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2001; Luiz et al., 2013). Individuals were assigned an egg hatch time chosen from a uniform distribution between 24 and 48 h (Thresher, 1984). Each individual was also assigned a PLD sampled from a uniform distribution between 25 and 100 days. This PLD range represents observed PLDs for a range of pelagic spawning reef fish species (e.g., 25-90 days for Hawaiian endemics; Lester and Ruttenberg, 2005; Luiz et al., 2013), allowing us to assess the influence of PLD on settlement success. Spawned eggs are assigned a depth of 2 m

to represent the positive buoyancy of eggs for the majority of reef fishes (Thresher, 1984; Colin and Clavijo, 1988) and based on field observations from Walsh (personal communication). In addition, individuals were randomly assigned spine morphology with presence or absence of elongate fin or head spines (50% probability of spine) allowing us to test the indirect influence of morphological changes on settlement probability (see also section Mortality). Eggs were assumed to be fertilized with 100% success (see section Discussion). Hereafter, "egg" refers to fertilized egg or zygote.

Development

At each time-step, egg age was compared to the individual's hatch time and eggs that were estimated to have hatched (i.e., age \geq hatch time) were relabeled as larvae and assigned a larval depth. Larval depth was chosen from a Poisson distribution with a λ of 28 m (based on observed vertical distribution of larvae in Hawai'i; Boehlert and Mundy, 1996; Wren et al., 2016) and was restricted to the available advection depth layers (see section Transport). For all larvae, age was compared to the individual's PLD to identify those that were expected to have settled within the time-step. Settled individuals were marked settled, recorded along with their location at settlement, and then removed from the population matrix at the beginning of the next time-step.

Growth

An estimate of individual size (total length) was needed to assess size-dependent mortality risk. Length at hatching was set at 1.5 mm (Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2001). Once hatched, individuals started growing at a constant growth rate of 0.037 mm hr^{-1} ; an estimated growth rate based on a settlement size of 50 mm (Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2001; Claisse et al., 2009) and PLD of 55 days (Christie et al., 2010) for *Z. flavescens*. Size at

settlement ranges from 7 to 75 mm for a range of coral reef perciform fishes (Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2001).

Transport

At each time-step, all non-settled individuals were transported based on their geographic location-specific and depth-specific advection. Swimming behavior was not included in the current study but could be defined in future efforts where information on swimming speed and directionality exists (see also section Discussion). Advection estimates were obtained from a Regional Ocean Modeling System (ROMS) model developed and operated for waters around the Hawaiian Islands (Souza et al., 2015). The ROMS model assimilates daily, real-time data from satellites, autonomous gliders, Argo drifters, ship measurements, real-time high-frequency radar, and other data of opportunity. For this study, a 1 km high-resolution ROMS model was nested within the 4 km operational model described in Souza et al. (2015). We limited the larvae to the upper 100 m of the water column, which is represented by 16 depth layers: 2 m, every 5 m from 5 to 50 m, and then every 10 m from 50 m until 100 m. The ROMS model provides physical forcing estimates (current velocity and temperature) on an hourly time-step. The influence of biology on transport was included through birth date, birth location, PLD, spine morphology, and the stage-specific depth distributions described above.

At each time-step, the time-specific advection (u: $m s^{-1}$: eastwest or zonal component; v: m s⁻¹ north-south or meridional component), for each individual was estimated via a 4th order Runge-Kutta method. Advection estimates on the ROMS grid were interpolated to each individual's location based on a twodimensional barycentric interpolation. The distance traveled in the zonal direction at each time step was added to the current longitude to determine east/west movement ($u \cdot \Delta t$). The distance traveled in the meridional direction at each time step was added to the current latitude $(v \cdot \Delta t)$ to determine the individual's new latitude. Distances were corrected for the spherical shape of the Earth. Any individual estimated to have moved onto land was placed back to its last position in the ocean. To allow for sloping coastal bathymetry, individuals moving to locations shallower than their current depth were reassigned to the depth-layer closest to the bottom depth at their new location. Individuals leaving the model domain were removed from the population.

Mortality

Individuals were removed from the population based on sizedependent and spatially varying mortality rates (and resulting survival probabilities, Figure S1). Mortality rate decreased with increasing size to represent general patterns of declines in predation with increasing size in the ocean (e.g., Landry, 1976; Bailey, 1984; Dekshenieks et al., 1997¹, Figure S1A). Mortality rate also decreased with bottom depth to represent the decrease in visual predators with depth in pelagic waters (e.g., following Dekshenieks et al., 1997, Figure S1B), particularly as vulnerable larvae move away from the more densely populated communities of potential predators on the reef. In both cases, mortality functions were chosen such that estimates of the integrated mortality rates did not differ significantly from that of a constant mortality rate ($m_{constant}$, see below) based on the number of recruits per female (following Dekshenieks et al., 1997; Figure S1). At each time-step (t), the survival probability of each individual (i) was estimated as:

$$S_{i,t} = e^{(-m_{i,t} \cdot \Delta t)} \tag{1}$$

where the mortality rate for individual *i* and time-step $t(m_{i,t})$ was

$$m_{i,t} = m_{constant} \cdot e^{(-0.007 \cdot Depth_{i,t} + -0.2 \cdot Length_{i,t})}$$
(2)

based on the constant mortality estimate ($m_{constant}$, Table S1), $Depth_{i,j}$ is the bottom depth at the individual's location (m) and $Length_{i,j}$ is the individual's effective length (mm). The instantaneous mortality rate ($m_{constant}$) was obtained from the observed annual survival probability (S_{year} , dimensionless) of 100 individuals from 155,125 eggs female⁻¹ (425 eggs female⁻¹ day⁻¹ × 365 days):

$$S_{year} = \frac{100}{155125} = 0.00064 \tag{3}$$

and converted to a constant mortality estimate $(m_{constant})$ with:

$$m_{constant} = (-\log_n S_{year}) \cdot \left(\frac{1 hr}{365 days \cdot \frac{24 hr}{1 day}}\right).$$
(4)

This approach led to a constant mortality rate of $8.4 \times 10^{-4} \text{ hr}^{-1}$ or 2.0×10^{-2} day⁻¹; an estimate within the range of natural mortality estimates for fish egg and larval stages across species $(\sim 10^{-1} - 10^{-2} \text{ day}^{-1}; \text{McGurk}, 1986)$. Effective length was defined as egg size for egg stages (Table S1) and was defined by larval size and spine morphology for larval stages. The latter allowed us to include possible size-dependent mortality (predation) reduction for those fish exhibiting spines to make themselves effectively bigger (i.e., reducing gape-dependent predation, Fuiman and Magurran, 1994). Presence of a spine increased the effective length of individual larvae by 40%, a value within the range of relative spine length for reef fish larvae (e.g., gray triggerfish, Balistes capriscus, exhibiting spine lengths ranging from 7 to 50% of fork length during larval development; Matsuura and Katsuragawa, 1981). Each individual's fate was determined by sampling from a binomial distribution (1 = survive) based on their $S_{i,t}$.

Model Simulations

The focus of this analysis was on intra-annual changes to the probability of successful settlement success. Individuals were modeled for January 2011 through December 2013, representing typical (between-ENSO) years. Three separate model runs were simulated, each for the complete time period (2011–2013), and run results were consolidated to minimize stochastic effects on model results. The population matrix was stored at each time-step with output including individual larval trajectories, as well

¹Prior to 2002 MA McManus published as MM Dekshenieks.

as information on individual fish traits (e.g., birth date, year, birth location, PLD, spine morphology).

While no trade-offs in traits (e.g., spawning date, location, PLD, spine) were explicitly assigned, trade-offs due to life history strategy were implicit. For example, PLD varied among individuals. This in combination with size-dependent mortality and invariable growth rates meant shorter-PLD individuals experienced higher mortality at settlement size than those with longer PLDs.

Statistical Modeling

We used model output to test the hypothesis that variability in the settlement success of individuals back to Hawai'i Island is explained by a suite of life history characteristics (i.e., birth date and location, PLD, and body morphology). Here, the binomial settlement result (*Settled*) is recorded as successful when an individual is within the 50 m depth contour of Hawai'i Island at time of settlement (i.e., when $age_{i,t} \ge PLD_i$). Reef fish are found continuously along the west Hawai'i Island coast and, besides depth-dependence, habitat suitability is considered constant across our model domain. Future studies exploring e.g., benthic invertebrates requiring particular substrate for settling could expand on the definition of habitat suitability modeled here.

For our purposes (focus on Hawai'i Island self-recruitment), we did not consider individuals that may settle outside the model domain (addressed in the Discussion). We assessed the hypothesis that settlement back to Hawai'i Island (Settled) is explained by variability in life history traits: birth date (*BirthDay*), PLD, and morphology (i.e., presence/absence of a spine, Spine). Attempting to identify possible mechanisms behind temporal variations in settlement probability, we also included information on tidal height (Tide, m) and moon phase (Moon). The former was obtained for the Kawaihae, Hawai'i station from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) Center for Operational Oceanographic Products and Services. In the latter, birth dates were labeled "New" or "Full" when they were within ± 3 days of the new or full moons, respectively, or "Other" if otherwise. We also tested sensitivity of statistical results to this moon phase definition by re-assessing model results with days labeled "New" or "Full" when birth dates were ± 1 or 5 days of the new or full moons (else days are labeled "Other," as above). Finally, though the focus of this analysis is on intraannual and island-scale changes to settlement probability, we included possible variations across years and spawning locations by including birth year (BirthYear) and spawning location (Location) as predictors.

The response $(Settled_i)$ was modeled as observations from a binomial distribution (successful vs. unsuccessful settlement back to Hawai'i Island):

$$Settled_i \sim B(n_i, \pi_i) \tag{5}$$

 $E(Y_i) = n_i \cdot \pi_i$ mean(expected)value (6)

$$\operatorname{var}\left(Y_{i}\right) = n_{i} \cdot \pi_{i} \cdot (1 - \pi_{i}) \qquad \text{variance} \qquad (7)$$

where the number of trials (binomial denominator) is $n_i = 1$ (independent trials, i.e., a Bernoulli distribution) and the probability is π_i . The probability (π_i) was modeled as a function of our predictors using a generalized additive model (GAM):

$$g(E(Y_i)) = g(\pi_i) \sim f(BirthDay_i, PLD_i) + Spine_i \qquad (8)$$

+ Location_i + Moon_i + f(Tide_i) + BirthYear_i

including non-linear effects of continuous variables BirthDay, PLD, and Tide, in addition to interactions between BirthDay and PLD through a tensor product smoother. Effect of BirthDay was fit with a cyclic cubic spline to allow for the cyclical nature of the predictor (i.e., 31 December and 1 January are adjacent), while effects of PLD and Tide were both fit with thin plate splines. Linear effects were included for Spine (categorical with two levels as "absence" or "presence" of spine, see previous Methods), Moon (categorical with three levels as "New," "Full," or "Other," see previous Methods), Location (categorical with 7 levels for locations, Figure 1, Table S1) and BirthYear (categorical with three levels as 2011, 2012, and 2013). Further interactions among predictors (e.g., Location and PLD) were not within the scope of our analysis but could be included in the future to test additional hypotheses, e.g., investigations into the spatial variability in life history characteristics of successful settlers.

The link function, $g(\pi_i)$ provides the relationship between the expected value of the response and the linear predictor. The canonical logit link function was originally employed:

$$g(\pi_i) = logit(\pi_i) = \log_e\left(\frac{\pi_i}{1 - \pi_i}\right).$$
(9)

As alternative link functions may increase model performance, we also fit our model using alternate link functions of probit:

$$g(\pi_i) = probit(\pi_i) = \Phi^{-1}(\pi_i), \qquad (10)$$

where Φ is the standard normal distribution function, and the complementary Log-Log (cloglog) link:

$$g(\pi_i) = cloglog(\pi_i) = \log_e \left(-\log_e \left(1 - \pi_i \right) \right), \quad (11)$$

and assessed model results.

The GAM was fit using the *bam()* function from the mgcv package in R, which eases GAM fits for very large datasets (Wood, 2011). While GAMs are somewhat robust to predictor collinearity issues, pairwise correlation among all predictor combinations was assessed prior to model fitting. Inspection of residuals and comparisons of explained deviance were used to test model validity and select among non-nested models (e.g., among link functions). In addition, the level of complexity (basis dimension) of the smoothers was assessed by examining residual variance of near neighbors compared to overall residual variance (i.e., the k index, following Wood, 2011). Model selection based on a ranking of both Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) and Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) was used to compare across a set of (nested) candidate models. AIC favors the predictive power of the models while BIC includes

harsher penalties for complex models, making the latter useful for identifying important processes (predictors) underlying the explained deviance, particularly when sample sizes are large (Efron and Hastie, 2017). While an exhaustive model selection (including all possible predictor combinations) was not possible due to the large sample size, the candidate model set allowed us to assess the importance and likely nature (shape, interactions) of each predictor's effects (Table S2). Once the best-specified model was chosen, explained deviance was partitioned among predictors by refitting the model reduced by one predictor at a time while maintaining the estimated smoothers from the best-specified model.

RESULTS

In total, 9,683,781 individuals were tracked over the three model runs, with a total of 56,702 fish (0.585%) successfully settling to western and southern Hawai'i Island. **Figure 2** shows examples of simulated trajectories for successful settlers.

There were no significant pairwise correlations between predictor pairs, with all correlation estimates being <0.0074; the highest pairwise correlation was expectedly between *Moon* and *Tide* at 0.0074. The starting model (with logit link, Equation 9) explained 19.2%, of the overall deviance in settlement probability. A switch of link functions to probit (Equation 10) increased explained deviance to 19.7% and resulted in slightly betterbehaved residuals (though departures from normality were found, and expected given the large sample size and low probability of settling, e.g., Augustin et al., 2012). Following this, a set of candidate statistical models assembled to test model structure and predictor importance were fit using the probit link function (Table S2). Models in the candidate model set were ranked by both AIC and BIC. Two models were favored via BIC comparisons (i.e. models within Δ BIC < 2.14 of lowest):

probit
$$(\pi_i) \sim f(BirthDay_i, PLD_i) + Spine_i + Location_i$$
 (12)

 $probit (\pi_i) \sim f \left(BirthDay_i, PLD_i \right) + Spine_i + Location_i + Moon_i$ (13)

with a BIC weight of 74.5 and 25.5% for Equations (12, 13), respectively (Table S2). These models included non-linear and interaction effects of *BirthDay* and *PLD* as well as linear effects of *Spine, Location*, and in one model (Equation 13) *Moon*. AIC ranking included these models in the top 55% of models, ranking the more complicated starting model (Equation 8) as the top model with an AIC weight of 100% (Table S2). The addition of these extra predictors in the AIC top model did not add a significant amount to the overall explained deviance (+0.006%) and we chose Equation (13) as our best-specified model, explaining 19.7% of the overall deviance in settlement probability.

Probability of settling varied significantly across birth locations, explaining the highest proportion (15%) of the total overall explained deviance (**Table 1**). The greatest probability of settling occurred for fish born on the south coast at Punalu'u (4.7 $\times 10^{-2} \pm 6.2 \times 10^{-4}$) with all other sites associated with an

order of magnitude lower probability of successfully recruiting $(1.7 \times 10^{-3} \cdot 8.7 \times 10^{-3}$, **Table 1**). Fish born in the second most southerly location (Miloli'i) had the second highest probability of settling $(8.7 \times 10^{-3} \pm 1.7 \times 10^{-4})$, while individuals born at Puako and Anaeho'omalu in the north and Ho'okena on the southwest coast were associated with similar probabilities of settling ($\sim 2.4 \times 10^{-3}$, **Table 1**).

The non-linear and interacting effects of BirthDay and PLD explained 4.6% of the overall deviance with \sim 4.1% attributable to PLD and ~0.64% to BirthDay (Table 1, Figure 3). Including both non-linear and interacting effects increased model performance (Table S2). Throughout the year, those larvae with the shortest PLDs (e.g., 25 days) had the highest probability of successfully settling (Figure 3). For fish with longer PLDs (e.g., >50 days), probability of settling increased from a minimum in winter months (December-January) to a maximum in the summer (June for PLDs of 75–100 days) or fall (August/September for PLD = 50 days, Figure 3). Median PLD of individuals successfully settling was highest during typical reef fish spawning seasons (i.e., 15 January through 15 October; Walsh, 1987, see section Discussion, Figure 3, Figure S1). Due to the range of PLDs modeled, size at settlement ranged between 22 and 89 mm, similar to observed size at settlement of coral reef perciform fishes (7-75 mm, Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2001).

Effects of spine morphology explained 0.7% of the overall deviance in probability of settling, with higher probability of successfully settling for fish with a spine than without (P < 0.0001). Effects of moon phase during spawning (Moon) appeared in only one of the top two models, explaining 0.0044% of overall deviance in settlement probability. Moon effects were significant only when model phase was defined ± 3 days of the new or full moons; predictors estimated with definitions of ± 1 day or ± 5 days were not significant (based on AIC and BIC model ranking). Effects of moon phase estimated fish born under a new moon phase had a probability of settling of 0.047 $(\pm 6.2 \times 10^{-4} \text{ standard error})$, which was slightly (0.001) but significantly higher than fish born under Full (P = 0.0027) or Other (P < 0.001) moon phases. There was no difference in probability of settling between fish born under Full vs. Other moon phases (P = 0.30, Table 1).

DISCUSSION

Our results demonstrate how life history characteristics (e.g., location of birth, birth date, PLD, body morphology) can interact with the physical environment to affect the probability of reef fish settlement, using western and southern Hawai'i Island as a case study.

Physical Challenges "Select" for Biological Characteristics

Successful settlement back to Hawai'i Island is necessary for population persistence especially considering the remoteness of the Hawaiian archipelago. In particular, Hawai'i Island represents the southward limit of the archipelago with surface currents generally flowing northwestward toward the rest of



FIGURE 2 | Example trajectories for successfully settling individuals in February (A; 962 individuals) and May (B; 215 individuals) of 2012. Colors correspond to spawning locations in Figure 1B, Table S1.

TABLE 1 | Results of the best-specified model (Equation 13) including % explained deviance by each predictor as well as probability of settling estimates.

Predictor	Explained deviance (%)	Predictor level	Predicted probability of settling (\pm standard error)
Location	15	Puako	$2.5 \times 10^{-3} \pm 7.2 \times 10^{-5}$
		Anaeho'omalo Bay	$2.4 \times 10^{-3} \pm 6.9 \times 10^{-5}$
		Wawaloli Beach	$1.7 \times 10^{-3} \pm 5.5 \times 10^{-5}$
		Honokohau	$1.9 \times 10^{-3} \pm 6.1 \times 10^{-5}$
		Ho'okena	$2.3 \times 10^{-3} \pm 6.8 \times 10^{-5/3}$
		Miloli'i	$8.7 \times 10^{-3} \pm 1.7 \times 10^{-4}$
		Punalu'u	$4.7 \times 10^{-2} \pm 6.2 \times 10^{-4}$
f(BirthDay, PLD)	4.6 (PLD: 4.1%; BirthDay: 0.64%)		See Figure 3
Spine	0.71	Present	$4.7 \times 10^{-2} \pm 6.2 \times 10^{-4}$
		Absent	$2.8 \times 10^{-2} \pm 4.1 \times 10^{-4}$
Moon	0.0044	New	$4.7 \times 10^{-2} \pm 6.2 \times 10^{-4}$
		Full	$4.6 \times 10^{-2} \pm 6.0 \times 10^{-4}$ *
		Other	$4.5 \times 10^{-2} \pm 5.2 \times 10^{-4}$ *

For predicted probability of settlement, non-target predictor variables are held constant at Location = Punalu'u, BirthDay = 218, PLD = 50 days, Spine = Present, Moon = New as needed. Similar symbols (* or ^) indicate predictor levels resulting in similar probability of settling estimates (P > 0.026).

the main Hawaiian Islands (**Figure 1**). Because of this general northwestward flow, individuals born in the more southerly spawning locations (Punalu'u and Miloli'i) had the highest probability of settling back to the western and southern coast of Hawai'i (e.g., 4.7×10^{-2} and 8.7×10^{-3} probability of settling, respectively, when other factors held as per **Table 1**), while fish born in more northerly locations had a high probability of being advected out of the model domain (e.g., 1.7×10^{-3} probability of settling when spawned at Wawaloli Beach and other factors held as per **Table 1**). Christie et al. (2010) provide empirical data consistent with these predictions for yellow tang (*Zebrasoma flavenscens*). While fish lost through this northern model boundary did not contribute to self-settlement on Hawai'i Island, they may represent a source of larvae for other

populations in the Hawaiian archipelago. Spawning location explained the most variability (deviance) in settlement success (15% of explained deviance; **Table 1**). Regarding the latter, short PLDs were associated with higher probabilities of settling—again, allowing fish to settle before they are advected out of the model domain (**Figure 2A**, **Table 1**). Short PLDs may be particularly advantageous in the southwest of Hawai'i Island where steep bathymetry means fish do not need to go far to escape highpredation shallow waters (more on mortality in the text that follows).

Superimposed on top of this general surface current pattern, cyclonic, and anticyclonic eddies are common on the leeward side of Hawai'i Island (Qiu et al., 1997). These eddies offer a



FIGURE 3 | (A) Predicted probability of settling (contours and color scale), from high (red) to low (purple) probability, as a function of birth date (x-axis, *BirthDay*) and *PLD* (y-axis, days). **(B)** Predicted probability of settling (± 2 standard error) as a function of birth day of year (*BirthDay*) and *PLD* (days, colors, with green = 25 days, red = 50 days, yellow = 75 days, and purple = 100 days). In both panels, times outside the common spawning season are shaded in gray (Walsh, 1987; see section Discussion). Other predictors are held constant at *Location* = Punalu'u, *Spine* = present, *Moon* = New.

mechanism for reef fish (particularly those with longer PLDs, Christie et al., 2010) to develop and grow away from nearshore high predation waters while at the same time provide a path back to the reef for settlement when larger (Lobel and Robinson, 1986). A similar hypothesis was offered for juvenile anchovies, which move away from higher densities of predators on the shelf where they are spawned in the Bay of Biscay to offshore waters with lower densities of predators for their development period (Irigoien et al., 2007). Reef fishes seem to be "using" these eddies: mean abundances of fish larvae were found to be $4 \times$ higher in an eddy (34.9/1,000 m³) compared to the same waters before eddy formation (8.8/1,000 m³; Lobel and Robinson, 1986). Moreover, larval fish distribution within eddies was shown to be stage-specific, with eggs and post-hatchling larvae more abundant near the eddy core and late-stage larvae more abundant in the outer edge of the eddy (Lobel and Robinson, 1986). Off the west coast of Maui, Hawai'i, Storlazzi et al. (2006) concluded that persistent small-scale eddies may help to retain coral larvae during the summer spawning season. Regardless of eddy size, it is possible that some larvae are able to actively respond to the eddy gradient allowing them to control the length of residence in the eddy and leave the eddy when it is time to settle (McManus and Woodson, 2012). In addition to retention mechanisms that help to maintain larvae close to original or nearby islands, eddies may also allow for faster growth by providing increased food resources or temperatures and thus likely higher survival of the larvae (Shulzitski et al., 2016, 2017).

Not all eddies are created equal: mesoscale eddies are often advected westward or northwestward, sometimes rapidly; thus resident larvae can be carried far from land before they have a chance to fully develop. The ultimate destinies of these larvae will be determined by the direction and velocity of the eddy and of the currents into which they are released when the eddy eventually dissipates. Indeed, it is the eddies that form and are positioned close to shore for extended periods of time that increase settlement probability for west Hawai'i Island (e.g., Figure 2B) vs. eddies that quickly move offshore, away from the coast, resulting in individuals being advected far away from suitable habitat (e.g., Figure S3). During their lifetimes, mesoscale eddies may move up to 350 km in a westerly or northwesterly direction at an average of 5.2 km day⁻¹ (Patzert, 1969). For example, cyclonic eddy Opal moved rapidly southward by \sim 165 km over several weeks, with an overall average displacement speed of $\sim 8 \text{ km day}^{-1}$ moving away from the islands (Maiti et al., 2008).

The seasonal timing of transport mechanisms including eddies appears to be correlated with the typical summer spawning season. Most Hawaiian reef fishes exhibit minimum spawning in winter, with spawning increasing with increasing water temperatures and day length before declining quickly as maximum water temperatures are reached in late summer/early fall (Walsh, 1984, 1987; Lobel, 1989). While the fall decline in spawning may be related to decreased larval survival or inhibition of gametogenesis because of higher summer temperatures (Walsh, 1987), our model suggests that biophysical interactions also result in declines in settlement success in the fall for those

fish exhibiting longer PLDs (Figure 3). It is during the summer months (particularly April through September) when the less advective mesoscale eddies (nearshore and relatively stable) develop along the coast, allowing for longer larval development times while being retained near suitable habitat (Figure 2B). These smaller scale nearshore eddy features have been regularly and predictably observed on other islands as well (Storlazzi et al., 2006). We present evidence that dispersal and retention of larvae can be governed by the rotation and movement of eddies, and that the seasonal formation of these eddies may help explain the observed spawning season. Similarly, Donahue et al. (2015) found modeled biophysical processes predicted higher larval settlement probabilities for fish spawned during the observed spawning season for lane snapper (Lutianus synagris) in the Florida Straits. Thus, spawning strategies that allow larval development in offshore eddies may represent a "loophole" (Bakun and Broad, 2003; Irigoien et al., 2007) that allow fish to reduce mortality, resulting in recruitment and production pulses (e.g., Munch and Conover, 2004).

Our results offer two pathways, or biophysical mechanisms, that increase self-recruitment probabilities in western and southern Hawaii Island's advective environment: (i) develop quickly (short PLD) and avoid being advected away, or (ii) catch a ride on the "right" kind of eddy (allowing for longer PLDs). These pathways appear in our predicted settlement probabilities with probability of settling maximized for individuals with short PLDs in the winter months when the environment favors less retention (e.g., lower abundance of nearshore eddies, Figures 2A, 3) and, for longer PLDs, in the summer months where nearshore eddies are more abundant (Figures 2B, 3). Moreover, this range of potential strategies that favor larval survival and recruitment is found in the PLD-trait distribution of our modeled individuals with examples of successful settlers from the entire PLD model range (25–100 days) and a median PLD of 43 ± 13 days (median \pm median absolute deviance; Figure S2). These PLD estimates coincide well with many of the common species of coral reef fishes in the Hawaiian Islands, which demonstrate considerable PLD variability across species (e.g., 8-70 days for west Pacific species, and 25-90 days for Hawaiian endemics; Lester and Ruttenberg, 2005).

Influences of the Mortality Landscape

The presence of a pelagic larval phase may act to increase survival probabilities in temporally, spatially, and developmentally variable mortality environments (Johannes, 1978). Settlement success (and ultimately survival) will depend on how life history characteristics (e.g., size, stage durations, and timing) result in larvae moving through this dynamic mortality landscape. Here we incorporate both spatially (depth-dependent) and sizedependent mortality, mimicking the high nearshore and sizeselective predator environment experienced by many marine animals. In this way, larval survival will change both in space (e.g., with spawning location bathymetry controlling how quickly predation pressure decreases with distance from shore) as well as time (e.g., mortality risk declines as individuals age and grow). To further illustrate how size-selective mortality landscapes may select for certain life history characteristics, we

mimicked the increase in effective size that the development of elongate fin and head spines provide in some reef fish larvae (Moser, 1981). Spines potentially reduce the probability of an attack by gape-limited predators and therefore act as a mechanical deterrent to predation (Moser, 1981; Morgan, 1989; Price et al., 2015; Greer et al., 2016). The effectiveness of spines as a means of reducing predation by planktivorous fish has been experimentally demonstrated in marine crab larvae (Morgan, 1989) and is often assumed in fish larvae (Moser, 1981; Greer et al., 2016). Indeed, higher predation on fish larvae with shorter spines has been documented (Moodie, 1972), with some species increasing spine length (and other armor) when predator abundance is high (Gross, 1978; Januszkiewicz and Robinson, 2007; Weber and Brown, 2012). Small increases in effective larval size may therefore have a disproportionately large effect in reducing predation by gape-limited predators (Moser, 1981). We illustrated how the presence of a spine can increase the probability of settling by 67%, by making the individual effectively larger and thereby lowering the sizedependent mortality (Table 1). This value will vary given the predator field and strength of size-dependence on mortality. This aspect of the model could be used in the future to explore mechanisms driving the large variation of reef fish larval body plans (McCormick and Molony, 1995; Price et al., 2015), as well as estimating trade-offs between the benefit of reduced predation with the cost of spination and potential reduction in swimming speed accompanying the body-form change. Similarly, this work could be extended to explore the effects of other size-related traits on settlement success, e.g., temperature-dependent growth (Houde, 1989), size at hatching, etc.

Many species of reef fish exhibit lunar spawning periodicity with spawning around the new and/or full moons (e.g., Johannes, 1978; Walsh, 1987; Domeier and Colin, 1997; Colin, 2011). Spawning around a new or full moon may facilitate the flushing of eggs away from shallow water by using outgoing spring tides that are associated with these moon phases and quickly increasing the distance between the egg and potential predators on the reef (Johannes, 1978). Tropical reef fish have been observed spawning during an ebbing tide during which eggs are transported off the reef and away from planktivorous fish predators (James et al., 2002). Here we found that the probability of successful settlement is enhanced during new moon phases, however no significant effect of tidal height was observed. Empirically, Claisse et al. (2011) found no correlation between daily spawning movements of yellow tang and lunar cycles. Future efforts will explore other possible tidal measures (e.g., velocities) that may be underlying the higher settlement success for fish born around new moons. Note that avoiding visual predators under the cover of darkness has been hypothesized to explain settlement during new moons (Johannes, 1978). More broadly (beyond our model), the high incidence of lunar-timed spawning observed in the field may allow for reduced egg predation by spawning under low light levels and/or predator swamping (Johannes, 1978; Walsh, 1987), or may maximize fertilization success via spawning synchronization (Walsh, 1987).

Future Directions

These results motivate a number of future hypotheses that can be explored to explain biophysical forces shaping reef fish recruitment and survival. Our modeling tools can be used to examine spatial variability in life history characteristics (e.g., trait-based community structure) as well as connectivity pathways among local adult populations, both within Hawai'i Island and beyond. Similar questions can be raised concerning the biophysical factors shaping inter-annual patterns of settlement and recruitment, particularly for longer time-series of physical forcing (e.g., exploring interactions between biology and climate oscillations including the El Niño Southern Oscillation, ENSO). In addition, model tools can be extended to include heritable trait profiles that can explore questions of life history strategy adaptations over space and time, with or without expected trade-offs in traits. Finally, our IBM can be extended to include characterizations of other biological processes (e.g., swimming behavior, Dekshenieks et al., 1996; Fiksen et al., 2007; Staaterman and Paris, 2013) as well as biophysical interactions such as patchiness, thermal and/or food controls on development (e.g., Dekshenieks et al., 1993) and light-dependent mortality (as above). In particular, our model may be extended to include characterizations of larval spatial patchiness to explore the role patchiness may play in increasing the effective mortality estimates for fish eggs and larvae (McGurk, 1986). Moreover, our tools and methods can be applied to address similar questions of biophysical controls on settlement success for benthic invertebrates also exhibiting biphasic life-histories (e.g., Gilbert et al., 2010).

SUMMARY

We show that fundamental biophysical interactions can result in variation in settlement probability for marine species displaying a pelagic larval stage. The flexibility of our IBM along with high resolution spatial forcing allowed us to identify life history characteristics (e.g., birth date and PLD) that will result in the highest probability of successful recruitment and thus long-term persistence of reef fish populations for Hawai'i Island. We also used our model to identify possible mechanisms for the life history characteristics observed in the

REFERENCES

- Augustin, N. H., Sauleau, E.-A., and Wood, S. N. (2012). On quantile plots for generalized linear models. *Comput. Stat. Data Anal.* 56, 2404–2409. doi: 10.1016/j.csda.2012.01.026
- Bailey, K. M. (1984). Comparison of laboratory rates of predation on five species of marine larvae by three planktonic invertebrates: effects of larval size and vulnerability. *Mar. Biol.* 79, 303–309. doi: 10.1007/BF003 93262
- Bakun, A., and Broad, K. (2003). Environmental 'loopholes' and fish population dynamics: comparative pattern recognition with focus on El Nino effects in the Pacific. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 12, 458–473. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2419.2003. 00258.x

field (e.g., how advection may help shape spawning season and lunar-linked spawning behaviors) and demonstrated how mortality landscapes can favor morphological features (e.g., spine morphology; Morgan, 1989; Dekshenieks et al., 1997). Our modeling tool synthesizes current knowledge on reef fish ecology to test hypotheses that can direct future field and lab research to explain population dynamics and how larval fish use biophysical mechanisms in ways that minimize advective loss of larvae (e.g., Shulzitski et al., 2017). Moreover, we can use the model in future analyses to identify important knowledge gaps (e.g., environmentally dependent development rates, spatially and temporally varying mortality) needed to explore reef fish adaptive strategies and associated coral reef ecosystem dynamics.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JW-A, AN, BP, and MH: Conceived of the study; JW-A, AN, and BP: Designed the study; BP: Provided high-resolution physical forcing estimates; JW-A and AN: Developed, implemented, and analyzed computational and statistical models; CC, JG, MH, MM, BP, and JW: Contributed data, theory, and interpretation; JW-A and AN: Drafted the article. All authors critically revised the article. All authors approved the final version of the article. Authorship order is by first-and-last-author-emphasis with middle authors alphabetized.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Funding to JW-A was provided by the National Science Foundation (NSF) grants OIA #0424599 and GEO #1565950 courtesy of the Center of Microbial Oceanography: Research and Education (CMORE) Scholars Program, Kamehameha Schools, Dr. Robert Toonen (NSF/OA #1416889), and the University of Hawai'i Hsiao Endowment (courtesy of MH). This manuscript is IEA Contribution Number 2018_3.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmars. 2018.00065/full#supplementary-material

- Balch, T., Hatcher, B. G., and Scheibling, R. E. (1999). A major settlement event associated with minor meteorologic and oceanographic fluctuations. *Can. J. Zool.* 77, 1657–1662. doi: 10.1139/z99-138
- Banas, N. S., McDonald, P. S., and Armstrong, D. A. (2009). Green crab larval retention in Willapa Bay, Washington: an intensive Lagrangian modeling approach. *Estuar. Coasts* 32, 893–905. doi: 10.1007/s12237-009-9175-7
- Bidegain, G., Bárcena, J. F., García, A., and Juanes, J. A. (2013). LARVAHS: predicting clam larval dispersal and recruitment using habitat suitability-based particle tracking model. *Ecol. Modell.* 268, 78–92. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.07.020
- Boehlert, G. W., and Mundy, B. C. (1996). Ichthyoplankton Vertical Distributions Near Oahu, Hawai'i, 1985-1986: Data Report. NOAA Technical Memoir, NMFS-SWSC-235. 9 (Washington, DC: NOAA), 1148.

- Bushnell, M. E., Claisse, J. T., and Laidley, C. W. (2010). Lunar and seasonal patterns in fecundity of an indeterminate, multiple-spawning surgeonfish, the yellow tang *Zebrasoma flavescens. J. Fish Biol.* 76, 1343–1361. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.2010.02569.x
- Caley, M. J., Carr, M. H., Hixon, M. A., Hughes, T. P., Jones, G. P., and Menge, B. A. (1996). Recruitment and the local dynamics of open marine populations. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst.* 27, 477–500. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.27.1.477
- Christie, M. R., Tissot, B. N., Albins, M. A., Beets, J. P., Jia, Y., Ortiz, D. M., et al. (2010). Larval connectivity in an effective network of marine protected areas. *PLoS ONE* 5:e15715. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015715
- Claisse, J. T., Clark, T. B., Schumacher, B. D., McTee, S. A., Bushnell, M. E., Callan, C. K., et al. (2011). Conventional tagging and acoustic telemetry of a small surgeonfish, *Zebrasoma flavescens*, in a structurally complex coral reef environment. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 91, 185–201. doi: 10.1007/s10641-011-9771-9
- Claisse, J. T., McTee, S. A., and Parrish, J. D. (2009). Effects of age, size, and density on natural survival for an important coral reef fishery species, yellow tang, *Zebrasoma flavescens*. *Coral Reefs* 28, 95105 doi: 10.1007/s00338-008-0447-7
- Colin, P. (2011). "Timing and location of aggregation and spawning in reef fishes," in *Reef Fish Spawning Aggregations: Biology, Research and Management*, eds Y. Sadovy de Micheson and P. Colin (Dordrecht: Springer), 117–158.
- Colin, P., and Clavijo, I. E. (1988). Spawning activity of fishes producing pelagic eggs on a shelf edge coral reef southwestern Puerto Rico. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 43, 249–279.
- Dekshenieks, M. M., Hofmann, E. E., Klinck, J. M., and Powell, E. N. (1996). Modeling the vertical distribution of oyster larvae in response to environmental conditions. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 136, 97–110. doi: 10.3354/meps136097
- Dekshenieks, M. M., Hofmann, E. E., Klinck, J. M., and Powell, E. N. (1997). A modeling study of the effects of size-and depth-dependent predation on larval survival. J. Plankton Res. 19, 1583–1598. doi: 10.1093/plankt/19.11.1583
- Dekshenieks, M. M., Hofmann, E. E., and Powell, E. N. (1993). Environmental effects on the growth and development of eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica* (Gmelin, 1791), larvae: a modeling study. J. Shellfish Res. 12, 241–254.
- Domeier, M. L., and Colin, P. L. (1997). Tropical reef fish spawning aggregations: defined and reviewed. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 60, 698–726.
- Donahue, M. J., Karnauskas, M., Toews, C., and Paris, C. B. (2015). Location isn't everything: timing of spawning aggregations optimizes larval replenishment. *PLoS ONE* 10:e130694. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130694
- Efron, B., and Hastie, T. (2017). *Computer Age Statistical Inference, Vol. 5.* New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Fiksen, Ø., Jørgensen, C., Kristiansen, T., Vikebø, F., and Huse, G. (2007). Linking behavioural ecology and oceanography: larval behaviour determines growth, mortality and dispersal. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 347, 195–206. doi: 10.3354/meps06978
- Fox, H. E., Haisfield, K. M., Brown, M. S., Stevenson, T. C., Tissot, B. N., Walsh, W. J., et al. (2012). Influences of oceanographic and meteorological features on reef fish recruitment in Hawai'i. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 463, 259–272. doi: 10.3354/meps09838
- Fuiman, L. A., and Magurran, A. E. (1994). Development of predator defences in fishes. *Rev. Fish Biol. Fish.* 4, 145–183. doi: 10.1007/BF00044127
- Gilbert, C. S., Gentleman, W. C., Johnson, C. L., DiBacco, C., Pringle, J. M., and Chen, C. (2010). Modelling dispersal of sea scallop (*Placopecten magellanicus*) larvae on Georges Bank: The influence of depth-distribution, planktonic duration and spawning seasonality. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 87, 37–48. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2010.09.021
- Greer, A., Woodson, C., Guigand, C., and Cowen, R. (2016). Larval fishes utilize Batesian mimicry as a survival strategy in the plankton. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 551, 1–12. doi: 10.3354/meps11751
- Gross, H. P. (1978). Natural selection by predators on the defensive apparatus of the three-spined stickleback, *Gasterosteus aculeatus L. Can. J. Zool.* 56, 398–413. doi: 10.1139/z78-058
- Holt, G. J., and Riley, C. M. (2001). "Laboratory spawning of Coral reef fishes: effects of temperature and photoperiod," in *Proceedings of the 28th US-Japan Natural Resources Aquaculture Panel: Spawning and Maturation of Aquaculture Species.* UJNR Technical Report, 33–38.
- Houde, E. D. (1989). Comparative growth, mortality, and energetics of marine fish larvae: temperature and implied latitudinal effects. *Fish. Bull.* 87, 471–495.

- Houde, E. D. (2009). "Recruitment variability," in *Fish Reproductive Biology: Implications for Assessment and Management*," eds T. Jakobsen, M. J. Fogarty, B. A. Megrey, and E. Moksness (Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell), 91–171.
- Irigoien, X., Fiksen, Ø., Cotano, U., Uriarte, A., Alvarez, P., Arrizabalaga, H., et al. (2007). Could biscay bay anchovy recruit through a spatial loophole? *Prog. Oceanogr.* 74, 132–148. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2007.04.011
- James, M. K., Armsworth, P. R., Mason, L. B., and Bode, L. (2002). The structure of reef fish metapopulations: modeling larval dispersal and retention patterns. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 269, 2079–2086. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2002.2128
- Januszkiewicz, A. J., and Robinson, B. W. (2007). Divergent walleye (Sander vitreus)-mediated inducible defenses in the centrarchid pumpkinseed sunfish (Lepomis gibbosus). Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 90, 25–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8312.2007.00708.x
- Johannes, R. E. (1978). Reproductive strategies of coastal marine fishes in the tropics. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 3, 65–84. doi: 10.1007/BF00006309
- Jones, G. P., Planes, S., and Thorrold, S. R. (2005). Coral reef fish larvae settle close to home. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 1314–1318. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.06.061
- Landry, M. R. (1976). The structure of marine ecosystems: an alternative. *Mar. Biol.* 35, 1–7. doi: 10.1007/BF00386669
- Leis, J., and Carson-Ewart, B. (2001). Behaviour of pelagic larvae of four coralreef fish species in the ocean and an atoll lagoon. *Coral Reefs* 19, 247–257. doi: 10.1007/s003380000115
- Lester, S. E., and Ruttenberg, B. I. (2005). The relationship between pelagic larval duration and range size in tropical reef fishes: a synthetic analysis. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 272, 585–591. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2004.2985
- Lobel, P. S. (1989). Ocean current variability and the spawning season of Hawaiian reef fishes. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 24, 161–171. doi: 10.1007/BF00001221
- Lobel, P. S., and Robinson, A. R. (1986). Transport and entrapment of fish larvae by ocean mesoscale eddies and currents in Hawaiian waters. *Deep Sea Res. A. Oceanogr. Res. Pap.* 33, 483–500. doi: 10.1016/0198-0149(86)90127-5
- Luiz, O. J., Allen, A. P., Robertson, D. R., Floeter, S. R., Kulbicki, M., Vigliola, L., et al. (2013). Adult and larval traits as determinants of geographic range size among tropical reef fishes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 16498–16502. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1304074110
- Lumpkin, C. F. (1998). Eddies and currents of the Hawaiian Islands. Ph.D. University of Hawaii.
- Maiti, K., Benitez-Nelson, C., Rii, Y. M., and Bidigare, R. R. (2008). Influence of a mature cyclonic eddy on particle export in the lee of Hawaii. *Deep-Sea Res. II* 55, 1445–1460. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2008.02.008
- Matsuura, Y., and Katsuragawa, M. (1981). Larvae and juveniles of grey triggerfish, Balistes capriscus, from Southern Brazil. Jap. J. Ichthyol. 28, 267–275.
- McCormick, M. I., and Molony, B. W. (1995). Influence of water temperature during the larval stage on size, age and body condition of a tropical reef fish at settlement. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 118, 59–68. doi: 10.3354/meps118059
- McGurk, M. D. (1986). Natural mortality of marine pelagic fish eggs and larvae: role of spatial patchiness. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 34, 227–242. doi: 10.3354/meps034227
- McManus, M. A., and Woodson, C. B. (2012). Review: Plankton distribution and oceanic dispersal. J. Exp. Biol. 215, 1008–1016. doi: 10.1242/jeb.059014
- Moodie, G. E. (1972). Predation, natural selection and adaptation in an unusual threespine stickleback. *Heredity* 28, 155–167. doi: 10.1038/hdy.1972.21
- Morgan, S. (1989). Adaptive significance of spination in estuarine crab zoeae. Ecology 70, 464–482. doi: 10.2307/1937551
- Moser, H. G. (1981). "Morphological and functional aspects of marine fish larvae," in *Marine Fish Larvae. Morphology, Ecology and Relation to Fisheries*, ed R. Lasker (Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press), 89–131.
- Munch, S. B., and Conover, D. O. (2004). Nonlinear growth cost in Menidia menidia: theory and empirical evidence. Evolution 58, 661–664. doi: 10.1111/j.0014-3820.2004.tb01689.x
- Neuheimer, A. B., Gentleman, W. C., Pepin, P., and Head, E. J. H. (2010). How to build and use individual-based models (IBMs) as hypothesis testing tools. J. Mar. Syst. 81, 122–133. doi: 10.1016/j.jmarsys.2009.12.009
- North, E. W., Schlag, Z., Hood, R. R., Li, M., Zhong, L., Gross, T., et al. (2008). Vertical swimming behavior influences the dispersal of simulated oyster larvae in a coupled particle-tracking and hydrodynamic model of Chesapeake Bay. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 359, 99–115. doi: 10.3354/meps07317
- Paris, C. B., Cowen, R. K., Claro, R., and Lindeman, K. C. (2005). Larval transport pathways from Cuban snapper (Lutjanidae) spawning

aggregations based on biophysical modeling. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 296, 93–106. doi: 10.3354/meps296093

- Paris, C. B., Helgers, J., Van Sebille, E., and Srinivasan, A. (2013). Connectivity Modeling System: a probabilistic modeling tool for the multi-scale tracking of biotic and abiotic variability in the ocean. *Environ. Modell. Softw.* 42, 47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2012.12.006
- Patzert, W. C. (1969). Eddies in Hawaiian Islands. Report HIG-69-8, Hawaii Institute of Geophysics, University of Hawaii, Honolulu, HI.
- Platt, T., Fuentes-Yaco, C., and Frank, K. T. (2003). Marine ecology: spring algal bloom and larval fish survival. *Nature* 423, 398–399. doi: 10.1038/423398b
- Polovina, J. J., Howell, E., Kobayashi, D. R., and Seki, M. P. (2001). The transition zone chlorophyll front, a dynamic global feature defining migration and forage habitat for marine resources. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 49, 469–483. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6611(01)00036-2
- Price, S. A., Friedman, S. T., and Wainwright, P. C. (2015). How predation shaped fish: the impact of fin spines on body form evolution across teleosts. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 282:20151428. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2015.1428
- Puritz, J. B., Gold, J. R., and Portnoy, D. S. (2016). Fine-scale partitioning of genomic variation among recruits in an exploited fishery: causes and consequences. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36095. doi: 10.1038/srep36095
- Pusack, T. J., Christie, M. R., Johnson, D. W., Stallings, C. D., and Hixon, M. A. (2014). Spatial and temporal patterns of larval dispersal in a coral-reef fish metapopulation: evidence of variable reproductive success. *Mol. Ecol.* 23, 3396–3408. doi: 10.1111/mec.12824
- Qiu, B., Koh, D. A., Lumpkin, C., and Flament, P. (1997). Existence and formation mechanism of the North Hawaiian Ridge Current. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 27, 431–444. doi: 10.1175/1520-0485(1997)027<0431:EAFMOT>2.0.CO;2
- R Core Team (2016). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available online at: https:// www.R-project.org/
- Shulzitski, K., Sponaugle, S., Hauff, M., Walter, K. D., and Cowen, R. K. (2016). Encounter with mesoscale eddies enhances survival to settlement in larval coral reef fishes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 6928–6933. doi:10.1073/pnas.1601606113
- Shulzitski, K., Sponaugle, S., Hauff, M., Walter, K. D., D'Alessandro, E. K., and Cowen, R. K. (2017). Patterns in larval reef fish distributions and assemblages, with implications for local retention in mesoscale eddies. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 75, 180–192. doi: 10.1139/cjfas-2016-0304
- Sogard, S. M. (1997). Size-selective mortality in the juvenile stage of teleost fishes: a review. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 60. 1129–1157.
- Souza, J. M. A. C., Powell, B., Castillo-Trujillo, A. C., and Flament, P. (2015). The vorticity balance of the ocean surface in Hawaii from a regional reanalysis. *J. Phys. Oceanogr.* 45, 424–440. doi: 10.1175/JPO-D-14-0074.1

- Staaterman, E., and Paris, C. B. (2013). Modelling larval fish navigation: the way forward. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 71, 918–924. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fst103
- Storlazzi, C. D., McManus, M. A., Logan, J. B., and McLaughlin, B. E. (2006). Crossshore velocity shear, eddies and heterogeneity in water column properties over fringing coral reefs: West Maui, Hawaii. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 26, 401–421. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2005.12.006
- Thresher, R. E. (1984). Reproduction in Reef Fishes. Neptune City, NJ: TFH Publications, Inc.
- Toonen, R. J., Andrews, K. R., Baums, I. B., Bird, C. E., Concepcion, G. T., Daly-Engel, T. S., et al. (2011). Defining boundaries for ecosystem-based management: a multispecies case study of marine connectivity across the Hawaiian Archipelago. J. Mar. Biol. 2011, 1–13. doi: 10.1155/2011/460173
- Victor, B. C. (1983). Recruitment and population dynamics of a coral reef fish. Science 219, 419–420. doi: 10.1126/science.219.4583.419
- Walsh, W. J. (1984). Aspects of Nocturnal Shelter, Habitat Space, and Juvenile Recruitment in Hawaiian Coral reef Fishes. Dissertation/PhD thesis, University of Hawaii, Honolulu, HI.
- Walsh, W. J. (1987). Patterns of recruitment and spawning in Hawaiian reef fishes. Environ. Biol. Fishes 18, 257. doi: 10.1007/BF00004879
- Warner, R. R. (1997). Evolutionary ecology: how to reconcile pelagic dispersal with local adaptation. *Coral Reefs* 16, S115–S120. doi: 10.1007/s003380050247
- Weber, M. J., and Brown, M. L. (2012). Effects of predator species, vegetation and prey assemblage on prey preferences of predators with emphasis on vulnerability of age-0 common carp. *Fish. Manag. Ecol.* 19, 293–300. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2400.2011.00838.x
- Wood, S. N. (2011). Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. J. R. Stat. Soc. 73:336. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9868.2010.00749.x
- Wren, J. L., Kobayashi, D. R., Jia, Y., and Toonen, R. J. (2016). Modeled population connectivity across the Hawaiian Archipelago. *PLoS ONE* 11:e167626. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167626

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Wong-Ala, Comfort, Gove, Hixon, McManus, Powell, Whitney and Neuheimer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Larval Fish Swimming Behavior Alters Dispersal Patterns From Marine Protected Areas in the North-Western Mediterranean Sea

Robin Faillettaz^{1*}, Claire B. Paris² and Jean-Olivier Irisson¹

¹ Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Laboratoire d'Océanographie de Villefranche-sur-Mer (LOV), Sorbonne Universités, UPMC University Paris 06, Villefranche-sur-Mer, France, ² Ocean Sciences, Rosenstiel School of Marine and Atmospheric Science, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States

Most demersal fishes undergo a dispersal phase as larvae, which strongly influences the connectivity among adult populations and, consequently, their genetic structure and replenishment opportunities. Because this phase is difficult to observe directly, it is frequently simulated through numerical models, most of which consider larvae as passive or only vertically migrating. However, in several locations, including the Mediterranean Sea, many species have been shown to swim fast and orient. Here we use a Lagrangian model to study connectivity patterns among three Mediterranean Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) and compare simulations in which virtual larvae are passive to simulations in which oriented swimming is implemented. The parameterization of behavior is based on observations for two groups of species of the family Sparidae: species with small larvae (i.e., 9–11 mm), displaying a maximum swimming speed of 6 cm s⁻¹ and a pelagic larval duration of 13-19 days (e.g., Diplodus annularis L., Oblada melanura L.) and species with large larvae (i.e., 14-16 mm), displaying a maximum swimming speed of 10 cm s⁻¹ and a PLD of 28-38 days (e.g., Spondyliosoma cantharus L.). Including larval behavior in the model (i) increased the overall proportion of successful settlers, (ii) enhanced self-recruitment within the MPAs, but also (iii) increased the intensity, and (iv) widened the export of eggs and larvae (recruitment subsidy) from the MPAs; overall, it significantly changed connectivity patterns. These results highlight the need to gather the observational data that are required to correctly parameterize connectivity models.

Keywords: fish larvae, behavior, swimming, connectivity, dispersal, mediterranean sea, marine protected areas, modeling

INTRODUCTION

Many coastal fish species undergo a pelagic larval phase while adults generally have a restricted home range, leading most dispersal to occur during the larval phase (Gaines et al., 2007), even if it is not limited to this stage (e.g., Di Franco et al., 2015). Predicting recruitment in adult populations after this larval phase is a major challenge in marine ecology and for the sustainable management of marine resources. But it remains difficult because the factors determining larval dispersal and survival are not all identified (Cowen et al., 2007; Botsford et al., 2009). Various methods have been developed to study larval fish dispersal (Cowen et al., 2007) and showed that dispersal distances may reach hundreds of kilometers in some regions (Kinlan and Gaines, 2003) or be very limited, with

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Stelios Katsanevakis, University of the Aegean, Greece

Reviewed by:

Enrico Zambianchi, Consorzio Nazionale Interuniversitario per le Scienze del Mare (CoNISMa), Italy Pablo Saenz-Agudelo, Universidad Austral de Chile, Chile Antonio Di Franco, University of Nice Sophia Antipolis, France

> *Correspondence: Robin Faillettaz robin.faillettaz@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 21 December 2017 Accepted: 09 March 2018 Published: 26 March 2018

Citation:

Faillettaz R, Paris CB and Irisson J-O (2018) Larval Fish Swimming Behavior Alters Dispersal Patterns From Marine Protected Areas in the North-Western Mediterranean Sea. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:97. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00097 surprisingly high self-recruitment rates, in others (Jones et al., 2005; Cowen et al., 2006; Gerlach et al., 2007; Almany et al., 2017). Among all methods, modeling is the only approach that enables tracking (virtual) larvae throughout their pelagic journey (North et al., 2009). Biophysical models therefore contributed largely to the understanding of larval dispersal and population connectivity (e.g., Truelove et al., 2017) and to the testing of marine protected areas (MPAs) networks efficiency (Mouillot et al., 2011). Today, the use of such models have generalized and some even succeeded in predicting the intensity of larval supply to coastal areas (Sponaugle et al., 2012).

Robust connectivity models are particularly required in the Mediterranean Sea because European Union regulations require to expand the network of Mediterranean MPAs by 2020. This network is currently small and not very effective (Mouillot et al., 2011). Throughout the French Riviera, in the North Western Mediterranean basin, fisheries are mostly traditional, coastal, and managed at a small scale (on the order of kilometers). Fishermen are actively implicated in the management of marine resources and the establishment of a no-take zone in Cap Roux (43.5°E, 6.9°N) on their demand proves their willingness to sustainably manage the marine resources they exploit. While this local management is laudable, it also stresses the need for using adequate tools to assess the efficiency of MPA networks at regional scale or to estimate the export of individuals toward exploited areas.

While biophysical models improved, the quantification of larval fish behavior also underwent major advances over the last two decades and it is now recognized that most settlementstage larvae of tropical and temperate perciform fishes have strong swimming abilities, both in terms of speed and orientation (reviewed in Leis, 2006; see Faillettaz et al., 2017 for data on Mediterranean species). Oriented swimming was initially thought to be limited to coastal areas, where larvae may use odor (Paris et al., 2013), sound (Simpson et al., 2005) or both to detect favorable settlement habitats (Teodósio et al., 2016). Increasing observations now suggest that fish larvae may also orient in the open ocean using coast-independent cues such as the position of the sun (Mouritsen et al., 2013; Berenshtein et al., 2014; Faillettaz et al., 2015) or even the magnetic field (Bottesch et al., 2016; O'Connor and Muheim, 2017). These empirical observations were carried out in several regions and environments: Australia (Leis et al., 2014), Taiwan (Clark et al., 2005), North Sea (Cresci et al., 2017), Mediterranean Sea (Faillettaz et al., 2015) etc. They suggested that most perciform fish larvae have the means to orient at any spatial scale in the oceans using different mechanisms, which may have evolved to help them reach favorable settlement habitats (Paris et al., 2013; Leis et al., 2014, 2015; Bottesch et al., 2016).

It is noteworthy that nearly two decades ago, Jones et al. (1999) developed a numerical approach that suggested that active swimming might be necessary to explain the high self-recruitment rates they observed. Since then, several studies that included larval behavior in biophysical models found striking differences compared to simulations of passively drifting larvae (e.g., Paris and Cowen, 2004; Fiksen et al., 2007; Staaterman et al., 2012; Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014). Several reviews

also stressed the importance of considering *realistic* larval fish behavior in biophysical models (Leis, 2007; Miller, 2007; North et al., 2009; Catalán et al., 2013; Staaterman and Paris, 2014). The reviews' main recommendations are to implement empirically observed behaviors, measured on the species that is modeled (not on a related one, unless if they do not differ), and to include behavior changes that occur throughout ontogeny. Given this amount of evidence and recommendations, today, it would clearly be wrong to apply the "simplifying assumption" (sensu Leis, 2006) and consider fish larvae as passively drifting particles advected by the currents.

However, mainly because of the historical lack of data on larval fish behavior, most models made this assumption, or only considered simple vertical migrations behavior (e.g., Johnson et al., 2013; Nanninga et al., 2015). This is particularly true in the Mediterranean Sea. For example, Di Franco et al. (2012) and Koeck et al. (2015) did not include any behavior in their biophysical model. Yet, they used these models, among other approaches, to test the maximum potential dispersal of Epinephelus marginatus (Lowe, 1834; dusky grouper) larvae (Koeck et al., 2015) or of white seabream Diplodus sargus L. (Di Franco et al., 2012; Pujolar et al., 2013) larvae from a network of MPAs. The youngest larval stages may indeed be considered as passive and, providing the physical model is adequate, the initial export of propagules should therefore be correctly represented (Leis, 2007). However, this is not true for later stages and omitting larval behavior might induce large errors in the estimation of connectivity among MPAs, especially a species with such a long pelagic larval duration (PLD) (about 25 days; Macpherson and Raventos, 2006).

To overcome the lack of behavioral data for this species, Andrello et al. (2013, 2015) ran two sets of simulations, the main one with passively drifting particles and a second one with diel vertical migrations between 0.2 and 50 m, throughout ontogeny. They found the connection distances to be >100 km on average and concluded that diel vertical migration had little influence on the connectivity patterns.

Some models focused on the Mediterranean Sea did implement directional swimming. Basterretxea et al. (2012) first assessed the connectivity in a network of MPA and found that passive retention reaches >30% within 10 km of the seeding MPA. Then, Basterretxea et al. (2013) tested the influence of swimming at 5 cm s⁻¹ toward the coast, while advection transported the larvae offshore. It resulted in slightly higher retention rates (41%), yet still of the same order of magnitude. Faillettaz et al. (2017) implemented shoreward swimming at various speeds, based on empirical data, in a model of the competency period. In that case, the model suggested that swimming abilities of just few cm s⁻¹, over only 4 days at the end of the pelagic phase, can strongly influence the rate of recruitment.

The contrast among these results, both among studies in the Mediterranean Sea and with studies elsewhere (which, almost systematically concluded that behavior strongly influenced dispersal patterns) makes it difficult to reach a conclusion. In addition, the only models that explicitly studied connectivity within the network of Mediterranean MPAs did not include swimming behavior. The present work is a case-study for the inclusion of larval behavior when assessing connectivity within a network of MPAs, with an application to the dispersal of Sparidae (sea breams) larvae in the Ligurian Sea (N-W Mediterranean Sea). We track virtual larvae throughout their pelagic phase and compare a passive scenario with an active one, in which we implement an oriented swimming behavior based on all data available for the species considered.

METHODS

Study Area

This study was conducted in the Ligurian Sea, in the Northwestern Mediterranean Sea. In the region, the main hydrological structure is the Liguro-Provençal current, positioned on average 28 km from the shore (**Figure 1**), between the surface and 150–200 m depth, 25 km wide and flowing at 25–35 cm s⁻¹ toward the south-west (Béthoux and Prieur, 1983; Stemmann et al., 2008). The current is present throughout the year and creates a marked hydrological front that may act as a barrier to offshore dispersal of coastal organisms (Pedrotti and Fenaux, 1992) comparable to other Mediterranean fronts (Galarza et al., 2009).

We focused on three MPAs located in the northern Ligurian Sea, where most behavioral data available for the species of this region has been collected (in and around the Bay of Villefranchesur-Mer; 43.69° N, 7.31° E; **Figure 1**): The northernmost is the Larvotto MPA (Monaco, 43.7° N, 7.4° E; **Figure 1**) with 0.349 km² closed to fishing activities since 1976. The second MPA is located in Cap Roux (France, 43.5° N, 6.9° E; **Figure 1**) and comprises an area of 4.45 km^2 closed to fishing established in 2003. The third is the National Park of Port-Cros, a 29 km² MPA established in 1963, in and around the islands of Port-Cros and Porquerolles (France, 6.4° E, 42.9° N).

Hydrodynamic and Lagrangian Models

Ocean current fields were provided by MARS3DMed (Ifremer). This model is described in detail in Lazure and Dumas (2008) and has been validated with observations (Pairaud et al., 2011). Current fields are available every 3 h, on a $1/64^{\circ}$ grid (ca. 1.2 km), over 60 sigma layers, and cover the most of the NW Mediterranean Sea, from 0° to 15°E and 39.5° to 44.5°N. We used currents from June 1st to August 29th 2014, the main settlement period for larval fishes in the region (Faillettaz, 2015) and when behavioral data on swimming speed and orientation has been collected (Faillettaz et al., 2015, 2017).

Virtual larvae were simulated using the open-source Connectivity Modeling System (CMS; Paris et al., 2013). At each time-step, this Lagrangian model couples deterministic physical variables from a hydrodynamic model with probabilistic, individual-based biological characteristics such as spawning (location and date), mortality and vertical migration (diel and ontogenic). Of particular interest here, the CMS is the only full-fledged Lagrangian model that also comprises a biased and correlated random walk sub-model that can be used to simulate the oriented swimming behavior of virtual larvae (Staaterman et al., 2012). Swimming speed is set in cm s⁻¹. The direction of orientation can be set to follow a bearing or a target. The precision of orientation is set by the k parameter of a Von Mises distribution (the circular equivalent of a Normal distribution), which ranges from 0 (no orientation) to 5 (high accuracy; Codling et al., 2004). Settlement zones are defined as polygons, drawn by adding a spatial buffer around actual settlement habitat. When a competent larva enters a polygon, it is considered as settled and stops moving, assuming that it will successfully reach the closest favorable settlement habitat within the polygon.

Horizontal diffusivity was set to 10^5 cm² s⁻¹ based on diffusion diagrams from Okubo (1971) and the time-step was set to 300 s (1/36th of the hydrodynamic model output time-step). Maximum current speeds were around 0.5 m s⁻¹, which resulted in a maximum passive displacement of 150 m within one time step, well below the 1.2 km grid size, hence avoiding numerical issues during trajectory computation.

Simulations Scenarios Modeled Species

We focused on two groups of sea bream species, identified as "small Sparidae" (i.e., 9-11 mm in standard length) and "large Sparidae" (i.e., 14-16 mm in standard length), because their morphology and behavioral abilities were found to be similar within group but different between groups (Faillettaz et al., 2017). Small Sparidae comprise, at least, Boops boops Linnaeus, 1758, Oblada melanura L., Spicara smaris L. and Diplodus annularis L. Large Sparidae comprise species such as Dentex dentex L., Pagellus acarne Risso, 1827, Pagrus pagrus L. and Spondyliosoma cantharus L. Larvae of small Sparidae are slenderer, less pigmented, and seemingly less developed at settlement than those in the large Sparidae group. Small Sparidae also swim slower than large Sparidae (Ucrit = 11.1vs. 19.2 cm s⁻¹; Faillettaz et al., 2017) and their pelagic larval duration is shorter (14-18 d on average vs. 30-38 d; Raventós and Macpherson, 2001; Macpherson and Raventos, 2006).

Particle Seeding

In each of the three MPA (Larvotto, Cap Roux, and Port-Cros), 1500 virtual larvae were seeded at 1 and 15 m depths, twice per day, at 10:00 p.m. and 2:00 a.m., every day from June 1st to 15th and from July 1st to 15th, to match the patterns of larval supply measured in the Bay of Villefranche-sur-Mer: presence of Sparidae between the last and the first quarters of the moon, in June and July 2014 (Faillettaz, 2015). In total, 540,000 larvae were tracked per simulation.

Biological Parameters

The species of the two modeled groups settle in relatively similar coastal habitats (i.e., in seagrass and rocky or soft bottoms; Nelson et al., 2016) and the geomorphology of the study region is homogeneous, with rocky capes and sheltered bays every few kilometers from Genova (Italy) to Toulon (France) and in Corsica. The whole coastline was therefore assumed to be a potential settlement habitat and divided in ~8 km² polygons (~4 km of coastline × 2 km offshore, yielding 265 polygons). Given the scale of the study (~500 km of coastline) relative to



the size of the settlement polygons (4 km of coastline) and of the grid (1.2 km), the possible small deviations from this assumption of uniform habitat distribution would have little influence on the results. Furthermore, most of the region is characterized by a narrow continental shelf, with bottom depth >300 m within a kilometer from the coastline. The offshore expansion of coastal habitats, and of the coastal fish populations they support, is therefore limited to nearshore areas (≤ 1 km). To avoid boundary wissues in the interpolation scheme, we considered that virtual fish larvae could detect a coastal settlement habitat from as far as 2 km (1.5 grid point) from the shore and reach it. Such an assumption a is common in Lagrangian models (Cowen et al., 2006; Wolanski of and Kingsford, 2014) because settlement habitats and processes for the models' grids (\sim 1.2 km here).

Mediterranean larvae of Sparidae are mostly concentrated in the upper 10 m of the water column, with very limited to negligible diel vertical migration (Sabatés and Olivar, 1996). Larvae were therefore simulated on fixed, near-surface sigma levels.

Mortality would decrease the settlement rate but was not considered in the model because only constant mortality rates could have been implemented, which would not have altered the relative settlement rates predicted.

Two simulations were run for each of the two groups of Sparidae: one with passively drifting virtual larvae and the

other with oriented swimming. For "passive" simulations, the only parameter that differed between Sparidae groups was the pelagic larval duration (PLD). To account for the flexibility in the competency phase, which can span up to several days in Mediterranean species of sea breams (Calò et al., 2016), small Sparidae were considered competent from 13 to 19 days and large ones from 28 to 38 days. Larvae that reached a settlement polygon within their competency period were considered as settled. Larvae that did not reach a polygon by the end of their PLD were considered as dead. For "active" simulations, swimming speed and orientation abilities were implemented based on empirical observations carried out within the simulated region and period, for the two groups of Sparidae considered (Faillettaz et al., 2015, 2017).

During the competency phase, swimming speed was set to half the critical speed measured by Faillettaz et al. (2017). This is an estimate for the *in situ* speed, a speed that accounts for feeding-related speed changes, is assumed to be sustainable over long periods of time, and is therefore a conservative estimate for the swimming abilities of wild larvae (Leis and Carson-Ewart, 1998; Leis and Clark, 2005; Leis and Fisher, 2006). The ontogeny of swimming abilities was based on observations for other temperate and tropical fish larvae (Fisher et al., 2000; Clark et al., 2005; Leis et al., 2007; Faria et al., 2009): swimming speed was negligible before flexion, after the flexion (8 days; Leis, 2010) it was set to 1 cm s⁻¹ and then increased linearly to 6 cm s⁻¹

at 13 d for small Sparidae and to $10\,{\rm cm}~{\rm s}^{-1}$ at 28 d for large Sparidae.

Similarly, the orientation abilities of species belonging to the two groups of Sparidae were investigated in the same location and time of the year (Faillettaz et al., 2015). The vast majority of individuals (>85%) followed a cardinal bearing while in blue waters and most used the sun's azimuth as a compass, providing a potential mechanism for large-scale orientation in the open ocean. Shoreward swimming during the larval phase is a relatively simple behavior that the existence of such a compass would enable. By limiting the loss of individuals in the open sea at the end of the larval phase, it would systematically increase survival and should therefore be strongly selected for, given the intense mortality experienced by fish larvae (Houde, 2008). More complex behaviors, such as orientation corrected for the drift due to currents or exploiting current structures (eddies, shears, etc.), would be even more favorable, but the sensory mechanisms and cognitive requirements involved are still unexplored. To compute the plausible influence of directional swimming on advection trajectories based on the current state of knowledge, swimming was aimed at the coastal polygon closest to the larva at each time step (i.e., without course correction). Orientation precision was set higher for large Sparidae (k = 4) compared to small Sparidae (k = 3.5). The values of k were estimated by fitting Von Mises distributions to the orientation bearings recorded for the two groups in Faillettaz et al., 2015).

Data Analysis

For each simulation, the proportion of successful settlers was computed as the number of virtual larvae that reached a coastal polygon during their competency phase divided by 540,000 (the number of larvae released). The proportion of settlement per MPA was computed the same way but considering only larvae reaching MPA polygons, i.e., polygons within 3 km of an MPA, to account for the fact that the resolution of the hydrodynamic model (\sim 1.2 km) is not sufficient to describe local scale fluid dynamics.

The retention rate was defined as the number of larvae that were released from an MPA and settled in that same MPA's polygons, divided by the number of larvae released from that MPA. The self-recruitment rate was computed with the same numerator (number of particles that originated from and settled in the MPA) but divided by the total number of larvae that settled in the MPA, regardless their origin.

Dispersal kernels were computed as the probability density function of the great circle distance between the release MPA and the settlement location of successful settlers. The probability density function was estimated with a Gaussian smoothing kernel.

RESULTS

Most virtual larvae as advected outside the domain, although small Sparidae do not move as far from their release sites as large Sparidae (**Figure 2**), simply because their pelagic phase is shorter. The overall proportion of successful settlers was strongly increased by the inclusion of larval behavior, for both groups of Sparidae (**Figure 3**): 16.3% (passive) vs. 28.4% (active) for small Sparidae and 1.2% (passive) vs. 10.2% (active) for large Sparidae. It was also always higher for small Sparidae compared to large Sparidae. However, the relative change induced by the inclusion of behavior was larger for large Sparidae: \times 1.7 for small Sparidae vs. \times 8.7 for large ones.

The proportion of virtual larvae that settled within any of the three MPA was low, with a maximum of 1.18% for passive small Sparidae in Larvotto and a minimum of 0.01% for passive large Sparidae in Port-Cros (**Figure 4**). For small Sparidae, the inclusion of larval behavior decreased the proportion of settlement by about half in Larvotto and Cap Roux, while it tripled it in Port-Cros. For large Sparidae, active swimming yielded at least a five-fold increase in the proportion of settlement in any of the three MPAs (**Figure 4**).

Since the overall recruitment rates in MPAs were low, retention rates within each MPA were also low (<1%; **Figure 5**). However, including larval behavior markedly increased retention, except for small Sparidae in Cap Roux. Unsurprisingly, this higher retention of active larvae translated into higher self-recruitment rates, while the lower retention of small Sparidae in Cap Roux translated into a lower self-recruitment rate. However, an interesting pattern occurs for large Sparidae in Larvotto: active swimming yields higher retention but lower self-recruitment proportions. This means that the settlement of larvae from both Larvotto itself and the other MPAs increased when larvae were swimming, but the import of larvae from Cap Roux and Port-Cros increased more than the retention from Larvotto.

Dispersal kernels show relatively few differences between simulations (Figure 6), with a consistent peak in larval supply to coastal habitat centered around 180-200 km away from the release MPA. Sill, passive small Sparidae displayed the lowest mean dispersal distance (141.1 \pm 64.2 km; median = 146.2 km), followed by active small Sparidae (147.2 \pm 71.4; median = 157.1 km), then active large Sparidae (149.5 \pm 76.3; median = 167.2 km), and finally passive large Sparidae dispersed furthest (156.9 \pm 67.2 km; median = 176.1 km). All kernels were statistically different from each other (Kolmogorov-Smirnoff tests, all D = [0.04-0.13], all p < 0.001). In the passive case, the shorter distances (to the left of the peak) are observed more often for small Sparidae compared to large ones. Conversely, larger dispersal distances are more often reached by large Sparidae than by small ones. The inclusion of larval behavior slightly increased larval supply within the closest 100 km for large Sparidae and circa 230 km for small Sparidae (Figure 6).

Beyond those differences in terms of dispersal kernels, including larval behavior substantially increased the number and intensity of connections throughout the Ligurian Sea (**Figure 7**). It is noteworthy that the three MPAs have the potential to export larvae of large Sparidae throughout the region. Fewer connections occur for small Sparidae compared to large Sparidae, but the intensity of those connections is generally higher, echoing the overall higher proportion of settlement of small Sparidae. In the passive simulations, the eastern region (Italian coast) received fewer larvae from the three MPAs considered than the rest of





the domain (**Figure 7**). This pattern that was not as pronounced when behavior was added.

DISCUSSION

Generalization of the Present Results

We used a relatively simple example, based on a network of three French MPAs located in the Ligurian Sea, a part of the northwestern Mediterranean Sea, to reveal the potential differences in dispersal outcome that may be expected when accounting for oriented swimming by fish larvae.

We observed an increase in the overall proportion of settlement (Figure 3). This is intuitive since virtual larvae were parameterized to swim toward coastal habitats. All other things being equal, one would expect an increase in settlement rate proportional to the swimming speed (Faillettaz et al., 2017). More surprising however, is the lower proportion of large Sparidae that reached coastal habitats compared to small Sparidae, while they swam about twice as fast (10 cm s⁻¹ at settlement vs. 6 cm s⁻¹ for small Sparidae). The settlement rate of large Sparidae was even smaller compared to that of small Sparidae when larvae drifted passively. This difference is therefore probably attributable to the difference in PLD (13-19 d for small Sparidae vs. 29-38 d for large ones). Indeed, virtual larvae with a longer PLD may drift further away from their hatching site, which reduces the probability of reaching a coastal settlement habitat before the end of their competency phase. This highlights the foremost importance of the PLD in controlling larval supply rates, as suggested by several studies (e.g., O'Connor et al., 2007; Andrello et al., 2013).

Species with short PLDs, like small Sparidae, should therefore not drift as far as species with long PLDs, such as large Sparidae. In passive simulations, this is confirmed by the shape of the dispersal kernels, which highlight more short dispersal distances for small Sparidae (**Figure 6**), and the higher retention rates of small Sparidae (**Figure 5**). However, including behavior completely changed these retention patterns, indicating that retention is mostly determined by larval behavior rather than advection.

The fact that even the fastest-swimming larvae settled in relatively low numbers suggest that their swimming abilities



are not sufficient to fully counteract the advection by oceans currents, when they drift too far offshore. Yet, considering their behavior still lead to a 9-fold increase in the overall proportion of settlement, for large Sparidae. This suggests that the relatively simple swimming behavior implemented in this model would be a much more favorable strategy in the face of natural selection, than randomly drifting with the flow.

In terms of connectivity patterns, active swimming increased the number and intensity of connections throughout the region, and in particular toward Corsica and the Italian coast (**Figure 7**). The lower intensity of connections to these regions in the passive case can be explained by the persistent Ligurian current, which transports particles mostly westward, at a fast pace, limiting eastward and southward connections. Our results suggest that, in this configuration of the coastline, larval behavior would favor connectivity at regional scale, in all directions. Accounting only for the general flow direction may thus not properly represent the main patterns of spillover.

We can compare the dispersal patterns of passively drifting larvae simulated here to the results of Andrello et al. (2013), who modeled the dispersal of *Epinephelus marginatus* (dusky grouper) among MPAs located throughout the Mediterranean Sea. They included the MPA of Port-Cros and set the PLD of *E. marginatus* to 30 d, which is in the range of PLDs considered for the large Sparidae we modeled (29–38 d). In the study by Andrello et al., self-recruitment accounted for most of the settlement, across all MPAs, but the MPA of Port-Cros was one of the six MPAs (over 99) that presented zero self-recruitment. Based on our passive simulation, we might also have concluded that Port-Cros may acts exclusively as a source MPA (**Figure 5**), but we actually showed that it becomes the MPA with the highest potential of self-recruitment rate when larval behavior is added, hence reversing the initial conclusion.

In summary, we found that including larval behavior in the model has (i) increased the overall proportion of successful settlers, (ii) enhanced self-recruitment within the MPAs, but also (iii) increased the intensity and (iv) widened the potential export of propagules from the MPAs. In line with previous modeling studies that focused on behavior (e.g., Paris et al., 2007; Staaterman et al., 2012; Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014), our results show the importance of exploring the potential effect of larval behavior when predicting connectivity patterns. Given the diversity of patterns detected here, which echoes that of other studies (e.g., Paris et al., 2007), the influence of larval behavior should definitely not be generalized as solely reducing the scales of connectivity, as it has been regularly suggested (Sponaugle et al., 2002; Andrello et al., 2013).

Toward More Accurate Connectivity Models in the Mediterranean Sea

Biophysical dispersal models have become a common tool for management and planning purposes. Yet, most still omit larval behavior, while this study adds to the evidence that larvae swimming at even just a few cm s⁻¹ may substantially influence the outcomes of the pelagic phase (Werner et al., 1993; Leis, 2007; Vikebø et al., 2007; Staaterman et al., 2012; Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014; Faillettaz et al., 2017). But, to implement larval behaviors in a meaningful way, empirical data describing them is necessary.

Diel vertical migration behavior is well documented in fish larvae, including in the Mediterranean (Olivar and Sabatés, 1997; Sabates, 2004; Sabatés et al., 2010). Mediterranean coastal fish assemblages are dominated by perciformes and all perciformes larvae studied so far have been shown to swim at high, sustained speeds (Leis, 2006). In addition, it seems that their morphology could provide information on their swimming abilities in the absence of data on the species of interest (Fisher and Hogan, 2007; Faillettaz et al., 2017). Finally, swimming speeds achievable early during ontogeny can be somewhat inferred from swimming abilities during the installation phase, which is easier to study (Leis, 2010).



Information on the swimming abilities of Mediterranean species is scarce (see Faillettaz et al., 2017 for a complete account) but estimations of their orientation abilities are even more so (Faillettaz et al., 2015 is the only study so far), and this is actually true all over the world (Leis, 2006). Yet, oriented swimming is likely to have a major impact on dispersal, especially if it occurs early in the larval phase (Staaterman et al., 2012).

Additional data on swimming abilities of young larvae and orientation abilities throughout ontogeny would therefore be the most critical to collect currently. When no data is available, the bias associated with their absence could be estimated by comparing dispersal patterns obtained from passive simulations and from simulations of caricatured behaviors (e.g., swimming at high speed and perfectly oriented), as part of a sensitivity study. North et al. (2009) provide suggestions for the implementation of such sensitivity approaches and Basterretxea et al. (2013) is an example of such a study in the Mediterranean.

Another essential criterion for the correct use of Lagrangian models is whether the spatial resolution of the underlying oceanographic model and the time step for the integration of the Lagrangian trajectories are adapted to the questions asked. In the present study, the grid of the hydrodynamic model (\sim 1.2 km) could not resolve coastal patterns. Therefore, we did not attempt to represent them in the biological model and considered that larvae were able to reach the coast when they arrived within two kilometers of it (i.e., \sim 1.5 grid points). Overall, we interpret the predicted patterns of connectivity at scales of tens to hundreds of kilometers, for which the resolution of 1.2 km is not limiting. In contrast, to answer similar questions (regional connectivity and rates of larval retention), other studies used much lower resolutions (e.g., >12 km; Andrello et al.,





FIGURE 7 | Connectivity patterns throughout the Ligurian Sea, from the three release MPA (red dots). Lines represent connections, not dispersal trajectories. Their intensity is proportional to the intensity of the connections.

2013, 2015) or integration time steps allowing larvae to cross more than one grid cell in a single step (Basterretxea et al., 2013). Such use of unsuitable configurations could skew the dispersal patterns obtained (North et al., 2009). To avoid these biases and better address near-shore, small-scale circulation processes, which are essential for egg dispersal and, perhaps, the installation of late larval stages, hydrodynamic models with higher resolution, especially near the coasts, are essential. Nearshore environment (e.g., bathymetry, habitat, etc.) may also affect larval fish sensitivity to coastal cues and considering these processes may help in further improving biophysical models.

Patterns of dispersal are also strongly influenced by the precise location and date of spawning (e.g., Guizien et al., 2012). However, in the North-Western Mediterranean Sea, the spawning areas of Sparidae, for example, are poorly known. We had to assume that they spawned along the coast, where they live. Their settlement and preferential recruitment habitats are better documented but often very restricted spatially (Vigliola et al., 1998; Cheminee et al., 2011). For example, around Marseille (France), the settlement habitat of the genus Diplodus could be limited to as little as 9% of the coastline. Nevertheless, this level of detail in the definition of settlement locations is not usually represented in dispersal models because accurate habitat mapping at the scale relevant to the models is not available (but see Holstein et al., 2014 for an example in the Caribbean Sea). Here, we again had to assume that suitable habitat, although possibly scarce, was uniformly distributed along the coast. Mapping of coastal habitats is currently being conducted in the Ligurian Sea (Meidinger et al., 2013) and may allow to refine future connectivity models in the region.

Finally, the results presented in this study show that the success of the pelagic larval phase is governed by both oceanographic processes and suite of biological characteristics

REFERENCES

- Almany, G. R., Planes, S., Thorrold, S. R., Berumen, M. L., Bode, M., Saenz-Agudelo, P., et al. (2017). Larval fish dispersal in a coral-reef seascape. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 1:148. doi: 10.1038/s41559-017-0148
- Andrello, M., Mouillot, D., Beuvier, J., Albouy, C., Thuiller, W., and Manel, S. (2013). Low connectivity between Mediterranean marine protected areas: a biophysical modeling approach for the dusky grouper *Epinephelus marginatus*. *PLoS ONE* 8:e68564. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0068564
- Andrello, M., Mouillot, D., Somot, S., Thuiller, W., and Manel, S. (2015). Additive effects of climate change on connectivity between marine protected areas and larval supply to fished areas. *Divers. Distrib.* 21, 139–150. doi: 10.1111/ddi.12250
- Basterretxea, G., Catalán, I. A., Jordi, A., Álvarez, I., Palmer, M., and Sabatés, A. (2013). Dynamic regulation of larval fish self-recruitment in a marine protected area. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 22, 477–495. doi: 10.1111/fog.12035
- Basterretxea, G., Jordi, A., Catalán, I. A., and Sabatés, A. N. A. (2012). Model-based assessment of local-scale fish larval connectivity in a network of marine protected areas. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 21, 291–306. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2419.2012.00625.x
- Berenshtein, I., Kiflawi, M., Shashar, N., Wieler, U., Agiv, H., and Paris, C. B. (2014). Polarized light sensitivity and orientation in coral reef fish post-larvae. *PLoS ONE* 9:e88468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088468

(swimming speed, orientation accuracy, etc.). However, the unitary effect of each behavior on larval dispersal has rarely been explicitly evaluated (Werner et al., 1993; Paris et al., 2007 are two, rare, examples). It would therefore be interesting to compare a model simulating all observed larval behaviors with degraded versions in which behaviors are removed one by one, in order to quantify their respective effects and determine the importance of including them in connectivity models. Such a sensitivity analysis could effectively guide the collection of empirical data on the behavior of fish larvae in the future and, ultimately, improve the reliability of biophysical models. It would be particularly relevant in the context of the necessary improvement of the network of marine protected areas required by the European Union. Indeed, describing connectivity through the simulated dispersal of propagules is becoming a usual tool for the management and conservation of marine resources, particularly for the establishment of new protected (or urbanized) areas. Nevertheless, such approach may lead to the wrong conclusions if the biological components are not accurately parameterized because empirical data is lacking.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RF, CP, and J-OI designed the modeling experiment. RF and J-OI run the simulations. RF analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. CP and J-OI revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a grant from the Partner University Fund to J-OI and CP. The CMS code development and maintenance is possible with a National Science Foundation award to CP (n° 1260424). RF's doctoral fellowship was provided by the French Ministry of Education and Research (n° 247/2012).

- Béthoux, J. P., and Prieur, L. (1983). Hydrologie et circulation en méditerranée nord-occidentale. Pétroles et Techniques 299, 25–34.
- Botsford, L. W., White, J. W., Coffroth, M. A., Paris, C. B., Planes, S., Shearer, T. L., et al. (2009). Connectivity and resilience of coral reef metapopulations in marine protected areas: matching empirical efforts to predictive needs. *Coral Reefs* 28, 327–337. doi: 10.1007/s00338-009-0466-z
- Bottesch, M., Gerlach, G., Halbach, M., Bally, A., Kingsford, M. J., and Mouritsen, H. (2016). A magnetic compass that might help coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *Curr. Biol.* 26, R1266–R1267. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016. 10.051
- Calò, A., Di Franco, A., De Benedetto, G. E., Pennetta, A., Pérez-Ruzafa, Á., and García-Charton, J. A. (2016). Propagule dispersal and larval patch cohesiveness in a Mediterranean coastal fish. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 544, 213–224. doi: 10.3354/meps11609
- Catalán, I. A., Macías, D., Solé, J., Ospina-Álvarez, A., and Ruiz, J. (2013). Stay off the motorway: resolving the pre-recruitment life history dynamics of the European anchovy in the SW Mediterranean through a spatiallyexplicit individual-based model (SEIBM). *Prog. Oceanogr.* 111, 140–153. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2013.02.001
- Cheminee, A., Francour, P., and Harmelin-Vivien, M. (2011). Assessment of *Diplodus* spp. (Sparidae) nursery grounds along the rocky shore of Marseilles (France, NW Mediterranean). *Sci. Mar.* 75, 181–188. doi: 10.3989/scimar.2011.75n1181

- Clark, D. L., Leis, J. M., Hay, A. C., and Trnski, T. (2005). Swimming ontogeny of larvae of four temperate marine fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 292, 287–300. doi: 10.3354/meps292287
- Codling, E. A., Hill, N. A., Pitchford, J. W., and Simpson, S. D. (2004). Random walk models for the movement and recruitment of reef fish larvae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 279, 215–224. doi: 10.3354/meps279215
- Cowen, R., Gawarkiewicz, G., Pineda, J., Thorrold, S., and Werner, F. (2007). Population connectivity in marine systems: an overview. *Oceanog* 20, 14–21. doi: 10.5670/oceanog.2007.26
- Cowen, R. K., Paris, C. B., and Srinivasan, A. (2006). Scaling of connectivity in marine populations. *Science* 311, 522–527. doi: 10.1126/science.1122039
- Cresci, A., Paris, C. B., Durif, C. M. F., Shema, S., Bjelland, R. M., Skiftesvik, A. B., et al. (2017). Glass eels (*Anguilla anguilla*) have a magnetic compass linked to the tidal cycle. *Sci. Adv.* 3:e1602007. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1602007
- Di Franco, A., Calò, A., Pennetta, A., De Benedetto, G., Planes, S., and Guidetti, P. (2015). Dispersal of larval and juvenile seabream: implications for Mediterranean marine protected areas. *Biol. Conserv.* 192, 361–368. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2015.10.015
- Di Franco, A., Coppini, G., Pujolar, J. M., De Leo, G. A., Gatto, M., Lyubartsev, V., et al. (2012). Assessing dispersal patterns of fish propagules from an effective mediterranean marine protected area. *PLoS ONE* 7:e52108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052108
- Faillettaz, R. (2015). Estimation des Capacités Comportementales des Larves de Poissons et Leurs Implications Pour la Phase Larvaire?: Un cas d'étude d'espèces Démersales de Méditerranée Nord-Occidentale. Ph.D. thesis, Biodiversité et Ecologie, Université Pierre et Marie Curie - Paris VI, Paris.
- Faillettaz, R., Blandin, A., Paris, C. B., Koubbi, P., and Irisson, J.-O. (2015). Suncompass orientation in mediterranean fish larvae. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0135213. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135213
- Faillettaz, R., Durand, E., Paris, C. B., Koubbi, P., and Irisson, J.-O. (2017). Swimming speeds of Mediterranean settlement-stage fish larvae nuance Hjort's aberrant drift hypothesis. *Limnol. Oceanogr.*63, 509–523. doi: 10.1002/lno.10643
- Faria, A. M., Ojanguren, A. F., Fuiman, L. A., and Gonçalves, E. J. (2009). Ontogeny of critical swimming speed of wild-caught and laboratory-reared red drum *Sciaenops ocellatus* larvae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 384, 221–230. doi: 10.3354/meps08018
- Fiksen, Ø., Jørgensen, C., Kristiansen, T., Vikeb, Ø, F., and Huse, G. (2007). Linking behavioural ecology and oceanography: larval behaviour determines growth, mortality and dispersal. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 347, 195–205. doi: 10.3354/meps06978
- Fisher, R., Bellwood, D. R., and Job, S. D. (2000). Development of swimming abilities in reef fish larvae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 202, 163–173. doi: 10.3354/meps202163
- Fisher, R., and Hogan, J. D. (2007). Morphological predictors of swimming speed: a case study of pre-settlement juvenile coral reef fishes. *J. Exp. Biol.* 210, 2436–2443. doi: 10.1242/jeb.004275
- Gaines, S. D., Gaylord, B., Gerber, L. R., Hastings, A., and Kinlan, B. (2007). Connecting places: the ecological consequences of dispersal in the sea. *Oceanography* 20, 90–99. doi: 10.5670/oceanog.2007.32
- Galarza, J. A., Carreras-Carbonell, J., Macpherson, E., Pascual, M., Roques, S., Turner, G. F., et al. (2009). The influence of oceanographic fronts and earlylife-history traits on connectivity among littoral fish species. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 1473–1478. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806804106
- Gerlach, G., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., Black, K. P., and Miller-Sims, V. (2007). Smelling home can prevent dispersal of reef fish larvae. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 104, 858–863. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606777104
- Guizien, K., Belharet, M., Marsaleix, P., and Guarini, J. M. (2012). Using larval dispersal simulations for marine protected area design: application to the Gulf of Lions (Northwest Mediterranean). *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 57, 1099–1112. doi: 10.4319/lo.2012.57.4.1099
- Holstein, D. M., Paris, C. B., and Mumby, P. J. (2014). Consistency and inconsistency in multispecies population network dynamics of coral reef ecosystems. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 499, 1–18. doi: 10.3354/meps10647
- Houde, E. D. (2008). Emerging from Hjort's Shadow. J. Northw. Atl. Fish. Sci. 41, 53–70. doi: 10.2960/J.v41.m634
- Johnson, D. R., Perry, H. M., and Lyczkowski-Shultz, J. (2013). Connections between campeche bank and red snapper populations in the Gulf of

Mexico via modeled larval transport. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 142, 50–58. doi: 10.1080/00028487.2012.720630

- Jones, G. P., Milicich, M. J., Emslie, M. J., and Lunow, C. (1999). Self-recruitment in a coral reef fish population. *Nature* 402, 802–804. doi: 10.1038/45538
- Jones, G. P., Planes, S., and Thorrold, S. R. (2005). Coral reef fish larvae settle close to home. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 1314–1318. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.06.061
- Kinlan, B. P., and Gaines, S. D. (2003). Propagule dispersal in marine and terrestrial environments: a community perspective. *Ecology* 84, 2007–2020. doi: 10.1890/01-0622
- Koeck, B., Gérigny, O., Durieux, E. D. H., Coudray, S., Garsi, L.-H., Bisgambiglia, P.-A., et al. (2015). Connectivity patterns of coastal fishes following different dispersal scenarios across a transboundary marine protected area (Bonifacio strait, NW Mediterranean). *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 154, 234–247. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2015.01.010
- Lazure, P., and Dumas, F. (2008). An external–internal mode coupling for a 3D hydrodynamical model for applications at regional scale (MARS). Adv. Water Resour. 31, 233–250. doi: 10.1016/j.advwatres.2007.06.010
- Leis, J. M. (2006). Are larvae of demersal fishes plankton or nekton? *Adv. Mar. Biol.* 51, 57–141. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(06)51002-8
- Leis, J. M. (2007). Behaviour as input for modelling dispersal of fish larvae: behaviour, biogeography, hydrodynamics, ontogeny, physiology and phylogeny meet hydrography. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 347, 185–193. doi: 10.3354/meps06977
- Leis, J. M. (2010). Ontogeny of behaviour in larvae of marine demersal fishes. Ichthyol. Res. 57, 325-342. doi: 10.1007/s10228-010-0177-z
- Leis, J. M., and Carson-Ewart, B. M. (1998). Complex behaviour by coral-reef fish larvae in open-water and near-reef pelagic environments. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 53, 259–266. doi: 10.1023/A:1007424719764
- Leis, J. M., and Clark, D. L. (2005). Feeding greatly enhances swimming endurance of settlement-stage reef-fish larvae of damselfishes (Pomacentridae). *Ichthyol. Res.* 52, 185–188. doi: 10.1007/s10228-004-0265-z
- Leis, J. M., and Fisher, R. (2006). "Swimming speed of settlement-stage reef-fish larvae measured in the laboratory and in the field: a comparison of critical speed and *in situ* speed," in *Proceedings of the 10th International Coral Reef Symposium* (Okinawa: Coral Reef Society of Japan Tokyo), 438–445.
- Leis, J. M., Hay, A. C., Lockett, M. M., Chen, J., and Fang, L. (2007). Ontogeny of swimming speed in larvae of pelagic-spawning, tropical, marine fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 349, 255–267. doi: 10.3354/meps07107
- Leis, J. M., Paris, C. B., Irisson, J. O., Yerman, M. N., and Siebeck, U. E. (2014). Orientation of fish larvae in situ is consistent among locations, years and methods, but varies with time of day. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 505, 193–208. doi: 10.3354/meps10792
- Leis, J. M., Siebeck, U. E., Hay, A. C., Paris, C. B., Chateau, O., and Wantiez, L. (2015). *In situ* orientation of fish larvae can vary among regions. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 537, 191–203. doi: 10.3354/meps11446
- Macpherson, E., and Raventos, N. (2006). Relationship between pelagic larval duration and geographic distribution of Mediterranean littoral fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 327, 257–265. doi: 10.3354/meps327257
- Meidinger, M., Vasiliki, M., Sano, M., Palma, M., and Ponti, M. (2013). Seafloor mapping and cartography for the management of marine protected areas. *Adv. Oceanogr. Limnol.* 4, 120–137. doi: 10.1080/19475721.2013.848529
- Miller, T. J. (2007). Contribution of individual-based coupled physical-biological models to understanding recruitment in marine fish populations. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 347, 127–138. doi: 10.3354/meps06973
- Mouillot, D., Albouy, C., Guilhaumon, F., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Coll, M., Devictor, V., et al. (2011). Protected and threatened components of fish biodiversity in the Mediterranean sea. *Curr. Biol.* 21, 1044–1050. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2011.05.005
- Mouritsen, H., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., and Gerlach, G. (2013). Sun compass orientation helps coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *PLoS ONE* 8:e66039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066039
- Nanninga, G. B., Saenz-Agudelo, P., Zhan, P., Hoteit, I., and Berumen, M. L. (2015). Not finding Nemo: limited reef-scale retention in a coral reef fish. *Coral Reefs* 34, 383–392. doi: 10.1007/s00338-015-1266-2
- Nelson, J. S., Grande, T. C., and Wilson, M. V. H. (2016). Fishes of the World. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- North, E. W., Gallego, A., Petitgas, P., Ådlandsvik, B., Bartsch, J., Brickman, D., et al. (2009). *Manual of Recommended Practices for Modelling Physical Biological Interactions During Fish Early Life*. ICES Cooperative Research Report.

- O'Connor, J., and Muheim, R. (2017). Pre-settlement coral-reef fish larvae respond to magnetic field changes during the day. *J. Exp. Biol.* 220, 2874–2877. doi: 10.1242/jeb.159491
- O'Connor, M. I., Bruno, J. F., Gaines, S. D., Halpern, B. S., Lester, S. E., Kinlan, B. P., et al. (2007). Temperature control of larval dispersal and the implications for marine ecology, evolution, and conservation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 1266–1271. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0603422104
- Okubo, A. (1971). Oceanic diffusion diagrams. Deep Sea Res. Oceanogr. Abstr. 18, 789-802. doi: 10.1016/0011-7471(71)90046-5
- Olivar, M. P., and Sabatés, A. (1997). Vertical distribution of fish larvae in the north-west Mediterranean Sea in spring. *Mar. Biol.* 129, 289–300. doi: 10.1007/s002270050169
- Pairaud, I. L., Gatti, J., Bensoussan, N., Verney, R., and Garreau, P. (2011). Hydrology and circulation in a coastal area off Marseille: validation of a nested 3D model with observations. *J. Mar. Syst.* 88, 20–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jmarsys.2011.02.010
- Paris, C. B., Atema, J., Irisson, J.-O., Kingsford, M., Gerlach, G., and Guigand, C. M. (2013). Reef odor: a wake up call for navigation in reef fish larvae. *PLoS ONE* 8:e72808. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072808
- Paris, C. B., Chérubin, L. M., and Cowen, R. K. (2007). Surfing, spinning, or diving from reef to reef: effects on population connectivity. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 347, 285–300. doi: 10.3354/meps06985
- Paris, C. B., and Cowen, R. K. (2004). Direct evidence of a biophysical retention mechanism for coral reef fish larvae. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 49, 1964–1979. doi: 10.4319/lo.2004.49.6.1964
- Pedrotti, M. L., and Fenaux, L. (1992). Dispersal of echinoderm larvae in a geographical area marked by upwelling (Ligurian Sea, NW Mediterranean). *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 87, 217–227. doi: 10.3354/meps 087217
- Pujolar, J. M., Schiavina, M., Di Franco, A., Melià, P., Guidetti, P., Gatto, M., et al. (2013). Understanding the effectiveness of marine protected areas using genetic connectivity patterns and Lagrangian simulations. *Divers. Distrib.* 19, 1531–1542. doi: 10.1111/ddi.12114
- Raventós, N., and Macpherson, E. (2001). Planktonic larval duration and settlement marks on the otoliths of Mediterranean littoral fishes. *Mar. Biol.* 138, 1115–1120. doi: 10.1007/s002270000535
- Sabates, A. (2004). Diel vertical distribution of fish larvae during the winter-mixing period in the Northwestern Mediterranean. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 61, 1243–1252. doi: 10.1016/j.icesjms.2004.07.022
- Sabatés, A., and Olivar, M. P. (1996). Variation of larval fish distributions associated with variability in the location of a shelf-slope front. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 135, 11–20. doi: 10.3354/meps135011
- Sabatés, A., Pagès, F., Atienza, D., Fuentes, V., Purcell, J. E., and Gili, J.-M. (2010). Planktonic cnidarian distribution and feeding of Pelagia noctiluca in the NW Mediterranean Sea. *Hydrobiologia* 645, 153–165. doi: 10.1007/s10750-010-0221-z
- Simpson, S. D., Meekan, M., Montgomery, J., McCauley, R., and Jeffs, A. (2005). Homeward sound. *Science* 308:221. doi: 10.1126/science. 1107406

- Sponaugle, S., Cowen, R. K., Shanks, A., Morgan, S. G., Leis, J. M., Pineda, J., et al. (2002). Predicting self-recruitment in marine populations : biophysical correlates and mechanisms. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 70, 341–375.
- Sponaugle, S., Paris, C., Walter, K. D., Kourafalou, V., and D'Alessandro, E. (2012). Observed and modeled larval settlement of a reef fish to the Florida Keys. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 453, 201–212. doi: 10.3354/meps09641
- Staaterman, E., and Paris, C. B. (2014). Modelling larval fish navigation: the way forward. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 71, 918–924. doi: 10.1093/icesjms/fst103
- Staaterman, E., Paris, C. B., and Helgers, J. (2012). Orientation behavior in fish larvae: a missing piece to Hjort's critical period hypothesis. J. Theor. Biol. 304, 188–196. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2012.03.016
- Stemmann, L., Prieur, L., Legendre, L., Taupier-Letage, I., Picheral, M., Guidi, L., et al. (2008). Effects of frontal processes on marine aggregate dynamics and fluxes: an interannual study in a permanent geostrophic front (NW Mediterranean). J. Mar. Syst 70, 1–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jmarsys.2007.02.014
- Teodósio, M. A., Paris, C. B., Wolanski, E., and Morais, P. (2016). Biophysical processes leading to the ingress of temperate fish larvae into estuarine nursery areas: a review. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 183, 187–202. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2016.10.022
- Truelove, N. K., Kough, A. S., Behringer, D. C., Paris, C. B., Box, S. J., Preziosi, R. F., et al. (2017). Biophysical connectivity explains population genetic structure in a highly dispersive marine species. *Coral Reefs* 36, 233–244. doi: 10.1007/s00338-016-1516-y
- Vigliola, L., Harmelin-vivien, M. L., Biagi, F., Galzin, R., Garcia-Rubies, A., Harmelin, J.-G., et al. (1998). Spatial and temporal patterns of settlement among sparid fishes of the genus Diplodus in the northwestern Mediterranean. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 168, 45–56. doi: 10.3354/meps168045
- Vikebø, F., Jørgensen, C., Kristiansen, T., and Fiksen, Ø. (2007). Drift, growth, and survival of larval Northeast Arctic cod with simple rules of behaviour. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 347, 207–219. doi: 10.3354/meps06979
- Werner, F. E., Page, F. H., Lynch, D. R., Loder, J. W., Lough, R. G., Perry, R. I., et al. (1993). Influences of mean advection and simple behavior on the distribution of cod and haddock early life stages on Georges Bank. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 2, 43–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2419.1993.tb00120.x
- Wolanski, E., and Kingsford, M. J. (2014). Oceanographic and behavioural assumptions in models of the fate of coral and coral reef fish larvae. J. R. Soc. Interface 11:20140209. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.0209

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Faillettaz, Paris and Irisson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Nearshore Larval Retention and **Cross-Shelf Migration of Benthic Crustaceans at an Upwelling Center**

Steven G. Morgan^{1,2*}, Seth H. Miller¹, Matt J. Robart¹ and John L. Largier^{1,2}

¹ Davis-Bodega Marine Laboratory, University of California, Bodega Bay, Bodega Bay, CA, United States, ² Department of Environmental Science and Policy, University of California, Davis, Davis, CA, United States

Planktonic larvae are thought to be very susceptible to offshore advection in upwelling regimes, increasing dispersal and decreasing recruitment. However, larvae of 42 species of nearshore benthic crustaceans primarily developed on the inner shelf at locations both in (98.5%) and away (99.8%) from a perennial upwelling center in the upwelling season of a recruitment-limited region characterized by persistent, strong, upwelling. During three cross-shelf cruises conducted at each location, larvae of 21 species remained on the inner shelf at both sites by occurring beneath seaward-flowing surface currents while larvae of other species migrated to midshelf (four species) or offshore (14 species) by initially developing near the surface. Postlarvae apparently returned to shore either deep in landward-flowing upwelled water or near the surface where behavior allows them to be transported shoreward by internal waves, diel wind cycles or wind relaxation events. Thus, recruitment limitation in upwelling regimes does not appear to be caused by larval mortality from offshore transport, requiring new research directions to advance our understanding of population dynamics, structure and connectivity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Claire Beatrix Paris. University of Miami, United States

Reviewed by:

Jan Marcin Weslawski, Institute of Oceanology (PAN), Poland Gorka Bidegain, University of Southern Mississippi, United States

> *Correspondence: Steven G. Morgan sgmorgan@ucdavis.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the iournal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 24 January 2018 Accepted: 23 April 2018 Published: 15 May 2018

Citation:

Morgan SG, Miller SH, Robart MJ and Largier JL (2018) Nearshore Larval Retention and Cross-Shelf Migration of Benthic Crustaceans at an Upwelling Center. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:161. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00161

Keywords: larval transport, behavior, population connectivity, recruitment limitation, upwelling

INTRODUCTION

Variation in larval recruitment often determines population and community dynamics in the sea. Both larval dispersal and mortality have been challenging to measure rendering estimates of population connectivity uncertain. Moreover, the ability of larvae to regulate transport could have a large impact on dispersal and population connectivity and has been debated for decades. We recently determined that larvae occurred close to shore in persistent, strong upwelling on the Pacific Coast of the USA-rather than lost offshore as was widely expected (Morgan et al., 2009b,c, 2011; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Fisher et al., 2014; Hameed et al., 2018)-and that larval mortality in the nearshore retention zone was much lower than previous estimates of larval mortality anywhere (White et al., 2014). We then demonstrated that larval behaviors enabling larvae to remain close to shore throughout development also enable them to settle near natal populations (Drake et al., 2013; Hameed et al., 2016). We now investigate whether larvae also completed larval development close to shore at one of the strongest upwelling centers further reducing the scale of population connectivity.

On the west coasts of continents, strong wind and Coriolis generate seaward-flowing surface currents (Ekman transport) dropping sea level along the coast while upwelling deep, cold water (Hickey, 1998). It has been suggested that larvae of nearshore species are lost to offshore transport by persistent, strong upwelling conditions (Parrish et al., 1981; Roughgarden et al., 1988; Menge and Menge, 2013), especially at the apex of headlands and immediately equatorward, where wind stress is most intense (Winant et al., 1988; Koracin et al., 2004) as well as at headlands where alongshore flow separates forming an offshore-directed jet (Barth et al., 2000; Kaplan and Largier, 2006). Meanwhile, flow may curve shoreward on the downstream of headlands resulting in onshore flow (Shannon et al., 1981; Halle and Largier, 2011) or forming a separation eddy where larvae may be accumulated (Wing et al., 1995, 1998; Graham and Largier, 1997; Roughan et al., 2005; Mace and Morgan, 2006a; Morgan et al., 2011; Ryan et al., 2014). Thus, larvae are widely expected to be most prone to offshore transport in upwelling centers and immediately downstream of headlands, limiting recruitment and enhancing dispersal away from this source, whereas farther downstream of headlands, they may be entrained in an eddy or transported onshore increasing recruitment and reducing dispersal away from this source.

Larval behavior may reduce transport at headlands and upwelling centers just as it does elsewhere along the coast. The characteristic vertical circulation in wind-driven upwelling areas enables invertebrate larvae and other zooplankters to reduce transport by regulating depth in vertically sheared currents (reviewed by Peterson, 1998; Morgan, 2014), as they do in other places where vertical shear occurs for different reasons (Epifanio and Garvine, 2001; Queiroga and Blanton, 2005; Morgan, 2006, in press; Epifanio and Cohen, 2016). Most species of larvae and copepods in upwelling regimes complete development close to shore within a coastal boundary layer, where Ekman transport is weak and alongshore currents are slow (Peterson et al., 1979; Morgan et al., 2009a; Shanks and Shearman, 2009; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Nickols et al., 2013; Fisher et al., 2014; Hameed et al., 2018). They remain below a shallow Ekman layer or undertake diel vertical migrations, ascending near the surface to forage at night when offshore flow slows (Peterson et al., 1979; Peterson, 1998; Batchelder et al., 2002; dos Santos et al., 2008; Morgan et al., 2009a; Shanks and Shearman, 2009; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Miller and Morgan, 2013). By avoiding upward transport into the seaward-flowing surface layer, they are subject to onshore flow and experience a flux convergence at the coast (Genin et al., 2005; Shanks and Brink, 2005). Different species are transported away from shore by occurring in the Ekman layer early in development and toward shore deep late in development, known as an ontogenetic vertical migration (OVM; Peterson et al., 1979; Grantham, 1997; Peterson, 1998; Mace and Morgan, 2006b; Papastephanou et al., 2006; Tapia and Pineda, 2007; Morgan et al., 2009a,b; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Morgan, 2014). In some places or seasons, larvae late in development rise near the surface, known as a reverse ontogenetic vertical migration (ROVM), where behavior can allow internal waves, diel wind cycles or wind relaxations to transport them toward shore (Hobbs et al., 1991; Shanks, 1995a; Pineda, 1999; Poulin et al., 2002; Marta-Almeida et al., 2006; Morgan et al., 2009a; Morgan and Fisher, 2010).

We tested whether larval behavior effectively regulates transport at upwelling centers, as elsewhere, or whether it is overwhelmed by the intensity of wind forcing and currents. We compared cross-shelf and depth distributions of larvae of inshore benthic crustaceans along two transects near one of the strongest upwelling centers on the west coast of North America during the peak upwelling season. If larval behavior is overwhelmed, then (1) larvae should occur farther offshore at the upwelling center or (2) interspecific differences in larval behavior should render weak species more prone to offshore transport than others. If larval behavior effectively regulates larval transport, then crossshore transport should be similar among species along the coast and to previous years. We also sampled beyond the shelf break to determine how many species are observed far offshore and potentially transported to the open ocean.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study System

We conducted the study within the perennial upwelling center of Point Arena in northern California (Figure 1), which is the windiest region along the Pacific Coast of North America (Koracin et al., 2004; Dorman et al., 2005). Prevailing northwesterly winds last for weeks in the springsummer upwelling season, and near-surface waters (<50 m) flow equatorward and seaward (Hickey, 1998; Roughan et al., 2006). Shallow depths and coastline topography slow flow <10 km from shore (Lentz and Chapman, 1989; Largier et al., 1993; Kaplan et al., 2005; Kirincich et al., 2005; Nickols et al., 2012). This coastal boundary layer widens south of Bodega Bay where flows impinge on the upstream shores of Point Reyes (Robart, 2013) as equatorward flow is deflected offshore, separating from the apex of Point Reyes (Kaplan and Largier, 2006; Vander Woude et al., 2006). Upwelled water and plankton are entrained in an upwelling shadow in the lee of Point Reyes until winds weaken and alongshore flow reverses, transporting larvae poleward and onshore in less than a day (Wing et al., 2003; Roughan et al., 2006; Vander Woude et al., 2006; Morgan et al., 2011, 2012). This occurs about every 4 to 10 days (Send et al., 1987; Largier et al., 1993). Reversing flows result in little net alongshore transport (Largier et al., 1993; Kaplan et al., 2005).

Approach

We sampled stations across the shelf along transects off Bodega Head and in the upwelling center off Stewarts Point (Figure 1) toward the end of prolonged upwelling events when larvae are expected to be farther from shore, if simply advected by nearsurface currents. We targeted three distinct upwelling events to sample different larval pools. We planned cruises using marine weather forecasts and offshore conditions at National Data Buoy Center 46013 (38° 13′ 30″ N, 123° 19′ 00″ W; http://www.ndbc. noaa.gov; Figure 1). We considered upwelling conditions to be northwesterly wind >5 m/s and water $<10^{\circ}$ C or decreasing. We surveyed vertical distributions of larvae at six stations along two cross-shelf transects on consecutive days on 28 and 29 May, 24 and 25 June, and 14 and 15 July 2009. The Bodega Head transect extended farther from shore as the continental shelf is wider. Stations at Bodega Head were located 1, 6, 11, 32, 42, and 63 km from shore at \sim 20, 25, 80, 90, 100, and 120 m depth, respectively. Stations at Stewarts Point were located 1, 3, 10, 20, 30, and 49 km from shore at \sim 20, 25, 80, 90, 100 and 120 m depth, respectively.



FIGURE 1 | Map of the study area depicting locations of stations along cross-shelf transects off Bodega Head and Stewarts Point in northern California. Location of NDBC buoy 46013 (•) is also shown.

We obtained wind velocity data from NDBC Buoy 46013 and calculated alongshore wind stress by converting it to true north and rotating it to 320° at an air density of 1.3 kg m^{-3} and a drag coefficient of 1.4×10^{-3} to place cruises in the context of upwelling conditions. We obtained water temperature and salinity from a Sea-Bird MicroCAT and chlorophyll-a fluoresence from a WET Labs EcoFluorometer, both at 4 m below the surface on moorings placed on the 15 m isobaths off Bodega Head and Stewarts Point from mid-May through July (Figure 1). In addition, temperature 1 m deep and 1 m above the seafloor was recorded with Onset Tidbit thermistors. We measured current using an acoustic Doppler current profiler (ADCP, 1,200 kHz; Teledyne RD Instruments, Poway, California, USA), which were bottom-mounted at moorings off Bodega Head and Stewarts Point at 30 m depth (Figure 1). We also mapped surface currents hourly across the study area using high-frequency (HF) radar.

We conducted three pairs of cruises along the two transects near the end of upwelling events, observed as periods of equatorward wind stress, cold water and low chl-a at the moorings off Bodega Head and Stewarts Point (**Figure 2**). Sampling on 28–29 May occurred at the onset of relaxation following a short upwelling event, with rising water temperature and chl-a and poleward flow (**Figure 3**). Sampling on 24–25 June occurred at the end of the strongest prolonged upwelling with temperatures still very low, even with the onset of relaxation on 25 June. Sampling on 14–15 July occurred at the end of a more moderate but prolonged upwelling event with winds and cold temperatures showing that relaxation had not yet started.

We collected plankton in daylight using an electronically tripped Tucker Trawl (0.5 or 1 m² mouth) with four nets (335- μm mesh) and temperature and depth sensors to take one sample above the thermocline and two samples below it. We sampled the









surface of the water column using a neuston net $(0.5 \text{ m}^2 \text{ mouth}, 335-\mu\text{m} \text{ mesh})$. We profiled temperature and salinity with depth at the beginning and end of plankton tows using a conductivity, temperature and depth profiler (Sea-Bird 19-Plus).

We determined cross-shelf distributions for the 42 species of nearshore benthic crustaceans following our previous approach (Morgan et al., 2009b). Larval concentrations per m² standardized for the depth of the water column. We determined the cross-shelf and depth distributions of the 39 most abundant species over the six cruises with a nonparametric analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) and a hierarchical cluster analysis and ordination. After averaging depths at each station for the cruises, we determined that cross-shelf distributions of larvae were similar among dates (Bodega: ANOSIM R = 0.054, p = 0.035; Stewarts: ANOSIM R = 0.045, p = 0.049), so we averaged dates before conducting analyses on cross-shelf and depth distributions. We tested the resulting dendrogram for differences among groups with a similarity profile test (SIMPROF) and the percent contribution of each species and stage to significant clusters with (SIMPER) to classify cross-shelf and depth distributions for each combination of species and stage. Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (nMDS) revealed the separation of larval assemblages by distance from shore and depth. Contours of cross-shore and depth distributions of species by stage were plotted to evaluate whether depth regulation maintained different cross-shelf distributions. We combined species with similar depth distributions during development to simplify presentation and reported the mean depth center of mass (ZCM) and standard error for each species or group.

RESULTS

CTD profiles of temperature and chl-a revealed water column structure across the shelf along the two transects (Figure 4). On 28 and 29 May, a warm surface layer was observed, strongest nearshore and consistent with poleward flow-this layer was also characterized by high chl-a concentrations. On June 25 and 24 following a strong, prolonged upwelling event, cold waters shoaled nearshore with weak stratification off Stewarts Point on 24 June, but evidence of poleward flow and an incipient warm surface layer inshore occurred off Bodega Head on 25 June. Chl-a was generally low across the shelf, representative of newly upwelled waters, although a subsurface chlorophyll maximum was observed well offshore of Stewarts Point, beneath a warmer layer of oceanic water. Again on 14 July, active upwelling conditions were observed off Stewarts Point, with cold water shoaling to the surface nearshore and very low chla concentrations. At Bodega Head, farther from the upwelling center and a day later, some nearshore stratification and significant chl-a concentration was observed as well as weak surface currents (Figure 3).

Surface currents measured by HF radar showed that during the first pair of cruises on 28–29 May flow was poleward nearshore at Bodega Head and Stewarts Point; while offshore flow was observed at Point Arena, onshore flow of surface waters



was observed south of Bodega Head (**Figure 3**). On June 24–25, nearshore flow was poleward from Bodega Head to Stewarts Point and equatorward from Point Arena to Stewarts Point where these currents converged, deflecting alongshore flow offshore. On July 14–15, nearshore flows were very weak in the vicinity of Bodega Head, but equatorward and offshore flow was well developed from Point Arena to south of Stewarts Point.

The progressive vector diagrams showed net poleward transport near-bottom and near-surface at both nearshore sites (**Figure 5**). Transport was shoreward near-surface and seaward near-bottom off Bodega Head, whereas it was seaward near-surface and near-zero near-bottom off Stewarts Point. At both sites, near-surface transport exhibited greatest excursions during upwelling and relaxation events, indicating that larvae remaining deep in the water column would travel the shortest distance.

Larvae of 42 species of benthic crustaceans generally did not occur farther offshore at the upwelling center at Stewarts Point

than Bodega Head (Figure 6). Larvae largely occurred; 198.7989 < 11 km from shore at both sites, and early larval stages were abundant inshore where larvae are released. All stages of 22 species occurred on the inner shelf <11 km from shore off Bodega Head (99.8%) with the large majority of them occurring just 1 km from shore and most of the rest of them occurring 6 km from shore (Figure 6), revealing larval retention. Similarly off Stewarts Point, all stages of these species occurred on the inner shelf <10 km from shore (98.5%; Figure 6) with most of the rest of them occurring 3 km from shore. All stages of four more species occurred <11 km from shore off Bodega Head (96.1%) with the large majority of them occurring 1 km from shore and most of the rest of them occurring 6 km from shore while late stages occurred <32 km from shore (Figure 6). Similarly off Stewarts Point, all stages of these species occurred <10 km from shore (95.4%) with the large majority of them occurring just 1 km from shore and most of the rest of them occurring 3 km from shore while late



stages occurred <30 km from shore (**Figure 6**). Early stages of 16 more species occurred <11 km from shore (81.8%) and late stages occurred far offshore in much lower abundance off Bodega Head (18.2 %, **Figure 6**). Similarly off Stewarts Point, early stages of these species occurred <10 km from shore (70.6%) and late stages occurred far offshore in low abundance (**Figure 6**). Thus, along both transects, larvae of most species were retained on the inner shelf while late stages other species ranged to the midshelf or offshore.

The 39 most abundant species differed primarily across stations (Bodega Head: ANOSIM R = 0.439, p = 0.001; Stewarts Point: ANOSIM R = 0.373, p = 0.002) but also among depths (Bodega Head: ANOSIM R = 0.107, p = 0.096; Stewarts Point: ANOSIM R = 0.145, p = 0.055), indicating that depth regulation contributed to interspecific differences in cross-shelf transport at both sites. Cluster analysis and nMDS showed pronounced spatial structure in larval assemblages along both transects grouping taxa into inner, mid and offshore categories for both transects with an outlier (neuston at Station 3) for the offshore group at Stewarts Point (**Figure 7**).

A nearshore cluster of all stages of 21 species largely occurred <6 km from shore (**Figures 7**, **8**), five species of porcelain crabs (*Petrolisthes cinctipes, Pet. eriomerus, Pet. manimaculus, Pachycheles rudis, Pac. pubescens*), a mud shrimp (*Neotrypaea californiensis*), five species of barnacles (*Balanus crenatus B. glandula, Semibalanus cariosus, Chthamalus dalli/fissus*), three hermit crabs (*Pagurus samuelis, P. hirsutiusculus, P. granosimanus*) and seven pea crabs (*Pinnixa faba, P. tubicola, Pinnotheres pugettensis, Scleroplax granulata, Fabia subquadrata*, two unidentified species). However, postlarvae of the three barnacles, three hermit crabs and seven pinnotherids occurred in very low concentrations to ~18 km from shore

during the cruise off Bodega Head on 28 May (Figure 8). Pinnotherid postlarvae occurred in low concentrations <30 km off Bodega Head and <20 km off Stewarts Point, because one of the species (F. subquadrata) disperses midshelf (Morgan et al., 2009c). Off Bodega Head, all stages of these species composed 12.9% of all larvae along the transect contributing 11.26% of the similarity to the cluster, and off Stewarts Point, all stages of these species composed 2.4% of all larvae collected along the transect and contributed 3.11% of the similarity to the cluster (Figure 7). Larvae of these species occurred below the shallow Ekman layer (Figure 8). Porcelain crabs undertook a ROVM (Figure 8) with similar ZCMs of larvae at the shallow stations inshore off Bodega Head (11.9 \pm 3.0 m) and Stewarts Point (9.7 \pm 4.6 m) and postlarvae ascending to the neuston (0.5 m) at both sites. In contrast, pinnotherid crabs undertook an OVM (Figure 8) with similar ZCMs of larvae inshore off Bodega Head $(17.2 \pm 3.2 \text{ m})$ and Stewarts Point $(16.5 \pm 3.5 \text{ m})$ and postlarvae descending much deeper in the water column (Bodega 49.0 m; Stewarts 37.4 \pm 2.3 m). The rest of these species mostly occurred below the Ekman layer throughout development while perhaps undertaking an OVM with postlarvae occurring deeper than larvae on one or more cruises along both transects (Figure 8). Neotrypaea californiensis larvae occurred higher in the water column (14.5 \pm 5.7 m) than postlarvae (24.0 \pm 0.7 m) off Stewarts Point, though not off Bodega Head where both larvae $(32.4 \pm 15.0 \text{ m})$ and postlarvae $(26.7 \pm 8.9 \text{ m})$ occurred deeper than off Stewarts Point. Late-stage barnacle larvae were shallower $(5.1 \pm 2.3 \text{ m})$ than postlarvae $(12.9 \pm 1.0 \text{ m})$ off Bodega Head, though postlarvae were deeper on only one cruise off Stewarts Point. Similarly, hermit crab larvae were shallower (17.7 \pm 0.6 m) than postlarvae off Bodega Head (46.8 \pm 24.4 m), though postlarvae were deeper on only one cruise off Stewarts Point



FIGURE 6 Densities (mean/m² + 1 SE) of larval stages of 42 species of benthic crustaceans relative to distance from shore for all depths and cruises combined at Bodega Head and Stewarts Point on 28–29 May, 24–25 June, and 14–15 July. Twenty-two species largely remained on the inner shelf off Bodega Head (<11 km from shore) and Stewarts Point (<10 km from shore) throughout development. Four species primarily occurred on the inner shelf and ranged across the midshelf late in development off Bodega Head (<32 km from shore) and Stewarts Point (<30 km from shore). Sixteen species primarily occurred on the inner shelf and ranged offshore late in development off Bodega Head (>32 km) and Stewarts Point (>30 km). Note scale changes.

A midshelf cluster of all stages of four species largely occurred <6 km from shore with late stages occurring <32 km at both sites, including the xanthid crab *Lophopanopeus bellus*, two grapsid crabs (*Hemigrapsus oregonensis*, *H. nudus*) and *Romaleon* (*Cancer*) antennarius (**Figures 7**, **9**). Off Bodega Head, all stages of these species composed 85.1% of all larvae along the transect contributing 38.10% of the similarity to the cluster. Off Stewarts Point, all stages of these species composed 93.7% of all larvae collected along the transect and contributed 31.16% of the similarity to the cluster (**Figure 7**). The vertical distributions of *L. bellus* and the grapsid crabs were similar throughout development (**Figure 9**). ZCMs of *L. bellus* off Bodega Head were 14.0 \pm 2.4 m for early larvae and 16.0 m for postlarvae

(late stages were not collected), and ZCMs off Stewarts Point were 23.8 \pm 5.5 m for early larvae, 27.9 m for late larvae and for 27.9 m postlarvae. Off Bodega Head, ZCMs of grapsid larvae were 13.1 \pm 3.1 m for early stages, 14.6 \pm 2.6 m for late stages and 12.6 m for postlarvae, and off Stewarts Point, ZCMs were 11.1 \pm 1.0 m for early stages, 10.8 \pm 1.8 m for late stages and postlarvae were not collected (**Figure 9**). Vertical distributions also were similar throughout development for *R. antennarius* off Bodega Head (early 23.3 \pm 10.9 m, late 19.0 \pm 3.0 m, postlarvae 17.8 \pm 0.8 m), but there was evidence of a possible OVM off Stewarts Point with larvae occurring shallower (early 14.3 \pm 5.5 m, late 15.2 \pm 6.8 m) than postlarvae on two cruises (31.8 \pm 6.8 m).



Bottom panels: Nonmetric multidimensional scaling plots (2D stress: 0.08 for Bodega Head and 0.09 for Stewarts Point) from the 48 samples with superimposed significant clusters at similarity levels of 25% (solid lines) and 40% (dashed lines) off Bodega Head and Stewarts Point.

An offshore cluster composed of 14 species with early larval stages largely occurring <11 km from shore and late stages occurring >30 km from shore (Figures 7, 10). Off Bodega Head, all stages of these species composed 1.9% of all larvae collected along the transect and contributed 49.36% of the similarity to the cluster, and off Stewarts Point, all stages of these species composed 3.4% of all larvae along the transect contributing 65.73% of the similarity to the cluster (Figure 7). Larvae of seven majiids (Pugettia richii, P. producta, P. gracilis, Scyra acutifrons, Mimulus foliatus, Oregonia gracilis, unidentified species) primarily completed development <11 km from shore, whereas larvae of three species of cancrid crabs [Metacarcinus (Cancer) magister, Cancer productus, Glebocarcinus (Cancer) oregonensis], two barnacles (Balanus nubilus, Pollicipes polymerus), Emerita analoga and an unidentified porcellanid occurred in low concentrations beyond 11 km (Figures 7, 10). Larvae of these species commonly occurred in the Ekman laver midshelf and offshore (Figure 10). Cancrid postlarvae even were prevalent in the neuston at Station 3 off Stewarts Point (Figure 10), being reflected as an outlier for the offshore group off Stewarts Point in the dendrogram (Figure 7). The barnacles appeared to undertake an OVM (Figure 10); ZCMs were shallower for late-stage barnacle larvae

(Bodega 15.3 \pm 0.1 m; Stewarts 15.6 \pm 2.8 m) than postlarvae (Bodega 30.5 \pm 3.6 m; Stewarts 27.2 \pm 4.5 m). Majiids may have undertaken an OVM (Figure 10). Off Bodega Head, ZCMs of majiid larvae were shallower (early 11.7 \pm 1.6 m, late 11.1 \pm 1.1) than postlarvae (21.9 \pm 15.8 m), and off Stewarts Point, early-stage larvae also were shallower (15.8 \pm 5.3 m) than late-stage larvae (20.6 \pm 13.4) and postlarvae (22.1 \pm 2.3 m). Cancrids may have undertaken a ROVM (Figure 10). Cancrid larvae off Bodega Head were deeper (early $12.0 \pm 0.4 \text{ m}$) than postlarvae (0.5 m), and this also was the case off Stewarts Point (early 22.2 \pm 10.9 m, late 13.8 \pm 1.0 m), except during one cruise when postlarvae occurred in low concentrations \sim 45 m deep resulting in a ZCM of 20.2 \pm 13.1 m. Emerita analoga larvae commonly occurred in the surface layer across the shelf (Figure 10) with ZCMs off Bodega Head of 6.7 \pm 2.2 m for early larvae and 12.5 m for late larvae and ZCMs off Stewarts Point of 15.0 m for late larvae. Unidentified porcellanid larvae also occurred in the surface layer across the shelf off Stewarts Point with ZCMs of 0.5 m for early larvae and 10.0 m for late larvae, but early stages were deep in the water column during the one cruise that they were collected off Bodega Head with a ZCM of 59.4 m (Figure 10). We did not detect ontogenetic changes in vertical distributions of E. analoga



FIGURE 8 | Inner-shelf larval development of 21 species in relation to distance from shore and depth off Bodega Head and Stewarts Point for larvae that largely occurred <6 km. First row of panels for five species of porcelain crabs (*Petrolisthes cinctipes, Pet. eriomerus, Pet. manimaculus, Pachycheles rudis, Pac. pubescens*); second row of panels for a mud shrimp (*Neotrypaea californiensis*); third row of panels for five species of barnacles (*Balanus crenatus B. glandula, Semibalanus cariosus, Chthamalus dalli/fissus*); fourth row of panels for three hermit crabs (*Pagurus samuelis, P. hirsutiusculus, P. granosimanus*); and fifth row of panels for seven (*Continued*)

FIGURE 8 | pea crabs (*Pinnixa faba, P. tubicola, Pinnotheres pugettensis, Scleroplax granulata, Fabia subquadrata*, two unidentified species). The depth center of mass (ZCM; mean with SE in parentheses) is given at the bottom of each panel. ZCM with no variation shown in parentheses indicates species were collected during a single cruise, and separate groups of larvae within panels were collected during different cruises. Missing panel indicates that small larvae passed through nets.



or the unidentified porcellanid because we did not collect postlarvae.

DISCUSSION

We have shown that larvae of nearshore benthic crustaceans are retained nearshore or reliably migrate different distances from shore during the season of peak upwelling and in the core of an upwelling center within the region of the most persistent, strongest upwelling along the Pacific Coast of North America. In this work and previous studies, we have repeatedly sampled larval assemblages during many cruises over multiple locations and years (Morgan et al., 2009b,c; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Hameed et al., 2018). In this work, we focused on the time and place of maximum upwelling, showing that larvae were not transported farther offshore at this region of strong, persistent upwelling, contrary to widespread expectations. During the present study, we sampled larvae of 42 nearshore benthic crustaceans and 99; 198.7989% of all larvae were collected over the inner shelf, <11 km from shore along both transects. Larvae were most concentrated within a few kilometers of the shoreline, in the coastal boundary layer where offshore Ekman transport and alongshore currents are weak (Lentz and Chapman, 1989; Largier et al., 1993; Kaplan et al., 2005; Kirincich et al., 2005; Roughan et al., 2006; Morgan et al., 2009c; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Nickols et al., 2012, 2013; Hameed et al., 2018). Not only was this characteristic coastal-boundary-layer circulation (Pettigrew and Murray, 1986; Shanks, 1995a; Largier, 2002, 2003) persistent, but it is expected to contribute to nearshore larval retention of diverse benthic crustaceans in other upwelling regions worldwide (Morgan, 2014).

All larval stages of 21 species occurred in high concentrations primarily in the coastal boundary layer <6 km offshore, including the five species of porcelain crabs, mud shrimp, five species of barnacles, three hermit crabs and seven pea crabs. The three species of barnacles, three species of hermit crabs and six of the seven species of pinnotherids in this nearshore group also completed development in high concentrations <6 km from



shore off Bodega Head in our previous studies (Morgan et al., 2009b,c; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Nickols et al., 2013; Hameed et al., 2018). In our present study, these barnacles and hermit crabs completed development close to shore in five of the six cruises, but in the 28 May cruise off Bodega Head their postlarvae were found in very low concentrations up to \sim 18 km from shore. This survey was conducted during a relaxation event when a poleward flow from the Gulf of Farallones can transport plankton

offshore north of Point Reyes, unlike during prevailing upwelling conditions (Kaplan and Largier, 2006; Morgan et al., 2012). In addition, one of the seven pinnotherids (*F. subquadrata*) developed farther from shore than the other six species in our previous study off Bodega Head, but we did not distinguish it from the other pinnotherids during the present study.

Of the species that did not complete their larval life near shore, many occurred in high concentrations ${<}11\,\rm{km}$ early
in development and in lower concentrations farther from shore late in development. The four species that occurred midshelf (*L. bellus, Hemigrapsus* spp., *R. antennarius*) or the 14 species that occurred offshore (seven majiids, three cancrids, two barnacles, mole crab, unidentified porcellanid) late in development had similar distributions in our previous studies (Morgan et al., 2009b,c; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Nickols et al., 2013; Hameed et al., 2018). Postlarvae of all of these species spanned the continental shelf while recruiting onshore. Crustacean larvae had similar cross-shelf distributions off Oregon (Lough, 1974; Fisher et al., 2014), indicating that these interspecific differences are maintained in time and space.

Distinctive vertical distributions of larval stages were related to horizontal distributions likely contributing to maintaining the three cross-shelf patterns. Larvae in the nearshore group occurred deep in a shallow water column early in development and most species either descended (N. californiensis, B. crenatus, B. glandula, Pagurus spp., pinnotherids) or ascended (porcellanids) late in development apparently undertaking an OVM or ROVM, respectively. Similar ontogenetic changes in vertical distributions were evident in our previous study off Bodega Head, and in addition, Chthamalus spp. underwent a ROVM (Morgan et al., 2009c). The subsurface vertical distributions of all these larvae and postlarvae undertaking an OVM (in this and prior studies) placed them in onshore and weak alongshore flow (Largier et al., 1993; Dever et al., 2006; Roughan et al., 2006; Nickols et al., 2012), likely facilitating retention nearshore (Peterson, 1998; Batchelder et al., 2002; Papastephanou et al., 2006; Morgan et al., 2009c; Morgan and Fisher, 2010; Nickols et al., 2013; Hameed et al., 2018). Barnacle and pinnotherid larvae typically stay deep, whereas N. californiensis and Pagurus spp. larvae rise near the surface at night (Morgan and Fisher, 2010) after winds subside and are often onshore reducing transport (Peterson et al., 1979; Hobbs et al., 1991; Peterson, 1998; Batchelder et al., 2002; Poulin et al., 2002; Marta-Almeida et al., 2006; dos Santos et al., 2008; Bonicelli et al., 2016). By undertaking a ROVM, postlarvae of the porcellanids and Chthamalus spp. could be transported shoreward by winds and internal tides in the neuston (Pineda, 1994, 1999; Shanks, 1995a), which occur in our region during relaxation periods in a stratified water column (Rosenfeld, 1990).

Early stages of the rest of the species were transported farther from shore by spending more time in surface currents (Morgan et al., 2009c; Morgan and Fisher, 2010), as do copepods (Peterson et al., 1979; Peterson, 1998; Batchelder et al., 2002; Papastephanou et al., 2006). Ten species (R. antennarius, two barnacles, seven majiids), generally descended into deeper onshore flow late in development during our present or previous study (Morgan et al., 2009c). Onshore transport of late stages limits crossshelf displacement and returns postlarvae to shore (Peterson et al., 1979; Grantham, 1997; Peterson, 1998; Papastephanou et al., 2006; Morgan et al., 2009c). The three species of cancrids transported offshore returned to shore as postlarvae by ascending to the neuston. Ontogenetic vertical migrations either were not apparent (L. bellus) or indeterminate without all larval stages being collected (E. analoga, unidentified porcellanid) in this or our previous study (Morgan et al., 2009c). Even without ontogenetic changes in vertical distributions, crabs in this region generally rise near the surface at night (Morgan and Fisher, 2010) facilitating onshore transport by internal tides and winds (Jamieson and Phillips, 1988; Shenker, 1988; Hobbs et al., 1991; Shanks, 1995b; Rasmuson and Shanks, 2013).

As we discussed previously (Morgan et al., 2009c; Fisher et al., 2014; Morgan, 2014), passive advection and eddy diffusion alone cannot explain the differences in cross-shelf distributions among so many species, because (1) these larvae are released inshore and encounter the same physical processes, (2) distances larvae migrate from shore are not related to larval durations, (3) larval densities were adjusted to account for increasing depth across the shelf to ensure that high larval concentrations after hatching were not simply reduced by dilution due to vertical mixing as the water column deepened offshore and (4) late stages were as abundant or increased midshelf and offshore instead of decreasing. Thus, behavior is common across larval taxa and many species exhibit behaviors that reduce offshore transport in upwelling regions elsewhere on the Pacific Coast, including in the weaker upwelling off Oregon (Peterson et al., 1979; Shanks and Shearman, 2009; Fisher et al., 2014) and central through southern California (Grantham, 1997; Tapia and Pineda, 2007), as well as worldwide, including Chile (Poulin et al., 2002; Bonicelli et al., 2016) and the Iberian Peninsula (Marta-Almeida et al., 2006; dos Santos et al., 2008; Bartilotti et al., 2014).

If larvae remain close to shore, why are populations recruitment limited in persistent, strong upwelling regions? Presumably, there is a constraint between the larval availability in the plankton over the inner shelf and the settlement of benthic larvae in shoreline habitats. Recent work has shown that the ability of postlarvae to enter the surf zone largely depends on temporal and spatial variation in surfzone hydrodynamics, which is determined by breaking waves interacting with alongshore changes in coastal morphology, yielding a spectrum of surf zones from dissipative to reflective (Wright and Short, 1984). Broad surf zones along mildly sloping shorelines usually have far more larvae and other plankton and much greater settlement onshore (Shanks et al., 2010, 2017, 2018, in press; Morgan et al., 2016, 2017, 2018). These dissipative surfzones have bathymetric rip currents, which concentrate plankton by recirculation in a series of rip currents alongshore, unlike narrow reflective surf zones at steep shores (Shanks et al., 2010, 2017, 2018, in press; Morgan et al., 2016, 2017, 2018). Individual based biophysical models revealed that Stokes drift and benthic boundary layer streaming coupled with downward swimming in response to turbulence from waves facilitated onshore larval delivery beaches (Fujimura et al., 2013, 2014, 2017, 2018). The striking differences in surfzone oceanography at dissipative and reflective shores predictably affect larval recruitment and productivity of inshore communities (Morgan et al., 2016, 2017, 2018; Shanks et al., 2017, in press) and appear to explain recruitment limitation at many sites in California (Morgan et al., 2016, 2017; Shanks et al., 2017; Shanks and Morgan, 2018). Together with the above results on larval distributions in upwelling areas, this suggests a shift in paradigms from the past idea that upwelling necessarily limits recruitment to new ideas that recruitment limitation and population connectivity may be better explained by alongshore differences in surfzone circulation (Shanks et al., 2017; Shanks and Morgan, 2018; Morgan, in press).

Larval retention evidently occurs all along coasts in upwelling regions, rather than primarily occurring in bays and eddies in the lee of headlands. This implies that alongshore transport and the scale of connectivity in benthic metapopulations in upwelling areas is less than previously suggested. Larval transport would be reduced even further if postlarvae effectively navigate onshore in upwelling regimes. Elsewhere, postlarvae can navigate onshore to suitable settlement sites using hierarchies of cues that are effective over different spatial scales, including celestial bodies, polarized light, magnetic and electric fields, waves and tides, and acoustic, chemical and visual cues (Kingsford et al., 2002; Montgomery et al., 2006; Arvedlund and Kavanagh, 2009; Morgan, in press). Adding onshore navigation into individual based biophysical models in upwelling regions (Pfeiffer-Herbert et al., 2007; Carr et al., 2008; Petersen et al., 2010; Domingues et al., 2012; Drake et al., 2013; Nolasco et al., 2013) should reduce the scale of population connectivity even further, but onshore navigation remains to be documented for species in upwelling regimes (Morgan, in press). The ultimate goal is to determine realized population connectivity, reconciling evidence from studies of circulation, plankton, genetics and microchemistry. Next steps should also include incorporating documented reproductive outputs of a metapopulation (Hameed et al., 2016), larval behaviors documented here and previously (Morgan et al., 2009b; Morgan and Fisher, 2010) and larval mortality rates (White et al., 2014) into the numerical circulation model (Regional Ocean Modeling System; Drake et al., 2013). This would provide one of the first reliable estimates of realized population connectivity (Burgess et al., 2014). Clearly, a fresh look at the underlying processes responsible for spatial and temporal patterns of recruitment

REFERENCES

- Arvedlund, M., and Kavanagh, K. (2009). "The senses and environmental cues used by marine larvae of fish and decapod crustaceans to find tropical coastal ecosystems," in *Connectivity Among Tropical Coastal Ecosystems, Ecological Part 2*, ed I. N. Kerken (Frederiksberg: Springer Science and Business Media), 135–184.
- Barth, J. A., Pierce, S. D., and Smith, R. L. (2000). A separating coastal upwelling jet at Cape Blanco, Oregon and its connection to the California Current System. Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 47, 783–810. doi: 10.1016/S0967-0645(99)00127-7
- Bartilotti, C., dos Santos, A., Castro, M., Peliz, Á., and Santos, A. M. P. (2014). Decapod larval retention within distributional bands in a coastal upwelling ecosystem: a random episode or the rule? *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 507, 233–247. doi: 10.3354/meps10817
- Batchelder, H. P., Edwards, C. A., and Powell, T. M. (2002). Individual-based models of copepod populations in coastal upwelling regions: implications of physiologically and environmentally influenced diel vertical migration on demographic success and nearshore retention. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 53, 307–333. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6611(02)00035-6
- Bonicelli, J., Tyburczy, J., Tapia, F. J., Finke, G. R., Parragué, M., Dudas, S., et al. (2016). Diel vertical migration and cross-shore distribution of barnacle and bivalve larvae in the central Chile inner-shelf. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 35, 35–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2016.08.013

and population connectivity for diverse taxa and locations across upwelling coasts is needed to better understand the regulation of marine populations and communities (Shanks et al., 2017; Morgan et al., 2018; Shanks and Morgan, 2018).

In conclusion, larval retention is likely commonplace all along upwelling coasts with larvae recruiting closer to home and more abundantly than has been widely appreciated. Here, we demonstrated that this is even true at locations and times when upwelling is strongest, such as in the Point Arena upwelling center. This deeply affects the ecology, evolution and management of species in upwelling regimes. More larval retention should increase coupling between stock and recruitment, local adaptation and local benefits of marine protected areas as well as vulnerability of marine protected areas to overfishing and other disturbances (Strathmann et al., 2002; Sanford and Kelly, 2011; Burgess et al., 2014, 2016).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SGM: Conceived of the research; SGM and JL: Were awarded funding to conduct the study; SHM, SGM, and MR: Conducted the study; SHM and MR: Processed, analyzed and graphed the data with SGM; SGM: Wrote the ms with input by all.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the crew of the R/V Mussel Point, and M. Sheridan, S. Hameed, W. White, D. Dann, and J. Herum for assisting with sample collection. We also thank M. Losekoot for the HF Radar plots. This research was funded by California Sea Grant (R/FISH-2018) and is a contribution of the Bodega Marine Laboratory.

- Burgess, S. C., Baskett, M. L., Grosberg, R. K., Morgan, S. G., and Strathmann, R. R. (2016). When is dispersal for dispersal? Unifying marine and terrestrial perspectives. *Biol. Rev.* 91, 867–882. doi: 10.1111/brv. 12198
- Burgess, S. C., Nickols, K. J., Griesemer, C. D., Barnett, L. A. K., Dedrick, A. G., Satterthwaite, E., et al. (2014). Beyond larval connectivity: how empirical methods can quantify population persistence to improve marine protected area design. *Ecol. Appl.* 24, 257–270. doi: 10.1890/13-0710.1
- Carr, S. D., Capet, X. J., McWilliams, J. C., Pennington, J. T., and Chavez, F. P. (2008). The influence of diel vertical migration on zooplankton transport and recruitment in an upwelling region: estimates from a coupled behavioral-physical model. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 17, 1–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2419.2007.00447.x
- Dever, E. P., Dorman, C. E., and Largier, J. L. (2006). Surface boundary layer variability off northern California, U. S. A., during upwelling. *Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 53, 2887–2905. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.09.001
- Domingues, C. P., Nolasco, R., Dubert, J., and Queiroga, H. (2012). Model-derived dispersal pathways from multiple source populations explain variability of invertebrate larval supply. *PLoS ONE* 7:e35794. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035794
- Dorman, C. E., Dever, E. P., and Largier, J. L. (2005). Buoy measured wind, wind stress and curl of the wind stress over the shelf off Bodega Bay, California. *Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 53, 2850–2864. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.07.006

- dos Santos, A., Santos, M. P., Conway, D. V. P., Bartilotti, C., Lourenco, P., and Queiroga, H. (2008). Diel vertical migration of decapod larvae in the Portuguese coastal upwelling ecosystem: implications for offshore transport. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 359, 171–183. doi: 10.3354/meps07341
- Drake, P. T., Edwards, C. A., Morgan, S. G., and Dever, E. P. (2013). Influence of behavior on larval dispersal and population connectivity in a realistic simulation of the California current system. J. Mar. Res. 34, 317–350. doi: 10.1357/002224013808877099
- Epifanio, C. E., and Cohen, J. H. (2016). Behavioral adaptations in larvae of brachyuran crabs: a review. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 482, 85–105. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2016.05.006
- Epifanio, C. E., and Garvine, R. W. (2001). Larval transport on the Atlantic continental shelf of North America: a review. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 52, 51–77. doi: 10.1006/ecss.2000.0727
- Fisher, J. L., Peterson, W. T., and Morgan, S. G. (2014). Does latitudinal variation in the intensity and persistence of upwelling regulate larval advection and supply? *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 503, 123–137. doi: 10.3354/meps 10732
- Fujimura, A., Reniers, A., J. H. M., Paris, C. B., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., and Morgan, S. G. (2014). Numerical simulations of larval transport into a rip-channeled surf zone. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 59, 1434–1447. doi: 10.4319/lo.2014.59.4.1434
- Fujimura, A. G., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Paris, C. B., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., and Morgan, S. G. (2017). Numerical simulations of onshore transport of larvae and detritus to a steep pocket beach. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 582, 33–43. doi: 10.3354/meps12331
- Fujimura, A. G., Reniers, A. J., Paris, C. B., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., and Morgan, S. G. (2018). Mechanisms of Cross-Shore Transport and Spatial Variability of Phytoplankton on a Rip-Channeled *Beach. Front. Mar. Sci.* 5:183. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00183
- Fujimura, A., Reniers, A., Paris, C., Shanks, A., MacMahan, J., and Morgan, S. (2013). Slope-dependent biophysical modeling of surf zone larval transport. *Coast. Dynam.* 2013, 661–670.
- Genin, A., Jaffe, J. S., Reef, R., Richter, C., and Franks, P. J. S. (2005). Swimming against the flow: a mechanism of zooplankton aggregation. *Science* 308, 860–862. doi: 10.1126/science.1107834
- Graham, W. M., and Largier, J. L. (1997). Upwelling shadows as nearshore retention sites: the example of northern Monterey Bay. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 17, 509–532. doi: 10.1016/S0278-4343(96)00045-3
- Grantham, B. A. (1997). Coastal Upwelling, Larval Recruitment, and the Dynamics of Upper Intertidal 9 Barnacle Communities. Dissertation, Stanford University (Palo Alto, CA).
- Halle, C. M., and Largier, J. L. (2011). Surface circulation downstream of the Point Arena upwelling center. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 31, 1260–1272. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2011.04.007
- Hameed, S. O., Elliott, M. L., Morgan, S. G., and Jahncke, J. (2018). Interannual variation and spatial distribution of decapod larvae in a region of persistent coastal upwelling. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 587, 55–71. doi: 10.3354/meps 12408
- Hameed, S. O., White, J. W., Miller, S. H., Nickols, K. J., and Morgan, S. G. (2016). Inverse approach to estimating larval dispersal reveals limited population connectivity along 700 km of wave-swept open coast. *Proc. R. Soc B* 283:20160370. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2016.0370
- Hickey, B. (1998). "Coastal oceanography of Western North America from the tip of Baja California to Vancouver Island," in *The Sea: Ideas and Observations on Progress in the Study of the Seas*, eds A. Robinson and K. H. Brink (New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons), 10339–10368.
- Hobbs, R. C., Botsford, L. W., and Thomas, A. (1991). Influence of hydrographic conditions and wind forcing to the distribution and abundance of dungeness crab, *Cancer magister*, larvae. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 49, 1379–1388. doi: 10.1139/f92-153
- Jamieson, G. S., and Phillips, A. C. (1988). Occurrence of *Cancer* crab (*C. magister* and *C. oregonensis*) megalopae off the west coast of Vancouver Island, British Columbia. *Fish. Bull.* 86, 525–542.
- Kaplan, D. M., and Largier, J. L. (2006). HF-radar-derived origin and destination of surface waters off Bodega Bay, California. *Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 53, 2906–2930. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.07.012

- Kaplan, D. M., Largier, J. L., and Botsford, L. W. (2005). HF radar observations of surface circulation off Bodega Bay northern California, U. S. A. J. Geophys. Res. 110:C10020. doi: 10.1029/2005JC002959
- Kingsford, M. J., Leis, J. M., Shanks, A. L., Lindeman, K. C., Morgan, S. G., and Pineda, J. (2002). Sensory environments, larval abilities and local selfrecruitment. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 70, 309–340.
- Kirincich, A. R., Barth, J. A., Grantham, B. A., Menge, B. A., and Lubchenco, J. (2005). Wind-driven inner-shelf circulation off central Oregon during summer. J. Geophys. Res. 110:C10SC03. doi: 10.1029/2004JC002611
- Koracin, D., Dorman, C. E., and Dever, E. P. (2004). Coastal perturbations of marine-layer winds, wind stress, and wind stress curl along California and Baja California in June 1999. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 34, 1152–1173. doi: 10.1175/1520-0485(2004)034&dt;1152:CPOMWW>2.0.CO;2
- Largier, J. L. (2002). "Linking oceanography and nearshore ecology: perspectives and challenges," in *The Oceanography and Ecology of the Nearshore and Bays in Chile*, eds J. C. Castilla and J. L. Largier (Santiago: Ediciones Universidad Catolica de Chile), 207–239.
- Largier, J. L. (2003). Considerations in estimating larval dispersal distances from oceanographic data. *Ecol. Appl.* 13, S71–S89. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(2003)013[0071:CIELDD]2.0.CO;2
- Largier, J. L., Magnell, B. A., and Winant, C. D. (1993). Subtidal circulation over the northern California shelf. J. Geophys. Res. 98, 18147–18179. doi: 10.1029/93JC01074
- Lentz, S. J., and Chapman, D. C. (1989). Seasonal differences in the current and temperature variability over the Northern California Shelf during the Coastal Ocean Dynamics Experiment. J. Geophys. Res. 94, 12571–12592. doi: 10.1029/JC094iC09p12571
- Lough, R. (1974). Dynamics of Crab Larvae (Anomura, Brachyura) off the Central Oregon Coast, 1969-1971. Dissertation, Oregon State University (Corvallis, OR).
- Mace, A. J., and Morgan, S. G. (2006a). Larval accumulation in the lee of a small headland: Implications the design of marine reserves. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 318, 19–29. doi: 10.3354/meps318019
- Mace, A. J., and Morgan, S. G. (2006b). Biological and physical coupling in the lee of a small headland: contrasting larval transport mechanisms in an upwelling region. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 324, 185–196. doi: 10.3354/meps324185
- Marta-Almeida, M., Dubert, J., Peliz, A., and Queiroga, H. (2006). Influence of vertical migration pattern on retention of crab larvae in a seasonal upwelling system. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 307, 1–19. doi: 10.3354/meps307001
- Menge, B. A., and Menge, D. N. L. (2013). Dynamics of coastal meta-ecosystems: the intermittent upwelling hypotehsis and a test in rocky intertidal regions. *Ecol. Monogr.* 83, 283–310. doi: 10.1890/12-1706.1
- Miller, S. H., and Morgan, S. G. (2013). Interspecific differences in depth preference regulate larval transport in an upwelling regime. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 476, 301–306. doi: 10.3354/meps10150
- Montgomery, J. C., Jeffs, A., Simpson, S. D., Meekan, M., and Tindle, C. (2006). Sound as an orientation cue for the pelagic larvae of reef fishes and decapod crustaceans. Adv. Mar. Biol. 51, 143–196. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(06)51003-X
- Morgan, S. G. (2006). "Larval migration between the Hudson River estuary and New York bight," in *The Hudson River Estuary*, eds J. S. Levinton and J. R. Waldman (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 157–170.
- Morgan, S. G. (2014). Behaviorally mediated larval transport in upwelling systems. Adv. Oceanogr. 2014:364214. doi: 10.1155/2014/364214
- Morgan, S. G. (in press). "Dispersal," in *Developmental Biology and Larval Ecology, The Natural History of the Crustacea*, Vol. VII, eds K. Anger, S. Harzsch, and M. Thiel (New York, NY: Academic Press).
- Morgan, S. G., and Fisher, J. L. (2010). Larval behavior regulates nearshore retention and offshore migration in an upwelling shadow and along the open coast. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 404, 109–126. doi: 10.3354/meps08476
- Morgan, S. G., Fisher, J. L., and Largier, J. L. (2011). Laval retention, entrainment and accumulation in the lee of a small headland: recruitment hotspots along windy coasts. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 56, 161–178. doi: 10.4319/lo.2011.56.1.0161
- Morgan, S. G., Fisher, J. L., and Mace, A. J. (2009a). Larval recruitment in a region of strong, persistent upwelling and recruitment limitation. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 394, 79–99. doi: 10.3354/meps08216
- Morgan, S. G., Fisher, J. L., Mace, A. J., Akins, L., Slaughter, A. M., and Bollens, S. M. (2009b). Cross-shelf distributions and recruitment of crab

postlarvae in a region of strong upwelling. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 380, 173–185. doi: 10.3354/meps07913

- Morgan, S. G., Fisher, J. L., McAfee, S. T., Largier, J. L., and Halle, C. M. (2012). Limited recruitment during relaxation events: larval advection and behavior in an upwelling system. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 57, 457–470. doi: 10.4319/lo.2012.57.2.0457
- Morgan, S. G., Fisher, J. L., Miller, S. H., McAfee, S. T., and Largier, J. L. (2009c). Nearshore larval retention in a region of strong upwelling and recruitment limitation. *Ecology* 90, 3489–3502. doi: 10.1890/08-1550.1
- Morgan, S. G., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., Reniers, A. J. H. M., and Fedderson, F. (2018). Planktonic subsidies to surf zone and intertidal communities. *Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci.* 10, 345–369. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-010816-060514
- Morgan, S. G., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Griesemer, C. D., Jarvis, M., et al. (2016). Surfzone hydrodynamics as a key determinant of spatial variation in marine communities. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 283:20161017. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2016.1017
- Morgan, S. G., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Griesemer, C. D., Jarvis, M., et al. (2017). Surf zones regulate larval supply and zooplankton subsidies to nearshore communities. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 62, 2811–2828. doi: 10.1002/lno.10609
- Nickols, K. J., Gaylord, B., and Largier, J. L. (2012). The coastal boundary layer: predictable current structure decreases alongshore transport and alters scales of dispersal. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 464, 17–35. doi: 10.3354/meps09875
- Nickols, K. J., Miller, S. H., Gaylord, B., Morgan, S. G., and Largier, J. L. (2013). Spatial differences in larval supply within the coastal boundary layer impact availability to shoreline habitats. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 494, 191–203. doi: 10.3354/meps10572
- Nolasco, R., Dubert, J., Domingues, C. P., Cordeiro Pires, A., and Queiroga, H. (2013). Model-derived connectivity patterns along the western Iberian Peninsula: asymmetrical larval flow and source-sink cell. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 48, 123–142. doi: 10.3354/meps10324
- Papastephanou, K. M., Bollens, S. M., and Slaughter, A. M. (2006). Cross-shelf distribution of copepods and the role of event-scale winds in a northern California upwelling zone. *Deep-Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 53, 3078–3093. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.07.014
- Parrish, R. H., Nelson, C. S., and Bakun, A. (1981). Transport mechanisms and the reproductive success of fishes in the California Current. *Biol. Oceanogr.* 1, 175–203.
- Petersen, C. H., Drake, P. T., Edwards, C. A., and Ralston, S. (2010). A numerical study of inferred rockfish (*Sebastes* spp.) larval dispersal along the central California coast. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 19, 21–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2419.2009.00526.x
- Peterson, W. T. (1998). Life cycle strategies of copepods in coastal upwelling zones. J. Mar. Syst. 15, 313–326. doi: 10.1016/S0924-7963(97)00082-1
- Peterson, W. T., Miller, C. B., and Hutchinson, A. (1979). Zonation and maintenance of copepod populations in the Oregon upwelling zone. *Deep-Sea Res. A Oceanogr. Res. Papers* 26, 467–494. doi: 10.1016/0198-0149(79)90091-8
- Pettigrew, N. R., and Murray, S. P. (1986). "The coastal boundary layer and inner shelf," in *Barocline Processes Continental Shelves*, ed C. N. K. Mooers (Washington, DC: American Geophysical Union), 95–108.
- Pfeiffer-Herbert, A. S., McManus, M. A., Raimondi, P. T., Chao, Y., and Chai, F. (2007). Dispersal of barnacle larvae along the central California coast: a modeling study. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 52, 1559–1569. doi: 10.4319/lo.2007.52.4.1559
- Pineda, J. (1994). Spatial and temporal patterns in barnacle settlement rate along a southern California rocky shore. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 107, 125–138. doi: 10.3354/meps107125
- Pineda, J. (1999). Circulation and larval distribution in internal tidal bore warm fronts. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 44, 1400–1414. doi: 10.4319/lo.1999.44.6.1400
- Poulin, E., Palma, A. T., Leiva, G., Narvaez, D., Pacheco, R., Navarette, S. A., et al. (2002). Avoiding offshore transport of competent larvae during upwelling events: the case of the gastropod *Concholepas concolepas* in Central Chile. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 47, 1248–1255. doi: 10.4319/lo.2002.47.4.1248
- Queiroga, H., and Blanton, J. (2005). Interactions between behaviour and physical forcing in the control of horizontal transport of decapod Crustacean larvae. *Adv. Mar. Biol.* 47, 107–214. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(04)47002-3

- Rasmuson, L. K., and Shanks, A. L. (2013). In situ observations of Dungeness crab megalopae used to estimate transport distances by internal waves. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 511, 143–152. doi: 10.3354/meps10926
- Robart, M. J. (2013). Suppression of Upwelling at the Windward Shore of Point Reyes, California. MS Thesis, University of California Davis. (Davis, CA)
- Rosenfeld, L. K. (1990). Baroclinic semidiurnal tidal currents over the continental-shelf off northern California. J. Geophys. Res. 95, 22153–22172. doi: 10.1029/JC095iC12p22153
- Roughan, M., Mace, A. J., Largier, J. L., Morgan, S. G., Fisher, J. L., and Carter, M. L. (2005). Subsurface recirculation and larval retention in the lee of a small headland: a variation on the upwelling shadow theme. *J. Geophys. Res. Oceans* 110, 1–18. doi: 10.1029/2005JC002898
- Roughan, M., Garfield, N., Largier, J., Dever, E., Dorman, C., Dorman, D. et al. (2006). Transport and retention in an upwelling region: the role of across-shelf structure. *Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* 53, 2931–2955. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.07.015
- Roughgarden, J., Gaines, S. D., and Possingham, H. P. (1988). Recruitment dynamics in complex life cycles. *Science* 241, 1460–1466. doi: 10.1126/science.11538249
- Ryan, J. P., Harvey, J. B. J., Zhang, Y., and Woodson, C. B. (2014). Distributions of invertebrate larvae and phytoplankton in a coastal upwelling system retention zone and peripheral front. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 459, 51–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2014.05.017
- Sanford, E., and Kelly, M. W. (2011). Local adaptation in marine invertebrates. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 3, 509–535. doi: 10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142756
- Send, U., Beardsley, R. C., and Winant, C. D. (1987). Relaxation from upwelling in the coastal ocean dynamics experiment. J. Geophys. Res. 92, 1683–1698. doi: 10.1029/JC092iC02p01683
- Shanks, A. L. (1995a). "Mechanisms of cross-shelf dispersal of larval invertebrates and fishes," in *Marine Community Ecology*, eds M. D. Bertness, S. D. Gaines, and M. E. Hay (Sunderland, MA: Sinauer), 323–367.
- Shanks, A. L. (1995b). Orientated swimming by megalopae of several Eastern North Pacific crab species and its potential role in their onshore migration. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 186, 1–16.
- Shanks, A. L., and Brink, L. (2005). Upwelling, downwelling, and cross-shelf transport of bivalve larvae: test of a hypothesis. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 302, 1–12. doi: 10.3354/meps302001
- Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J., Morgan, S. G., and Reniers, A. J. H. M., Jarvis, M., Brown, J., et al. (2018). Persistent differences in horizontal gradients in phytoplankton concentration maintained by surfzone hydrodynamics. *Estuar. Coasts.* 41, 58–176. doi: 10.1007/s12237-017-0278-2
- Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J., Morgan, S. G., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Jarvis, M., Brown, J., et al. (in press). Surfzone hydrodynamics controls phytoplankton concentration. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*
- Shanks, A. L., and Morgan, S. G. (2018). Testing the intermittent upwelling hypothesis: upwelling, downwelling, and subsidies to the intertidal zone. *Ecol. Monogr.* 88, 22–35. doi: 10.1002/ecm.1281
- Shanks, A. L., Morgan, S. G., MacMahan, J. H., and Reniers, A. J. H. M. (2017). Alongshore variation in barnacle populations is determined by surfzone hydrodynamics. *Ecol. Monogr.* 87, 508–532. doi: 10.1002/ecm.1265
- Shanks, A. L., Morgan, S. G., MacMahan, J., and Reniers, A. J. H. M. (2010). Surf zone physical and morphological regime as determinants of temporal and spatial variation in larval recruitment. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 392, 140–150. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2010.04.018
- Shanks, A. L., and Shearman, R. K. (2009). Paradigm lost? Cross-shelf distributions of intertidal invertebrate larvae are unaffected by upwelling or downwelling. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 385, 189–204. doi: 10.3354/meps08043
- Shannon, L. V., Nelson, G., and Jury, M. R. (1981). "Hydrological and meteorological aspects of upwelling in the southern Benguela Current," in *Coastal and Estuarine Sciences 1. Coastal Upwelling*, ed F. A. Richard (Washington, DC: American Geophysical Union), 146–159.
- Shenker, J. M. (1988). Oceanographic associations of neustonic larval and juvenile fishes and Dungeness crab megalopae off Oregon. *Fish. Bull.* 86, 299–317.
- Strathmann, R., Hughes, T., Kuris, A., Lindeman, K., Morgan, S., Pandolfi, J., et al. (2002). Evolution of local recruitment and its consequences for marine populations. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 70, 377–396.

- Tapia, F. J., and Pineda, J. (2007). Stage-specific distribution of barnacle larvae in nearshore waters: potential for limited dispersal and high mortality rates. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 342, 177–190. doi: 10.3354/meps342177
- Vander Woude, A. J., Largier, J. L., Lucas, A. J., and Kudela, R. M. (2006). Nearshore retention of upwelled waters in northern California embayments—satellite derived patterns of surface temperature and chlorophyll. *Deep Sea Res. II Top. Stud Oceanogr.* 53, 2851–2998. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2006.07.003
- White, J. W., Morgan, S. G., and Fisher, J. L. (2014). Larval mortality rates are lower than widely expected. *Ecology* 95, 3344–3353. doi: 10.1890/13-2248.1
- Winant, C. D., Dorman, C. E., and Friehe, C. A, and Beardsley, R. C. (1988). The marine layer off Northern California: An example of supercritical channel flow. J. Atmos. Sci. 45, 3588–3605.
- Wing, S. R., Botsford, L., Largier, J. L., and Morgan, L. E. (1995). Spatial variability in settlement of benthic invertebrates in a northern California upwelling system. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 128, 199–211. doi: 10.3354/meps128199
- Wing, S. R., Botsford, L., Morgan, L. E., Diehl, J. M., and Lundquist, C. J. (2003). Inter-annual variability in larval supply to populations of three invertebrate taxa in the northern California Current. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 57, 859–872. doi: 10.1016/S0272-7714(02)00416-X

- Wing, S. R., Botsford, L. W., Ralston, S. V., and Largier, J. L. (1998). Meroplanktonic distribution and circulation in a coastal retention zone of the northern California upwelling system. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 43, 1710–1721. doi: 10.4319/lo.1998.43.7.1710
- Wright, L. D., and Short, A. D. (1984). Morphodynamic variability of surf zones and beaches - a synthesis. *Mar. Geol.* 56, 93–118. doi: 10.1016/0025-3227(84)9 0008-2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Morgan, Miller, Robart and Largier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Wind Conditions on the Great Barrier Reef Influenced the Recruitment of Snapper (*Lutjanus carponotatus*)

Jodie A. Schlaefer^{1,2*}, Eric Wolanski^{1,3}, Jonathan Lambrechts⁴ and Michael J. Kingsford^{1,2}

¹ Reef and Ocean Ecology Laboratory, College of Science and Engineering, James Cook University, Townsville, QLD, Australia, ² Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, Australian Research Council, Townsville, QLD, Australia, ³ Tropical Water & Aquatic Ecosystem Research (TropWATER), James Cook University, Townsville, QLD, Australia, ⁴ Institute of Mechanics, Materials and Civil Engineering, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michael Arthur St. John, National Institute of Aquatic Resources, Technical University of Denmark, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Brian R. MacKenzie, Technical University of Denmark, Denmark Angel Pérez-Ruzafa, Universidad de Murcia, Spain

*Correspondence: Jodie A. Schlaefer jodie.schlaefer@my.jcu.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 29 November 2017 Accepted: 14 May 2018 Published: 31 May 2018

Citation:

Schlaefer JA, Wolanski E, Lambrechts J and Kingsford MJ (2018) Wind Conditions on the Great Barrier Reef Influenced the Recruitment of Snapper (Lutjanus carponotatus). Front. Mar. Sci. 5:193. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00193

Most coral reef fishes have a pelagic larval stage before recruiting to reefs. The survival of larvae and their subsequent recruitment can drive the dynamics of reef populations. Here we show that the recruitment of the snapper Lutianus carponotatus to One Tree Island in the Capricorn Bunker Group, in the southern Great Barrier Reef, was highly variable over 23 years. We predicted that the currents in the Capricorn Bunker Group, including their wind driven components and the Capricorn Eddy (a nearby transient oceanic eddy), would affect patterns of recruitment. A biophysical model was used to investigate this prediction. L. carponotatus were collected from One Tree Island and the dates when they were in the plankton as larvae were determined from their otoliths. The winds present during the pelagic phases of the fish were examined; they were found to have survived either longshore (SSE) winds that induced little cross shelf movement in the larval plume or cross shelf (ENE) winds that induced little longshore movement. The unidirectional transportation of the larval plume in these conditions was favorable for recruitment as it kept the plume concentrated in the Capricorn Bunker Group. These winds were more prevalent in the periods of peak L. carponotatus production that preceded high recruitment. Dispersal under average winds (6.2 m s⁻¹ from the prevailing ESE) and strong winds (velocity 1.5 times average), with and without the Capricorn Eddy, was also modeled. Each of these combinations were less favorable for recruitment than the longshore and cross shelf winds larval L. carponotatus survived before reaching OTI. The larval plume was comparatively less concentrated in the Capricorn Bunker Group under average winds. Strong winds transported the larval plume far longshore, to the NW, away from the Capricorn Bunker Group, while the Capricorn Eddy transported larvae seaward into oceanic waters. Larval swimming could counteract these dispersive forces; however, significant dispersion had occurred before larvae developed strong swimming and orientation abilities. This study provides a physical proxy for the recruitment of snapper. Further, we have demonstrated that great insights into recruitment variability can be gained through determining the specific conditions experienced by survivors.

Keywords: biophysical model, recruitment, wind, SLIM, stripey snapper (Lutjanus carponotatus)

INTRODUCTION

Most coral reef fishes have bipartite lifecycles, where adults produce large numbers of larvae that spend some time developing in the plankton before metamorphosing, settling and recruiting to reefs. Recruitment is the raw material for postsettlement processes. It can be a fundamental driver of the population dynamics of coral reef fishes, especially for relatively short-lived species (e.g., Victor, 1983; Kingsford, 2009). Only a small fraction of the larvae produced by coral reef fishes will survive the pelagic phase (Houde, 2008). As large numbers of larvae are produced, small changes in the pre-settlement mortality rate can greatly affect the strength of recruitment events (Cowen et al., 2000; Houde, 2008). The pre-settlement mortality rate of fish larvae can depend on multiple factors including the availability of food (e.g., Cushing, 1975, 1990), the abundance of predators (e.g., Moller, 1984; McGurk, 1986) and favorable or unfavorable oceanography (e.g., Sponaugle and Pinkard, 2004; Sponaugle et al., 2005), and this complexity can make it difficult to identify causes of variability in recruitment (Leggett and Deblois, 1994; Houde, 2008).

Flow fields can influence the magnitude of recruitment over multiple spatial scales. For example, at small spatial scales, tidal eddies regularly form as tidal currents flow past reefs and these eddies can retain larvae (Burgess et al., 2007). Furthermore, water circulation can be reduced in dense reef matrices (the "sticky water effect") and larvae can be retained in this slow moving water (Andutta et al., 2012). Alternatively, currents can expatriate fish larvae away from suitable habitat, leading to poor recruitment (Sinclair, 1988; Lenanton et al., 1991; Fletcher, 1995).

In addition to physical oceanographic features, the biological characteristics of fish larvae can greatly affect their dispersion (Kingsford et al., 2002; Paris et al., 2013; Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014; Bottesch et al., 2016). The larvae of many fish species can maintain swim speeds that exceed local mean current speeds for extended periods of time, they can, therefore, influence their dispersal trajectories (Fisher, 2005; Leis, 2006). They can also orient to reefs using a variety of senses including a sun compass (e.g., Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2003; Mouritsen et al., 2013) and a magnetic compass (e.g., Bottesch et al., 2016) for long distance orientation, and hearing (e.g., Mann et al., 2007; Wright et al., 2010) and chemotaxis (e.g., Gerlach et al., 2007; Dixson et al., 2008; Paris et al., 2013) when they are closer to reefs. The exceptional swimming and orientation abilities of reef fish larvae, in combination with hydrodynamic retention mechanisms near reefs, may prevent the expatriation of some larvae away from natal reefs (Almany et al., 2007; Andutta et al., 2012). Indeed, high rates of self-seeding have been reported in local populations of coral reef fishes (Jones et al., 1999; Almany et al., 2007). However, many larvae will not return to their natal reefs and dispersal kernels (the potential for successful dispersal connections) can extend tens to hundreds of kilometers from the spawning of adults (Jones, 2015; Williamson et al., 2016).

Given the complex oceanographic regimes of coral reef ecosystems and the considerable swimming and orientation abilities of fish larvae, biophysical modeling is an ideal technique for investigating variability in recruitment (Simpson et al., 2013; Wolanski, 2017). Biophysical models combine oceanographic and behavioral models. They have been utilized to model connectivity and recruitment variability in coral reef systems to great effect (e.g., Paris and Cowen, 2004). They have also been used extensively to investigate the recruitment of commercially important species to fisheries (e.g., Caputi et al., 1996; Hare et al., 1999). Biophysical models are useful tools for making predictions on self-seeding and connectivity between populations at biologically relevant spatial and temporal scales, which can aid in the management of coral reef fish populations (Cowen et al., 2006; Melbourne-Thomas et al., 2011).

The inherent stochasticity and complexity of coral reef systems is not always well captured in biophysical models (Siegel et al., 2003, 2008). The models are typically forced with general physical conditions. While this approach is useful for reaching broadly applicable conclusions, great insights can be gained from using tailored forcings to answer specific questions (e.g., Mitarai et al., 2008). High variability in recruitment, both within and among seasons, appears to be typical of many coral reef systems (e.g., Doherty, 1987; Tolimieri et al., 1998). A comprehensive understanding of recruitment variability can be attained through investigating the conditions present when successful recruits were known to be in the plankton (Sponaugle and Pinkard, 2004; Valles et al., 2009). Accordingly, the causal factors of recruitment variability could be investigated by forcing a biophysical model with the conditions present during the pelagic larval phases of successful recruits.

Stripey snapper, Lutjanus carponotatus, is a predatory coral reef fish that is also targeted by fisheries. The recruitment of L. carponotatus to One Tree Island (OTI) in the Capricorn Bunker Group (CBG) in the southern Great Barrier Reef (GBR) has been monitored since 1995, and has been found to vary greatly interannually (Kingsford, 2009). The complex oceanography of the region could potentially affect the strength of recruitment events. The Capricorn Eddy (CE), a large, transient mesoscale oceanic eddy, forms offshore of the CBG (Weeks et al., 2010; Mao and Luick, 2014). It is presumably ecologically important as it upwells cool nutrient rich water to the surface (Weeks et al., 2010) and mesoscale eddies can greatly influence the dispersal trajectories of fish larvae (Sponaugle et al., 2005). Additionally, the CBG lies on a shallow section of the Australian continental shelf, and the surface currents in this region are largely wind driven (Andutta et al., 2013; Mao and Luick, 2014). A biophysical model has previously been used to simulate the dispersion of larvae seeded from OTI, and the subsequent recruitment of the larvae to OTI and to nearby downstream reefs (Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014). The dispersal trajectories of larvae were found to be greatly influenced by swimming behavior.

The broad objective of this study was to determine the conditions experienced by *L. carponotatus* larvae before they successfully recruited to OTI. Identifying the conditions that facilitated recruitment could improve our current understanding of the inter-annual variability in recruitment that is common among coral reef fishes. The specific aims were to: (1) examine the otoliths of successful *L. carponotatus* recruits caught from OTI to determine when they were in the plankton as larvae; (2) identify the wind conditions that fish experienced on these

dates; (3) establish if the prevalence of these conditions could be used as a proxy to predict recruitment; (4) use biophysical modeling to determine the influence of wind, the CE and the swimming behavior of larvae on patterns of recruitment. Further, we hypothesized that the wind conditions survived by successful recruits during their larval phase (as identified in specific aim 2) would generate currents that reduced larval morality via expatriation, facilitating recruitment. We evaluated this hypothesis in specific aim 4 by modeling the identified winds.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Long-Term Abundance of *Lutjanus carpontatus* at One Tree Island

One Tree Island (OTI) is a small coral cay, located on the eastern side of a \sim 5.5 km by 3.5 km coral reef (23°29′48.38″S, 152°4′8.32″E; **Figure 1**). OTI is in the Capricorn Bunker Group (CBG), within the southern Great Barrier Reef (GBR). The CBG lies near the edge of the Australian continental shelf, in waters approximately 50 m deep.

Lutjanus carponotatus have been counted in visual surveys performed in reef slope, lagoon edge and lagoon center habitats at OTI in January or February of each year since 1995. Counts were made at six or seven sites per habitat in five 5 \times 25 m transects per site (for complete methods see Kingsford, 2009). Fish were not counted in the lagoon center habitat in 1998 and 1999, and they were not counted in the reef slope habitat in 2014, but *L. carponotatus* are rare in this habitat. The Standard Lengths (SL's) of the fish were estimated to the nearest 50 mm and these measurements were used to divide the fish into size categories. Length estimates were cross-checked by measuring the lengths of speared fish (n = 114) and, for consistency, Kingsford conducted all of the fish counts. Kingsford (1998) found that experienced divers could place large fish into the correct 50 mm size category 80% of the time. Further, in studies on smaller species (less than 300 mm), experienced divers may be able to consistently estimate lengths to within 10 mm of the true value (Kingsford, 1998). It is therefore acceptable to collect size-frequency data in 50 mm size categories (Kingsford, 1998). Fish with SL's greater than 200 mm were classified as adults. Most L. carponotatus of this size (200 mm SL \sim 237 mm FL) are mature (Kritzer, 2004) and have three or more annulus bands on their otoliths (Kingsford, 2009), suggesting they have lived through at least three winters (Newman et al., 1996). Fish with SL's less than 150 mm were classified as recruits as most L. carponotatus of this size (150 mm SL \sim 177 mm FL) are immature (Kritzer, 2004) and have no or only one annulus band on their otoliths (Kingsford, 2009), suggesting they are yet to live through a winter or have only lived through one (Newman et al., 1996).

Although there are no data available on the sources of *L. carponotatus* recruits to OTI, it was possible that the abundance of recruits would vary with the abundance of adult *L. carponotatus* at OTI as dispersal kernels tend to decrease rapidly with distance from the natal reef (e.g., Buston et al., 2012; Williamson et al., 2016). Accordingly, the relationship between recruit abundance (1996–2017) and adult abundance

(1995–2016) was tested using a Spearman's Correlation. A Spearman's Correlation was performed because the data did not meet the Pearson's Correlation assumption of a bivariate normal distribution. A one-year time lag was applied as the recruits observed in any given year would have been produced by the adult population present in the previous year. Adult and recruit abundance data from 1998 and 1999 were not included as the lagoon center habitat was not sampled in these years. Recruit abundance data from the reef slope habitat were not included as no recruits were observed in this habitat. The adult abundance data from 2014 were not included as the reef slope habitat was not sampled in this year.

Otolith Analysis

Thirty-Five L. carponotatus were caught at OTI, either with spear-guns and hand spears (February 2004/2005, n = 12recruits) or in light traps over the reef slope (January 2015, n = 23 potential settlers). These fish were caught opportunistically so samples were only available in some years. The fish had survived the hydrodynamic conditions present during their planktonic phases. It was, therefore, hypothesized that the currents, including their wind driven components, had facilitated their successful recruitment to OTI from their unknown sources. The dates when the fish were in the plankton were determined from the pre-settlement phases recorded on their otoliths. Sagittal otoliths were removed from the 35 L. carponotatus and sectioned following Kingsford (2009). Photographs of the otoliths were taken at 400 times magnification using a Leica microscope camera and the daily rings were counted from the photographs using Leica IM50 software. Counts were made from the hatch marks at the cores of the otoliths to the edges. The otoliths were examined in random order twice, with each session separated by a few weeks. If the counts differed by more than 10%, the otoliths were re-examined a third time. The third count was used if it was within 10% of either of the previous counts. The average of the closest counts was taken as the age of the recruit. Only one otolith was rejected via this method.

It was assumed that the fish hatched approximately 1 day after they were spawned, which is well within the range of hatching times recorded for other lutjanid species (15–30 h; Leu and Liou, 2013), and so a day was added to the counts to determine the date of spawning. The recruits from 2004/2005 ranged in age from 197 days (approximately 5 months) to 264 days old (approximately 9 months). They were spawned in May, June and July, and typically at around the same time. The earliest spawning date recorded was the 10 May. The potential settlers from 2015 ranged in age from 18 to 25 days, and were all spawned between the end of December 2014 and the beginning of January 2015. Accordingly, the spawning season for *L. carponotatus* could be long, continuous or made up of multiple discreet spawning periods within a year.

The locations of the settlement marks on the otoliths of the recruits from 2004/2005 were noted. The pelagic larval duration (PLD) of each recruit was calculated as the number of days between spawning and settlement. The average PLD was 25 days \pm 0.6 SE (range 22–28 days) and the ages of 35% of the potential settlers from 2015 fell within the observed range of PLD's. The

dates between spawning and settlement (2004/2005 recruits) or between spawning and capture (2015 potential settlers) were taken as the dates the fish were in the plankton as larvae.

Survivor Specific Wind Analysis

We determined the wind conditions present during the periods when the surviving L. carponotatus caught from OTI were in the plankton. The wind conditions have been measured hourly at a weather station on Heron Island (HI; 23°26'24.00"S, $151^{\circ}55'12.00''$ E; Figure 1C), which is less than 10 km from OTI, from February 1999. These data were provided by the Australian Government Bureau of Meteorology. The longshore and cross shelf wind velocities were respectively calculated as the velocity components parallel and perpendicular to the 200 m isobath east of the CBG, which was measured to be offset 30° counter clockwise from the north/south axis. The ratios between the sums of the positive and negative vector components in the cross shelf (from the WSW and from the ENE) and longshore (from the SSE and from the NNW) directions were calculated for the dates when the fish were in the plankton. Longshore winds from the SSE were present when the 2004/2005 cohort of recruits were in the plankton as larvae, and these winds had a balanced (near 50:50) cross shelf vector ratio. Cross shelf winds from the ENE, with a balanced longshore wind ratio, were present during the pelagic larval phases of the potential settlers from the 2015 cohort. The cross shelf and longshore vector wind ratios were also calculated over 25 day intervals starting on successive days, from 1 January 2000 to 31 December 2016, in the same manner as a running average. A 25 day interval was used because it was the average PLD of the *L. carponotatus* recruits in this study. The wind ratios over the intervals, therefore, represent the winds that would have been present during the pelagic phases of *L. carponotatus* larvae spawned on each successive day over the 18 year period. The rarity of the identified conditions was determined by counting the number of historic 25 day intervals with winds as or more balanced (ratios closer to 50:50) than the winds the fish in this study survived during their pelagic phases.

We hypothesized that the identified longshore winds with a balanced cross shelf component and the identified cross shelf winds with a balance longshore component would be favorable for recruitment as they were survived by successful recruits. Defining these conditions as favorable, we predicted that the recruitment of L. carponotatus to OTI could have been related to the prevalence favorable winds during the time of peak larval production. Kritzer (2004) found that the gonadosomatic indices of female L. carponotatus from the Palm and Lizard Island groups peaked in October, November and December. Additionally, Russell et al. (1977) found that the recruitment of juvenile reef fish from multiple taxa to OTI peaked in January and February, suggesting larval production peaked in December and January. Therefore, the production of L. carponotatus larvae probably peaks at OTI from October through to January. Of the identified winds with balanced cross shelf and longshore components, only the winds with a balanced longshore component occurred



FIGURE 1 The study region. **(A)** Australia. **(B)** The Great Barrier Reef (GBR). The broad scale oceanographic features of the southern GBR are shown including: The North Caledonian Jet (NCJ), the East Australian Current (EAC), the Coastal Boundary Layer (CBL), the Coral See Lagoonal Current (CSLC) and the Capricorn Eddy (CE). Adapted from Wolanski et al. (2013), and Mao and Luick (2014). The red line denotes the 200m isobath, which is also the open boundary of the model. The open boundary joins with the Queensland coast (closed boundary) at the tip of Australia to the north and at Fraser Island (F. Isl.) to the south. **(C)** A zoomed view of the Capricorn Bunker Group (CBG) overlayed with the SLIM mesh. *Lutjanus carponotatus* larvae were seeded from the locations marked by the black squares. When the larvae were active (B scenarios) they were programmed to swim to the SSE at a bearing of 155° (black arrow) unless they were within 5 km of One Tree Island (OTI; denoted by the white circle), where they were made to swim toward the center of OTI instead. The number of larvae remaining in the black irregular octagon were tracked through time to calculate the residence time of the CBG region. The number of potential settlers present around OTI were counted within the black rectangle at the end of the Pelagic Larval Duration. The white dot shows the location of Heron Island weather station. The bathymetry is only shown for depths less than 100 m.

during the period of peak production. The number of historic 25 day intervals with a balanced longshore component occurring in the peak production period (2000/2001-2015/2016) were correlated with the measured abundance of L. carponotatus recruits at OTI (2002-2017) to determine if the magnitude of recruitment was related to the prevalence of the winds. A Spearman's Correlation was performed because the data did not meet the Pearson's Correlation assumption of a bivariate normal distribution. A one-year time lag was applied as the recruits observed in any given year would have been produced in the preceding period of peak production. Further, biophysical modeling was carried out to determine the capacity for the identified winds to generate favorable currents when compared to seasonally dominant conditions, and to investigate the influence of the Capricorn Eddy (CE) and larval swimming behavior on recruitment.

Biophysical Modeling

The Second-generation Louvain-la-Neuve Ice-ocean Model (SLIM) was used to model the dispersion of L. carponotatus larvae from reefs in the CBG. SLIM has an unstructured grid which can be made finer in areas where a high resolution is required and coarser in open areas, prioritizing the allocation of computational power. Unstructured grids are particularly useful in coral reef systems (Lambrechts et al., 2008) as a high spatial resolution is required to avoid erasing small reefs and to accurately simulate the current shear distribution near reef edges (Wolanski et al., 1996). SLIM has been used to effectively model the hydrodynamics of the GBR system (e.g., Lambrechts et al., 2008; Delandmeter et al., 2017; Wildermann et al., 2017). The two-dimensional depth averaged version of SLIM was used in this study; this was valid because two-dimensional depth averaged models can realistically simulate observed currents in shallow, vertically well mixed water (Lambrechts et al., 2008). GBR shelf waters are generally shallow and vertically well mixed (Luick et al., 2007). Additionally, small scale three-dimensional modeling of the area around OTI showed that passive larvae released from OTI had similar dispersal patterns whether they were set to remain near the surface, at mid-depth or near the bottom (Critchell et al., 2015).

SLIM solves the shallow-water equations discretized in space with a second order discontinuous Galerkin finite element method and in time with a second order implicit Runge-Kutta method (Lambrechts et al., 2008). The hydrodynamic model has a time step of 10 min. The model domain encompassed the entire GBR with the open boundary following the 200 m isobath and the closed boundary following the Queensland coastline. The model mesh was made up of nearly 26,000 triangles, which ranged in size from less than 300 m near reefs to more than 20 km in open water (Figure 1B). The bathymetry data used in the model for areas outside of the CBG were derived from Geoscience Australia's Australian Bathymetry and Topography 2005 data set which has an \sim 250 m resolution (Webster and Petkovic, 2005). The data for the CBG area were derived from Project 3DGBR data which has a 100 m resolution (Beaman, 2010). The model was forced at the open boundary (Figure 1B) with tides, the inflow of the North Caledonian Jet (NCJ) from the Coral Sea and the CE (some scenarios; **Table 1**). It was also forced with wind via a spatially uniform vector field applied over the entire domain.

The tidal conditions at OTI were predicted using AusTide 2015 version 1.10.1 and approximated with a synthetic semidiurnal tide with an amplitude of 1 m and a period of 12h for use in the model. The magnitude and latitude of the NCJ inflow into the GBR system from the Coral Sea are largely unknown (Ganachaud et al., 2014). The NCJ was simulated as a 1.5×10^6 m³ s⁻¹ inflow between $15^{\circ}54'36''$ S and $17^{\circ}43'12''$ S following Andutta et al. (2011). The CE periodically forms off the continental shelf, to the east of the CBG. While the conditions preceding the formation of the eddy have been described (Mao and Luick, 2014), the frequency of formation and the magnitude of the resulting cyclonic currents are largely unknown. In scenarios 2 and 4, the CE was modeled as a 0.3×10^6 m³ s⁻¹ inflow from the open boundary north of Fraser Island and an outflow of equal magnitude added to the Coral See Lagoonal Current (Figure 1B).

The yearly average wind measured at Heron Island weather station from 1999 to 2013 was $6.2 \text{ m s}^{-1} \pm 2.7 \text{ SD}$ and the prevailing wind direction was 119.9°. These average conditions were imposed as a constant wind in the average wind model runs (all 1 and 2 scenarios). In the strong wind runs (all 3 and 4 scenarios), a constant wind was still forced from the prevailing direction, but the velocity imposed was 1.5 times average (9.35 m s⁻¹). All combinations of constant wind (average or strong wind from the prevailing direction) and CE activity were modeled in scenarios 1–4 to predict the influence of physical conditions on *L. carponotatus* recruitment to OTI.

The longshore SSE and cross shelf ENE wind conditions present during the pelagic phases of the fish caught at OTI were also modeled to determine if they would generate currents conducive to the recruitment of L. carponotatus to OTI. These conditions were imposed as spatially constant, but temporally variable. For the 2004/2005 cohort, winds from the pelagic phases of fish that survived the SSE winds with the most balanced (cross shelf vector wind ratio closest to 50:50; scenario 5, SSE 1) and least balanced (ratio farthest from 50:50; scenario 6, SSE 2) cross shelf components were used. The fish in the 2015 cohort were all spawned within 8 days of each other so they experienced very similar conditions. Accordingly, a fish from this cohort was randomly chosen, and the ENE winds present during its pelagic phase were modeled (scenario 7, ENE). The output of the hydrodynamic model was saved every 30 min and coupled with the advection-dispersion model.

L. carponotatus larvae were seeded as particles in the advection-dispersion model. Although there are no data on the sources of *L. carponotatus* recruits to OTI, reefs in the CBG are a likely source. The potential for successful larval dispersal (dispersal kernels) tends to decrease with distance from the natal reef (Jones, 2015; Williamson et al., 2016). Further, Williamson et al. (2016) conducted a genetic parentage analysis to investigate patterns of connectivity in populations of two coral trout species, *Plectropomus maculatus* and *Plectropomus leopardus*, in the southern GBR. The PLD of both species was 26 days \pm 2 SD, comparable to the 25 days \pm 2 SD reported for *L. carponotatus* in this study. Samples were taken from reefs in the CBG, the

Scenario No.	Wind	CE present?	Behavior	CBG res time (days; avg ± SE)	# settlers (avg \pm SE)	# settlers rank	% SS (avg ± SE)	% returned (avg ± SE)
1A	Average (6.2 m s ⁻¹ from 119.9°)	No	Passive	18.3 ± 0.2	136.7 ± 8.4	4P	7.8 ± 0.3	1.1 ± <0.1
1B	Average	No	Swimming	23.2 ± 2.1	793.3 ± 15.2	7S	9.0 ± 0.7	7.2 ± 0.6
2A	Average	Yes	Passive	$8.9\pm<\!\!0.1$	56.3 ± 3.3	5P	1.8 ± 0.1	$0.1 \pm < 0.01$
2B	Average	Yes	Swimming	$8.9\pm<\!0.1$	$1,589.0 \pm 42.6$	4S	0.4 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.2
3A	Strong (9.4 m s ⁻¹ from 119.9)	No	Passive	11.9 ± <0.1	36.7 ± 3.2	6P	4.3 ± 1.3	0.2 ± 0.1
3B	Strong	No	Swimming	12.0 ± 0.1	826.3 ± 9.8	6S	4.4 ± 0.4	3.7 ± 0.3
4A	Strong	Yes	Passive	$5.7 \pm < 0.1$	36.3 ± 0.9	7P	17.3 ± 2.0	0.6 ± 0.1
4B	Strong	Yes	Swimming	$5.7\pm{<}0.1$	870.0 ± 11.0	5S	16.2 ± 0.6	14.1 ± 0.5
5A	SSE 1	No	Passive	$22.9\pm<\!\!0.1$	215.7 ± 11.3	1P	5.1 ± 0.4	1.1 ± 0.1
5B	SSE 1	No	Swimming	26.8 ± 0.1	$2,848.0 \pm 25.5$	2S	6.3 ± 0.2	18.1 ± 0.4
6A	SSE 2	No	Passive	24.8 ± 0.1	189.0 ± 3.2	2P	9.2 ± 1.3	1.7 ± 0.2
6B	SSE 2	No	Swimming	>27 days	$3,006.0 \pm 19.2$	1S	9.0 ± 0.3	26.9 ± 0.6
7A	ENE	No	Passive	>27 days	157.3 ± 4.6	3P	2.1 ± 0.7	0.3 ± 0.1
7B	ENE	No	Swimming	>27 days	$2,681.0 \pm 25.4$	3S	3.0 ± 0.2	8.0 ± 0.6

TABLE 1 | Modeled scenarios and results.

Shown are: the wind forcing; the status of the Capricom Eddy (CE); the programmed behavior of the Lutjanus carponotatus larvae; the residence time of the Capricom Bunker Group (CBG res time); the number of potential settlers present around One Tree Island (OTI) after 25 days, at the end of the Pelagic Larval Duration (PLD), counted from all 18,000 larvae seeded from the CBG (**Figure 1C**; # settlers); the ranking of scenarios by the # settlers, separated into scenarios with Passive (P) and Swimming (S) larvae; the Self-Seeding (SS) rate, calculated as the percentage of the # settlers that originated from OTI (% SS); the percentage of the 1000 larvae seeded from OTI that returned to OTI as potential settlers (% returned). The CBG res time was recorded as >27 days if it was not reached by the end of the model run.

Keppel Islands (~100 km from the CBG) and the Percy Island Group (~250 km from the CBG). P. leopardus were substantially more abundant in the CBG than P. maculatus, comprising 81% of all coral trout sightings in the region. However, P. maculatus were more abundant than P. leopardus in the other study regions, comprising 99 and 84% of coral trout sightings in the Keppel Islands and the Percy Island Group respectively. A large majority (74%) of the parentage assigned P. leopardus recruits to the CBG were spawned from reefs in the CBG. Despite the comparable rarity of *P. maculatus* in the CBG, a large proportion (44%) of the parentage assigned P. maculatus recruits to the CBG also came from within the region. Further, late stage P. leopardus larvae did not swim as strongly as L. carponotatus larvae when tested in a flume tank (Fisher et al., 2005), suggesting L. carponotatus have a greater capacity to limit their dispersal. Due to a lack of available data, we made the simplifying assumptions that recruits to OTI would come from OTI and other reefs in the CBG, and that the adults from these reefs would have the same reproductive capacity. Accordingly, 1,000 larvae per reef were seeded from 18 reefs in the CBG, including OTI (18,000 larvae in total; Figure 1C). We made the further simplifying assumption that larvae advected outside of the model domain would not be able to return, even though mesoscale eddy activity has been associated with the delivery of fish larvae to reefal waters (e.g., Sponaugle et al., 2005) and the CE lies just outside of the model domain (see Discussion section The Capricorn Eddy). The effect of sub-grid scale processes on diffusion were simulated with a horizontal diffusion coefficient. While the exact value of the coefficient is unknown, 5 m² s⁻¹ is realistic (Spagnol et al., 2002; Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014) and was therefore used in this study. The use of a two-dimensional model necessitated the assumption that larvae were vertically well mixed in the water column.

Larvae were either passive or active, depending on the model scenario. The swimming speed of the active larvae was set to change through time as they developed, following Wolanski and Kingsford (2014). Larvae were set to begin swimming when they reached post-flexion. The swimming speed then increased linearly to the maximum sustainable swimming speed, which was maintained up until the end of the PLD. Thereafter, the swimming speed was reduced to zero because the larvae were assumed to be exhausted. The swimming speed was changed through time as follows:

$$U_{swim} = \begin{cases} 0, & t < T_{post-flexion} \\ \frac{U_{max} \times (t - T_{post-flexion})}{T_{max} - T_{post-flexion}}, & T_{post-flexion} \le t < T_{max} \\ U_{max}, & T_{max} \le t < PLD \\ 0, & t \ge PLD \end{cases}$$
(1)

where t was the time and U_{swim} was the swimming speed of the larvae. The maximum sustainable swimming speed, U_{max} , was set to 26 cm s⁻¹, which is half of the critical swimming speed for late stage *L. carponotatus* larvae (52 cm s⁻¹; Fisher et al., 2005).

Half of the critical swimming speed is a good approximation of U_{max} (Fisher and Wilson, 2004) and a U_{max} of 26 cm s⁻¹ is within the range of values calculated for lutjanids (18–29 cm s⁻¹) by Fisher and Bellwood (2002). $T_{post-flexion}$ was the time taken for the larvae to develop to post-flexion. Eggs were assumed to hatch 1 day after spawning (Leu and Liou, 2013). Notochord flexion, which marks the beginning of the post-flexion phase, was assumed to be complete 16 days after hatching, which is within the range of values recorded for lutjanid species (16 to 18 days; Clarke et al., 1997). $T_{post-flexion}$ was therefore set to 17 days. T_{max} was the time taken for the larvae to be able to swim at U_{max} . As mentioned the average PLD calculated for the *L. carponotatus* recruits caught at OTI was 25 days \pm 0.6 SE. T_{max} was set to 21 days, 4 days before the end of the PLD (Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014).

The swimming direction of the active larvae was determined from the prescribed behaviors. Larvae were made to swim to the SSE at a bearing of 155°. A strong SSE directional swimming response was reported for pre-settlement larvae and early settlers of the cardinal fish species Ostorhinchus doederleini caught and tested near OTI (Mouritsen et al., 2013). Mouritsen et al. (2013) suggested that the response evolved to counteract the prevailing NNW current. It was demonstrated that the O. doederleini larvae were navigating using a sun compass mechanism (Mouritsen et al., 2013) and sun compass orientation has also been documented in other coral reef fish species (e.g., Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2003; Berenshtein et al., 2014). Bottesch et al. (2016) demonstrated that newly settled O. doederleini at OTI can also orient their swimming to the SE at night via a magnetic compass mechanism. In this study, it was assumed that L. carponotatus spawned from reefs in the CBG (which are affected by the same prevailing NNW current as OTI) would have a strong SSE directional swimming response like O. doederleini.

When larvae got to within 5 km of OTI, they were made to swim toward the center of OTI, rather than to the SSE. This represents the chemotaxis driven orientation documented in the larvae of many coral reef fish species, where they can swim to reefs by discriminating between water with a reef odor and oceanic water (e.g., Paris et al., 2013). Wolanski and Kingsford (2014) simulated the odor plume from OTI and found it extended several kilometers from the reef.

For each combination of physical forcings, larvae were modeled as passive in the "A" scenarios and as actively swimming in the "B" scenarios to determine the influence of swimming behavior on recruitment. All scenarios were run for 27 days, 2 days longer than the average PLD, and are summarized in **Table 1**. Three replicate runs were conducted per scenario to account for the inherent variability in the model.

Quantifying the Modeling Results

The residence time (the average time a "tracer" will remain in a system; Black et al., 1991) of the CBG was calculated to determine the capacity for retention within the CBG for each of the modeled scenarios (**Figure 1C**). It was calculated as the time taken for the concentration of larvae within the CBG to fall to 1/e (~0.37) of its original value, following Prandle (1984) and Choi and Lee (2004).

The number of larvae near OTI at the end of the PLD (25 days) were counted for each of the modeled scenarios to estimate the number of potential settlers (Figure 1C). It was assumed that the potential settlers would be able to hear the ambient noise from OTI if they were within 1 km of the reef (Mann et al., 2007). The number of potential settlers were therefore counted within a rectangular capture box, with bounds located 1 km to the north, south and east of OTI. Larvae were counted at high tide, so the box was extended out to the west by 5 km to account for the larvae that would have been transported into the capture area with the tidal excursion over 6 h as the tide went out. The capture distances used are conservative given Radford et al. (2011) detected reef noise 5 km from a reef and larvae can likely smell OTI from several kilometers away (Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014). The Self-Seeding rate (% SS) was subsequently calculated as the percentage of the total number of settlers counted around OTI that had originally been seeded from OTI. The return rate (% return) was calculated at the percentage of the 1,000 larvae seeded from OTI that returned to OTI. Expressed mathematically:

$$\% SS = \frac{n_{OTI}}{n_{TTL}} \times 100$$
 (2)

$$\% return = \frac{n_{OTI}}{1000} \times 100$$
(3)

where n_{TTL} was the total number of potential settlers counted around OTI and n_{OTI} was the subset of counted potential settlers that had originally been seeded from OTI.

Model Validation

The currents simulated by SLIM were an accurate reproduction of the currents in the CBG region. The hydrodynamic model was validated by comparing the outputs to drifter data from Mantovanelli et al. (2012) and depth averaged Acoustic Doppler Current Profiler (ADCP) data (averaged from below the depth affected by side lobe interference) from the Integrated Marine Observing System (IMOS) as follows. Mantovanelli et al. (2012) released 4 drifters to the south of Heron Island on 25 April 2010 and left them to drift for 20 days, until 15 May 2010. One of the drifters ran aground on the 03 May 2010 and was redeployed for a further 27 days, from 15 May 2010 to 11 June 2010. The winds present over the entire 47 day period (average velocity = 5.5 m s⁻¹ \pm 2.4 SD, prevailing direction = 160.8°) most closely matched the winds modeled in scenario 6 (SSE 2; average velocity = 6.3 m s⁻¹ \pm 3.0 SD, prevailing direction = 160.0°). Of all the seed locations used in the modeling, the location on the lee side of Lamont Reef was the closest to the initial release point of the drifters. One thousand passive larvae were seeded from Lamont Reef in scenario 6 A; the dispersal of the larval plume at the end of the 27 day run approximately matched the dispersal of the drifters (Figure 2A). Nearly half of the larvae remaining in the model domain at the end of the run were within the area bound by the paths the drifters traveled (448 of 939 remaining larvae, 47.7%). The northernmost distance a larva traveled from Lamont Reef approached the northernmost distance reached by a drifter. Further, the median longshore and cross shelf current velocities simulated in scenario 7, which was forced with wind

from the 01 January 2015 to 25 January 2015, closely matched the median depth averaged current velocities measured at the Heron Island South and One Tree East moorings in the same period (**Figure 2B**). The simulated current ranges also approximately matched the measured ranges.

Finally, to validate the simulation of the CE, we compared the currents simulated in scenario 2, which was forced with the CE and average wind, with ADCP measurements taken during identified eddy events. Weeks et al. (2010) identified an eddy event which lasted for a least 9 days, from 27 September 2008 to 6 October 2008. Mao and Luick (2014) identified additional eddy events; one lasted for at least 6 days, from 1 May 2010 to 7 May 2010, and a second lasted for at least 2 days, from 14 July 2010 to 16 July 2010. The average velocities simulated in SLIM at the mooring locations (0.25 m–0.45 m s⁻¹; **Figure 2C**) were within the range of velocities measured during the identified eddy events (0.17–0.46 m s⁻¹). The current directions predicted in SLIM aligned well with the directions measured at the Capricorn Channel and One Tree East moorings during the May 2010 eddy event. The current directions predicted at the Heron Island North and Heron Island South moorings did not align with any identified event; however, the current directions measured at these mooring varied greatly between events.

RESULTS

The Long-Term Abundance of *Lutjanus carpontatus* at One Tree Island

The number of recruits observed within the lagoon at One Tree Island (OTI) varied greatly among years over the 23 year period, from 1995 to 2017 (**Figure 3A**). Either zero or very few *Lutjanus carponotatus* recruits were observed in edge or center habitats from 1995 to 2002 and from 2013 to 2015. After 2002, four peaks (*sensu* average > 0.3 recruits per 125 m²) in recruitment were recorded in the lagoon habitats. The greatest numbers of recruits were observed in 2011. The average abundance recorded in the lagoon habitats in this year was 1.7 times greater than the averages recorded for the next highest peaks in recruitment,



FIGURE 2 | SLIM validation. (A) The maximum extents (red dashed line) traveled by the 4 drifters Mantovanelli et al. (2012) released south of Heron Island (yellow circle) over the 20–27 days they were left adrift. The paths are superimposed on top of a plume of passive larvae (blue dots) 27 days after they were seeded from Lamont reef (yellow triangle) in model scenario 6. (B) The LongShore (LS) and Cross Shelf (CS) currents that were simulated (SLIM) at mooring locations Heron Island South (HIS) and One Tree East (OTE) in scenario 7, which was forced with wind from 01 January 2015 to 25 January 2015. These data are compared to the depth averaged currents that were measured (obs) at the moorings over the same period. The locations of the moorings are shown in (C). (C) The currents simulated in scenario 2 (solid black line), where the Capricorn Eddy was modeled as present, in combination with wind of average strength (6.2 m s⁻¹) from the prevailing direction (119.9°), compared to the depth averaged currents measured at moorings during identified eddy events (blue and red lines). The lengths of the lines indicate the mean current velocities and the line orientations indicate the prevailing directions the currents traveled away from the mooring locations (gray dots). Data from the Capricorn CHannel (CCH), Heron Island North (HIN), HIS and OTE moorings are shown.

Schlaefer et al.



have not been shown for years when all relevant habitats were not sampled. A one-year time lag was applied when the abundance of adults was correlated with the abundance of recruits, as indicated by the dashed line.

which occurred in 2003 and 2007. Greater numbers of recruits were generally observed at the lagoon center habitat than the lagoon edge.

The average abundance of *L. carponotatus* adults recorded in the lagoon was relatively high in all years, although the numbers observed fluctuated among years (**Figure 3B**). The average abundance among all habitats peaked at 3.50 adults per 125 m² \pm 0.9 SE (used as the measure of variance thereafter unless otherwise specified) in 2010. Adult abundance increased from 2004 to 2010, after sustained recruitment from 2003 to 2007. It also increased from 2012 to 2014 following the largest recruitment peak in 2011. The abundance of adults was relatively stable from 2015 to 2017, following a recruitment failure in 2014 and moderate to low recruitment thereafter. The average abundance of recruits did not correlate with the average abundance of adults (used as a proxy for spawner biomass) recorded in the previous year [Spearman's rank correlation, $r_s = -0.13$, $z_{(2)} = -0.55$, p > 0.05, n = 18].

Wind Conditions Present During the Larval Period

Wind in the CBG region typically blew from the ESE (117.8°) from true north) with an average velocity of 6.1 m s⁻¹ \pm 2.6 SD (Table 2). When the recruits from the 2004/2005 cohort were in the plankton as larvae, the wind predominantly blew longshore, from the SSE (155.0°) at a near average velocity (6.9 m s⁻¹ \pm 0.7 SD; Figures 4A,B). At the end of the recruits Pelagic Larval Duration's (PLD's), the cumulative sum of the wind's cross shelf component neared zero as the component alternated in direction, blowing from the ENE (42.4% \pm 7.7 SD) and the WSW (57.6% \pm 7.7 SD). These sums were much more balanced (cross shelf cumulative sum ratio closer to 50:50 ENE:WSW) than in an average 25 day period (78.6% \pm 21.5 SD from the ENE and 21.4% \pm 21.5 SD from the WSW). Winds with cross shelf components as or more balanced than the observed SSE winds occurred on 72 PLD length intervals \pm 7 in a year on average. Winds with balanced cross shelf components were most common in May, June, and July (Figure 5), when the recruits from the 2004/2005 cohort were spawned.

The wind predominantly blew across the shelf, from the ENE (64.6°), at below average velocity (5.4 m s⁻¹ \pm 0.1 SD), when the pre-settlement fish from the 2015 cohort were in the plankton as larvae (Figure 4C). The cumulative sum of the wind's longshore component neared zero over the period when the fish were in the plankton, as the component alternated in direction, blowing from the NNW (46.6% \pm 2.7 SD) and the SSE (53.4% \pm 2.7). These sums were much more balanced (longshore cumulative sum ratio closer to 50:50 NNW:SSE transport) than in an average 25 day period (22.2% \pm 19.9 from the NNW and 77.8% \pm 19.9 from the SSE). Winds with longshore components as or more balanced than the observed ENE winds were rarer than balanced cross shelf winds, occurring on only 29 PLD length intervals \pm 4 in a year on average. They were most common from August to January, when winds with balanced cross shelf components were largely absent (Figure 5). This period includes the months when the production of *L. carponotatus* larvae is likely greatest, from October to January. The prevalence of winds with a balanced longshore component during this period of peak production was positively correlated with the abundance of recruits observed in the following year [Spearman's rank correlation, $r_s = 0.51$, $z_{(2)} =$ 1.97, *p* < 0.05, *n* = 15; **Figure 6**].

Retention Under Modeled Conditions

The wind conditions present during the pelagic phases of the *L. carponotatus* caught at OTI in both the 2004/2005 and the 2015 cohorts drove currents that minimized the expatriation of larvae from the Capricorn Bunker Group (CBG). The SSE winds present during the pelagic phases of the recruits from the 2004/2005 cohort partly advected the plume of passive larvae longshore, to the NNW, but induced little net cross shelf transport (scenarios 5A and 6A; **Figures 7E,F**). The plume, therefore, remained concentrated in the CBG for the duration of the 27 day run;

TABLE 2 | Wind metrics for: Row (1) historic, successive 25 day (average Pelagic Larval Duration length) intervals from 1 January 2000 to 31 December 2016 (long term), Row (2) the winds present during the planktonic phases of the recruits from the 2004/2005 cohort, Row (3) the winds present during the planktonic phases of the potential settlers from the 2015 cohort.

	Velocity (m s ⁻¹ ; avg. \pm SD)	Direction	Cross S	helf Axis	Longshore Axis	
Wind			%CS from ENE (avg. ± SD)	% CS from WSW (avg. ± SD)	% CS from NNW (avg. ± SD)	% CS from SSE (avg. ± SD)
Long term (2000–2016)	6.1 ± 2.6	117.8°; ESE	78.6 ± 21.5	21.4 ± 21.5	22.2 ± 19.9	77.8 ± 19.9
2004/2005 cohort	6.9 ± 0.7	155.0°; SSE	42.4 ± 7.7	57.6 ± 7.7	8.2 ± 5.2	91.8 ± 5.2
2015 cohort	5.4 ± 0.1	64.6°; ENE	93.4 ± 0.6	6.6 ± 0.6	46.6 ± 2.7	53.4 ± 2.7

Shown are: the average wind velocities, prevailing directions and the average contributions to the cumulative sums of the cross shelf (from the WSW and from the ENE) and longshore wind velocities (from the SSE and from the NNW) from the positive and negative directions, expressed as percentages of the total cumulative sum. Separate calculations were made for each axis.



the residence time of the CBG in these scenarios (22.9 days \pm <0.1 to 24.8 days \pm 0.1; Figure 8C, Table 1) approached the average PLD of the L. carponotatus recruits from this study of 25 days \pm 0.6. Analogously, the plume of passive larvae was partly advected across the shelf, to the WSW, by the ENE winds present during the pelagic phases of the potential settlers from the 2015 cohort (scenario 7A; Figure 7G). These winds induced little longshore transport and so the plume remained concentrated in the CBG; the residence time of the CBG in this scenario (>27 days; Figure 8C) exceeded the average L. carponotatus PLD. The plume of passive larvae also remained relatively concentrated in the CBG under winds of average strength from the prevailing ESE direction and no Capricorn Eddy (CE; scenario 1A; Figure 7A). The plume was partly advected to the WNW, and the residence time in this scenario (18.3 days \pm 0.2; Figure 8A) was at least 4 days shorter than the times recorded under the SSE and ENE winds real larvae had survived. Strong wind conditions in the prevailing direction quickly advected passive larvae to the NW, far away from the CBG (scenarios 3A and 4A; **Figures 7C,D**). The CE also reduced retention in the CBG by expatriating large numbers of passive larvae eastward into oceanic waters over the shelf slope. This was consistent when the CE was modeled in combination with average winds (scenario 2A; **Figure 7B**) and with strong winds (scenario 4A; **Figure 7D**). Accordingly, the residence times of the CBG recorded in these scenarios (5.7 days \pm <0.1 to 12.0 days \pm 0.1; **Figures 8A,B**) were days to weeks shorter than the residence times recorded under the survivor specific wind conditions, or under average winds and no CE.

The impact of larval swimming behavior on the dispersal of the larval plume, and the corresponding residence time of the CBG, depended on the model scenario. In the scenarios where the plume of passive larvae remained relatively concentrated in the



FIGURE 5 The average number of historic 25 day (average Pelagic Larval Duration length) intervals starting in each month (2000–2016) that had winds with LongShore (LS) and Cross Shelf (CS) components as or more balanced than the winds present during the planktonic larval phases of the fish caught from One Tree Island. The striped section indicates the period of peak *Lutjanus carponotatus* larval production.



CBG (scenarios 1A, 5A, 6A, and 7A), the inclusion of swimming behavior increased the residence time by several days (**Table 1**). For example, when the model was forced with the longshore SSE winds that had the least balanced cross shelf component, and no CE (scenarios 6A and 6B), the inclusion of swimming behavior reduced the NNW movement of the larval plume (**Figures 7F,H**) and increased the residence time of larvae in the CBG from 24.8 days \pm 0.1 to >27 days. Swimming behavior had little effect on

the residence time when the model was forced with strong winds or the CE, which both advected the larval plume away from the CBG. For example, when the CE was modeled in combination with average winds (scenarios 2A and 2B), the residence time did not measurably increase from 8.9 days \pm <0.1 when swimming behavior was included.

At a smaller spatial scale, when the larvae were set to be passive (A scenarios), the highest numbers of potential settlers were recorded around OTI in the scenarios forced with the real winds survived by *L. carponotatus* during their pelagic phase's (scenarios 5A, 6A and 7A; # settlers rank 1P to 3P; 157.3 settlers \pm 4.6–215.7 settlers \pm 11.3; **Figure 9A**, **Table 1**). Slightly lesser numbers were recorded under average winds and no CE (scenario 1A; # settlers rank 4P; 136.7 settlers \pm 8.4). Only around one third of the number of potential settlers recorded in the survivor specific conditions were counted in the model scenarios that included strong winds and/or the CE (scenarios 2A, 3A, and 4A; # settlers rank 5P to 7P; 36.3 settlers \pm 0.9 to 56.3 settlers \pm 3.3).

When swimming behavior was included (B scenarios), order of magnitude increases in the number of potential settlers were predicted for all the modeled physical conditions (Figure 9B). For example, in scenario 5, which was forced with longshore winds from the SSE, the number of potential settlers increased by 13 times, from 215.7 settlers \pm 11.3–2848.0 settlers \pm 25.5 when larval swimming was included. The greatest numbers of settlers were again counted in the scenarios forced with the real winds survived by L. carponotatus from OTI during their pelagic phase (scenarios 5B, 6B, and 7B; # settlers rank 1S to 3S; 2681.0 settlers \pm 25.4 to 3006.0 settlers \pm 19.2). In contrast to the results obtained for passive larvae, the next highest numbers of settlers were counted in the scenarios that included strong winds and/or the CE (scenarios 2B, 3B and 4B; # settlers rank 4S to 6S; 826.3 settlers \pm 9.8–1589.0 settlers \pm 42.6), which had one third to one half of the numbers of settlers recorded under the survivor specific wind conditions. Among the scenarios that included swimming, the lowest number of potential settlers were recorded in scenario 1B, which was forced with average winds and no CE (# settlers rank 7S; 793.3 settlers \pm 15.2).

Additionally, including swimming behavior reduced the larval mortality from expatriation. The percentage of the original 1,000 larvae seeded from OTI that were present around OTI at the end of the PLD (% returned) increased when swimming behavior was included, and was substantial in some scenarios (**Table 1**). For example, the % return increased from 1.7% \pm 0.2 under the longshore SSE winds with the least balanced cross shelf component, no CE and passive larvae (scenario 6A) to 26.9% \pm 0.6 when the same oceanographic forcings were used, but the larvae were made to swim (scenario 6B).

Modeled Self-Seeding of One Tree Island

There was no clear pattern relating the Self-Seeding rate (% SS) at OTI to the modeled oceanographic conditions. For example, when the model was forced with winds of average strength from the prevailing direction and no CE, and larvae were made to swim (scenario 1B), the % SS was 9.0 % \pm 0.7 (**Table 1**). When the CE was modeled as present, with the same wind and larval behavior (scenario 2B), the % SS decreased by an order of magnitude to 0.4



FIGURE 7 | The dispersion of the larval plume at the end of the Pelagic Larval Duration (PLD), 25 days after the larvae were seeded. The black line denotes the open boundary of the model which corresponds to the 200 m isobath. The red particles were seeded from One Tree Island (OTI) and the blue particles were seeded from other reefs in the Capricorn Bunker Group (Figure 1C). (A–D) Constant wind scenarios. (A) Wind of average strength (6.2 m s⁻¹) from the prevailing direction (119.9°), no Capricorn Eddy (CE) and passive larvae. (B) Average wind from the prevailing direction, the CE present and passive larvae. (C) Strong wind (1.5 times average) from the prevailing direction, no CE and passive larvae. (D) Strong wind from the prevailing direction, the CE present and passive larvae. (E–G) Alternating wind scenarios. (E) The LongShore SSE winds with the most balanced cross shelf (CS) component, no CE and passive larvae. (F) The LS SSE winds with the least balanced CS component (i.e., a stronger WSW component), no CE and passive larvae. (G) The CS winds with a balanced LS component, no CE and passive larvae. (H) The LS SSE winds with the least balanced CS component, no CE and swimming larvae.





FIGURE 8 | numbers are shown. (A) Winds of average strength (6.2 m s^{-1}) from the prevailing direction (119.9°) , with (bold) and without the Capricorn Eddy (CE). (B) Strong winds (1.5 times average) from the prevailing direction with (bold) and without the CE. (C) The LongShore (LS) SSE winds with balanced Cross Shelf (CS) components (red; most balanced = solid, least balanced = dashed) and the CS ENE winds with a balanced LS component (blue dotted) present during the planktonic larval phases of fish caught from OTI. The residence time is calculated as the time taken for the proportion remaining to fall to $1/e \sim 0.37$.



FIGURE 9 | The number of potential settlers seeded from reefs in the Capricorn Bunker Group (**Figure 1C**) that were present around One Tree Island at the end of the average Pelagic Larval Duration (PLD; 25 days \pm 0.6 SE). (**A**) Passive larvae, A scenarios. (**B**) Swimming larvae, B scenarios. Runs with the Capricorn Eddy (CE) are shown in gray and runs without the CE are shown in white. The striped sections indicate the number of settlers counted that originated from OTI. The panes have different Y-axes, with the maximum extent of the Y-axis in A shown by the dotted line in (**B**).

% \pm 0.1, the lowest modeled % SS. Contrastingly, the inclusion of the CE increased the % SS that was projected with swimming larvae under strong winds, from 4.4% \pm 0.4 (scenario 3B) to 16.2 % \pm 0.6 (scenario 4B). The highest modeled % SS was 17.3% \pm 2.0, and it was recorded in scenario 4A, with strong winds from the prevailing direction, the CE present and passive larvae. The

inclusion of swimming behavior had little effect on the % SS in all scenarios. For example, the % SS only differed by 1.2% in the scenarios with and without swimming, when the model was forced with the longshore SSE winds with the most balanced cross shelf component, and no CE (scenarios 5A and 5B).

DISCUSSION

Lutjanus carponotatus Population Dynamics

The abundance of adult Lutjanus carponotatus at One Tree Island (OTI) remained relatively high throughout the 23 years of sampling and did not vary as much as the abundance of recruits. Our observations of increases in adult abundance following recruitment events suggested that the size of the population of L. carponotatus at OTI was determined by the cumulation of a few "stored" strong pulses of recruitment. The recruitment limitation of populations can occur, where the size of an adult population varies with the level of recruitment, assuming post settlement mortality is density independent (Doherty, 1983; Victor, 1983, 1986). Our findings align with those of Kingsford (2009) who investigated the age structure of the L. carponotatus population at OTI in the years after the 2003 recruitment pulse, which broke an 8-year lull in recruitment. The cohort that recruited in 2003 made up a large proportion (40-50%) of the total population in the 2 years following the pulse (Kingsford, 2009).

The lack of a correlation between the abundance of adult L. carponotatus at OTI and the abundance of the recruits that they could have spawned suggests that, at the scale of OTI, there was a decoupling between spawner biomass and recruitment. Numerous factors can act between spawning and recruitment, obscuring the relationship between the biomass of spawners and the magnitude of recruitment (Jennings et al., 2001). An overview of some of the factors that can affect the abundance of recruits is provided in the next section of the discussion. The population of adult L. carponotatus at OTI may only make up a fraction of the total population of adults contributing offspring to the island, hindering our ability to identify a spawner-recruit relationship (Jennings et al., 2001). This idea is supported by the low levels of self-seeding projected for OTI as, if the potential for selfseeding is limited, most of the fish recruiting to OTI would have been spawned from other reefs. The self-seeding rate was calculated to be less than 17% among all the modeled scenarios. Comparatively, the percentage of self-seeding has been estimated to be as high as 60% in other reef fish populations (Jones et al., 1999; Almany et al., 2007). The projected low levels of selfseeding at OTI are probably related to the geography of the Capricorn Bunker Group (CBG). The potential for self-seeding in reef matrices has been linked to the "sticky water" effect, whereby the net currents within a matrix are reduced through the deflection of currents around reefs, facilitating the retention of larvae (Andutta et al., 2012). The strength of the effect is dependent on the density of the reef matrix (Andutta et al., 2012). The capacity for self-seeding is therefore limited at more isolated reefs like those in the CBG, including OTI (Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014).

The rate of self-seeding of L. carponotatus at OTI presented here was estimated using biophysical modeling. We used a twodimensional, depth average model and restricted the geographic extent of the seed locations to the CBG. All models are subject to potential error and, while these choices were necessary and justified (see methods), they could have affected the modeled patterns of connectivity. Two dimensional models can only incorporate two-dimensional behaviors so our model could not include larval vertical migration, which can enhance retention near natal reefs (Paris and Cowen, 2004). Although Great Barrier Reef (GBR) shelf waters are generally well mixed (Luick et al., 2007), L. carponotatus larvae may perform vertical migrations. Accordingly, the self-seeding percentage we projected would probably have been higher if our behavioral model had included vertical migration. Further, our assumption that recruits to OTI could only come from reefs in the CBG would have also affected the projected self-seeding rate. In justifying this assumption, we argued that a majority of L. carponotatus recruits to OTI probably come from within the CBG based on: (1) the well documented reduction in dispersal kernels (the potential for successful dispersal connections) with distance from natal reefs (Jones, 2015; Williamson et al., 2016) and (2) the results of a genetic parentage analysis of two coral trout species, Plectropomus maculatus and Plectropomus leopardus, in the southern GBR (Williamson et al., 2016). Multidirectional larval dispersal was recorded in the genetic parentage analysis and some coral trout recruits originating from the Keppel Islands and the Percy Island Group, ~100 and ~250 km from the CBG respectively, successfully dispersed to reefs in the CBG. It is, therefore, possible that some L. carponotatus larvae make the same journey. An additional source of larvae to the CBG could be the Swain Reefs ~150 km away. With the method applied in this study, considering sources of recruits from outside of the CBG would have reduced the self-seeding rate projected for OTI. As equal numbers of larvae were released from all seed locations, the proportion of the total pool of larvae originating from OTI would have been reduced. Ideally, the numbers of larvae released would have been scaled to reflect the different reproductive capacities of the local adult populations inhabiting the different reefs, but the data required to make this adjustment were not available. The sources of L. carponotatus recruits to OTI could be identified more definitively through genetic parentage analyses (e.g., Williamson et al., 2016) or mark, recapture experiments, where the otoliths of larvae are tagged with maternally transmitted stable isotopes (e.g., Almany et al., 2007).

The Recruitment of *Lutjanus carponotatus* to One Tree Island

There was considerable inter-annual variability in the abundance of *L. carponotatus* recruits recorded at OTI. In some years there was total recruitment failure, where no recruits were observed. While variability in recruitment is common in coral reef ecosystems, the virtual absence of recruits seems unusually extreme (Doherty, 2002; DeMartini et al., 2013), especially since lutjanid larvae are typically robust and strong swimming (Leis,

2006) and some self-recruitment would be expected (Jones, 2015). We found that the abundance of recruits varied with the prevalence of survivor specific favorable winds during the period of peak production, when the recruits were most likely to be in their larval stage. Biophysical modeling suggested that the identified winds drove currents that kept the larval plume concentrated in the CBG, reducing larval mortality through expatriation. The larval period is the only stage in the lifecycle of L. carponotatus where the wind-driven current could feasibly have a direct effect on mortality because L. carponotatus are strong swimming and are reef-associated after settlement. The significance of the correlation between recruitment and favorable winds suggests that variability in recruitment was influenced by physical forcing during the larval stage. Physical forcings that affect larval mortality have previously been linked to the recruitment of commercially important species, where recruitment into the fishery occurs years after the larvae are spawned (e.g., Caputi et al., 1996; Wilderbuer et al., 2013). However, robust empirical models where physical conditions are good predictors of recruitment are rare and scarcely used in fisheries management (Skern-Mauritzen et al., 2016). There are exceptions, such as the use of an upwelling index in the models predicting the recruitment of Anchovy, Engraulis encrasicholus, to the Bay of Biscay in the northeast Atlantic Ocean (Skern-Mauritzen et al., 2016). Here we have provided a model to predict when the recruitment of L. carponotatus to OTI will be good or bad; similar empirical models may have broader applicability in the CBG, and in other reef complexes in the GBR. As ocean monitoring technologies improve, enhancing our ability to forecast biological indices, scientists and end-users must communicate effectively to utilize such empirical models to their full potential (Payne et al., 2017).

The correlation we present here only considers the effects of larval mortality on recruit abundance, specifically by expatriation from wind driven currents. The significance of the relationship suggests that larval mortality by expatriation is an important determinant of the recruitment of *L. carponotatus* to OTI. However, there was considerable unexplained variability in the relationship which was probably attributable to other reproductive and pre and post settlement processes known to influence recruitment. Further, the implications of the assumptions made in the biophysical modeling were discussed previously; assumptions were similarly made in the empirical modeling which would have contributed to the unexplained variability in the correlation.

The influence of variability in reproduction was not accounted for in our correlation. Firstly, variability in the reproductive capacity of adults can affect the magnitude of recruitment. The larval supply can be a good predictor of recruitment (Milicich et al., 1992), and it can be affected by fluctuations in spawner biomass (Jennings et al., 2001). We presented data showing that consistently high numbers of *L. carponotatus* adults were present at OTI over the 23-year sampling period; however, there were no data available for the numbers of *L. carponotatus* adults at other reefs in the CBG or the surrounding region. The magnitude of fluctuations in the biomass of the stock of *L. carponotatus* contributing offspring to OTI is

therefore unknown. Changes in fecundity can also affect the reproductive capacity of a population. The fecundity of an individual can depend on the availability of resources, where the abundance/scarcity of resources determines their allocation toward reproduction (Duponchelle et al., 2000). Upwelling can boost productivity in coral reefs which are generally located in oligotrophic surface waters (Wolanski and Delesalle, 1995). Increased productivity could have a trickle up affect whereby an increase in primary production boosts secondary production, increasing the abundance of the prey species targeted by the predatory L. carponotatus (Jennings et al., 2001). Multiple sources of upwelling have been identified in the southern GBR, including strong northerly winds and the Capricorn Eddy (CE; Weeks et al., 2010; Mao and Luick, 2014). Finally, when we correlated the prevalence of favorable winds with recruitment, we only considered winds, and therefore spawning, in the period of peak L. carponotatus production (October to January; Russell et al., 1977; Kritzer, 2004). Some L. carponotatus clearly spawn outside of these months. Kritzer (2004) found that at least 50% of the ovaries from L. carponotatus females in the Palm and Lizard Island groups were ripe for 7 months of the year from September to February and recruits from this study were spawned in May. Variability in the magnitude and timing of spawning can cause large fluctuations in the supply of larvae within and among spawning seasons (Milicich et al., 1992). Such fluctuations can be more pronounced at the southern extremes of the distributions of species (e.g., Fowler, 1991), and the CBG is at the southern end of the range of *L. carponotatus*. Given the expected irregularity in larval production, misalignments could have occurred where favorable winds were present when larval production was low and vice versa. Such misalignments would weaken the relationship between recruitment and the prevalence of favorable winds.

While retention under favorable winds was considered in the presented correlation, numerous other pre-settlement processes can affect the magnitude of recruitment. Larval mortality can affect larval supply and, subsequently, recruitment (Milicich et al., 1992). There are many sources of larval mortality including starvation (e.g., Cushing, 1975, 1990), predation (e.g., Moller, 1984; McGurk, 1986) and expatriation (e.g., Sponaugle and Pinkard, 2004). Starvation can be a major source of mortality in fish larvae (Leggett and Deblois, 1994). As with the adults, the upwelling of nutrient rich water can increase the availability of species that larvae prey on, and improve the nutritional content of prey items (Jennings et al., 2001). The larval mortality rate of L. carponotatus larvae in the southern GBR could be reduced if their spawning coincides with an upwelling event, as proposed in the match mismatch hypothesis (Cushing, 1990). In this study, we defined "favorable winds" as balanced; if the northerly winds linked to upwelling in the southern GBR formed part of a balanced wind cycle, they could have been included in the correlation through being categorized as "favourable." In this way, differential mortality from starvation could have indirectly influenced the presented correlation. Further, predation pressure on the eggs and larvae of marine species can be intense (Purcell, 1985; Bailey and Houde, 1989), and can vary with physical conditions (e.g., Frank and Leggett, 1982). It is possible that inter-annual variability in the rate of predation on L.

carponotatus eggs and larvae influenced recruitment to OTI but there are no data available to examine this possibility. Finally, while the impact of larval retention under favorable winds was examined in the presented correlation, the impact of retention/expatriation in other scenarios was not considered. Larvae can be retained in the CBG under non-favorable wind conditions, as demonstrated with the biophysical model. Settlers arriving under these alternate wind conditions would degrade the presented relationship between the prevalence of survivor specific winds and recruitment. Additionally, the correlation we presented does not incorporate data on the influences of other oceanographic forces, such as the CE and the North Caledonian Jet (NCJ). The CE can greatly affect the currents in the CBG (present study; Mao and Luick, 2014) and the NCJ is a principal driver of the currents in the GBR system (Andrews and Clegg, 1989; Wolanski, 1994). Inter-annual variability in the prevalence and strength of the CE, and the strength of the NCJ could therefore greatly influence larval mortality through expatriation, independent of the influence of favorable winds. Further, we did not examine the potential for these and other dispersive forces to bring recruits from reefs outside of the CBG to OTI. Post settlement mortality (Hixon, 2015) can also affect recruitment patterns. A 13-16 month gap between peak larval production and recruitment was incorporated into the model, meaning recruits could have been settled for up to 15 months before recruitment was measured. Given this lag, and the substantial mortality newly settled fish can experience (Sale and Ferrell, 1988), the decoupling of a settlement signal from the later measure of recruitment is plausible. Variation in habitat quality (Jones et al., 2004), predation (Hixon, 2015), and density dependant mortality (Schmitt and Holbrook, 1999) can all affect the survivorship of recruits.

The Wind and Recruitment

Wind patterns had a great influence on the modeled larval dispersal trajectories and, therefore, probably greatly affected the recruitment of L. carponotatus to OTI. The impact of the wind was unsurprising given the CBG lies on a shallow section of the Australian continental shelf, and winds can be the principal driver of currents in shallow waters (e.g., Pattrick et al., 2013). Indeed, Mao and Luick (2014) found strong correlations between the winds and the surface currents in the CBG region. In this study we found that fish that had successfully arrived at OTI survived either longshore SSE winds with a balanced cross shelf component, or cross shelf ENE winds with a balanced longshore component. Both conditions induced insubstantial, unidirectional movement in the larval plume, keeping it concentrated in the CBG. Consequently, the scenarios with these winds had the greatest recruitment potential. Other studies have similarly found that wind induced oscillatory flow patterns can concentrate plumes of fish larvae, facilitating recruitment (Basterretxea et al., 2013). Further, the winds identified to be favorable for recruitment in this study were highly seasonal. The seasonality of favorable recruitment conditions has been documented in multiple environments, from coral reefs in the Philippines (Abesamis and Russ, 2010; Abesamis et al., 2017) to coastal fisheries in the NW Mediterranean (Basterretxea et al., 2012).

The larval supply of lutjanids to OTI over the course of 1 month has previously been linked to periods (8/9 days) of offshore winds advecting larvae to the island from the NW (Kingsford and Finn, 1997). These winds could have been part of an alternating longshore wind cycle, like the cycle that occurred when the L. carponotatus from the 2015 cohort were in the plankton. The conclusions of Kingsford and Finn (1997) reinforce the importance of wind to recruitment in the CBG region, but suggest that there may be a greater variety of favorable wind scenarios than were identified in this study. Logically, the transportation of larvae to OTI from the NW would be favorable for recruitment if larval production was high at reefs NW of OTI. The direction of larval transport would change over an extended spawning season, such as that of L. carponotatus, due to the seasonality of the winds in the region. Further research into the spatial and temporal variability in L. carponotatus reproductive output, in relation to the seasonality of the wind, may refine our understanding of recruitment variability.

Relatedly, "balanced winds," as defined in this paper, could arise from numerous scenarios where there are alternations in the strength and duration of the longshore and cross shelf winds. Each distinct scenario would have a unique influence on larval transportation and survival. For example, the dispersive forces acting on a larval plume could be reduced during a wind relaxation (Abesamis and Russ, 2010; Cuif et al., 2014). Conversely, the waves generated by strong winds could increase mixing and induce a current shear (Simpson and Dickey, 1981). A more detailed knowledge of the composition of "balanced winds" could be gained through analyzing the variability in the wind. Time series analysis techniques, such as spectral analysis (e.g., Taggart and Leggett, 1987), could be used to decompose the variability in the wind. Alternatively, future research could look at the frequency of calm periods or extreme events, analogous to the approach of Peterman and Bradford (1987) who found that the frequency of low wind speed periods (Lasker events) during the northern anchovy (Engraulis mordax) spawning season was correlated with the larval mortality rate.

The Capricorn Eddy

The CE was detrimental for recruitment in most scenarios as it advected large numbers of larvae eastward from the CBG into oceanic waters. Sponaugle et al. (2005) found that the arrival of multi-taxa larval pulses to reefs in the Florida Keys coincided with the passage of sub mesoscale eddies with diameters of 10 to 40 km, produced from the decay of larger mesoscale eddies 100-200 km in diameter. The little researched CE appears to have a diameter of approximately 100 km when present (Weeks et al., 2010; Mao and Luick, 2014). The CE may retain the larvae that it advects from reefs in the CBG, and from the Swain Reefs to the north of the CBG. However, the timely transport of these larvae back to reefal waters within the 22 to 28 day PLD of L. carponotatus is unlikely given the size of the CE in relation to the submesoscale eddies linked to favorable recruitment in the Florida Keys. As mentioned previously, the CE can be a source of upwelling in the southern GBR (Weeks et al., 2010; Mao and Luick, 2014). Consequently, larval mortality from starvation may be reduced when the CE is present, and the settlers that arrive at OTI may be in better condition than those that were in the plankton when the CE was absent. In this way, the positive ecological effects of the CE could counteract its negative dispersive effects. Research into the characteristics of the CE is required to better understand its ecological impact on the southern GBR.

The Importance of Larval Swimming Behavior

The inclusion of swimming behavior caused order of magnitude increases in the number of potential settlers present around OTI at the end of the PLD. Larval mortality from expatriation was reduced when swimming was included, as indicated by the modeled increase in the return rate. Wolanski and Kingsford (2014) also calculated the percentage of modeled passive and swimming larvae seeded from OTI that had returned to OTI by the end of a PLD. They sequentially varied the physical and biological parameterization of a biophysical model and similarly found that the inclusion of behavior improved larval survival. The projected rate of return ranged from 0.6 to 5.9% when the larvae were modeled as passive. When they were programmed to swim the upper limit of the modeled rate of return increased significantly, with the projected rates ranging from 0.4 to 28.8%. Many studies have similarly found that the inclusion of behavior in models vastly improved the predicted larval retention and subsequent recruitment (e.g., Paris et al., 2007; Butler et al., 2011; Basterretxea et al., 2013). In addition to improving the overall projected recruitment, when larvae were made to swim, they counteracted the adverse dispersive forces of strong winds and the CE. Consequently, the relative favorability of the modeled oceanographic conditions changed so equivalent or greater numbers of potential settlers were recorded in the scenarios with strong winds and/or the CE, compared to the scenario with average winds and no CE. Such fundamental changes in results have been recorded in other biophysical modeling studies following the inclusion of behavior. For example, Paris et al. (2007) found that the inclusion of diel vertical migration behavior and larval mortality into a biophysical model of the western Caribbean changed the simulated connectivity in the region. The present study supports the consensus that the inclusion of behavior in biophysical models is critical if the organism being modeled can influence its dispersion (Wolanski, 2017). This has been shown true for a range of species, from fishes and corals with short PLD's (e.g., Wolanski and Kingsford, 2014) to crustaceans with long PLD's (e.g., Butler et al., 2011) and jellyfishes with adult pelagic phases (e.g., Fossette et al., 2015; Schlaefer et al., 2018).

CONCLUSIONS

The recruitment of *L. carponotatus* to OTI was highly variable over the 23-year study period. The gains in adult abundance that followed sustained recruitment suggested that the size of the adult population was largely determined through variation

in recruitment. The potential for L. carponotatus larvae from the CBG to recruit to OTI was greatest in the currents driven by the winds that were present during the pelagic phases of the fish we collected at OTI. There was a significant positive relationship between the prevalence of these wind conditions during the period of peak L. carponotatus larval production and the measured recruitment in the following year. The prevalence of the identified winds could therefore be used as a proxy to predict recruitment. Larvae arrived at OTI in comparably smaller numbers in the modeling scenarios forced with either average or strong winds, and with or without the CE. This study highlighted the substantial impact that the inclusion of larval swimming behavior can have on the predicted recruitment, in accordance with other biophysical modeling studies. We worked at a fine temporal resolution, identifying and modeling the specific pelagic conditions survived by fish that had successfully arrived at OTI. The favorable winds may not have been identified if the investigation was conducted at a coarser temporal resolution, demonstrating the efficacy of studying the conditions experienced by survivors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of James Cook Universities policies, procedures and guidelines, Animal Ethics Committee at James Cook University. The protocol was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee at James Cook University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS, EW, and MK: Study conception and design; JS, EW, and MK: Data collection and analysis; JS, EW, and JL: Biophysical modeling; JS: Drafting the manuscript; JS, EW, JL, and MK: Revising the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by multiple grants awarded to MK from the Australian Research Council (ARC), including funding from the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the numerous people who assisted with the fish counts over the 23 years of data collection. We particularly thank Mark O'Callaghan, who prepared the otoliths for analysis in addition to assisting with the fish counts, and Kynan Hartog-Burnett who collected the potential settlers. The Acoustic Doppler Current Profiler (ADCP) data used to validate the SLIM simulations were sourced from the Integrated Marine Observing System (IMOS; http://www.imos.org.au) - IMOS is supported by the Australian Government through the National Collaborative Research Infrastructure Strategy and the Super Science Initiative.

REFERENCES

- Abesamis, R. A., and Russ, G. R. (2010). Patterns of recruitment of coral reef fishes in a monsoonal environment. *Coral Reefs* 29, 911–921. doi: 10.1007/s00338-010-0653-y
- Abesamis, R. A., Saenz-Agudelo, P., Berumen, M. L., Bode, M., Jadloc, C. R. L., Solera, L. A., et al. (2017). Reef-fish larval dispersal patterns validate no-take marine reserve network connectivity that links human communities. *Coral Reefs* 36, 791–801. doi: 10.1007/s00338-017-1570-0
- Almany, G. R., Berumen, M. L., Thorrold, S. R., Planes, S., and Jones, G. P. (2007). Local replenishment of coral reef fish populations in a marine reserve. *Science* 316, 742–744. doi: 10.1126/science.1140597
- Andrews, J. C., and Clegg, S. (1989). Coral Sea circulation deduced from modal information models. *Deep Sea Res. A Oceanogr. Res. Papers* 36, 957–974. doi: 10.1016/0198-0149(89)90037-X
- Andutta, F. P., Kingsford, M. J., and Wolanski, E. (2012). 'Sticky water' enables the retention of larvae in a reef mosaic. *Estuarine Coast. Shelf Sci.* 101, 54–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2012.02.013
- Andutta, F. P., Ridd, P. V., and Wolanski, E. (2011). Dynamics of hypersaline coastal waters in the Great Barrier Reef. *Estuarine Coast. Shelf Sci.* 94, 299–305. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2011.06.009
- Andutta, F. P., Ridd, P. V., and Wolanski, E. (2013). The age and the flushing time of the Great Barrier Reef waters. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 53, 11–19. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2012.11.016
- Bailey, K. M., and Houde, E. D. (1989). Predation on eggs and larvae of marine fishes and the recruitment problem. Adv. Mar. Biol. 25, 1–83. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(08)60187-X
- Basterretxea, G., Catalan, I. A., Jordi, A., Alvarez, I., Palmer, M., and Sabates, A. (2013). Dynamic regulation of larval fish self-recruitment in a marine protected area. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 22, 477–495. doi: 10.1111/fog.12035
- Basterretxea, G., Jordi, A., Catalan, I. A., and Sabates, A. (2012). Model-based assessment of local-scale fish larval connectivity in a network of marine protected areas. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 21, 291–306. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2419.2012.00625.x
- Beaman, R. J. (2010). "Project 3DGBR: A High-Resolution Depth Model for the Great Barrier Reef and Coral Sea. Marine and Tropical Sciences Research Facility (MTSRF) Project 2.5i.1a Final Report" (Cairns, Australia: MTSRF).
- Berenshtein, I., Kiflawi, M., Shashar, N., Wieler, U., Agiv, H., and Paris, C. B. (2014). Polarized light sensitivity and orientation in coral reef fish post-larvae. *PLoS ONE* 9:e88468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088468
- Black, K. P., Moran, P. J., and Hammond, L. S. (1991). Numerical-models show coral reefs can be self-seeding. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 74, 1–11. doi: 10.3354/meps074001
- Bottesch, M., Gerlach, G., Halbach, M., Bally, A., Kingsford, M. J., and Mouritsen, H. (2016). A magnetic compass that might help coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *Curr. Biol.* 26, R1266–R1267. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.10.051
- Burgess, S. C., Kingsford, M. J., and Black, K. P. (2007). Influence of tidal eddies and wind on the distribution of presettlement fishes around One Tree Island, Great Barrier Reef. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 341, 233–242. doi: 10.3354/meps341233
- Buston, P. M., Jones, G. P., Planes, S., and Thorrold, S. R. (2012). Probability of successful larval dispersal declines fivefold over 1 km in a coral reef fish. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 279, 1883–1888. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.2041
- Butler, M. J., Paris, C. B., Goldstein, J. S., Matsuda, H., and Cowen, R. K. (2011). Behavior constrains the dispersal of long-lived spiny lobster larvae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 422, 223–237. doi: 10.3354/meps08878
- Caputi, N., Fletcher, W. J., Pearce, A., and Chubb, C. F. (1996). Effect of the leeuwin current on the recruitment of fish and invertebrates along the Western Australian coast. *Mar. Freshwater Res.* 47, 147–155. doi: 10.1071/MF9960147
- Choi, K. W., and Lee, J. H. W. (2004). Numerical determination of flushing time for stratified water bodies. J. Mar. Syst. 50, 263–281. doi: 10.1016/j.jmarsys.2004.04.005
- Clarke, M. E., Domeier, M. L., and Laroche, W. A. (1997). Development of larvae and juveniles of the mutton snapper (*Lutjanus analis*), lane snapper (*Lutjanus synagris*) and yellowtail snapper (*Lutjanus chrysurus*). *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 61, 511–537.
- Cowen, R. K., Lwiza, K. M. M., Sponaugle, S., Paris, C. B., and Olson, D. B. (2000). Connectivity of marine populations: open or closed? *Science* 287, 857–859. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5454.857

- Cowen, R. K., Paris, C. B., and Srinivasan, A. (2006). Scaling of connectivity in marine populations. *Science* 311, 522–527. doi: 10.1126/science.11 22039
- Critchell, K., Grech, A., Schlaefer, J., Andutta, F. P., Lambrechts, J., Wolanski, E., et al. (2015). Modelling the fate of marine debris along a complex shoreline: lessons from the Great Barrier Reef. *Estuarine Coast. Shelf Sci.* 167, 414–426. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2015.10.018
- Cuif, M., Kaplan, D. M., Lefevre, J., Faure, V. M., Caillaud, M., Verley, P., et al. (2014). Wind-induced variability in larval retention in a coral reef system: a biophysical modelling study in the South-West lagoon of New Caledonia. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 122, 105–115. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2013.12.006
- Cushing, D. H. (1975). *Marine Ecology and Fisheries*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cushing, D. H. (1990). Plankton production and year-class strength in fish populations - an update of the match mismatch hypothesis. *Adv. Mar. Biol.* 26, 249–293. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(08)60202-3
- Delandmeter, P., Lambrechts, J., Marmorino, G. O., Legat, V., Wolanski, E., Remacle, J. F., et al. (2017). Submesoscale tidal eddies in the wake of coral islands and reefs: satellite data and numerical modelling. *Ocean Dyn.* 67, 897–913. doi: 10.1007/s10236-017-1066-z
- DeMartini, E. E., Wren, J. L. K., and Kobayashi, D. R. (2013). Persistent spatial patterns of recruitment in a guild of Hawaiian coral reef fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 485, 165–179. doi: 10.3354/meps10306
- Dixson, D. L., Jones, G. P., Munday, P. L., Planes, S., Pratchett, M. S., Srinivasan, M., et al. (2008). Coral reef fish smell leaves to find island homes. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 275, 2831–2839. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2008.0876
- Doherty, P. J. (1983). Tropical territorial damselfishes is density limited by aggression or recruitment. *Ecology* 64, 176–190. doi: 10.2307/1937339
- Doherty, P. J. (1987). The replenishment of populations of coral-reef fishes, recruitment surveys, and the problems of variability manifest on multiple scales. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 41, 411–422.
- Doherty, P. J. (2002). "Variable replenishment and the dynamics of reef fish populations," in *Coral Reef Fishes: Dynamics and Diversity in a Complex Ecosystem*, ed P. F. Sale (San Diego, CA: Elsevier Science).
- Duponchelle, F., Cecchi, P., Corbin, D., Nunez, J., and Legendre, M. (2000). Variations in fecundity and egg size of female Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus, from man-made lakes of Cote d'Ivoire. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 57, 155–170. doi: 10.1023/A:1007575624937
- Fisher, R. (2005). Swimming speeds of larval coral reef fishes: impacts on self-recruitment and dispersal. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 285, 223–232. doi: 10.3354/meps285223
- Fisher, R., and Bellwood, D. R. (2002). The influence of swimming speed on sustained swimming performance of late-stage reef fish larvae. *Mar. Biol.* 140, 801–807. doi: 10.1007/s00227-001-0758-5
- Fisher, R., Leis, J. M., Clark, D. L., and Wilson, S. K. (2005). Critical swimming speeds of late-stage coral reef fish larvae: variation within species, among species and between locations. *Mar. Biol.* 147, 1201–1212. doi: 10.1007/s00227-005-0001-x
- Fisher, R., and Wilson, S. K. (2004). Maximum sustainable swimming speeds of late-stage larvae of nine species of reef fishes. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 312, 171–186. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2004.06.009
- Fletcher, W. J. (1995). Application of the otolith weight age relationship for the pilchard, sardinops-sagax neopilchardus. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52, 657–664. doi: 10.1139/f95-066
- Fossette, S., Gleiss, A. C., Chalumeau, J., Bastian, T., Armstrong, C. D., Vandenabeele, S., et al. (2015). Current-oriented swimming by jellyfish and its role in bloom maintenance. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 342–347. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.11.050
- Fowler, A. J. (1991). Reproductive-biology of bisexual and all-female populations of Chaetodontid fishes from the southern Great-Barrier-Reef. *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 31, 261–274. doi: 10.1007/BF00000691
- Frank, K. T., and Leggett, W. C. (1982). Coastal water mass replacement its effect on zooplankton dynamics and the predator prey complex associated with larval capelin (*mallotus-villosus*). *Can. J. Fisheries Aquat. Sci.* 39, 991–1003. doi: 10.1139/f82-134
- Ganachaud, A., Cravatte, S., Melet, A., Schiller, A., Holbrook, N. J., Sloyan, B. M., et al. (2014). The Southwest Pacific Ocean circulation and climate experiment (SPICE). J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 119, 7660–7686. doi: 10.1002/2013JC009678

- Gerlach, G., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., Black, K. P., and Miller-Sims, V. (2007). Smelling home can prevent dispersal of reef fish larvae. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 104, 858–863. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606777104
- Hare, J. A., Quinlan, J. A., Werner, F. E., Blanton, B. O., Govoni, J. J., Forward, R. B., et al. (1999). Larval transport during winter in the SABRE study area: results of a coupled vertical larval behaviour-three dimensional circulation model. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 8, 57–76. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2419.1999.00017.x
- Hixon, M. A. (2015). "Predation: Piscivory and the Ecology of Coral Reef Fishes," in Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs, ed C. Mora (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 41–52.
- Houde, E. D. (2008). Emerging from Hjort's Shadow. J. Northwest Atlantic Fish. Sci. 41, 53–70. doi: 10.2960/J.v41.m634
- Jennings, S., Kaiser, M. J., and Reynolds, J. D. (2001). *Marine Fisheries Ecology*. Oxford and Northampton, Great Britain: Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Jones, G. P. (2015). "Mission Impossible: Unlocking the Secrets of Coral Reef Fish Dispersal," in *Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs*, ed C. Mora (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 16–27.
- Jones, G. P., Mccormick, M. I., Srinivasan, M., and Eagle, J. V. (2004). Coral decline threatens fish biodiversity in marine reserves. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 8251–8253. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401277101
- Jones, G. P., Milicich, M. J., Emslie, M. J., and Lunow, C. (1999). Self-recruitment in a coral reef fish population. *Nature* 402, 802–804. doi: 10.1038/45538
- Kingsford, M. J. (1998). "Reef fishes," in *Studying Temperate Marine Environments*, eds M.J. Kingsford and C. Battershill (Christchurch, New Zealand: Canterbury University Press), 162–166.
- Kingsford, M. J. (2009). Contrasting patterns of reef utilization and recruitment of coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) and snapper (*Lutjanus carponotatus*) at One Tree Island, southern Great Barrier Reef. *Coral Reefs* 28, 251–264. doi: 10.1007/s00338-008-0421-4
- Kingsford, M. J., and Finn, M. (1997). The influence of phase of the moon and physical processes on the input of presettlement fishes to coral reefs. J. Fish Biol. 51, 176–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.1997.tb06099.x
- Kingsford, M. J., Leis, J. M., Shanks, A., Lindeman, K. C., Morgan, S. G., and Pineda, J. (2002). Sensory environments, larval abilities and local selfrecruitment. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 70, 309–340.
- Kritzer, J. P. (2004). Sex-specific growth and mortality, spawning season, and female maturation of the stripey bass (*Lutjanus carponotatus*) on the Great Barrier Reef. *Fish. Bull.* 102, 94–107.
- Lambrechts, J., Hanert, E., Deleersnijder, E., Bernard, P.-E., Legat, V., Remacle, J.-F., et al. (2008). A multi-scale model of the hydrodynamics of the whole Great Barrier Reef. *Estuarine Coast. Shelf Sci.* 79, 143–151. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2008.03.016
- Leggett, W. C., and Deblois, E. (1994). Recruitment in marine fishes: is it regulated by staravtion and predation in the egg and larval stage? *Netherlands J. Sea Res.* 32, 119–134. doi: 10.1016/0077-7579(94)90036-1
- Leis, J. M. (2006). "Are Larvae of Demersal Fishes Plankton or Nekton?" in *Advances in Marine Biology*, eds A. J. Southward and D. W. Sims (London: Academic Press Ltd-Elsevier Science Ltd.), 57–141.
- Leis, J. M., and Carson-Ewart, B. M. (2003). Orientation of pelagic larvae of coral-reef fishes in the ocean. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 252, 239–253. doi: 10.3354/meps252239
- Lenanton, R. C., Joll, L., Penn, J., and Jones, K. (1991). The influence of the leeuwin current on coastal fisheries of Western Australia. J. R. Soc. West. Aust. 74, 101–114.
- Leu, M. Y., and Liou, C. H. (2013). The larval development of the Russell's snapper, *Lutjanus russellii* (Teleostei: Lutjanidae) reared under laboratory conditions. *J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK.* 93, 1695–1701. doi: 10.1017/S0025315413 000131
- Luick, J. L., Mason, L., Hardy, T., and Furnas, M. J. (2007). Circulation in the Great Barrier Reef Lagoon using numerical tracers and in situ data. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 27, 757–778. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2006.11.020
- Mann, D. A., Casper, B. M., Boyle, K. S., and Tricas, T. C. (2007). On the attraction of larval fishes to reef sounds. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 338, 307–310. doi: 10.3354/meps338307
- Mantovanelli, A., Heron, M. L., Heron, S. F., and Steinberg, C. R. (2012). Relative dispersion of surface drifters in a barrier reef region. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 117, 15. doi: 10.1029/2012JC008106

- Mao, Y., and Luick, J. L. (2014). Circulation in the southern Great Barrier Reef studied through an integration of multiple remote sensing and in situ measurements. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 119, 1621–1643. doi: 10.1002/2013JC009397
- McGurk, M. D. (1986). Natural mortality of marine pelagic fish eggs and larvae: role of spatial patchiness. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 34, 227–242. doi: 10.3354/meps034227
- Melbourne-Thomas, J., Johnson, C. R., Alino, P. M., Geronimo, R. C., Villanoy, C. L., and Gurney, G. G. (2011). A multi-scale biophysical model to inform regional management of coral reefs in the western Philippines and South China Sea. *Environ. Model. Softw.* 26, 66–82. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2010.03.033
- Milicich, M. J., Meekan, M. G., and Doherty, P. (1992). Larval supply: a good predictor of recuitment of three species of reef fish (Pomacentridae). *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 86, 153–166. doi: 10.3354/meps086153
- Mitarai, S., Siegel, D. A., and Winters, K. B. (2008). A numerical study of stochastic larval settlement in the California current system. J. Mar. Syst. 69, 295–309. doi: 10.1016/j.jmarsys.2006.02.017
- Moller, H. (1984). Reduction of a larval herring population by jellyfish predator. *Science* 224, 621–622. doi: 10.1126/science.224.4649.621
- Mouritsen, H., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., and Gerlach, G. (2013). Sun compass orientation helps coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *PLoS ONE* 8:e66039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066039
- Newman, S. J., Williams, D. M., and Russ, G. R. (1996). Age validation, growth and mortality rates of the tropical snappers (Pisces: Lutjanidae) *Lutjanus adetii* (Castelnau, 1873) and *L. quinquelineatus* (Bloch, 1790) from the central Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Mar. Freshwater Res.* 47, 575–584. doi: 10.1071/MF9960575
- Paris, C. B., Atema, J., Irisson, J. O., Kingsford, M., Gerlach, G., and Guigand, C. M. (2013). Reef odor: a wake up call for navigation in Reef Fish Larvae. *PLoS ONE* 8:e72808. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072808
- Paris, C. B., Cherubin, L. M., and Cowen, R. K. (2007). Surfing, spinning, or diving from reef to reef: effects on population connectivity. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 347, 285–300. doi: 10.3354/meps06985
- Paris, C. B., and Cowen, R. K. (2004). Direct evidence of a biophysical retention mechanism for coral reef fish larvae. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 49, 1964–1979. doi: 10.4319/lo.2004.49.6.1964
- Pattrick, P., Strydom, N. A., and Goschen, W. S. (2013). Shallow-water, nearshore current dynamics in Algoa Bay, South Africa, with notes on the implications for larval fish dispersal. *Afr. J. Mar. Sci.* 35, 269–282. doi: 10.2989/1814232X.2013.798593
- Payne, M. R., Hobday, A. J., Mackenzie, B. R., Tommasi, D., Dempsey, D. P., Fässler, S. M. M., et al. (2017). Lessons from the First Generation of Marine Ecological Forecast Products. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 4:289. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2017.00289
- Peterman, R. M., and Bradford, M. J. (1987). Wind-speed and mortality-rate of a marine fish, the northern anchovy (*Engraulis mordax*). Science 235, 354–356. doi: 10.1126/science.235.4786.354
- Prandle, D. (1984). A modeling study of the mixing of 137Cs in the seas of the European continental shelf. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Series A* 310, 407–436. doi: 10.1098/rsta.1984.0002
- Purcell, J. E. (1985). Predation on fish eggs and larvae by pelagic cnidarians and ctenophores. Bull. Mar. Sci. 37, 739–755.
- Radford, C. A., Tindle, C. T., Montgomery, J. C., and Jeffs, A. G. (2011). Modelling a reef as an extended sound source increases the predicted range at which reef noise may be heard by fish larvae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 438, 167–174. doi: 10.3354/meps09312
- Russell, B. C., Anderson, G. R. V., and Talbot, F. H. (1977). Seasonality and recruitment of coral-reef fishes. Austr. J. Mar. Freshwater Res. 28, 521–528. doi: 10.1071/MF9770521
- Sale, P. F., and Ferrell, D. J. (1988). Early survivorship of juvenile coral reef fishes. Coral Reefs 7, 117–124. doi: 10.1007/BF00300971
- Schlaefer, J. A., Wolanski, E., and Kingsford, M. J. (2018). Swimming behavior can maintain localised jellyfish (*Chironex fleckeri*, Cubozoa) populations. *Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser.* 591, 287–302. doi: 10.3354/meps12305
- Schmitt, R. J., and Holbrook, S. J. (1999). Mortality of juvenile damselfish: implications for assessing processes that determine abundance. *Ecology* 80, 35–50. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(1999)080[0035:MOJDIF]2.0.CO;2

- Siegel, D. A., Kinlan, B. P., Gaylord, B., and Gaines, S. D. (2003). Lagrangian descriptions of marine larval dispersion. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 260, 83–96. doi: 10.3354/meps260083
- Siegel, D. A., Mitarai, S., Costello, C. J., Gaines, S. D., Kendall, B. E., Warner, R. R., et al. (2008). The stochastic nature of larval connectivity among nearshore marine populations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 8974–8979. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802544105
- Simpson, J. J., and Dickey, T. D. (1981). The relationship between downward irradiance and upper ocean structure. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 11, 309–323. doi: 10. 1175/1520-0485(1981)011<0309:TRBDIA>2.0.CO;2
- Simpson, S. D., Piercy, J. J. B., King, J., and Codling, E. A. (2013). Modelling larval dispersal and behaviour of coral reef fishes. *Ecol. Complex.* 16, 68–76. doi: 10.1016/j.ecocom.2013.08.001
- Sinclair, M. (1988). Marine Populations: An Essay on Population Regulation and Speciation. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press.
- Skern-Mauritzen, M., Ottersen, G., Handegard, N. O., Huse, G., Dingsor, G. E., Stenseth, N. C., et al. (2016). Ecosystem processes are rarely included in tactical fisheries management. *Fish Fish.* 17, 165–175. doi: 10.1111/faf. 12111
- Spagnol, S., Wolanski, E., Deleersnijder, E., Brinkman, R., Mcallister, F., Cushman-Roisin, B., et al. (2002). An error frequently made in the evaluation of advective transport in two-dimensional Lagrangian models of advection-diffusion in coral reef waters. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 235, 299–302. doi: 10.3354/meps2 35299
- Sponaugle, S., Lee, T., Kourafalou, V., and Pinkard, D. (2005). Florida current frontal eddies and the settlement of coral reef fishes. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 50, 1033–1048. doi: 10.4319/lo.2005.50.4.1033
- Sponaugle, S., and Pinkard, D. (2004). Lunar cyclic population replenishment of a coral reef fish: shifting patterns following oceanic events. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 267, 267–280. doi: 10.3354/meps267267
- Taggart, C. T., and Leggett, W. C. (1987). Wind-forced hydrodynamics and their interaction with larval fish and plankton abundance - a time-series analysis of physical biological data. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 44, 438–451. doi: 10.1139/f87-052
- Tolimieri, N., Sale, P. F., Nemeth, R. S., and Gestring, K. B. (1998). Replenishment of populations of Caribbean reef fishes: are spatial patterns of recruitment consistent through time? *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 230, 55–71. doi: 10.1016/S0022-0981(98)00083-5
- Valles, H., Hunte, W., and Kramer, D. L. (2009). Variable temporal relationships between environment and recruitment in coral reef fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 379, 225–240. doi: 10.3354/meps07886
- Victor, B. C. (1983). Recruitment and population-dynamics of a coral-reef fish. *Science* 219, 419–420. doi: 10.1126/science.219.4583.419
- Victor, B. C. (1986). Larval settlement and juvenile mortality in a recruitment-limited coral-reef fish population. *Ecol. Monogr.* 56, 145–160. doi: 10.2307/1942506
- Webster, M. A., and Petkovic, P. (2005). Australian Bathymetry and Topography Grid June 2005. Record 2005/12. Geoscience Australia.

- Weeks, S. J., Bakun, A., Steinberg, C. R., Brinkman, R., and Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2010). The Capricorn Eddy: a prominent driver of the ecology and future of the southern Great Barrier Reef. *Coral Reefs* 29, 975–985. doi: 10.1007/s00338-010-0644-z
- Wilderbuer, T., Stockhausen, W., and Bond, N. (2013). Updated analysis of flatfish recruitment response to climate variability and ocean conditions in the Eastern Bering Sea. *Deep Sea Res. Part II Topical Stud. Oceanogr.* 94, 157–164. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2013.03.021
- Wildermann, N., Critchell, K., Fuentes, M., Limpus, C. J., Wolanski, E., and Hamann, M. (2017). Does behaviour affect the dispersal of flatback post-hatchlings in the Great Barrier Reef? *R. Soc. Open Sci.* 4, 15. doi: 10.1098/rsos.170164
- Williamson, D. H., Harrison, H. B., Almany, G. R., Berumen, M. L., Bode, M., Bonin, M. C., et al. (2016). Large-scale, multidirectional larval connectivity among coral reef fish populations in the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. *Mol. Ecol.* 25, 6039–6054. doi: 10.1111/mec.13908
- Wolanski, E. (1994). *Physical Oceanographic Processes of the Great Barrier Reef.* (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press).
- Wolanski, E. (2017). Bounded and unbounded boundaries Untangling mechanisms for estuarine-marine ecological connectivity: Scales of m to 10,000 km – A review. *Estuarine, Coast. Shelf Sci.* 198, 378–392. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2016.06.022
- Wolanski, E., Asaeda, T., Tanaka, A., and Deleersnijder, E. (1996). Threedimensional island wakes in the field, laboratory and numerical models. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 16, 1437–1452. doi: 10.1016/0278-4343(95)00087-9
- Wolanski, E., and Delesalle, B. (1995). Upwelling by internal waves, Tahiti, French-Polynesia. Cont. Shelf Res. 15, 357–368. doi: 10.1016/0278-4343(93)E0004-R
- Wolanski, E., and Kingsford, M. J. (2014). Oceanographic and behavioural assumptions in models of the fate of coral and coral reef fish larvae. J. R. Soc. Interface 11:20140209. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2014.0209
- Wolanski, E., Lambrechts, J., Thomas, C., and Deleersnijder, E. (2013). The net water circulation through Torres strait. *Cont. Shelf. Res.* 64, 66–74. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2013.05.013
- Wright, K. J., Higgs, D. M., Cato, D. H., and Leis, J. M. (2010). Auditory sensitivity in settlement-stage larvae of coral reef fishes. *Coral Reefs* 29, 235–243. doi: 10.1007/s00338-009-0572-y

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Schlaefer, Wolanski, Lambrechts and Kingsford. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mechanisms of Cross-Shore Transport and Spatial Variability of Phytoplankton on a Rip-Channeled Beach

Atsushi G. Fujimura^{1*}, Ad J. H. M. Reniers², Claire B. Paris³, Alan L. Shanks⁴, Jamie H. MacMahan⁵ and Steven G. Morgan⁶

¹ Marine Laboratory, University of Guam, Mangilao, GU, United States, ² Department of Hydraulic Engineering, Delft University of Technology, Delft, Netherlands, ³ Rosenstiel School of Marine and Atmospheric Science, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States, ⁴ Oregon Institute of Marine Biology, University of Oregon, Charleston, OR, United States, ⁵ Department of Oceanography, Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA, United States, ⁶ Bodega Marine Laboratory, University of California, Davis, Bodega Bay, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alberto Basset, University of Salento, Italy

Reviewed by:

Sergio M. Vallina, Instituto Español de Oceanografía (IEO), Spain Kemal Can Bizsel, Deniz Bilimleri ve Teknolojisi Enstitüsü (IMST), Dokuz Eylül University, Turkey

> *Correspondence: Atsushi G. Fujimura fujimuraa@triton.uog.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 20 December 2017 Accepted: 07 May 2018 Published: 13 June 2018

Citation:

Fujimura AG, Reniers AJHM, Paris CB, Shanks AL, MacMahan JH and Morgan SG (2018) Mechanisms of Cross-Shore Transport and Spatial Variability of Phytoplankton on a Rip-Channeled Beach. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:183. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00183 We investigated whether cross-shore distributions of coastal phytoplankton to the surf zone are controlled by hydrodynamics and their biological characteristics. Data from a rip-channeled beach indicate that concentrations of phytoplankton are higher in the surf zone than offshore. To examine how phytoplankton is transported toward the shore, we used a coupled biophysical model, comprised of a 3D physical model of coastal dynamics and an individual-based model (IBM) for tracking phytoplankton on the rip-channeled beach. Waves and wind in the biophysical model were parameterized by the conditions during the sampling period. Previous studies indicated that growth rates of phytoplankton can be enhanced by high turbulence, which might contribute to high phytoplankton concentration in the surf zone. Some numerical and laboratory works showed that turbulence can also increase the downward velocity of phytoplankton, which could be carried by onshore bottom currents and remain in the surf zone. Furthermore, we adapted the IBM with the theoretical model of diurnal vertical migration (DVM) for phytoplankton. The theoretical DVM works as follows: in the morning, phytoplankton cells adhere to air bubbles and stay at the surface and close to the shore in the daytime because onshore wind and surface current direction is usually onshore; in the late afternoon, the cells switch their attachment from air bubbles to sand grains and sink to the bottom where the water flow is normally onshore at night. Finally, depth-varying growth of phytoplankton was also incorporated into the DVM module. Simulations using neutral passive particles do not give the expected results of observed patterns. All tested mechanisms, i.e., wind- and wave-driven currents, rip-current circulation, turbulence-driven growth and sinking, DVM, and depth-varying growth, enhanced onshore phytoplankton migration and cell concentrations in the surf zone, indicating that both biological traits and physical factors can be essential to phytoplankton cross-shore transport and spatial variability. Our model is open to be modified and re-parameterized, followed by further analysis and validation, so that it can be more adequate for ecological assessment of coastal areas.

Keywords: phytoplankton, cross-shore transport, surf zone, rip current, turbulence, vertical migration, cell growth

INTRODUCTION

Phytoplankton dynamics in coastal water largely influence marine ecosystems, fisheries, and coastal communities. For example, with favorable environmental conditions, phytoplankton can overgrow and cause harmful algal blooms (HABs) that often increase levels of toxic substances in the coastal area and the toxins accumulate in intertidal animals, and humans can suffer poisoning by consuming those toxic animals (Landsberg, 2002). Since many HAB species reside offshore, it is important to understand how they are transported to shore and possibly enter the surf zone, which is considered a "semi-permeable barrier" (Rilov et al., 2008; Shanks et al., 2010). As Shanks et al. (2016) showed, surf zone hydrodynamics affect onshore transport of Pseudo-nitzschia, one of the species causing HABs. Recent studies revealed that onshore larval migration can be influenced by surf zone hydrodynamics and characteristics of larvae (Fujimura et al., 2014, 2017; Shanks et al., 2015, 2017, 2018; Morgan et al., 2016, 2017); however, mechanisms of onshore transport of phytoplankton are not well understood.

Phytoplankton cannot be modeled as simple passive particles; some phytoplankton species can float, sink, or swim (Smayda, 1970, 2010). In turbulent conditions, larvae of various intertidal invertebrate species sink to the bottom (Denny and Shibata, 1989; Butman, 1990; Fuchs et al., 2004; Roy et al., 2012) or actively move downwards (Fuchs et al., 2013) that can be essential traits for onshore larval migration as a model study showed (Fujimura et al., 2014). Likewise, sinking velocity of phytoplankton cells may be increased by turbulence possibly with a different mechanism (Ruiz et al., 2004; Macías et al., 2013). This might be due to preferential downward movement of particles along the peripheries of local vortical structures (Wang and Maxey, 1993). With the same vortical mechanism, the floating velocity of positively buoyant phytoplankton cells may be enhanced by turbulence. Additionally, some phytoplankton species swim with flagella or cilia. These floating and swimming behaviors were not considered in our study.

Spatial distributions of phytoplankton in the coastal area may not be controlled only by transport, but also cell growth. Variability in growth rates of phytoplankton under different environments can make their distribution patterns more complicated. For instance, Savidge (1981) showed high turbulence could increase phytoplankton growth rate about 25– 75%. This may have resulted from higher levels of exposure to light and/or nutrient uptake in turbulence.

There is also diurnal periodicity in phytoplankton. Talbot et al. (1990) proposed the following diurnal vertical migration (DVM) model of surf zone phytoplankton species based on the series of their observational studies. At night, phytoplankton cells stay on the bottom by attaching to sediment with mucus they produce. In the morning, they lose the mucus and enter the water column by turbulent flows in the surf zone. Within the water column of the surf zone, they adhere to air bubbles produced by breaking waves, and increase their buoyancy. The cells float on the surface and grow in the daytime. During late afternoon, the cells start developing the mucus again and attach to sand grains to sink to the bottom. Mechanisms of formation and shedding of mucus as well as cells attaching to and detaching from air bubbles or sand grains have not been well studied. An ability to float at the surface by attaching to air bubbles or forming a semi-stable foam consisting of many small bubbles can be found in surf zone diatom species (Lewin and Schaefer, 1983). We combined the DVM model with a typical diurnal land-sea breeze cycle (i.e., onshore wind during the day and offshore wind at night). We hypothesized that phytoplankton cells stay near the surface and are kept in the surf zone by the sea breeze-driven currents during the daytime, and stay on the bottom where they are pushed toward shore by wave-driven bottom currents in the nighttime (Figure 1). Wave stress in the bottom boundary layer induces so-called benthic streaming, a bottom current flowing in the direction of wave propagation (Longuet-Higgins, 1953). Plankton near the bottom may be transported shoreward by streaming (Fujimura et al., 2014). Streaming may be weakened during daytime onshore wind events in order to balance with onshore surface flow (Figure 1).

Beach morphology also affects cross-shore transport of plankton (Shanks et al., 2010, 2017, 2018; Fujimura et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2017). Beaches can be classified as a dissipative beach with a wide surf zone and flat slope, intermediate, or reflective beach with a narrow surf zone and steep slope (Wright and Short, 1984; McLachlan and Brown, 2006). Surf zone phytoplankton taxa are found only at dissipative and intermediate beaches, but not in more reflective surf zones (Lewin and Schaefer, 1983; Talbot et al., 1990; Shanks et al., 2018). In this study, we focused on an intermediate beach where cross-shore exchange is enhanced by rip currents. There are several types of rip currents (Dalrymple et al., 2011; Castelle et al., 2016), but here we considered bathymetrically-controlled rip currents (Figure 2). When waves approach perpendicular to shore, onshore currents converge toward shoals due to wave refraction, then alongshore feeder currents accumulated in rip channels, causing offshore-directed rip currents. Rip currents weaken offshore and merge with onshore currents. This pattern often forms rip circulations that entrain and concentrate phytoplankton cells (Talbot and Bate, 1987).

A field study at a rip-channeled beach showed that concentrations of coastal phytoplankton taxa are much higher in the rip channels than offshore or over the shoals (Shanks et al., 2018). It is very likely that surf zone hydrodynamics influence such spatial variability; however, characteristics of phytoplankton should also affect the concentration of phytoplankton within the surf zone, since completely passive particles cannot transport toward shore easily (Fujimura et al., 2014).

This study was to uncover the role of physical forcing and ecological traits in coastal phytoplankton dynamics at a relatively small scale. Here, we added theoretical parameters to our model of cross-shore phytoplankton transport. We tested the effects of turbulence-driven sinking and growth within the surf zone on onshore phytoplankton transport and the concentration of phytoplankton within the surf zone. Our model built upon that proposed by Talbot et al. (1990) with the addition of diurnal wind cycle at a rip-channeled beach. Modeled phytoplankton were released at two locations: offshore to examine how typical coastal phytoplankton taxa are transported onshore and increase





cell concentrations, and how surf zone taxa return to the surf zone; and inside the surf zone to examine how the coastal and surf zone phytoplankton taxa are retained in the surf zone and increase concentrations.

METHODS

Study Site

Bathymetry and wave data were collected at Sand City beach $(36^{\circ} 36'57'' \text{ N}, 121^{\circ} 51'15'' \text{ W})$, Monterey Bay, California in the summer of 2010. This area receives a strong sea

breeze during the daytime and little, if any, land breeze at night (Hendrickson and MacMahan, 2009), and we observed the same wind pattern during the fieldwork. Bathymetry was taken with a personal watercraft equipped with sonar and a Global Positioning System (GPS), and a person walking with a GPS for shallow bottom. This location is characterized as an intermediate beach (Wright and Short, 1984) and rip channels and shoals are developed (**Figure 3**). Wave data were collected by acoustic Doppler current profilers deployed at 11 m water depth. The average wave direction during the field experiment was perpendicular to the shoreline (**Figure 3**). Numerous studies described hydrodynamics of this beach (MacMahan et al., 2004, 2010; Reniers et al., 2009, 2010; Fujimura et al., 2013, 2014; Brown et al., 2015). Typically, bathymetric rip currents and corresponding eddies are formed here as described in **Figure 2**.

Hydrodynamic Model

Three-dimensional hydrodynamic model simulations have been performed with Delft 3D which comprises FLOW (Deltares, 2011a) and WAVE (Deltares, 2011b) modules. All hydrodynamic simulations followed Fujimura et al. (2014) except for modeling durations and wind and wave conditions. For all model cases, we used only regular normally incident waves based on the averaged measurement data, and included Stokes drift (Stokes, 1847), a wave-related time-averaged volumetric transport in the direction of wave propagation. Fujimura et al. (2014) showed that Stokes drift is an essential part of onshore particle transport.

We considered situations without wind and with a diurnal wind cycle. In the no-wind condition, the model was run only with wave-driven currents for 48 h. For the diurnal wind cycle, a simulation started with constant offshore wind (2 m s^{-1}) for the first 12 h, linearly changed to onshore wind (6.0 m s^{-1}) in



approximates the surf zone edge (breaker line). The modeled wave angle obtained from time-averaged field data are indicated by the large arrow. Ranges of rip channels and shoals are indicated.

1 h and lasting for 24 h, then gradually returned to an offshore wind in 1 h. The wind again gradually shifted from offshore to onshore wind at 36 h, and the model was running with the constant onshore wind until 48 h. The first and third quarters of the simulation (0-12 h and 24-36 h) were considered as daytime, while the second and fourth quarters (12-24 h and 36-48 h) were simulated as nighttime.

Phytoplankton Transport Model

Modeled physical parameters (i.e., water currents, waves, eddy diffusivities and turbulence) and bathymetry were transferred to an individual-based model (IBM). We adapted the IBM code developed by Fujimura et al. (2014). We kept basic functions, such as the 4th order Runge-Kutta method for advection, random walk based on simulated diffusivities, and the boundary conditions from the open-source connectivity modeling system (Paris et al., 2013).

A basic vertical velocity of each phytoplankton cell was downward $w_p = -1.2 \times 10^{-5} \text{ m s}^{-1} (1 \text{ m d}^{-1})$, which is a typical sinking rate of phytoplankton (Smayda, 1970). As we mentioned

earlier, sinking velocity of cells may be increased by turbulence; thus, we assumed that cells sink at $w_{\text{sink}} = -2.5 \times 10^{-3} \text{ m s}^{-1}$ when the turbulence energy dissipation rate is $\varepsilon > 10^{-5} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-3}$ (Ruiz et al., 2004). Turbulence greater than this threshold can be seen in the surf zone and some part of bottom boundary layer.

The total velocity components u_{tot} (cross-shore), v_{tot} (alongshore), and w_{tot} (vertical) are:

$$u_{\rm tot} = u_{\rm adv} + u_{\rm diff} \tag{1}$$

$$v_{\rm tot} = v_{\rm adv} + v_{\rm diff} \tag{2}$$

$$w_{\text{tot}} = \begin{cases} w_{\text{adv}} + w_{\text{diff}} + w_{\text{p}} & \begin{cases} \text{if turbulence-driven sinking is not considered} \\ \varepsilon \le 10^{-5} \text{m}^2 \text{s}^{-3} \\ w_{\text{adv}} + w_{\text{diff}} + w_{\text{sink}} & \varepsilon > 10^{-5} \text{m}^2 \text{s}^{-3} \end{cases} \end{cases}$$
(3)

where u_{adv} , v_{adv} , and w_{adv} are advection flow velocities, and u_{diff} , v_{diff} , and w_{diff} are random velocities of all three spatial components (cross-shore, alongshore, and vertical direction, respectively). u_{adv} and v_{adv} are Lagrangian velocities (u_L , v_L), consist of Eulerian velocities (u_E , v_E) and Stokes drift.

We also added a growth rate that increases under high turbulence condition (Savidge, 1981). The main purpose of the model is to examine the difference between phytoplankton concentrations in the surf zone and offshore, so the total number of cells in the system does not matter. Hence, in this model, not all phytoplankton cells grow, but only cells in high turbulence can grow. Every hour, randomly selected particles where $\varepsilon > 10^{-5}$ m² s⁻³ are doubled in cell number. This ε is the same value as the threshold for the turbulence-driven sinking. The number of randomly selected cells per hour is:

$$N = N_{\rm t} \frac{\mu r}{24} \tag{4}$$

where N_t is total cells in turbulence, μ is a specific growth rate of phytoplankton and r is a fraction of increased growth rate due to turbulence. Here we use $\mu = 0.5 \text{ d}^{-1}$ (Parsons et al., 1984) and r = 0.5 (Savidge, 1981).

Separately, the DVM model proposed by Talbot et al. (1990) was applied to our model case with a diurnal wind cycle. In our model, DVM was considered only within the surf zone (X \leq 100 m, see Figure 3). As suggested by Talbot et al. (1990), phytoplankton cells float on the surface during the day, and sink to the bottom at night. Floating cells are attached to air bubbles in the surf zone (Talbot and Bate, 1988b; Shanks et al., 2018). We assumed that the diameter of air bubbles was 100 µm, a typical size in the surf zone (Deane, 1997; Deane and Stokes, 1999, 2002). Based on empirical data (Detsch, 1991), we estimated an upward velocity of the bubbles as $w_{air} = 6.0 \times 10^{-3} \text{ m s}^{-1}$. Sinking cells are assumed to be attached to sand grains in the water column (Talbot and Bate, 1988b). We chose a uniform grain size 0.3 mm in diameter, which is a typical size at Sand City beach (Gallagher et al., 2011) and can be suspended in the surf zone (Reniers et al., 2013). A sinking velocity of the grain $w_{\text{sand}} = -1.45 \times 10^{-2} \text{ m}$ s^{-1} was calculated with Zhiyao et al. (2008). Therefore, for the DVM model, Equation 3 becomes:

$$w_{\text{tot}} = \begin{cases} w_{\text{adv}} + w_{\text{diff}} + w_{\text{p}} + w_{\text{air}} & \text{during the day} \\ w_{\text{adv}} + w_{\text{diff}} + w_{\text{p}} + w_{\text{sand}} & \text{during the night} \end{cases}$$
(5)

In addition, we considered here phytoplankton growth during the day with vertical variation in the surf zone. For the DVM model, we assumed that cell division can be observed in almost all phytoplankton on the surface, half of the phytoplankton in the water column, and a very small portion of phytoplankton on the bottom (Talbot et al., 1990). When the DVM model included the phytoplankton growth in the surf zone, we applied a growth rate of 1.0 d⁻¹ to cells at the depth of ≤ 0.25 m, 0.5 d⁻¹ to cells in the water column, and 0 d⁻¹ to cells at ≥ 0.25 m above the sea bed.

We tested the effects of increased sinking velocity and growth rate of phytoplankton owing to turbulence with nowind or diurnal wind condition, as well as the effect of DVM in the diurnal wind regime, on cross-shore phytoplankton transport. Each simulation run was 48 h. A total of 602 cells (86 alongshore \times 7 vertical array) were released every hour from offshore (X = 410 m) to examine onshore transport of offshore phytoplankton taxa and a return rate of surf zone diatoms; or inside the surf zone (X = 60 m) to see an exit rate of offshore species and a retention rate of surf zone taxa. Only the last quarter of each simulation (36–48 h) was used for analysis. The earlier period (0–36 h) was used as a spin-up stage for initialization. The model cases and parameters are summarized in **Table 1**.

RESULTS

Cross-Shore Velocity Profiles

Alongshore- and time-averaged cross-shore velocity profiles are shown for the defined rip channels and shoals (Figure 3) within the surf zone (X < 100 m), and offshore (X > 200 m)

TABLE 1 | Summary of modeled cases.

in the total alongshore range (Figure 4). The result verified the theory that Stokes drift adds onshore forcing to Eulerian current. Shoal and rip current were apparent at X = 75 m, and bottom boundary streaming enhanced onshore bottom ($X \ge 200 \text{ m}$).

Onshore wind induced onshore surface currents in the daytime (**Figure 4**). At night, offshore wind altered the flow condition similar to that in the no-wind regime. Flow directions in the surf zone did not change with wind directions although magnitudes slightly changed. As expected, bottom streaming was suppressed during the onshore wind event because of the mass balance needed at the bottom to counter the onshore surface flow. Overall, the cross-shore current fields produced were consistent with the concept presented in **Figure 1**.

Transport and Distribution of Phytoplankton

Many offshore-released phytoplankton cells were ejected from the domain (**Figure 5**). Phytoplankton were not effectively carried in the surf zone without turbulence-driven sinking. Turbulence-driven growth had little effect as growth was only enhanced when cells were within the surf zone.

In the diurnal wind regime, the number of offshore phytoplankton that were transported toward shore was highest in the case that the cells had the turbulence-driven growth and sinking, followed by the case with DVM and depth-varying growth (**Figure 5**). DVM somewhat enhanced onshore transport, but it was more effective at increasing the concentration of phytoplankton within the surf zone when the growth function was added. Interestingly, some phytoplankton cells without

1										
Simulation number	Release location	Diurnal wind cycle	Turbulence-driven growth	Turbulence-driven sinking	DVM	Depth-varying growth	Figure			
1	Offshore						5A			
2	Offshore		\checkmark				5B			
3	Offshore			\checkmark			5C			
4	Offshore		\checkmark	\checkmark			5D			
5	Offshore	\checkmark					5E			
6	Offshore	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			5F			
7	Offshore	\checkmark			\checkmark		5G			
8	Offshore	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	5H			
9	Surf zone						6A			
10	Surf zone		\checkmark				6B			
11	Surf zone			\checkmark			6C			
12	Surf zone		\checkmark	\checkmark			6D			
13	Surf zone	\checkmark					6E			
14	Surf zone	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			6F			
15	Surf zone	\checkmark			\checkmark		6G			
16	Surf zone	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	6H			

Phytoplankton cells were released either at X = 410 m (offshore) or 60 m (within the surf zone). The wind condition was either no-wind or a diurnal wind cycle (daytime onshore breeze and nighttime offshore breeze). Diurnal vertical migration (DVM) was not included with turbulence-driven growth or sinking. Corresponding figures are indicated.



FIGURE 4 Vertical profiles of alongshore- and time-averaged cross-shore velocities of the hydrodynamic model cases (upper panels) without wind and (middle panels) velocities averaged during the day (24–36 h), and (lower panels) night (36–48 h) in the diurnal wind cycle. Dashed line is Eulerian velocity (u_E) and solid line is Lagrangian velocity (u_L). The first three panels to the left are average velocities in the rip channels (blue) and on the shoals (red), and the others are averages over the total alongshore ranges (black). Positive and negative u values correspond to offshore and onshore currents, respectively. 75 m is within the surf zone and 100 m is at the breaker line.



sinking, (G) DVM, and (H) DVM and depth-varying growth. Isobaths from 0 m (shoreline) to 5 m with 1 m increments are given.

turbulence-driven sinking and DVM were also carried to shore (Figure 5E).

When phytoplankton were released in the surf zone, all cases showed cell concentrations higher in the surf zone than offshore (**Figure 6**). Sinking with sand grains enhanced retention of cells in the surf zone. Surf zone concentration of phytoplankton released within the surf zone was highest in the case of the cells with DVM and depth-varying growth (**Figure 6H**); however, cell retention rate in the surf zone in this case was not high compared to the other cases as substantial quantities of phytoplankton seemed to be carried offshore

(Figure 6). Phytoplankton with turbulence-driven growth and sinking tended to be retained and subsequently increased in the surf zone (Figure 6F). Similar to the offshore-released case, cells without any traits also tended to stay in the surf zone (Figure 6E).

Cell concentrations in the surf zone would become much higher than offshore over time because onshore cell flux (Figure 5) was higher than offshore cell flux (Figure 6). All (except for Figures 5A,B) cases showed the common distribution trend of phytoplankton (per unit area), that is, highest cell concentrations were found in the rip channels, followed by



(C) turbulence-driven sinking, (D,F) both turbulence-driven growth and sinking, (G) DVM, and (H) DVM and depth-varying growth. Isobaths from 0 m (shoreline) to 5 m with 1 m increments are given.

that over the shoals, and the smallest concentrations offshore (Figures 5, 6).

Comparison Between No-Wind and Diurnal Wind Case

Phytoplankton without sinking, growth, and DVM were dispersed vertically in the no-wind condition (Figure 7A), whereas those in the diurnal wind condition tended to be concentrated near the bottom and surface (Figures 7C,E).

Phytoplankton concentration at the surface extended offshore in the no-wind case (**Figure 7A**). A similar extension was formed at night in the diurnal wind case (**Figure 7C**), but not pronounced like in the no-wind case. Vertical velocities at X > 150 m during the day in the diurnal wind cycle directed downward (**Figure 7F**). Offshore vertical velocities (X > 200 m) at night tended to be slightly upward (**Figure 7D**), and neutral with a little variability in the no-wind regime (**Figure 7B**).



time-averaged vertical velocities. (A,B) No-wind case. (C,D) Nighttime and (E,F) daytime of the diurnal wind cycle.

DISCUSSION

This modeling study suggests that turbulence-driven sinking may be an important mechanism for transport of phytoplankton into the surf zone, just like the sinking behavior of competent larvae in turbulence (Fujimura et al., 2014). Once phytoplankton enter the surf zone, their growth may be enhanced by turbulence, resulting in high cell concentration in the surf zone.

Our model showed that the diurnal wind cycle increased onshore transport (Figures 5A,D compared to Figures 5E,F) and reduced flushing rates of phytoplankton cells (Figures 6A,D compared to Figures 6E,F). These results were probably due to onshore wind, the major difference between no-wind and diurnal wind regimes. The modeled phytoplankton cells had a relatively small fall velocity ($w_p = -1.2 \times 10^{-5} \text{ m s}^{-1}$), which is 1-2 orders of magnitude smaller than the modeled vertical water velocities (Figure 7); thus, the vertical displacement of cells was affected by surrounding currents. In all cases, phytoplankton cells were brought to the surface by the upward flow in and near the surf zone (Figure 7). When wind was not applied, many of the cells were kept near the surface throughout the domain, and some cells were sinking or floating in the water column offshore (Figure 7A). In the diurnal wind cycle, cells floating near the surface were also carried offshore at night (Figure 7C), but upward currents kept them off from the water column (Figures 7C,D); furthermore, these cells were pushed back to the shore when the condition switched to onshore wind condition (Figure 7E). During the day, downward currents in the water column enhanced downward velocities of phytoplankton (Figure 7F), and transported via the onshore bottom currents although these were weakened due to balancing with onshore surface currents (Figure 4). Therefore, wind-driven onshore currents were likely to enhance phytoplankton transport toward the shore, while the constant wave-driven flow regime without wind caused higher phytoplankton flushing rates. The results were consistent with a study by Hendrickson and MacMahan (2009) who indicated that diurnal sea breeze is important for cross-shore transport.

Other physical forcing can play a role as well. Stokes drift represented by difference between $u_{\rm L}$ and $u_{\rm E}$ (Figure 4) added onshore forcing. Without Stokes drift, onshore transport of materials at the surface may be slower as shown by Fujimura et al. (2014). Bottom onshore currents and benthic streaming owing to wave forcing are also important especially when plankton are in the wave boundary layer. Alongshore variability (rip channels and shoals) can be another factor that increases onshore phytoplankton transport. Bathymetrically-controlled rip currents enhance shoaling to balance cross-shore currents. This bathymetric feature often forms a rip circulation with an eddy at its center where plankton may be trapped (Talbot and Bate, 1987; Fujimura et al., 2014; Shanks et al., 2017). Furthermore, flatter beach slopes (i.e., more dissipative beach) should be more conducive to onshore transport of plankton (Shanks et al., 2010, 2017, 2018; Fujimura et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2016, 2017).

Our data showed that the concentrations of phytoplankton were highest in the rip channels, followed by that over the

shoals, and lowest offshore. This pattern is the same as the larval distribution at the same beach (Fujimura et al., 2014; Morgan et al., 2016, 2017). High concentrations of plankton in the rip channels are possibly a result of the convergence of feeder currents (Figure 2). Our results partially agreed with Shanks et al. (2018) that phytoplankton concentrations in the surf zone were much higher than offshore. However, contrary to our study, their data showed that cell concentrations over the shoals were lower than offshore. This discrepancy might be due to the sampling scheme. They collected samples at 1 m depth in the surf zone and throughout the water column offshore, while we averaged phytoplankton cells in the water column everywhere. Hence, we recalculated the time-averaged number of cells over the shoals at $1 \text{ m} \pm 0.5 \text{ m}$. Nonetheless, modeled phytoplankton concentrations were still higher over the shoals than offshore in all cases although shoal to offshore ratios became smaller (e.g., for DVM with depth-varying growth case, 12:1 with original calculation, 2:1 with recalculation). More plausible reason for the discrepancy between Shanks et al. (2018) and our result was a lack of significant environmental parameters and/or phytoplankton traits and further investigation will be necessary for the model to reproduce such a distribution pattern of phytoplankton.

Limitations and Generality

Phytoplankton cells are suspended occasionally (e.g., in the ocean surface mixed layer) which has been supported by some studies showing that downward velocities of phytoplankton slowed in turbulent waters (e.g., Ruiz et al., 1996; Deleersnijder et al., 2006); nevertheless, this phenomenon can be seen only when turbulence level varies vertically (Ross, 2006; Macías et al., 2013). As the surf zone in our model was a more or less homogeneous layer with the turbulence energy dissipation rate $\varepsilon > 10^{-5}$ m² s⁻³, the value used as the threshold obtained from the empirical data (Ruiz et al., 2004), the reduction of vertical velocity was ignored here. Vertical motion in turbulence is species-specific (Ruiz et al., 2004), while most studies on vertical velocities in turbulence were not conducted with real phytoplankton cells, so more observational and laboratory data will be valuable for more accurate models.

Turbulence may enhance cell growth by increasing nutrient uptake and/or exposure to light. Sullivan et al. (2003) reported that growth rates of dinoflagellate species increased with turbulence levels up to $\varepsilon \approx 10^{-4} \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-3}$, but decreased at $\varepsilon \approx$ 10^{-3} m² s⁻³ although they still had fairly high growth rates. If we consider their result, the model may be improved by including a growth function that varies with cross-shore varying turbulence energy dissipation rates in the range of 10^{0} – 10^{-5} m² s⁻³ (shoreline-surf zone edge). Also, the effect of turbulence on growth rate is species-specific as turbulence influences the growth rate of some species negatively (Peters and Marrasé, 2000), while others grow faster in turbulence (Davis et al., 1953; Savidge, 1981; Hondzo and Wüest, 2009). Moreover, the surf zone often receives nutrient-rich freshwater from land through the sand of the beach, and there may be spatial nutrient variability (i.e., the closer to shore, the higher in nutrients). In addition, the surf zone is a relatively shallow region, so generally phytoplankton are exposed to high irradiance, resulting in fast growth rates.

Simulations of phytoplankton concentration can be improved by developing cell growth model with corresponding environmental variability.

Our DVM with depth-varying growth model was based on Talbot et al. (1990). This model case showed the most successful onshore phytoplankton migration in our simulations; however, it is not known whether this mechanism applies to any species. As mentioned previously, the ability to float by attaching to air bubbles has been observed in surf zone diatom species (Lewin and Schaefer, 1983), but offshore phytoplankton can also attach to bubbles. In fact, Shanks et al. (2018) collected foam from the sea surface in the rip current, and found that phytoplankton are often highly concentrated in the foam. Those phytoplankton consist of a lot of offshore diatoms and dinoflagellates, and a tiny percentage of surf zone species. It would have been interesting if they had determined the vertical distribution of phytoplankton and sampled at night like Talbot and Bate (1988a) performed.

The model can be improved in many aspects. It is necessary to collect species-specific information including habitat, growth rate, sinking and floating rates, cell size, and morphology. These parameters often interact with each other and the modeling is not trivial even for single species. If we consider that sand grains are sinking agent of phytoplankton, their size variability in the surf zone from observed data (e.g., Gallagher et al., 2011) and their dynamics from numerical model (e.g., Reniers et al., 2013) would help to improve the phytoplankton biophysical Lagrangian model. Likewise, if the target species interact with air bubbles, dynamics and size distributions of air bubbles produced by breaking waves in the surf zone from empirical data (e.g., Deane, 1997; Deane and Stokes, 1999, 2002) or numerical simulations (e.g., Ma et al., 2011) could be incorporated into the biophysical model. Air bubbles may be entrained by "obliquely descending eddies" (Nadaoka et al., 1989), which our model did not include. Another missing surf zone process in our model is a breaking wave roller (Feddersen, 2007; Reniers et al., 2013) that may entrain phytoplankton cells and transport them toward the shore. Moreover, wave conditions also influence onshore transport of plankton. Concentrations of phytoplankton in the surf zone at Sand City beach were higher between 0.5 and 1.0 m wave heights (Shanks et al., 2018). Most zooplankton concentrations in the surf zone tended to be negatively correlated with wave heights at Sand City beach (Morgan et al., 2017) and at a more reflective beach (Shanks et al., 2015; Fujimura et al., 2017; Morgan et al., 2017). Wave spectra may need to be applied for more realistic situations. Random wave groups generate infragravity waves and surf zone eddies that may add extra forcing to onshore transport of plankton and material within the surf zone (MacMahan et al., 2004; Reniers et al., 2010; Fujimura et al., 2014).

CONCLUSIONS

We found that both biological and physical parameters controlled onshore delivery of phytoplankton and the concentration of the cells in the surf zone. Both wave and wind forcing play an important role in phytoplankton transport. More modeled offshore phytoplankton cells tended to reach the surf zone in the diurnal wind cycle regime than that in the no-wind condition. The cells were highly concentrated in the rip channels by current convergence and rip circulations. Turbulence-induced growth and sinking enhanced the number of phytoplankton cells in the surf zone. DVM also facilitated onshore phytoplankton transport, and depth-varying growth increased the cell concentrations in the surf zone.

The model parameters could be improved with additional empirical data. Further investigation on dynamics of waves, currents, air bubbles, and sand grain will help to develop the model. Species-specific morphological, physiological, and behavioral characteristics of phytoplankton need to be studied as well. Once the model with necessary parameters is validated, it may be coupled with other ecological model such as NPZD and

REFERENCES

- Brown, J. A., MacMahan, J. H., Reniers, A. J. H. M., and Thornton, E. B. (2015). Field observations of surf zone-inner shelf exchange on a ripchanneled beach. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 45, 2339–2355. doi: 10.1175/JPO-D-14-0118.1
- Butman, C. A. (1990). Sediment trap experiments on the importance of hydrodynamical processes in distributing settling invertebrate larvae in near-bottom waters. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 134, 37–88. doi: 10.1016/0022-0981(90)90055-H
- Castelle, B., Scott, T., Brander, R. W., and McCarroll, R. J. (2016). Rip current types, circulation and hazard. *Earth Sci. Rev.* 163, 1–21. doi: 10.1016/j.earscirev.2016.09.008
- Dalrymple, R. A., MacMahan, J. H., Reniers, A. J. H. M., and Nelko, V. (2011). Rip currents. Ann. Rev. Fluid Mech. 43, 551–581. doi: 10.1146/annurev-fluid-122109-160733
- Davis, E. A., Dedrick, J., French, C. S., Milner, H. W., Myers, J., Smith, J. H. C., et al. (1953). "Laboratory experiments on Chlorella culture at the Carnegie Institution of Washington Department of Plant Biology," in *Algal Culture, From Laboratory to Pilot Plant*, ed J. S. Burlew (Washington, DC: Carnegie Institution of Washington), 105–153.
- Deane, G. B. (1997). Sound generation and air entrainment by breaking waves in the surf zone. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* 102, 2671–2689. doi: 10.1121/1.420321
- Deane, G. B., and Stokes, M. D. (1999). Air entrainment processes and bubble size distributions in the surf zone. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 29, 1393–1403. doi: 10.1175/ 1520-0485(1999)029<1393:AEPABS>2.0.CO;2
- Deane, G. B., and Stokes, M. D. (2002). Scale dependence of bubble creation mechanisms in breaking waves. *Nature* 418, 839–844. doi: 10.1038/nature 00967
- Deleersnijder, E., Beckers, J. M., and Delhez, E. J. M. (2006). The residence time of settling in the surface mixed layer. *Environ. Fluid Mech.* 6, 25–42. doi: 10.1007/s10652-005-3941-2
- Deltares (2011a). Delft3D-FLOW User Manual, Version 3.15. Delft: Deltares.
- Deltares (2011b). Delft3D-WAVE User Manual, Version 3.04. Delft: Deltares.
- Denny, M. W., and Shibata, M. F. (1989). Consequences of surf-zone turbulence for settlement and external fertilization. Am. Natur. 134, 859–889. doi: 10.1086/285018
- Detsch, R. (1991). Small air bubbles in reagent grade water and seawater: 1. Rise velocities of 20- to 1000-µm-diameter bubbles. *J. Geophys. Res.* 96, 8901–8906. doi: 10.1029/91JC00484
- Feddersen, F. (2007). Breaking wave induced cross-shore tracer dispersion in the surf zone: model results and scalings. J. Geophys. Res. 112:C09012. doi: 10.1029/2006JC004006
- Fuchs, H. L., Huter, E. J., Schmitt, E. L., and Guazzo, R. A. (2013). Active downward propulsion by oyster larvae in turbulence. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 1458–1469. doi: 10.1242/jeb.079855

nested in a larger scale for more practical applications, including HAB predictions and fisheries management.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Designed the investigations: AF, AR, AS, JM, SM. Developed the model: AF, AR, CP. Performed the simulations and data analysis: AF. Prepared manuscript: All authors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by National Science Foundation (OCE-092735) Collaborative Research: Does coupling between the inner shelf and surf zone regulate larval supply to intertidal populations? AF is funded by National Science Foundation (1457769) Guam Ecosystems Collaboratorium.

- Fuchs, H. L., Mullineaux, L. S., and Solow, A. R. (2004). Sinking behavior of gastropod larvae (*Ilyanassa obsoleta*) in turbulence. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 49, 1937–1948. doi: 10.4319/lo.2004.49.6.1937
- Fujimura, A. G., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Paris, C. B., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., and Morgan, S. G. (2014). Numerical simulations of larval transport into the surf zone. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 59, 1434–1447. doi: 10.4319/lo.2014.59.4.1434
- Fujimura, A. G., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Paris, C. B., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J. H., and Morgan, S. G. (2017). Numerical simulations of onshore transport of larvae and detritus to a steep pocket beach. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 582, 33–43. doi: 10.3354/meps12331
- Fujimura, A., Reniers, A., Paris, C., Shanks, A., MacMahan, J., and Morgan, S. (2013). Slope-dependent biophysical modeling of surf zone larval transport. *Coast. Dyn.* 2013, 661–670.
- Gallagher, E. L., MacMahan, J. H., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Brown, J. A., and Thornton, E. B. (2011). Grain size variability on a rip-channeled beach. *Mar. Geol.* 287, 43–53. doi: 10.1016/j.margeo.2011.06.010
- Hendrickson, J., and MacMahan, J. (2009). Diurnal sea breeze effects on inner-shelf cross-shore exchange. *Cont. Shelf Res.* 29, 2195–2206. doi: 10.1016/j.csr.2009.08.011
- Hondzo, M., and Wüest, A. (2009). Do microscopic organisms feel turbulent flows? Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 764–768. doi: 10.1021/es801655p
- Landsberg, J. H. (2002). The effects of harmful algal blooms on aquatic organisms. *Rev. Fish. Sci.* 10, 113–390. doi: 10.1080/20026491051695
- Lewin, J., and Schaefer, C. T. (1983). "The role of phytoplankton in surf ecosystems," in *Sandy Beaches as Ecosystems*, eds A. McLachlan and T. Erasmus (The Hague: Junk Publishers), 133–144.
- Longuet-Higgins, M. S. (1953). Mass transport in water waves. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. A* 245, 535–581. doi: 10.1098/rsta.1953.0006
- Ma, G., Shi, F., and Kirby, J. T. (2011). A polydisperse two-fluid model for surf zone bubble simulation. J. Geophys. Res. 116:C05010. doi: 10.1029/2010JC006667
- Macías, D., Rodríguez-Santana, Á., Ramírez-Romero, E., Bruno, M., Pelegrí, J. L., Sangrà, P., et al. (2013). Turbulence as a driver for vertical plankton distribution in the subsurface upper ocean. *Sci. Mar.* 74, 541–549. doi: 10.3989/scimar.03854.03A
- MacMahan, J. H., Brown, J., Brown, J., Thornton, E., Reniers, A., Stanton, T., et al. (2010). Mean Lagrangian flow behavior on an open rip-channeled beach: a new perspective. *Mar. Geol.* 268, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.margeo.2009.09.011
- MacMahan, J., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Thornton, E. B., and Stanton, T. P. (2004). Infragravity rip current pulsations. J. Geophys. Res. 109:C01033. doi: 10.1029/2003JC002068
- McLachlan, A., and Brown, A. (2006). *The Ecology of Sandy Shores*. Burlington, MA: Academic Press.
- Morgan, S. G., Shanks, A. L., Fujimura, A. G., Reniers, A. J. H. M., MacMahan, J., Griesemer, C. D., et al. (2016). Surfzone hydrodynamics as a key determinant of spatial variation in rocky intertidal communities. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 283:20161017. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2016.1017
- Morgan, S. G., Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Griesemer, C. D., Jarvis, M., et al. (2017). Surf zones regulate larval supply and zooplankton subsidies to nearshore communities. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 62, 2811–2828. doi: 10.1002/lno.10609
- Nadaoka, K., Hino, M., and Koyano, Y. (1989). Structure of the turbulent flow field under breaking waves in the surf zone. J. Fluid Mech. 204, 359–387. doi: 10.1017/S0022112089001783
- Paris, C. B., Helgers, J., Van Sebille, E., and Srinivasan, A. (2013). Connectivity modeling system: a probabilistic modeling tool for the multi-scale tracking of biotic and abiotic variability in the ocean. *Environ. Model. Softw.* 42, 47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2012.12.006
- Parsons, T. R., Takahashi, M., and Hargrave, B. (1984). *Biological Oceanographic Processes*. New York, NY: Pergamon Press.
- Peters, F., and Marrasé, C. (2000). Effects of turbulence on plankton: an overview of experimental evidence and some theoretical considerations. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 205, 291–306. doi: 10.3354/meps205291
- Reniers, A. J. H. M., Gallagher, E. L., MacMahan, J. H., Brown, J. A., van Rooijen, A. A., van Thiel de Vries, J. S. M., et al. (2013). Observations and modeling of steep-beach grain-size variability. *J. Geophys. Res.* 118, 577–591. doi: 10.1029/2012JC008073
- Reniers, A. J. H. M., MacMahan, J. H., Beron-Vera, F. J., and Olascoaga, M. J. (2010). Rip-current pulses tied to Lagrangian coherent structures. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 37:L05605. doi: 10.1029/2009GL041443
- Reniers, A. J. H. M., MacMahan, J. H., Thornton, E. B., Stanton, T. P., Henriquez, M., Brown, J. W., et al. (2009). Surf zone retention on a rip-channeled beach. J. Geophys. Res. 114:C10010. doi: 10.1029/2008JC005153
- Rilov, G., Dudas, S. E., Menge, B. A., Grantham, B. A., Lubchenco, J., and Schiel, D. R. (2008). The surf zone: a semi-permeable barrier to onshore recruitment of invertebrate larvae? *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 361, 59–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2008.04.008
- Ross, O. N. (2006). Particles in motion: how turbulence affects plankton sedimentation from an oceanic mixed layer. *Geophys. Res. Lett.* 33:L10609. doi: 10.1029/2006GL026352
- Roy, A., Metaxas, A., and Ross, T. (2012). Swimming patterns of larval Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis in turbulence in the laboratory. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 453, 117–127. doi: 10.3354/meps 09662
- Ruiz, J., García, C. M., and Rodríguez, J. (1996). Sedimentation loss of cells from the mixed layer: effects of turbulence levels. J. Plankton Res. 18, 1727–1734. doi: 10.1093/plankt/18.9.1727
- Ruiz, J., Macias, D., and Peters, F. (2004). Turbulence increases the average settling velocity of phytoplankton cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 17720–17724. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401539101
- Savidge, G. (1981). Studies of the effects of small-scale turbulence on phytoplankton. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 61, 477–488. doi: 10.1017/S0025315400047093
- Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J., Morgan, S. G., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Jarvis, M., Brown, J., et al. (2015). Transport of larvae and detritus across the surf zone of a steep reflective pocket beach. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 528, 71–86. doi: 10.3354/meps11223
- Shanks, A. L., MacMahan, J., Morgan, S. G., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Jarvis, M., Brown, J., et al. (2018). Persistent differences in horizontal gradients in phytoplankton concentration maintained by surf zone hydrodynamics. *Estuar. Coast.* 41, 158–176. doi: 10.1007/s12237-017-0278-2

- Shanks, A. L., Morgan, S. G., MacMahan, J. H., and Reniers, A. J. H. M. (2017). Alongshore variation in barnacle populations is determined by surf zone hydrodynamics. *Ecol. Monogr.* 87, 508–532. doi: 10.1002/ecm.1265
- Shanks, A. L., Morgan, S. G., MacMahan, J., and Reniers, A. J. H. M. (2010). Surf zone physical and morphological regime as determinants of temporal and spatial variation in larval recruitment. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 392, 140–150. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2010.04.018
- Shanks, A. L., Morgan, S., MacMahan, J., Reniers, A. J. H. M., Kudela, R., Jarvis, M., et al. (2016). Variation in the abundance of Pseudo-nitzschia and domoic acid with surf zone type. *Harmful Algal Blooms* 55, 172–178. doi: 10.1016/j.hal.2016.03.004
- Smayda, T. J. (1970). The suspension and sinking of phytoplankton in the sea. Oceanogr. Mar. *Biol.* 8, 353–414.
- Smayda, T. J. (2010). Adaptation and selection of harmful and other dinoflagellate species in upwelling system. Motility and migratory behaviour. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 85, 71–91. doi: 10.1016/j.pocean.2010.02.005
- Stokes, G. G. (1847). On the theory of oscillatory waves. Trans. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 8, 441–455.
- Sullivan, E., Swift, E., Donaghay, P. L., and Rines, J. E. B. (2003). Small-scale turbulence affects the division rate and morphology of two red-tide dinoflagellates. *Harmful Algae* 2, 183–199. doi: 10.1016/S1568-9883(03)00039-8
- Talbot, M. M. B., and Bate, G., C (1988b). The use of false buoyancies by the surf diatom Anaulus birostratus in the formation and decay of cell patches. *Estuar. Coast.* 26, 155–167. doi: 10.1016/0272-7714(88)90048-0
- Talbot, M. M. B., and Bate, G. C. (1987). The spatial dynamics of surf diatom patches in a medium energy, cuspate beach. *Bot. Mar.* 30, 459–465. doi: 10.1515/botm.1987.30.6.459
- Talbot, M. M. B., and Bate, G. C. (1988a). Distribution patterns of the surf diatom Anaulus birostratus in an exposed surfzone. Estuar. Coast. 26, 137–153. doi: 10.1016/0272-7714(88)90047-9
- Talbot, M. M. B., Bate, G. C., and Campbell, E. E. (1990). A review of the ecology of surf-zone diatoms, with special reference to *Anaulus australis*. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. 28, 155–175.
- Wang, L. P., and Maxey, M. R. (1993). Settling velocity and concentration distribution of heavy particles in homogeneous isotropic turbulence. J. Fluid Mech. 256, 27–68. doi: 10.1017/S0022112093002708
- Wright, L. D., and Short, A. D. (1984). Morphodynamic variability of surf zones and beaches: a synthesis. *Mar. Geol.* 56, 93–118. doi: 10.1016/0025-3227(84)90008-2
- Zhiyao, S., Tingting, W., and Fumin, X. (2008). A simple formula for predicting settling velocity of sediment particles. *Water Sci. Eng.* 1, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/S1674-2370(15)30017-X

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Fujimura, Reniers, Paris, Shanks, MacMahan and Morgan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Effects of Anthropogenic Stressors on Reproduction and Recruitment of Corals and Reef Organisms

Robert H. Richmond*, Kaho H. Tisthammer and Narrissa P. Spies

Kewalo Marine Laboratory, University of Hawaii at Manoa, Honolulu, HI, United States

The persistence of populations of marine organisms depends on the success of the dual processes of reproduction and recruitment. The production of offspring alone is inconsequential unless larvae and propagules can recruit, which often entails a period of development and distribution in the water column and subsequent selection of appropriate habitats. For fish, this may mean drifting in currents before responding to particular habitat cues. For corals and other benthic invertebrates, larvae must undergo site selection, settlement and metamorphosis into the juvenile form, and survivorship is directly linked to site choice and environmental conditions. Both biotic and abiotic factors affect population replenishment success, and hence, anthropogenic influences such as pollution, sedimentation and climate change can negatively affect critical processes such as reproductive synchronization in spawning species, successful embryological development, appropriate site selection, settlement, metamorphosis and in the case of reef building corals, acquisition of the required zooxanthellae partner. Effective management practices are essential for ensuring the persistence of populations of coral reef organisms of economic, cultural and ecological value.

Keywords: corals, planulae, larval development, larval recruitment, pollution and global change, climate change impacts, metamorphic induction, anthropogenic stressors

OPEN ACCESS Edited by:

Eric Wolanski, James Cook University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Andrew Baird, James Cook University, Australia Hajime Kayanne, The University of Tokyo, Japan

> *Correspondence: Robert H. Richmond richmond@hawaii.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 28 March 2018 Accepted: 12 June 2018 Published: 02 July 2018

Citation:

Richmond RH, Tisthammer KH and Spies NP (2018) The Effects of Anthropogenic Stressors on Reproduction and Recruitment of Corals and Reef Organisms. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:226. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00226 **REPRODUCTION AND RECRUITMENT**

Reproduction is the process by which new individuals are formed from parental stock, and can occur through asexual or sexual means. In corals, the most common type of asexual reproduction is via fragmentation, and often involves physical separation of a portion of the tissue-covered skeleton. This can occur as a result of fish feeding on associated crabs, shrimp, bivalves or barnacles, and the driver of recruitment "behavior" is gravity, that is, the fragment sinks, settles, attaches and hopefully survives. Other means of asexual reproduction can occur via tissue sloughing or polyp bail out, and the resulting ciliated tissue bits can disperse over greater distances and exhibit selective settlement behavior (Sammarco, 1982). Larvae can also be produced via parthenogenesis, and while genetically identical to the parent colony, exhibit classic larval behaviors. Sexual reproduction involves the fusion of sperm and egg (gametes) produced by the male and female of the species respectively. Sexual reproduction results in two opportunities for increasing genetic variability: one through the contributions of two different parents to the offspring and another through the "crossing over" among chromosomes that occurs during the prophase one stage of meiosis, the reduction division that makes haploid (1n) gametes that fuse to become a diploid (2n) organism. No matter how the progeny are formed, they do not contribute to the population unless they successfully recruit, and that is where behavior comes in.

The persistence of populations depends on the success of both reproduction and recruitment processes. With a focus on the importance of larval behavior for successful recruitment, the following discussion will center on sexual reproduction as the primary means of producing this critical life history stage for the perpetuation of coral reefs and related ecosystems. There are six chemically mediated steps involved in the replenishment of reef populations: gamete development within mature coral colonies, synchronization of gamete release, successful fertilization of eggs by sperm, complete embryological development to the competent larval stage, settlement and metamorphic induction, and acquisition of symbiotic zooxanthellae in recruits that do not have them vertically transmitted by the parent colony (Richmond, 2014; **Figure 1**). These key processes are affected by both density dependent and density independent factors.

As with all sessile and benthic organisms, for reproductive events to be successful in the production of viable larvae, a critical density of parental stock is required. As the distance between individuals and colonies of the same species increases, the incidence of appropriate egg-sperm interactions decreases, with reduced levels of fertilization and larval production. This is called the Allee Effect, and is well known within marine organisms (Gascoigne and Lipcius, 2004). Population density is a function of environmental conditions, stressors and disturbance.

Water and bottom quality are essential parameters that affect the health of coral reefs and other marine ecosystems. Reduced water quality can stress adult populations, inhibiting gametogenesis and reducing chemical signaling between conspecifics that helps with the synchronization of spawning, the viability of gametes, fertilization success and the ability of embryos to develop into viable planula larvae. As gametes (egg and sperm) are among the most sensitive life history stages to environmental parameters, terrigenous runoff is a



FIGURE 1 | Recent coral recruit exhibiting colony growth through extra-tentacular budding and the acquisition of symbiotic zooxanthellae from the ambient environment.

serious problem that impacts reproduction of marine organisms (Richmond, 1993). Bottom quality affects recruitment success in corals and many other benthic invertebrates. Sediment cover prevents larvae from sensing key settlement cues, both chemical and textural, from preferred substrata such as crustose coralline algae. Larval metamorphic induction may be prevented by sediment and algal cover through substrate instability, the alteration of the benthic microbiome, and the alteration of bottom chemistry. In addition to the local stressors mentioned above, increased temperatures and ocean acidification tied to global climate change are factors that also affect reproduction and recruitment in a broad range of marine organisms. These anthropogenic issues will be discussed below.

LARVAL COMPETENCY

The competency period of larvae, the time during which they can successfully disperse, settle and metamorphose, is an important determinant of connectivity among sites and populations. The longer the competency period, the greater the distributional range of a species, and broader distributions translate into enhanced survival of species exposed to local and global level stressors with the associated threat of local extinction. The competency period of larvae is tied to nutritional mode and energy availability. Planktotrophic larvae actively feed, and often have specific structures that aid in food capture. They have a delay before they can recruit, the pre-competency period, during which time they undergo additional development and often, morphological changes. Lecithotrophic larvae survive primarily on stored energy reserves, such as lipids provided in the eggs. The term mixotrophic refers to larvae that use a combination of stored energy reserves and planktonic feeding, which can include absorption of dissolved nutrients, and in the case of corals, translocated metabolites from symbiotic zooxanthallae.

While in the plankton, larvae are not limited to drifting at the mercy of currents, but can exert a degree of control through vertical and horizontal swimming behaviors. Such movement can change the water parcels in which the larvae are contained and hence, the direction and speed of travel, ambient temperature that affects larval development and metabolic rates, and light levels including photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) and UV exposure. An extreme example is for larvae that get entrained in water parcels affected by the Kelvin Wave associated with the onset of El Nino conditions. Such larvae can be transported over hundreds to thousands of km over a period of weeks to months (Richmond, 1990). Downward vertical movement of larvae can also affect entrainment of larvae in bottom currents and eddies that enhances recruitment on coral reefs and other benthic habitats. Recent research has demonstrated that larval swimming behavior can be influenced by a number of parameters including light, gradients of salinity and temperature, as well as by auditory and chemical cues. Both fish and invertebrate larvae have been documented to respond to reef sounds that aid in the recruitment of larvae to reefs, and chemical cues can influence larval swimming and settlement behavior (Vermeij et al., 2010). While both auditory and chemical cues can attract larvae, the distance over which some, including coral planulae, can swim is limited (Figueiredo et al., 2014; Hata et al., 2017).

Fish larvae usually have an initial distribution pattern tied to currents, but after a degree of development and spinal hardening, can begin to exhibit directional swimming. Coral reef fish, as opposed to pelagic species, need to find specific habitats in order to recruit, grow and eventually reproduce, hence, cueing behavior is of paramount importance. Specific cues include sounds and smells. Waves impacting reefs and other barriers send sounds over relatively long distances. Interestingly, these reflections and refractions of wave energy are also used by traditional navigators in the Pacific Islands to identify the location of landmasses and submerged features. Over shorter distances, the sounds of crabs, snapping shrimp and fish can help larvae navigate toward healthy reefs. Dead reefs and reefs in decline may provide fewer cues to which larvae can respond (Dixson et al., 2014). The natural chemistry of reefs, tied to everything from coral mucus, algae and bacteria, also provides signals to larvae, which possess chemoreceptors. Toxicants that block these chemical signals or the larval receptors, act to impede recruitment (Peters et al., 1997).

Coral planula larvae do not randomly settle and metamorphose, but rather, select their recruitment sites (Golbuu and Richmond, 2007). Bacteria have been specifically identified as important cues for coral larval recruitment to specific substrata. Coral planulae have been found to also respond to specific crustose coralline algae (CCA), likely due to associated polysacchides and glycoglycerolipids (Tebben et al., 2015; **Figure 2**).

Coral larvae from brooding species and some spawning species (e.g., *Montipora*) possess symbiotic zooxanthellae that are vertically transmitted from the parent colony. These algal cells provide additional energetic input to the larvae and can extend the competency period (Richmond, 1987). While the period during which these larvae can successfully settle and metamorphose can extend from weeks to months, translating into the potential for long-distance dispersal, studies have shown that most larvae travel over short distances and many reefs are self-seeding (Sammarco et al., 1989; Jones et al., 1999; Figueiredo et al., 2013). This is due to a combination of abiotic factors (currents and associated eddies) and larval behavior, including cueing to the biotic factors of natal reefs, identified above.

Water quality remains a key concern during the planktonic phase of larvae throughout the competency period. Substratum quality is also important for settlement and metamorphosis to occur. The implications are that efforts to protect bottom and water quality in and around coral reef ecosystems are of critical importance to maintaining reef populations by supporting successful reproduction and larval recruitment.

THE EFFECTS OF STRESSORS ON CORAL REPRODUCTION AND RECRUITMENT

Water Quality

The world's nearshore marine habitats are being increasingly exposed to a variety of anthropogenic stressors, such as sedimentation, eutrophication, pollution, and overfishing (Morgan et al., 2016), all of which have a profound impact on reproduction, recruitment and survival of larvae. As mentioned above, early life stages of many marine organisms are more sensitive to pollutants than adult stages (Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 1999), due in part to the important role that chemical cues play in substrate selection and metamorphosis of larvae in many marine organisms (Hadfield and Paul, 2001; Freckelton et al., 2017). For example, many species of coral larvae use chemical cues to settle on a substratum where specific coralline algae and/or their associated bacteria are present (Golbuu and Richmond, 2007; Vermeij et al., 2008; Tebben et al., 2015). Recently, a single bacterial metabolite, tetrabromopyrrole, was shown to induce metamorphosis in certain coral species, occurring even without attachment to a substratum (Tebben et al., 2011; Sneed et al., 2014). Chemical pollutants, therefore, affect key life stages and behaviors of corals and other marine organisms by interfering with their chemosensory functions.



FIGURE 2 | Coral planulae undergoing settlement and metamorphosis (panel 1) following exploration of the substrata (panels 2 and 3) and encountering the proper chemical/biotic cues.



FIGURE 3 | Sewage discharges along a reef on Guam, resulting in decreased recruitment of coral larvae. The freshwater effluent rises 100% of the time and bathes the adjacent shallow water reef area when there is an onshore wind. The chemical content includes personal care products, heavy metals, pesticides, pharmaceuticals, hydrocarbons and even estrogenic compounds from un-metabolized birth control pills.

A variety of chemical agents are introduced into our coastal waters via coastal development, terrestrial runoff, sewage outfalls and toxic antifouling paints from ships (Figure 3). Many studies have shown the negative effects of these agents on coral larvae and their behaviors (Woods et al., 2016). For example, increased heavy metal concentrations reduce fertilization rates, larval survival, settlement success, metamorphosis, and growth rates of reef-building corals. Copper (Cu) is shown to affect all of the above stages in coral larvae at relatively low concentrations (Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 1999, 2000; Victor and Richmond, 2005; Negri and Hoogenboom, 2011). In fact, Cu inhibits the metamorphosis of coral larvae at the lowest concentration of any metals tested so far (Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 1999). Exposure to iron (Fe) induced oxidative stress responses and DNA damage in coral larvae (Vijayavel et al., 2012), affecting their metabolic functions and behaviors. Exposure of coral larvae to mercury, cadmium and zinc showed neutral or mixed results (Heyward, 1988; Reichelt-Brushett and Harrison, 1999, 2005; Farina et al., 2008), suggesting interspecific differences in sensitivity to these metals.

The effects of organic compounds such as anti-fouling agents, hydrocarbons, and pesticides have been increasingly studied in marine organisms, including their impacts on reproductive and larval recruitment success. Tributylin (TBT) and Irgarol 1051 are active compounds of anti-fouling paints, and are reported to inhibit larval settlement and/or metamorphosis (Negri et al., 2002; Inoue, 2004; Negri and Marshall, 2009; Knutson et al., 2011). Since the banning of applying paints with TBT in 2003 by the International Maritime Organization, the use of the algaecide Irgarol in marine paints has increased dramatically. However, even relatively small concentrations of Irgarol can inhibit coral larval settlement (Knutson et al., 2011), which suggests that the Irgarol use may need to be reevaluated. Hydrocarbons, such as crude oil, dispersed oil, oil dispersant, and benzo[a]pyrene, are all reported to negatively affect fertilization, metamorphosis, and settlement of coral larvae (Epstein et al., 2000; Lane and Harrison, 2000; Negri and Heyward, 2000; Goodbody-Gringley et al., 2013). Oil dispersants and dispersed oil appear to have more negative effects than crude oil itself (i.e., water soluble fractions); morphological deformations and loss of normal swimming behavior of coral larvae were observed with exposure to dispersants and dispersed oil (Epstein et al., 2000).

Corals are holobionts, harboring endosymbiotic algae, zooxanthellae (Symbiodinium spp.), in their tissues. These algal symbionts provide the majority of the coral's energy needs through photosynthesis. Increased detection of herbicides and insecticides in marine environments has raised serious concerns regarding their impacts on coastal coral reef ecosystems (Markey et al., 2007; van Dam et al., 2011), since some herbicides used in agriculture and antifouling paints, such as diuron and atrazine, are photosystem II (PSII) inhibitors that directly affect zooxanthellae's functions (Owen et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2003; Jones, 2004, 2005). Our understanding about how these herbicides and insecticides affect coral hosts is still limited. The effects of pesticides found in coastal waters, on coral reproduction and physiology, are of high concern to resource managers. Our results from laboratory exposure experiments showed that the tested herbicides and insecticides had negative effects on at least one or more of coral life stages. For example, Roundup[®] (Monsanto Company) significantly reduced fertilization and settlement rates in corals at very low concentrations (0.0069 ppm), and caused damage to eggs at a relatively low concentration (>0.35 ppm) (Diu, 2016). Another emerging pollutant gaining attention in the marine environment is the active ingredient in some sunscreens, oxybenzone. Increased mortality, deformation, and DNA damage, as well as reductions in photosynthetic efficiency were observed in coral larvae exposed to oxybenzone (Downs et al., 2016). These observations raise concerns about the environmental safety of other personal care products that enter into coastal waters and the open ocean.

Bottom Quality

Water and substratum quality are critical components affecting both reproduction and recruitment of marine organisms. In order for successful population replenishment to occur, consideration must be given to the source areas, the conduits of connectivity and the recipient sites. For example, larvae formed at one site will be physiologically compromised or killed if transported across an area affected by polluted and sediment-laden watershed discharges (Victor et al., 2006). Even a drop in salinity will affect survivorship of many types of larvae, including corals and echinoderms (Richmond and Jokiel, 1984). Contaminated recipient sites and those with accumulated sediment will also be inhospitable to benthic invertebrate and fish larvae from clean source sites, as such degradation will affect critical chemically cueing.

Sedimentation affects the success of reproduction and recruitment several different ways. During spawning events, sediment, particularly the finer clay-size particles, can adhere to eggs, causing them to sink rather than float to the ocean's surface, where fertilization often occurs. Sediment is a major carrier of toxicants from land to the sea, where the change in chemistry can cause contaminant release (Figure 4). Such pollutants include petroleum products (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons-PAH's), pesticides (both insecticides and herbicides), personal care products and heavy metals. Sediment particles often serve as nuclei that aggregate organic material, including mucus and phytoplankton, which harbor bacteria, and when this material sinks to the bottom, it increases biological oxygen demand (BOD), dropping both oxygen levels and pH at the sedimentwater interface (Wolanski et al., 2003). This effect can negatively impact the survivorship and growth of larval recruits. Finally, sediment blocks key metamorphic inducers needed by many types of larvae, and most benthic epifaunal larvae cannot recruit to such unstable substrata.

Sediments impact reproductive, larval behavior and recruitment success. In additional to the chemical effects listed above, sediment has physical effects that in turn, affect the physiology of organisms. For organisms dependent upon photosynthesis for energy, metabolism, growth and reproductive allocation, the shading effects of sediment block photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) that is essential to running the light-mediated chemical reactions. Turbidity, expressed as a weight per unit volume of water (e.g., mg/l), is especially problematic for photosynthesis. Sedimentation deposition rate, a weight per unit area over a given time period (e.g., g/m²/day) impacts both photosynthesis and energetics, due to the cost of shedding particles. Sediment can be re-suspended numerous times, so even without the addition of new materials from land-based sources, waves can result in additional impacts through reintroducing particles into the water column.

Temperature

Coral larvae remain viable and competent within the ambient temperature range of the parent colonies (Woolsey et al., 2015). As with adult colonies, deviations of a few degrees above or below the norm can have deleterious effects, such as reducing competency or inducing mortality. The expected increase in tropical and subtropical seawater temperatures of $2-4^{\circ}C$ due to climate change, has major implications for coral larval survival, development, dispersal, and settlement (IPCC, 2007). Temperature is tied to larval development, and alterations



FIGURE 4 | Sediment covering the reef surface blocks metamorphic inducers and prevents larval recruitment.

in the ambient rearing temperature can have drastic effects. Abnormalities in embryogenisis of the spawning coral Acropora millepora were seen at 32°C (4°C above ambient temperature where gametes where collected), as well as decreased fertilization rates, with no fertilization occurring at 34°C (Negri et al., 2007). A temperature increase reduced pre-competency periods by as much as an entire day in some coral species, which can affect the dispersal range for coral species, as well as impede the ability for devastated coral reefs to recruit new individuals and recover following bleaching events (Heyward and Negri, 2010). Model predictions suggest that increasing temperatures will serve to increase local retention of coral planulae due to reduced competency periods, and reduce connectivity among reefs separated by greater distances (Figueiredo et al., 2014). The implications are positive for locally targeted conservation efforts but raise additional concerns for reefs and populations dependent on external larval supplies for recovery and enhancing genotypic diversity.

Elevated temperature effects on coral planulae can have regional implications for population replenishment as well as global ones, as higher latitude larvae tend to develop more slowly than their tropical counterparts. An increase of even a single degree (°C) above the normal range can increase the metabolic expenditure of stored energy, increasing premature metamorphosis and reducing recruitment success in addition to causing outright mortality (Edmunds et al., 2001; Graham et al., 2017). In aposymbiotic larvae from *Diploria strigosa*, a 2°C rise in temperature from an ambient 28°C seawater temp caused 50% mortality, and an increase to 31°C caused 70% mortality (Bassim and Sammarco, 2003).

As mentioned, coral larvae respond to different chemical and biological cues, and must have an appropriate settlement substrate for successful settlement and metamorphosis to occur. Temperature experiments elevating seawater to 32°C for a period of a week have been able to bleach CCA, also resulting in a shift in its microbial community (Webster et al., 2010). Acropora

millepora larval settlement and metamorphosis was reduced by 50% when these planulae were exposed to bleached CCA compared to healthy CCA from ambient seawater conditions. While a microbial shift can occur by altering the chemical compounds released by CCA, it's also important to note that the color change from pink to white when CCA bleaches can also alter larvae settlement due to a resulting lack of an appropriate spectral cue. In an experiment examining synthetic surfaces of either white or red hues, the coral larvae preferred a red surface 85% more often when compared to a white synthetic surface when both were also exposed to a chemical cue (Foster and Gilmour, 2016). The larvae themselves exhibit spectral variance by producing fluorescent proteins that change in response to environmental conditions. Fluorescent proteins are present in both larval and adult corals. While their function is not fully understood, they appear to be altered when the animal is exposed to stressors (Palmer et al., 2009). There is a demonstrated change in the expression of green fluorescent protein (GFP) in response to increased light, as well as red fluorescent protein (RFP) in response to heat(Rodriguez-Lanetty et al., 2009; Kenkel et al., 2011). The combined effect of increased water temperature and light intensity can also affect larval settlement, with a 16% decrease in larval settlement when they are exposed to both high temperatures and higher than normal light conditions (Kenkel et al., 2011).

When considering larval survival and physiology under increased temperatures, the symbiotic relationship between the animal and algal symbionts must be considered. Aposymbiotic larvae and symbiotic larvae both respond to stress in different ways, yet survivorship between temperatures of 28-32°C is not significantly different (Baird et al., 2006). When the aposymbiotic larvae from A. millepora were exposed to temperatures above their normal range for a period of 10 h, heat shock protein gene expression was elevated but oxidative stress pathways remained unchanged (Rodriguez-Lanetty et al., 2009). The infection of symbionts within aposymbiotic larvae is a complex process that is just beginning to be understood under normal seawater temperatures, and may be altered under increased seawater temperatures (Weis et al., 2001). A study examining physiological responses to 4 clades of symbionts, as well as coral larvae infection, found that there were different optimum temperatures among the symbiont types where they had the ability to infect aposymbiotic coral larvae (Baird et al., 2008). Certain symbionts demonstrated lower rates of survival even at 32°C, giving other symbiodinium strains a competitive edge. This advantage may come with tradeoffs however, as one of the most thermally tolerant strains had the slowest rate of population increase after infecting the coral larval host. This could have long-term impacts on the ability for the coral recruit to establish itself and grow, when fewer symbionts are available to provide nutrients needed for growth.

The means by which corals transmit their symbionts can affect stress in and survivorship of larvae. Hartmann et al. (2017) suggested that vertical transmission of zooxanthellae to coral eggs may exact a cost on gamete and larval survival due to the effect of increased buoyancy from lipids that result in the exposure to increased temperature and UV light at the sea surface. As many corals spawn during the rainy season in parts of the world, the sea surface can be a stressful environment with reduced salinity and increased toxicant concentrations from freshwater runoff. Hartmann et al. propose that the acquisition of symbionts after metamorphosis improves fertilization and out-crossing following spawning. The adaptive advantage of horizontal transmission of zooxanthellae is reflected in the fact that the majority of spawning corals (71%) acquire their symbionts that way.

Under conditions of elevated temperature, algal symbionts can contribute to stress and mortality in coral larvae. Yakovleva et al. (2009) found coral planulae with zooxanthellae had higher mortality rates than those lacking algal symbionts at high temperatures. Mortality was attributed to oxidative damage tied to photosynthesis and was a function of both the magnitude of increased temperature and the duration of exposure. As with exposure to other physical and chemical stressors, zooxanthellae shift from being a mutualistic partner to becoming a burden at higher temperatures.

Ocean Acidifcation

Reduced oceanic pH attributed to increasing levels of atmospheric CO₂ is a concern for the future of coral reefs as the structural foundation of these ecosystems results from the deposition of CaCO₃ (aragonite). Chua et al. (2013), performed a study of the effects of pH on coral planulae using four relevant exposure treatments, and found no consistent effects on embryological development, larval survivorship and metamorphosis. They posit that larvae containing zooxanthellae may be more sensitive to the effects of decreased pH through metabolic effects on the symbionts. As coral planulae (generally) do not calcify while in the plankton, ocean acidification is more likely to directly affect larvae that do, such as those of sea urchins (Kurihara, 2008). However, the long-term effects of OA on coral recruitment and survivorship are expected to increase and, based on current predictions, be substantial. Reduced pH does affect the recruitment and growth of crustose coralline algae, which has been shown to be a preferred settlement substratum for many coral species (Kuffner et al., 2008). As small coral recruits can be outcompeted for space by a number of benthic organisms including algae, sponges and ascidians, reduced colony growth rates will affect survivorship as OA increases.

SURVIVORSHIP-SELECTION/ADAPTATION VS. ACCLIMATIZATION

Intraspecific variation, or inter-individual differences, in traits arise from genetic predispositions, past experiences and physiological states (Guest et al., 2012; Nanninga and Berumen, 2014), and is increasingly recognized as an important ecological factor that affects population dynamics and evolution of species, including reproductive success (Benton et al., 2006; Bolnick et al., 2011). In reef-building corals, significant differences in larval success has been observed among different genotypes (Meyer et al., 2009; Baums et al., 2013; Miller, 2014; Miller et al., 2016), as well as due to the parental experiences of exposure to stressful conditions (Putnam and Gates, 2015). This tells us

that the larval stages are subject to strong selective pressures from their environmental conditions. Since persistence of populations, and ultimately species, depends on producing better adapted genotypes, the larval stages play a key role in coral population dynamics, connectivity, and survival. The fitness of existing individuals depends on their acclimatization potential, and many larval behaviors likely contribute to increasing their fitness; examples include selecting an optimal environment to settle (e.g., Davies et al., 2014; Dixson et al., 2014; Doropoulos et al., 2016), using reverse metamorphosis to escape from adverse conditions (Richmond, 1985; Negri et al., 2005), and potentially benefitting from increased size by forming a chimeric aggregate (Amar et al., 2008). When selective pressures exceed the acclimatization capacity of an individual, the individual will be eliminated from the population (i.e., selection). However, since no individual larva will experience exactly the same conditions, one evolutionary response is to produce genetically variable offspring so that the population will have enough adaptive capacity to respond to environmental heterogeneity and unpredictability. Intraspecific variation in reproductive success may, therefore, be a result of such an evolutionary strategy. Looking forward, corals and many other marine organisms will face strong selective forces from rising sea surface temperatures and ocean acidification (Webster et al., 2013; Baums et al., 2014). The larval stages known to be vulnerable to environmental stressors (Polato et al., 2010) will especially be subject to this strong selection, resulting in adaptation playing an essential role in how coral populations respond to changing environmental conditions. Standing genetic variation fuels such short-term adaptation (Stapley et al., 2010; Voolstra et al., 2011; Shinzato et al., 2012). In this regard, loss of genetic diversity already seen in some threatened coral populations (Baums et al., 2013) poses a great concern, as it reduces the coral's future reproductive and adaptive capacity. Human activities, including those responsible for global climate change, are predicted to reduce overall genetic

REFERENCES

- Amar, K. O., Chadwick, N. E., and Rinkevich, B. (2008). Coral kin aggregations exhibit mixed allogeneic reactions and enhanced fitness during early ontogeny. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 8, 126–110. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-8-126
- Baird, A. H., Bhagooli, R., Nonaka, M., Yakovleva, I., Yamamoto, H. H., Hikada, M., et al. (2008). "Environmental controls on the establishment and development of algal symbiosis in corals," in *Proceedings of the 11th International Coral Reef Symposium* (Ft. Lauderdale, FL).
- Baird, A. H., Gilmour, J., Kamiki, T., Nonaka, M., Pratchett, M., et al. (2006). "Temperature tolerance of symbiotic and nonsymbiotic coral larvae," in *Proceedings of 10th International Coral Reef Symposium*, (Okinawa), 38–42.
- Bassim, K., and Sammarco, P. (2003). Effects of temperature and ammonium on larval development and survivorship in a scleractinian coral (*Diploria strigosa*). *Marine Biol.* 142, 241–252. doi: 10.1007/s00227-002-0953-z
- Baums, I. B., Devlin-Durante, M. K., and LaJeunesse, T. C. (2014). New insights into the dynamics between reef corals and their associated dinoflagellate endosymbionts from population genetic studies. *Mol. Ecol.* 23, 4203–4215. doi: 10.1111/mec.12788
- Baums, I. B., Devlin-Durante, M. K., Polato, N. R., Xu, D., Giri, S., Altman, N. S., et al. (2013). Genotypic variation influences reproductive success and thermal

diversity in populations and species (Templeton et al., 2001; Pauls et al., 2013), which further threatens the persistence of coral reef ecosystems.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In a world of mounting anthropogenic stressors affecting the world's oceans and all life contained within, the ability of populations of organisms to survive, reproduce, evolve and grow is threatened at the local, regional and global levels. An understanding of the reproductive and recruitment behavior of marine organisms is essential to addressing the challenges of resource sustainability through responsive and effective management of the human activities responsible for resource declines. New tools such as genomics, proteomics and transcriptomics allow for the study of behaviors at the cellular and molecular levels, which when combined with more traditional studies of physiology and organismal behavior, have the potential to provide key guidance. The needs are pressing if there is to be a sound legacy of ocean resources for future generations.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RR organized the manuscript, coordinated sections with the coauthors, wrote several sections, provided figures and edited versions. KT wrote several sections and edited versions. NS wrote several sections, contributed figures and edited versions.

FUNDING

Funds partially supporting this research were provided by NOAA's Protected Resources Division, NOAA Fisheries' Pacific Islands Regional Office (NOAA grant # NA17NMF4520144) and the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF grant # 34413).

stress tolerance in the reef building coral, Acropora palmata. Coral Reefs 32, 703-717. doi: 10.1007/s00338-013-1012-6

- Benton, T. G., Plaistow, S. J., and Coulson, T. N. (2006). Complex population dynamics and complex causation: devils, details and demography. *Proc. Biol. Sci. R. Soc.* 273, 1173–1181. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2006.3495
- Bolnick, D. I., Amarasekare, P., Araújo, M. S., Bürger, R., Levine, J. M., Novak, M., et al. (2011). Why intraspecific trait variation matters in community ecology. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 26, 183–192. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2011.0 1.009
- Chua, C. M., Leggat, W., Moya, A., and Baird, A. H. (2013). Temperature affects the early life history stages of corals more than near future ocean acidification. *Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser.* 475, 85–92 doi: 10.3354/meps10077
- Davies, S. W., Meyer, E., Guermond, S. M., and Matz, M. V. (2014). A cross-ocean comparison of responses to settlement cues in reef-building corals. *PeerJ* 2:e333. doi: 10.7717/peerj.333
- Diu, S. P. S. (2016). Trouble in Paradise: The Effects of Glyphosate and Roundup on Coral Fertilization and Settlement. Senior Thesis, Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, Princeton University.
- Dixson, D. L., Abrego, D., and Hay, M. E. (2014). Chemically mediated behavior of recruiting corals and fishes: a tipping point that may limit reef recovery. *Science* 345, 892–897. doi: 10.1126/science.1255057

- Doropoulos, C., Roff, G., Y.-,Bozec, M., Zupan, M., Werminghausen, J., and Mumby, P. J. (2016). Characterising the ecological trade-offs throughout the early ontogeny of coral recruitment. *Ecol. Monogr.* 86, 20–44. doi: 10.1890/15-0668.1
- Downs, C. A., Kramarsky-Winter, E., Segal, R., Fauth, J., Knutson, S., Bronstein, O., et al. (2016). Toxicopathological effects of the sunscreen UV Filter, Oxybenzone (Benzophenone-3), on Coral Planulae and Cultured Primary Cells and Its Environmental Contamination in Hawaii and the U.S. Virgin Islands. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 70, 265–288. doi: 10.1007/s00244-015-0 227-7
- Edmunds, P., Gates, R., and Gleason, D. (2001). The biology of larvae from the reef coral Porites astreoides, and their response to temperature disturbances. *Mar. Biol.* 139, 981–989. doi: 10.1007/s002270100634
- Epstein, N., Bak. R. P. M., and Rinkevich, B. (2000). Toxicity of third generation dispersants and dispersed Egyptian crude oil on Red Sea Coral Larvae. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 40, 497–503. doi: 10.1016/S0025-326X(99)00232-5
- Farina, O., Ramos, R., Bastidas, C., and García, E. (2008). Biochemical responses of cnidarian larvae to Mercury and Benzo(a)pyrene Exposure. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 81, 553–557. doi: 10.1007/s00128-008-9534-2
- Figueiredo, J., Baird, A. H., and Connolly, S. R. (2013). Synthesizing larval competence dynamics and reef-scale retention reveals a high potential for self-recruitment in corals. *Ecology* 94, 650–659 doi: 10.1890/12-0767.1
- Figueiredo, J., Baird, A. H., Harii, S., and Connolly, S. R. (2014). Increased local retention of reef coral larvae as a result of ocean warming. *Nat. Climate Change* 4, 498–502 doi: 10.1038/nclimate2210
- Foster, T., and Gilmour, J. P. (2016). Seeing red: coral larvae are attracted to healthy looking reefs. *Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser.* 559, 65–71. doi: 10.3354/meps11902
- Freckelton, M. L., Nedved, B. T., and Hadfield, M. G. (2017). Induction of invertebrate larval settlement; different bacteria, different mechanisms? *Sci. Reports* 7:42557. doi: 10.1038/srep42557
- Gascoigne, J., and Lipcius, M. R. (2004). Allee effects in marine systems. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 269, 49–59 doi: 10.3354/meps269049
- Golbuu, Y., and Richmond, R. H. (2007). Substratum preferences in planula larvae of two species of scleractinian corals, *Goniastrea retiformis* and *Stylaraea punctata. Mar. Biol.* 152, 639–644. doi: 10.1007/s00227-007-0717-x
- Goodbody-Gringley, G., Wetzel, D. L., Gillon, D., Pulster, E., Miller, A., and Ritchie, K. B. (2013). Toxicity of deepwater horizon source oil and the chemical dispersant, corexit[®] 9500, to Coral Larvae. *PLoS ONE* 8:e45574. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045574
- Graham, E. M., Baird, A. H., Connolly, S. R., Sewell, M. A., and Willis, B. L. (2017). Uncoupling temperature-dependent mortality from lipid depletion for scleractinian coral larvae. *Coral Reefs* 36, 97–104. doi: 10.1007/s00338-016-1501-5
- Guest, J. R., Baird, A. H., Maynard, J. A., Muttaqin, E., Edwards, A. J., Campbell, S. J., et al. (2012). Contrasting patterns of coral bleaching susceptibility in 2010 suggest an adaptive response to thermal stress. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33353. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033353
- Hadfield, M. G., and Paul, V. J. (2001). "Chapter 13: natural chemical cues for settlement and metamorphosis of marine-invertebrate larvae," in *Marine Chemical Ecology*, eds J. B. McClintock, and B. J. Baker (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press LLC), 431–461.
- Hartmann, A. C., Baird, A. H., Knowlton, N., and Huang, D. (2017). The paradox of environmental symbiont acquisition in obligate mutualisms. *Curr. Biol.* 27, 3711–3716. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.10.036
- Hata, T., Madin, J. S., Cumbo, V. R., Denny, M., Figueiredo, J., Harii, S., et al. (2017). Coral larvae are poor swimmers and require fine-scale reef structure to settle. *Sci. Reports* 7:2249 doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-02402-y
- Heyward, A. J. (1988). "Inhibitory effects of copper and zinc sulphates on fertilization in corals," in *Proceedings of the 6th Coral Reef Symposium* Vol. 2 (Townsville, QLD), 299–303.
- Heyward, A. J., and Negri, A. P. (2010). Plasticity of larval pre-competency in response to temperature: observations on multiple broadcast spawning coral species. *Coral Reefs*, 29, 631–636. doi: 10.1007/s00338-009-0578-5
- Inoue, M. (2004). Coral skeletal tin and copper concentrations at Pohnpei, Micronesia: possible index for marine pollution by toxic anti-biofouling paints. *Environ. Pollut.* 129, 399–407. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2003.11.009
- IPCC. (2007). Climate Change 2007 Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC. (IPCC).

- Jones, G. P., Milicich, M. J., Emslie, M. J., and Lunow, C. (1999). Self-recruitment in a coral reef fish population. *Nature* 402, 802–804 doi: 10.1038/45538
- Jones, R. (2004). Testing the 'photoinhibition' model of coral bleaching using chemical inhibitors. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 284, 133–145. doi: 10.3354/meps284133
- Jones, R. J. (2005). The ecotoxicological effects of Photosystem II herbicides on corals. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 51, 495–506. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2005.06.027
- Jones, R. J., Muller, J., Haynes, D., and Schreiber, U. (2003). Effects of herbicides diuron and atrazine on corals of the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 251, 153–167. doi: 10.3354/meps251153
- Kenkel, C. D., Traylor, M. R., Wiedenmann, J., Salih, A., and Matz, M. V. (2011). Fluorescence of coral larvae predicts their settlement response to crustose coralline algae and reflects stress. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 278, 2691–2697. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2010.2344
- Knutson, S., Downs, C. A., and Richmond, R. H. (2011). Concentrations of Irgarol in selected marinas of Oahu, Hawaii and effects on settlement of coral larval. *Ecotoxicology* 21, 1–8. doi: 10.1007/s10646-011-0752-8
- Kuffner, I. B., Andersson, A. J., Jokiel, P. L., Rodgers, K. S., and Mackenzie, F. T. (2008). Decreased abundance of crustose coralline algae due to ocean acidification. *Nat. Geosci.* 1, 114–117. doi: 10.1038/ngeo100
- Kurihara, H. (2008). Effects of CO₂-driven ocean acidification on the early developmental stages of invertebrates. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 373, 275–284 doi: 10.3354/meps07802
- Lane, A., and Harrison, P. L. (2000). "Effects of oil contaminants on survivorship of larvae of the scleractinian reef corals Acropora tenuis, Goniastrea aspera and Platygyra sinensis from the Great Barrier Reef," in Proceedings of the 9th International Coral Reef Symposium (Bali), 23–27.
- Markey, K. L., Baird, A. H., Humphrey, C., and Negri, A. P. (2007). Insecticides and a fungicide affect multiple coral life stages. *Mar. Ecol. Progr Ser.* 330, 127–137. doi: 10.3354/meps330127
- Meyer, A., Davies, S., Wang, S., Willis, B. L., Abrego, D., Juenger, T. E., et al. (2009). Genetic variation in responses to a settlement cue and elevated temperature in the reef-building coral Acropora millepora. Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser. 392, 81–92. doi: 10.3354/meps08208
- Miller, M. W. (2014). Post-settlement survivorship in two Caribbean broadcasting corals. Coral Reefs 33, 1041–1046. doi: 10.1007/s00338-014-1177-7
- Miller, M. W., Williams, D. E., and Fisch, J. (2016). Genet-specific spawning patterns in *Acropora palmata*. *Coral Reefs* 35, 1393–1398. doi: 10.1007/s00338-016-1472-6
- Morgan, K. M., Perry, C. T., Smithers, S. G., Johnson, J. A., and Daniell, J. J. (2016). Evidence of extensive reef development and high coral cover in nearshore environments: implications for understanding coral adaptation in turbid settings. Sci. Reports 6:29616. doi: 10.1038/srep29616
- Nanninga, G. B., and Berumen, M. L. (2014). The role of individual variation in marine larval dispersal. Front. Mar. Sci. 1:71. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2014.00071
- Negri, A., and Marshall, P. (2009). TBT contamination of remote marine environments: ship groundings and ice-breakers as sources of organotins in the Great Barrier Reef and Antarctica. J. Environ. Manag. 90, S31–S40. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2008.06.009
- Negri, A. P., and Heyward, A. J. (2000). Inhibition of Fertilization and Larval Metamorphosis of the Coral Acropora millepora (Ehrenberg, 1834) by Petroleum Products. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 41, 420–427. doi: 10.1016/S0025-326X(00)00139-9
- Negri, A. P., and Hoogenboom, M. O. (2011). Water contamination reduces the tolerance of coral larvae to thermal stress. *PLoS ONE* 6:e19703. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019703
- Negri, A. P., Marshall, P. A., and Heyward, A. J. (2007). Differing effects of thermal stress on coral fertilization and early embryogenesis in four Indo Pacific species. *Coral Reefs* 26, 759–763. doi: 10.1007/s00338-007-0258-2
- Negri, A. P., Smith, L. D., Webster, N. S., and Heyward, A. J. (2002). Understanding ship-grounding impacts on a coral reef: potential effects of anti-foulant paint contamination on coral recruitment. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 44, 111–117. doi: 10.1016/S0025-326X(01)00128-X
- Negri, A., Vollhardt, C., Humphrey, C., Heyward, A., Jones, R., Eaglesham, G., et al. (2005). Effects of the herbicide diuron on the early life history stages of coral. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 51, 370–383. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.10.053
- Owen, R., Knap, A., Toaspern, M., and Carbery, K. (2002). Inhibition of coral photosynthesis by the antifouling herbicide Irgarol 1051. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 44, 623–632. doi: 10.1016/S0025-326X(01)00303-4

Palmer, C. V., Modi, C. K., and Mydlarz, L. D. (2009). Coral fluorescent proteins as antioxidants. *PLoS ONE* 4:e7298. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0007298

- Pauls, S. U., Nowak, C., Bálint, M., and Pfenninger, M. (2013). The impact of global climate change on genetic diversity within populations and species. *Mol. Ecol.* 22, 925–946. doi: 10.1111/mec.12152
- Peters, E. C., Gassman, N. J., Firman, J. C., Richmond, R. H., and Power, E. A. (1997). Ecotoxicology of tropical marine ecosystems. J. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16, 12–40. doi: 10.1002/etc.5620160103
- Polato, N. R., Voolstra, C. R., Schnetzer, J., DeSalvo, M. K., Randall, C. J., Szmant, A. M., et al. (2010). Location-specific responses to thermal stress in larvae of the reef-building coral *Montastraea faveolata*. *PLoS ONE* 5:e11221. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011221
- Putnam, H. M., and Gates, R. D. (2015). Preconditioning in the reef-building coral *Pocillopora damicornis* and the potential for trans-generational acclimatization in coral larvae under future climate change conditions. *J. Exp. Biol.* 218, 2365–2372. doi: 10.1242/jeb.123018
- Reichelt-Brushett, A. J., and Harrison, P. L. (1999). The effect of copper, zinc and cadmium on fertilization success of gametes from scleractinian reef corals. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 38, 182–187. doi: 10.1016/S0025-326X(98)00183-0
- Reichelt-Brushett, A. J., and Harrison, P. L. (2000). The effect of copper on the settlement success of larvae from the Scleractinian coral *Acropora tenuis*. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 41, 385–391. doi: 10.1016/S0025-326X(00)00131-4
- Reichelt-Brushett, A. J., and Harrison, P. L. (2005). The effect of selected trace metals on the fertilization success of several scleractinian coral species. *Coral Reefs* 24, 524–534. doi: 10.1007/s00338-005-0013-5
- Richmond, R. H. (1985). Reversible metamorphosis in coral planula larvae. *Mar. Ecol. Progress Ser.* 22, 181–185. doi: 10.3354/meps022181
- Richmond, R. H. (1987). Energetics, competency, and long distance dispersal of planula larvae of the coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. *Mar. Biol.* 93, 527–533 doi: 10.1007/BF00392790
- Richmond, R. H. (1990). "The effects of the El Niño southern oscillation on the dispersal of corals and other marine organisms," in *Some Ecological Consequences of the 1982/83 El Niño Event to Marine Life* ed Glynn, P. W. (Amsterdam: Elsevier Oceanography Series, 52. Elsevier North Holland Press), 127–140.
- Richmond, R. H. (1993). "Effects of coastal runoff on coral reproduction," in Proceedings of the Colloquium on Global Aspects of Coral Reefs: Health, Hazards, and History, ed R. N. Ginsburg (Miami, FL: Rosenstiel School of Marine and Atmospheric Science), 360–364.
- Richmond, R. H. (2014). Making science matter Forging effective partnerships for coral reef conservation. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Bull.* 23, 52–56. doi: 10.1002/lob.201423352
- Richmond, R. H., and Jokiel, P. L. (1984). Lunar Periodicity in Larva Release in the Reef Coral Pocillopora damicornis at Enewetak and Hawaii. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 34, 280–287.
- Rodriguez-Lanetty, M., Harii, S., and Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2009). Early moleculars responses of coral larvae to hyperthermal stress. *Mo. Ecol.* 18, 5101–5114. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04419.x
- Sammarco, P. W. (1982). Polyp Bail-Out: an escape response to environmental stress and a new means of reproduction in corals. *Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser.* 198, 57–65. doi: 10.3354/meps010057
- Sammarco, P. W., and, A., Andrews, C. (1989). The Helix experiment: differential localized dispersal and recruitment patterns in Great Barrier Reef corals. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 34, 896–912. doi: 10.4319/lo.1989.34.5.0896
- Shinzato, C., Shoguchi, E., Kawashima, T., Hamada, M., Hisata, K., Tanaka, M., et al. (2012). Using the Acropora digitifera genome to understand coral responses to environmental change. Nature 476, 320–323. doi: 10.1038/nature10249
- Sneed, J. M., Sharp, K. H., Ritchie, K. B., and Paul, V. J. (2014). The chemical cue tetrabromopyrrole from a biofilm bacterium induces settlement of multiple Caribbean corals. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 281:20133086. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2013.3086
- Stapley, J., Reger, J., Feulner, P. G., Smadja, C., Galindo, J., Ekblom, R., et al. (2010). Adaptation genomics: the next generation. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 25, 705–712. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2010.09.002
- Tebben, J., Motti, C. A., Siboni, N., Tapiolas, D. M., Negri, A. P., Schupp, P. J., et al. (2015). Chemical mediation of coral larval settlement by crustose coralline algae. *Sci. Reports* 5:10803. doi: 10.1038/srep10803
- Tebben, J., Tapiolas, D. M., Motti, C. A., Abrego, D., Negri, A. P., Blackall, L. L., et al. (2011). Induction of larval metamorphosis of the coral *Acropora*

millepora by tetrabromopyrrole isolated from a Pseudoalteromonas Bacterium. *PLoS ONE* 6:e19082. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019082

- Templeton, A. R., Robertson, R. J., Brisson, J., and Strasburg, J. (2001). Disrupting evolutionary processes: the effect of habitat fragmentation on collared lizards in the Missouri Ozarks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 5426–5432. doi: 10.1073/pnas.091093098
- van Dam, J. W., Negri, A. P., Uthicke, S., and Mueller, J. F. (2011). "Chemical pollution on coral reefs: exposure and ecological effects," in *Ecological Impacts* of *Toxic Chemicals*, eds F. Sánchez-Bayo, P. J. van den Brink, and R. M. Mann (Bentham Science Publishers Ltd.), 187–211.
- Vermeij, M. J., Marhaver, K. L., Huijbers, C. M., Nagelkerken, I., and Simpson, S. D. (2010). Coral larvae move toward reef sounds. *PLoS ONE* 5:e10660. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010660
- Vermeij, M. J., Smith, J. E., Smith, C. M., Vega Thurber, R., and Sandin, S. A. (2008). Survival and settlement success of coral planulae: independent and synergistic effects of macroalgae and microbes. *Oecologia* 159, 325–336. doi: 10.1007/s00442-008-1223-7
- Victor, S., Neth, L., Golbuu, Y., Wolanski, E., and Richmond, R. (2006). Sedimentation in mangroves and coral reefs in a wet tropical Island, Pohnpei, Micronesia. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 66, 409–416. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2005.07.025
- Victor, S., and Richmond, R. H. (2005). Effect of copper on fertilization success in the reef coral Acropora surculosa. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50, 1448–1451. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2005.09.004
- Vijayavel, K., Downs, C. A., Ostrander, G. K., and Richmond, R. H. (2012). Oxidative DNA damage induced by iron chloride in the larvae of the lace coral *Pocillopora damicornis. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C* 155, 275–280. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpc.2011.09.007
- Voolstra, C. R., Sunagawa, S., Matz, M. V., Bayer, T., Aranda, M., Buschiazzo, E., et al. (2011). Rapid evolution of coral proteins responsible for interaction with the environment. *PLoS ONE* 6:e20392. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020392
- Webster, N. S., Soo, R., Cobb, R., and Negri, A. P. (2010). Elevated seawater temperature causes a microbial shift on crustose coralline algae with implications for the recruitment of coral larvae. *ISME J.* 5, 759–770. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2010.152
- Webster, N. S., Uthicke, S., Bott, E. S., Flores, F., and Negri, A. P. (2013). Ocean acidification reduces induction of coral settlement by crustose coralline algae. *Global Change Biol.* 19, 303–315. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12008
- Weis, V., Reynolds, W., deBoer, M., and Krupp, D. (2001). Host-symbiont specificity during onset of symbiosis between the dinoflagellates Symbiodinium spp. and planula larvae of the scleractinian coral Fungia scutaria. Coral Reefs 20, 301–308. doi: 10.1007/s003380100179
- Wolanski, E., Richmond, R., McCook, L., and Sweatman, H. (2003). Mud, marine snow and coral reefs. Am. Sci. 91, 44–51. doi: 10.1511/2003.1.44
- Woods, R. M., Baird, A. H., Mizerek, T. L., and Madin, J. S. (2016). Environmental factors limiting fertilisation and larval success in corals. *Coral Reefs* 35, 1433–1440 doi: 10.1007/s00338-016-1494-0
- Woolsey, E. S., Keith, S. A., Byrne, M., Schmidt-Roach, S., and Baird, A. H. (2015). Latitudinal variation in thermal tolerance thresholds of early life stages of corals. *Coral Reefs* 34, 471–478 doi: 10.1007/s00338-014-1253-z
- Yakovleva, I. M., Baird, A. H., Yamamoto, H. H., Bhagooli, R., Nonaka, M., and Hidaka, M. (2009). Algal symbionts increase oxidative damage and death in coral larvae at high temperatures. *Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser.* 378, 105–112 doi: 10.3354/meps07857

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer AB and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Richmond, Tisthammer and Spies. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Biophysical Simulations Support Schooling Behavior of Fish Larvae Throughout Ontogeny

Igal Berenshtein^{1,2,3*}, Claire B. Paris³, Hezi Gildor⁴, Erick Fredj⁵, Yael Amitai⁴ and Moshe Kiflawi^{6,2}

¹ Department of Life Sciences, Eilat Campus, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel, ² The Interuniversity Institute for Marine Sciences of Eilat, Eilat, Israel, ³ Department of Ocean Sciences, Rosenstiel School of Marine and Atmospheric Science, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States, ⁴ Institute of Earth Sciences, The Hebrew University, Jerusalem, Israel, ⁵ Department of Computer Science, Jerusalem Institute of Technology, Jerusalem, Israel, ⁶ Department of Life-Sciences, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel

Schooling is very common in adult and juvenile fish, but has been rarely studied during the larval stage. Recent otolith micro-chemistry studies of coral reef fish have demonstrated that cohorts of larvae can move through similar paths and settle within a few meters one from another. However, little is known about the processes involved in the formation and maintenance of these cohorts. Here we use a biophysical modeling approach to examine whether local hydrodynamics, various individual behaviors, or larval schooling can explain cohesive patterns observed for Neopomacentrus miryae in the Gulf of Agaba/Eilat (Red Sea), and whether schooling is feasible in terms of initial encounter probability and cohesiveness maintenance. We then examine the consequences of schooling behavior on larval settlement success and connectivity. Our results indicate that: (1) Schooling behavior is necessary for generating cohesive dispersal patterns, (2) Initial larval encounter of newly-hatched larvae is plausible, depending mainly on initial larval densities and patchiness, and (3) schooling behavior increases the rate of larval settlement while decreasing the percentage of realized connections. Together with mounting evidence of cohesive dispersal, this numerical study demonstrates that larval schooling throughout the pelagic phase is realistic, and has a significant effect on settlement success and connectivity patterns. Future research is needed to understand the mechanisms of fission-fusion dynamics of larval cohorts and their effect on dispersal. Our findings should be considered in future efforts of larval dispersal models, specifically in the context of marine connectivity and the planning of marine protected area networks.

Keywords: larval dispersal, schooling, cohorts, coral reef fish larvae, cohesive dispersal, settlement, connectivity, Gulf of Aqaba/Eilat

INTRODUCTION

Adult and juvenile fish often swim in groups. Such schooling behavior can help reduce drag and conserve energy (Weihs, 1975), improve orientation (Codling et al., 2007), reduce the risk of predation (Shaw, 1978), and enhance the detection of food and mates (Shaw, 1978). On the other hand, schooling fish may suffer higher mortality and lower growth rates due to competition within the group (Hixon and Jones, 2005). The prevalence of schooling suggests that the overall balance would seem to be positive (Shaw, 1978).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Alberto Basset, University of Salento, Italy

Reviewed by:

Ulisses Miranda Azeiteiro, University of Aveiro, Portugal Kevin Sorochan, Dalhousie University, Canada

*Correspondence: Igal Berenshtein iberenshtein@rsmas.miami.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Marine Ecosystem Ecology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Marine Science

Received: 23 December 2017 Accepted: 03 July 2018 Published: 25 July 2018

Citation:

Berenshtein I, Paris CB, Gildor H, Fredj E, Amitai Y and Kiflawi M (2018) Biophysical Simulations Support Schooling Behavior of Fish Larvae Throughout Ontogeny. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:254. doi: 10.3389/fmars.2018.00254 The advantages of schooling may similarly benefit the pelagic larval phase that characterizes the life-cycle of most coral reef fishes (Leis, 2006). These larvae are thought to actively group, mainly during late larval stages, once their sensory and movement capacities have matured enough to support this behavior (Shaw, 1978; Arvedlund and Kavanagh, 2009). Specifically, larval schooling may be similar to adult fish schooling, where collective behavior emerges from simple "individual-fish" rules based on the location of the nearest neighbor/s (Couzin et al., 2002).

Little is known about the frequency of schooling behavior across species and its ontogenetic dynamics. Previous studies indicated that *Aldrichetta forsteri* and *Gobiosoma boscifish* larvae school at early stages when their size is \sim 5 mm and their fins are not fully developed yet (Breitburg, 1991; Kingsford and Tricklebank, 1991). However schooling was also reported at later larval and post-larval stages for different species (reviewed in Leis, 2006).

Mounting evidence, derived from the analysis of otolith micro-chemistry (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012; Shima and Swearer, 2016) and genetic relatedness (Bernardi et al., 2012; Selwyn et al., 2016), suggests that cohorts of coastal marine fish may be sharing a substantial portion of their dispersal histories (by "cohort" we mean a group of larvae of same age). While it is tempting to relate these patterns to larval behavior, they may also result from aggregation by prevailing hydrological features and/or local cohesive Lagrangian structures (Siegel et al., 2008). The relative contribution of biological, physical, and bio-physical processes to the generation and maintenance of such cohesive dispersal pattern, i.e., shared dispersal paths among individuals within the same cohort, is largely unexplored.

This gap of knowledge is critical, given the demographic and ecological ramifications of the dispersive fate of marine larvae (Levin, 2006). Specifically, the dispersal outcome of schooling larvae is likely to differ from individual larvae as larval schools are characterized by faster swimming speeds, and higher precision of orientation (Irisson et al., 2015). Distinguishing between individual and schooling dispersal is important since dispersal and connectivity are central elements affecting population dynamics, and are often considered when designing marine protected areas networks (Cowen and Sponaugle, 2009). Additional importance of larval schooling lies in its potential effect on the ecology of pelagic ecosystems via planktonic predator-prey dynamics (McGurk, 1986; Frank et al., 1993; Bradbury et al., 2003), planktonic patchiness enhancement (Bradbury et al., 2003), species diversity (Hill, 1973).

In the current study we used a biophysical model of the Gulf of Aqaba (GoA) to test which aspect of larval behavior is necessary and sufficient to reproduce patterns of cohesive dispersal reported for *Neopomacentrus miryae* in the GoA (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012). Briefly, Ben-Tzvi et al. (2012) have demonstrated that newly settled *N. miryae* cohorts shared a highly similar otolith micro-chemistry pattern within each cohort compared to between cohorts. In the current study, we tested whether different scenarios generate cohesive cohorts by examining passive drift, as well as by invoking larval behaviors such as simple random walk (SRW), auto-correlated directional swimming (CRW;

Berenshtein et al., 2017), ontogenetic vertical migration (OVM; Paris and Cowen, 2004; Irisson et al., 2010; Huebert et al., 2011), biased correlated directional swimming (BCRW; Staaterman et al., 2012; Mouritsen et al., 2013), and schooling behavior (Irisson et al., 2015). We then examined the plausibility of larval encounter during the early pelagic phase; their capacity to overcome turbulent velocities and remain grouped; and finally, we quantified the relative changes in settlementsuccess and connectivity in schooling vs. non-schooling dispersal.

METHODS

Study Site

The Gulf of Aqaba is a semi-enclosed elongated extension of the Red Sea (**Figure 1A**), stretching across ~ 180 km (**Figure 1B**), with maximal width and depth of ~ 27 km and 1,850 m respectively. The GoA circulation is characterized by deep mixing during winter (Feb-March), and stratification during the rest of the year, with a strong density-driven exchange flow with the Red sea during April–August (Biton and Gildor, 2011). The GoA circulation is also dominated by a chain of several sub-meso-scale eddies along its main axis (Biton and Gildor, 2011).

Study Fish

Neopomacentrus miryae is endemic to the Red Sea and is highly abundant in the GoA. The ecology of this species was described by Fishelson et al. (1974) referring to it as *Abudefduf azysron* (Dor and Allen, 1974). Adult *N. miryae* are planktivorous, found in large stationary schools along vertical walls of forereefs, with males guarding and aerating demersal eggs. *N. miryae* spawning season spans between November-May, and larvae are found at depths of 0-100 m in the water column, with highest abundance at the top 25 m (Kimmerling et al., 2017).

Biophysical Model of the GoA

The biophysical model of the GoA (Berenshtein et al., 2017) was composed of 3 parts: First, the winds at 10 m above sea level were computed using an atmospheric model- Weather Research and Forecasting model (WRF; Skamarock et al., 2001), Next, wind data was used to force a 3D high resolution oceanographic model- Massachusetts Institute of Technology general circulation model (MITgcm; Marshall et al., 1997), Finally, an offline particle tracking algorithm (modified from Fredj et al., 2016) made use of the 3D circulation data combined with larval biological traits to compute larval trajectories. The resolution of the MITgcm data was of 1 h (temporal), 300 m (horizontal), and 32 depth layers most of which were concentrated in the upper 300 m (Biton and Gildor, 2011; Berenshtein et al., 2017). The temporal resolution of the particle tracking model was of 10 min (time-step length), with a spatial resolution of centimeters due to a continuous 3D grid, and spatial interpolation of larval positions. The detailed description of the model can be found in Berenshtein et al. (2017).



FIGURE 1 | Study area: (A) The Red Sea, and (B) The Gulf of Aqaba (GoA). Numbers in (B) represents the 41 reef polygons which are used in the biophysical model. (C) Cohort recruitment sites in the northern GoA: Princess Beach (PB), Inter-University Institute (IUI), and the North Beach (NB).

Backward and Forward-in-Time Passive Simulations

For our simulations we used 5 real recruitment events which occurred at 3 sites in the northwestern coast of the GoA: North Beach (NB), Inter-University Institute (IUI), and Princess Beach (PB) (**Figure 1C**; Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012). In Ben-Tzvi et al. (2012), newly-recruited fish were collected with hand-nets, and their age and day of recruitment was determined using otolith analysis. Newly-recruited fish that shared the same site, age and recruitment day were considered of the same cohort (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012).

To examine whether the local hydrodynamics (advection and turbulence) could generate patterns of cohort cohesiveness similar to those observed in *N. miryae* (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012), we performed backward and forward-in-time simulations using the dates and locations of the collected cohorts and their estimated PLDs (**Figure 2C**; Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012).

The rational of this approach was that if currents were to generate a cohesive dispersal pattern, they would have to be sufficiently strong and persistent to overcome the system's stochasticity. Such pattern would result in similar trajectories in backward and forward-in-time simulations, connecting between the settlement sites, and the hatching locations on the reef.

In the backtracking simulation (Sim. #1, **Table 1**) 5,000 passive virtual larvae were released from each of the recruitment sites at their corresponding dates. In the forward simulation (Sim. #2, **Table 1**), 20 virtual larvae were released from each of the locations of virtual larvae which ended up on the reef in the backtracking simulation, releasing a total of 4,480 virtual larvae (Sim. #2, **Table 1**).

We then visually examined the simulated trajectories for indication of cohort-unique dispersal trajectories, imposed solely by local hydrodynamics.

Pairwise Distances and Probability of Adjacent Settlement

To determine if various larval behaviors can generate the observed cohesive dispersal pattern we released pairs of virtual larvae from the entire fringing reef of the GoA (41 reef polygons in **Figure 1B**) and tracked them forward in time (Sim. #3–8, **Table 1**). For each simulation, 1,000 pairs of larvae, characterized by identical hatching times and locations, were released daily at midnight across 9 release days (15th–23th of March 2004). Larval trajectories were computed in the biophysical model according to advection, turbulence, and larval behavior (Berenshtein et al., 2017). Mortality was not applied in the biophysical simulations.

To quantitatively assess the occurrence of cohesive dispersal we computed: (1) larval pairwise distances, i.e., the distance separating paired virtual larvae across the PLD, and (2) the probability of sampling 2 settled nearest neighbors, which hatched at the same location and time. While the former corresponds to the observed similarity in larval paths deducted from the trace-element of otolith rings, the latter corresponds to the similarity in the site of origin deducted from the traceelement of otolith cores (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012).

Since very little is known about the behavior of *N. miryae* larvae, we chose to apply the commonly observed and modeled larval behaviors for other species within the Pomacentridae family (Leis and Carson-Ewart, 2003; Irisson et al., 2009, 2015; Mouritsen et al., 2013; Berenshtein et al., 2014). Behaviors, which include movement toward a common direction (e.g., OVM and BCRW), are expected to produce convergence of larval paths, which would be expressed in reduced pairwise distances compared to passive simulations. The following behavioral scenarios were implemented (Sim. #3–8, **Table 1**).

Simulation	Domain	Release areas	Direction in time	Time of release	Number of virtual larvae released	Behavior
1	GoA	Sample locations are in Figure 1C	Backward	12:00 according to the date of settlement	25,000	Passive
2	GoA	Virtual larvae that ended up on the reef in the backward simulation. See Figure 2B	Forward	15–23/3/2004	4,880	Passive
3	GoA	Reef polygons (Berenshtein et al., 2017)	Forward	15-23/3/2004	32,046	Passive
4	GoA	Reef polygons (Berenshtein et al., 2017)	Forward	15–23/3/2004	28,414	 SRW Ontogenetic swimming speeds: max=20 [cm s⁻¹]
5	GoA	Reef polygons (Berenshtein et al., 2017)	Forward	15–23/3/2004	28,414	 CRW: Kappa_{CRW} = 2.5 Ontogenetic swimming speeds: max = 20 [cm s⁻¹]
6	GoA	Reef polygons (Berenshtein et al., 2017)	Forward	15–23/3/2004	28,414	 OVM CRW: Kappa_{CRW} = 2.5 Ontogenetic swimming speeds: max = 20 [cm s⁻¹]
7	GoA	Reef polygons(Berenshtein et al., 2017)	Forward	15–23/3/2004	28,414	 BCRW: Kappa_{BCRW} = 1 Ontogenetic swimming speeds: max = 20 [cm s⁻¹]
8	GoA	Reef polygons (Berenshtein et al., 2017)	Forward	15–23/3/2004	28,414*(14,207)	 Schooling behavior Ontogenetic swimming speeds: max = 21.4 [cm s⁻¹] CRW: <i>Kappa_{CRW}</i> = 4.4
9	100*100*100 m Sub-sample Centered around 29°29.4' N 34°57.4' E	Initial distribution of virtual larvae, with variable patchiness: Lloyds = $[1, 6.5, 22, 26, 46]$ for low larval density (0.0026 ind m ⁻³). And Lloyds = $[1, 5.5, 15, 27, 38]$ for high larval density (0.026 ind m ⁻³)	Forward	 15/3/2004 One release tracked for 10 mintemporal resolution: 0.1 s 	[2,600, 26,000]	Passive

TABLE 1 | Biophysical simulations scenarios- model configuration and behavior of virtual larvae.

SRW, simple random walk; CRW, auto-correlated random walk; BCRW, biased correlated random walk; OVM, ontogenetic vertical migration. In all simulations turbulence was applied as a simple random walk (SRW) component (Berenshtein et al., 2017). *For the schooling scenario (#8), the pairs of larvae were moving together by definition. Therefore the effective number of simulated trajectories is half of the released number of larvae.

Simple Random Walk (SRW)

For this scenario, ontogenetic swimming speeds were applied according to Fisher (2005):

$$u''_{t} = u''_{h} + 10^{\frac{\log(t)}{\log(PLD)} \cdot \log(u''_{s} - u''_{h})}$$
(1)

Age (t) and PLD are expressed in hours.

Hatching speeds were parameterized with $(u''_h) 2 \text{ cm s}^{-1}$, reaching maximum swimming speeds (u''_s) of 20 cm s^{-1} , which are typical values for Pomacentridae (Leis and Carson-Ewart, 1997; Fisher, 2005). Here, the movement directions were drawn from a random distribution, therefore un-correlated and traditionally termed "Simple Random Walk" (SRW). Note, that in all the following behaviors, larval swimming speeds are modeled similarly (Equation 1), with the exception of the passive scenario, were larvae are immobile.

Auto-Correlated Directional Swimming (CRW)

Auto-correlated directional swimming for individual larvae was simulated as a CRW process, such that larval heading at a given time step is correlated to the previous one.

$$\theta_{i} = \theta_{i-1} + \delta\theta \tag{2}$$

Where θ_i and θ_{i-1} are the current and previous headings, and $\delta\theta$ is the turning angle, which is drawn from a von-Mises distribution.

$$f(\delta\theta|kappa) = \frac{1}{2\pi I_0(\kappa)} e^{kappa}$$
(3)

Where I_0 is a modified Bessel function of order 0, and *Kappa* is the concentration parameter of the von-Mises distribution (Codling et al., 2004; Staaterman et al., 2012; Berenshtein et al., 2017). Briefly, the von-Mises *Kappa* controls the modeled precision of orientation, such that high *Kappa* values would result in directional trajectories, compared to low *Kappa* values. For example, *Kappa* = 0, 2, and 4 will result in a total decay of directional correlation after 10, 100, and 240 min respectively (Berenshtein et al., 2017). *Kappa* values for individual larvae were estimated from the experimental data of Irisson et al. (2015) for the con-familial *Chromis atripectoralis* using maximum likelihood estimation for von-Misses distribution (R core team, 2013) for each headings sequence (i.e., each individual Drifting

In-Situ Chamber experiment). Following this analysis *Kappa* was set to 2.5.

Ontogenetic Vertical Migration (OVM)

The occurrence of OVM was not documented for *N. miryae* but was demonstrated in other pomacentrids, with larvae shown to migrate deeper with age (Paris and Cowen, 2004; Irisson et al., 2009; Huebert et al., 2011). This behavior was implemented in our model (Sim. #6, **Table 1**), such that larvae at the age of 0-5 days post-hatch (DPH) maintained a depth range of 0-25 m, and larvae at the age of 6–27 DPH maintained a depth range of 25-100 m. This is achieved by a vertical movement speed of 2 cm s⁻¹. Larvae older than 27 DPH were within their competence window, and settled to the reef upon encounter.

Biased-Correlated Directional Swimming (BCRW)

Biased-correlated directional swimming for individual larvae was simulated as a biased correlated random walk process (BCRW) such that larval headings are drawn from a von-Mises distribution centered around a pre-defined azimuth; we used 17° , which is the axial direction of the GoA (i.e., larvae that swim toward this direction will end up at the northern tip of the GoA). To date, there is no empirical information about a common swimming directions of larvae in the GoA (in contrast to other locations, e.g., Bottesch et al., 2016), but using the axial direction of the GoA makes biological sense since it minimizes the coastal encounters of the larvae, and therefore minimizes their risk of predation. *Kappa* values for BCRW individual larvae were estimated from the experimental data of Irisson et al. (2015) (see explanation in CRW section above) resulting in kappa = 1.

Schooling Behavior

For schooling behavior, we simulated the most simplified scenario in which pairs of larvae were moving together keeping the exact same positions and paths. Therefore, the effective number of virtual larvae released is half from that of the other strategies (**Table 1**). We have computed the *Kappa* parameter of the von-Mises distribution of turning angles from Irisson et al. (2015) data for the con-familial *C. atripectoralis.* Mean *Kappa* value for CRW computed from that data equaled to 4.4 (see explanation in CRW section above). The mean terminal swimming speed of schooling larvae was set to 21.4 cm s⁻¹ which is 7% faster than the individual terminal swimming speed (Irisson et al., 2015).

Passive

In addition the behaviors mentioned above, we have included a passive scenario to provide a baseline for the effect of the various behaviors on the pairwise distances.

Encounter Probability Estimation

For schooling behavior to occur, larvae need to encounter one another. We therefore sought to examine the probability of larvae encountering each other in the pelagic environment soon after hatching (within 1 day).

To address this question, we used two approaches. The first is spatiotemporally explicit, using 3D currents and turbulence from our biophysical model. In the second approach, we use mathematical models modified from the classical planktonic predator-prey encounter rate and probability models (Gerritsen and Strickler, 1977; Kiørboe and MacKenzie, 1995).

Encounter Probability Using the 3D Spatiotemporally Explicit Model

The first approach raised several computational challenges. First, it required a high temporal resolution (<1 s), whereas the temporal resolution of our model is of 10 min. Second, it required realistic densities of larvae, which can be orders of magnitude higher than could be tracked in biophysical models across the entire GoA. Third, to compute all possible pairwise distances across time requires immense computational power.

We therefore created a sub-sample of $100 \times 100 \times 100$ m (length × width × depth) of the GoA, centered around $29^{\circ}29.4'$ N $34^{\circ}57.4'$ E. In this space we followed either 2,600 or 26,000 passive virtual larvae, which correspond to the lower and midlevel values of measured densities of the con-familial *Stegastes partitus* larvae (<6 DPH, Paris and Cowen, 2004). The larvae, were released on the 15th of March 2004 at 12:00 p.m., and tracked for 10 min at a temporal resolution of 0.1 s. Initial positions of the passive larvae were generated at levels of patchiness [Lloyd's index of patchiness (L); (Lloyd, 1967)] that ranged from random distribution (L = 1) to moderately clumped (L = 40) distribution (Bradbury et al., 2003).

Random distributions were generated by selecting random XYZ coordinates within the cubic domain. Clumped distributions were generated using an iterative algorithm which produced the initial positions of virtual larvae around predefined number of centroids (Np₁ = 20), randomly drawn from a uniform distribution within a pre-defined distance (Rp₁ = 20 m) from a given patch centroid. For each iteration, to compute Lloyd's index of patchiness, 100 samples ($7 \times 7 \times 7$ m) were randomly placed in the domain. Then Np_i and the Rp_i were iteratively modified until reaching the desired range of patchiness. The sample's volume (343 m³) is within the range of typical ichthyoplankton samples (Kimmerling et al., 2017). Visualization examples of the spatial patterns are presented in Supplementary Figure S1.

We assumed a detection distance of 0.1 m, which corresponds to the visual acuity in fish larvae (Renee Lara, 2001). Encounter probability was computed as the proportion of larvae, out of the total number released, that came within 0.1 m of at least one other larvae throughout the 10 min simulation.

Encounter Probability Using the Classic Encounter Model

For the classic approach we used the encounter rate model from Kiørboe and MacKenzie (1995) between planktonic predator and prey. Here the encounter rate (*Er*) was a function of larval density (*D*; using 0.026 and 0.0026 ind m⁻³), detection distance (*R*; using 0.1 m), and swimming speed (v; using values of 0 and 0.02 m s⁻¹; Fisher, 2005).

$$Er = \pi DR^2 \sqrt{(2w^2 + 2v^2)}$$
(4)

Turbulent velocity (*w*) was computed following Kiørboe and MacKenzie (1995), using turbulent dissipation rates (ϵ) of 10^{-7} and 10^{-4} m² s⁻³ which represent the range of turbulent dissipation rates for the shelf and coastal zones (Kiorboe and Saiz, 1995).

$$w = 1.9(\epsilon R)^{1/3} \tag{5}$$

Encounter probability was computed following Gerritsen and Strickler (1977), where encounters were assumed to be randomly occurring events (Poisson distribution). Therefore the probability encountering at least one larvae (P_E) was formulated as a function of the time interval (t; using 10 min and 24 h).

$$P_E(\Delta t) = 1 - e^{-Er\Delta t} \frac{(Er\Delta t)^0}{0!} = 1 - e^{-Er\Delta t}$$
(6)

The term e^{-Ert} in Equation (6) represents the probability encountering 0 larvae.

Assessment of the Capacity of Newly Hatched Larvae to Overcome Turbulence and Remain Grouped

To assess the capacity of adjacent larvae to overcome horizontal turbulence and stay grouped, we computed turbulent velocity using Kiørboe and MacKenzie (1995) approach (Equation 5), and compared it to the combined velocity of two larvae swimming one toward the other.

Assessment of Grouping Tendency From Kimmerling et al. (2017) Data

The grouping tendency of *N. miryae* and *Chromis viridis* was assessed using the sampling data from Kimmerling et al. (2017). We focused on these two species as they were the species examined in Ben-Tzvi et al. (2012), with *N. miryae* demonstrating cohesive dispersal pattern, while *C. viridis* did not. The frequency and number of individuals occurring in the ichthyoplankton samples was recorded, and their Lloyds Index of Patchiness was computed.

Settlement Success and Connectivity Network Density

Settlement-success was computed as the percent of virtual larvae that have reached a reef polygon within their competence window (last 48 h of their PLD; Berenshtein et al., 2017). Networkdensity was computed as the percent of realized connections out of all possible connections between the different polygons in the GoA domain. Network-density considered only whether or not connections occurred, without considering the connections strength.

Settlement success and network density were computed per release event (N = 9; Sim #5 and #8, **Table 1**). Paired *t*-tests were used to examine the significance of differences in terms of settlement-success and network-density between schooling vs. individual CRW larvae. Shapiro-Wilk test was used to examine the normality of the paired differences. All simulations and statistical analyses were run on MATLAB R2014b (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA) and R (R core team, 2013).

RESULTS

Backward and Forward-in-Time Passive Simulations

Backtracking of passive virtual larvae from the sites and times of settlement by *N. miryae* (Figure 2A) resulted in a wide spread of trajectories around the northern two-thirds of the GoA; with a high degree of overlap between cohorts (Figure 2A). Similarly, forward-in-time trajectories, released from reef sources from the backtracking simulations, did not show any channeling patterns toward the observed settlement sites, but instead were widespread across most of the GoA area (Figure 2B). Both backward and forward in-time trajectories showed no evidence for prevailing currents that could generate cohort cohesion (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012).

Pairwise Distances and Probability of Adjacent Settlement

The analysis of pairwise-distances indicated that all but the schooling scenarios resulted in a high degree of dispersion. Mean pairwise distances at the end of the PLD ranged between 13 and 38 km, for pairs of larvae that hatched at the same location and time (Figure 3). Behaviors which include movement toward similar horizontal or vertical directions among larvae (BCRW and OVM) resulted in path convergence in comparison to the passive scenario, while dispersive behaviors which lacked "common movement direction" (SRW and CRW) resulted in greater path divergence in comparison to the passive scenario. Yet, even for the most convergent scenario (BCRW), the pairwise distances were far from generating patterns of cohesive dispersal, i.e., cohort members that settled within a few meters one from another (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012). By definition, pairwise-distances under the schooling behavior scenario equaled zero. All behaviors are characterized by a nearly linear increase of pairwise distances with slopes slightly decreasing toward the end of the PLD due to the bounded domain of the GoA. An exception is BCRW, which shows a considerably earlier and steeper decline in the pairwise distances due to convergence of larvae toward the northern tip of the GoA.

Similarly, the probability of sampling a nearest neighbor pair which hatched at the same location and time for all but the "schooling behavior" strategy was extremely low (<0.00004). Naturally, in the schooling behavior scenario, as the larval pairs hatched, moved, and settled together, the probability for pairwise settlement is maximal.

Larval Encounter Probabilities

The probability of larval encounter per 10 min, from the 3D biophysical model, ranged between 0.0046 and 0.49 at low larval densities, and 0.046-0.78 at high larval densities, depending the degree of initial larval patchiness (**Figure 4**; for spatial distribution see Supplementary Figure S1).

Encounter probabilities computed with the classic encounter model (Kiørboe and MacKenzie, 1995) ranged from 0.001 to 0.99



of 28–29 days (Sim. #1, **Table 1**). Virtual larvae from (A) with final positions in the reef (n = 244) were multiplied (×20) and tracked forward in time for 28–29 days (**E** Magenta asterisks in (A,B) represent particle release locations. (C) Pelagic Larval Durations (PLD) of the recruiting cohorts from April-March 2004, which were deducted from otolith analysis in Ben-Tzvi et al. (2012). Maps in (A,B) were generated using MATLAB R2014b (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA, USA), and are rotated views of the GoA (73° Clockwise).

depending on larval density, time span, turbulent velocity, and swimming speeds (**Table 2**). Across 24 h, for high larval densities, the encounter probability of swimming larvae is 0.2 and 0.99 for low and high turbulent dissipation rates respectively (**Table 2**, Supplementary Figure S2). Increase in larval density, time span, turbulent velocity, and swimming speeds resulted in an increase in encounter probabilities.

Assessment of the Capacity of Newly Hatched Larvae to Overcome Turbulence and Remain Grouped

Computation of turbulent velocity (Equation 5) for dissipation rate of 10^{-4} m² s⁻³ resulted in a turbulent velocity of w = 0.041 m s⁻¹. Given maximal larval speeds during the first 24 h after hatching is 0.02–0.03 m s⁻¹, larvae that swim toward



FIGURE 3 Distances between pairs of virtual larvae that hatched at the same locations and times throughout the pelagic larval duration (PLD) for the following strategies: passive, simple random walk (SRW), auto-correlated directional swimming (CRW), ontogenetic vertical migration (OVM), biased correlated random walk (BCRW), and schooling behavior (simulation #3–8, Table 1). Shaded areas indicate 99% confidence intervals (N = 32,046 and 28,414 for the passive and other strategies respectively).



patchiness of initial larval distribution, implementing high (0.026 ind m⁻³; full circles) and low (0.0026 ind m⁻³; empty circles) larval densities. Simulations were carried out in the 3D biophysical model within a sub-sample of 100 × 100 × 100 m (length × width × depth) in the Gulf of Aqaba centered around 29°29.4' N 34°57.4' E during the 15th of March 2004 at 12:00–12:10 p.m.

each other would be able to overcome turbulent velocity and remain grouped. Dissipation rate of 10^{-4} m² s⁻³ represents the upper limit of coastal and shelf dissipation rates, suggesting that such larvae, which can swim since hatching, will be able to overcome turbulent velocity and remain grouped at nearly all oceanic conditions, from early stages of their PLD.

Assessment of Grouping Tendency From Kimmerling et al. (2017) Data

For *N. miryae*, 90% of the samples contained two or more larvae, compared to only 29% in *C. viridis*. Lloyd's index of patchiness for *N. miryae* was 64 compared to 27 for *C. viridis*.

Settlement Success and Connectivity Network Density

Settlement success of schooling larvae was significantly higher than that of non-schooling larvae (pairwise *t*-test, t = 26.3, df = 8, p < 0.01, **Figure 5**). Connectivity network density in schooling larvae was significantly lower than that achieved in the non-schooling scenario (pairwise *t*-test, t = -35.2, df = 8, p < 0.01, **Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

Of the simulation scenarios considered in the current study, patterns of cohesive dispersal could only be reproduced by schooling behavior (**Figure 3**). This would seem to suggest that newly hatched *N. miryae* may actively form long-lived schools.

To school, larvae must encounter one another, yet schooling does not seem to occur immediately after hatching for the following reasons: (1) There is no indication for synchronous hatching from Pomacenridae demersal eggs, (2) There is no genetic structure between larval cohorts (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012), and (3) Larval swimming velocities at hatching are not necessarily sufficient to overcome turbulent velocity. Therefore, *N. miryae* encounter their conspecifics shortly—but not immediately—after hatching.

The larval encounter analyses computed in this study demonstrated feasible probabilities for pelagic larval encounter within 24 h (**Table 2**, **Figure 4**). However, both encounter computation methods encompass some limitations. The mathematical model assumes larval distributions are random rather than clumped. The latter has been documented for fish larvae (e.g., Bradbury et al., 2003, L>3; Frank et al., 1993, L>2), and for later-stage larvae of *N. miryae* in the GoA (Kimmerling

Density (larvae m ⁻³)	Time span (s)	Swimming speed (m s ⁻¹)	Dissipation rate (m ² s ^{-3})	Turbulent velocity(m s ⁻¹)	Encounter rate (s ⁻¹)	Encounter probability
0.0026	600	0	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	4.73×10^{-4}	0.000
0.0026	600	0.02	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	2.36×10^{-6}	0.001
0.0026	600	0	10-4	0.041	4.73×10^{-6}	0.003
0.026	600	0	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	4.73×10^{-6}	0.003
0.0026	600	0.02	10-4	0.041	5.26×10^{-6}	0.003
0.026	600	0.02	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	2.36×10^{-5}	0.014
0.026	600	0	10-4	0.041	4.73×10^{-5}	0.028
0.026	600	0.02	10-4	0.041	5.26×10^{-5}	0.031
0.0026	86,400	0	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	4.73×10^{-7}	0.040
0.0026	86,400	0.02	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	2.36×10^{-6}	0.184
0.0026	86,400	0	10-4	0.041	4.73×10^{-6}	0.335
0.026	86,400	0	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	4.73×10^{-6}	0.335
0.0026	86,400	0.02	10-4	0.041	5.26×10^{-6}	0.365
0.026	86,400	0.02	10 ⁻⁷	0.004	2.36×10^{-5}	0.870
0.026	86,400	0	10-4	0.041	4.73×10^{-5}	0.983
0.026	86,400	0.02	10 ⁻⁴	0.041	5.26×10^{-5}	0.989

TABLE 2 Sensitivity analysis of larval encounter rates and probabilities as a function of larval density, time span, larval swimming speeds, and turbulent velocities.

Encounter rates and turbulent velocities were computed according to Kiørboe and MacKenzie (1995), and encounter probabilities were computed according to Gerritsen and Strickler (1977), for larval encounter with at least one other larva. Rows are sorted according to increasing encounter probabilities values. For graphical representation of this data see Supplementary Figure S2.



et al., 2017, L = 64). The 3D—spatio-temporally explicit model is limited as well, since advection, and turbulence transport

the larvae away from their initially confined cubic domain to waters which are empty of larvae. This alters the shape and the volume of the waters encompassing the larval patch, resulting in a modification of the effective densities across time. Despite these limitations, both methods indicate that larval encounter within the first 24 h post-hatching can be feasible.

Even when larvae encounter each other they still need to overcome turbulent velocity to keep together. The fact that larval swimming velocities soon after hatching were similar to the upper range of turbulent velocities (Dissipation rate of 10^{-4} m³ s⁻²;

Table 2) suggests that fish larvae can maintain schooling in most oceanic conditions.

To keep together, larvae may utilize their vision and lateral line senses similarly to adult fish (Partridge and Pitcher, 1980), and their olfactory sense similarly to settlement stage larvae (Lecchini et al., 2014). They may also use their auditory sense, as fish larvae can produce sounds during the night (Staaterman et al., 2014).

The fact that larvae within cohorts stayed together through their PLD (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012) suggests a high cohort fidelity and a lack of (or little) mixing with other cohorts or sporadic individuals (i.e., cohesive dispersal). This, in turn, suggests that *N. miryae* larvae would form scarce and clumped patches in the pelagic environment.

The spatial scale of cohesive dispersal is unknown due to the limited information about the spatial heterogeneity of traceelements used in Ben-Tzvi et al. (2012). However, using the available information, we can make a simplistic assessment of the spatial extent of newly formed cohorts, which results in length scales of tens to hundreds of meters (Supplementary Data S1). At these small scales, convergent oceanographic features, which could potentially aggregate larvae but are too small to be resolved by the MITgcm model, could occur (e.g., Gildor et al., 2009). Yet, such features are rare and persistent across no more than a few days, and therefore cannot produce the observed cohesive pattern across the PLD (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012).

Schooling behavior, along with other biological and physical factors (e.g., Fronts, pycnoclines, and heterogeneous distribution of larva predator and prey) can contribute to larval patchiness (e.g., McGurk, 1986; Frank et al., 1993). Ichthyoplankton samples from Kimmerling et al. (2017) suggest a stronger tendency of *N. miryae* to be found in groups compared to *C. viridis*, whose otolith analysis lacked any evidence for cohesive dispersal (Ben-Tzvi et al., 2012). Note however, that the larvae of these two species are characterized by different spatio-temporal dynamics which may also effect their tendency to be found in groups (Kimmerling et al., 2017). Naturally, Interplay between biological and physical factors can effect schooling dynamics, as more patchy populations have a higher probability of encounter, and therefore facilitate schooling.

Previous studies demonstrated that the extent of patchiness often follows a "U" shaped curve across ontogeny (for example in Capelin and Sandlance larvae/eggs; Bradbury et al., 2003). Initial high patchiness is attributed to the coherence of larvae/eggs patches from mass-spawning/hatching at specific areas; the following decrease is attributed mainly to advection and mortality; and the increase toward the end of the PLD is attributed to active larval behavior (Bradbury et al., 2003). While Frank et al. (1993) attributed that increase to the occurrence of prey (*Sagitta elegans*), schooling behavior may have also played a role in these dynamics.

In our current biophysical model, mortality was not applied. In other modeling efforts, mortality is mostly applied as a constant rate in time and space due to limited empirical information. Such application of mortality is not expected to effect the results and the conclusions of this study (e.g., Berenshtein et al., 2017). Increased schooling capacity can affect fitness both positively and negatively. Positive effects include increased swimming speeds and orientation capacities (Irisson et al., 2015), which are manifested in increased settlement success (**Figure 5**; Berenshtein et al., 2017); while negative effects may include higher probability of predator encounter due to increased mobility (swimming velocity and directional persistence; Visser and Kiørboe, 2006), increased competition for food, and the reduction of variation in effective dispersal paths (i.e., connectivity; **Figure 5**).

The increased settlement success of schooling larvae is attributed to higher swimming speeds and a more precise orientation (Irisson et al., 2015), which lead to an increase in displacement associated with larval behavior (Berenshtein et al., 2017). This, in turn, allows the larvae to depart from entraining currents (e.g., sub-mesoscale eddies) and increases their probability of reaching the coast and settling (Berenshtein et al., 2017). The decrease in connectivity network density (**Figure 5**) is attributed to the reduction of the variation in dispersal trajectories. In other words, a population of larvae which disperses in pairs for example, can produce half of the dispersal paths generated by individually dispersing larvae.

These changes in settlement success and connectivity are important as these factors are central in population dynamics, affecting the biogeography and the genetic structure of populations in multiple marine species (Cowen and Sponaugle, 2009). Moreover, larval supply from external (non-local) sources is essential for sustaining populations, i.e., sites which receive larvae from multiple sources would be less susceptible for a population collapse compared to sites which are dependent on fewer sources (Cowen et al., 2006).As schooling in fish larvae might be very common (reviewed in Leis, 2006), in-situ and laboratory studies are needed to examine ontogenetic larval collective behavior, and specifically their fission-fusion dynamics across their PLD. This, in conjunction with ichthyoplankton analyses of species abundances throughout ontogeny, could set the basis for a realistic incorporation of schooling behavior in biophysical models.

In conclusion, this study supports the occurrence of schooling of *N. miryae* in the GoA across the PLD for realistic reconstruction of observed settlement patterns. In addition, our study demonstrates the effects of schooling behavior on larval settlement success and connectivity. The dynamics and characteristics of larval schooling should be further studied, and its application should be considered in larval dispersal models when managing fisheries and determining marine protected areas.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IB, HG, YA, EF, and MK participated in data analysis, EF adjusted and run the atmospheric model, and helped with the particle tracking algorithm, HG and YA adjusted and run the oceanographic model, IB, CP, and MK participated in conceiving, designing, and drafting the study.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the United States-Israel Bi-national Science Foundation (BSF grant 2008/144 to MK 1210 and CP).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Ofer Ben-Tzvi for providing details about the field sampling. We thank Dr. Robin Faillettaz for support with graphics. We thank the IUI staff and the Paris lab for their

REFERENCES

- Arvedlund, M., and Kavanagh, K. (2009). The senses and environmental cues used by marine larvae of fish and decapod crustaceans to find tropical coastal ecosystems. *Ecol. Connect. among Trop. Coast. Ecosyst.* 135–184. doi: 10.1007/978-90-481-2406-0_5
- Ben-Tzvi, O., Abelson, A., Gaines, S. D., Bernardi, G., Beldade, R., Sheehy, M. S., et al. (2012). Evidence for cohesive dispersal in the sea. *PLoS ONE* 7:e42672. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042672
- Berenshtein, I., Kiflawi, M., Shashar, N., Wieler, U., Agiv, H., and Paris, C. B. (2014). Polarized light sensitivity and orientation in coral reef fish post-larvae. *PLoS ONE* 9:e88468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088468
- Berenshtein, I., Paris, C. B., Gildor, H., Fredj, E., Amitai, Y., Lapidot, O., et al. (2017). Auto-correlated directional swimming can enhance settlement success and connectivity in fish larvae. *J. Theor. Biol.* 439, 76–85. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2017.11.009
- Bernardi, G., Beldade, R., Holbrook, S. J., and Schmitt, R. J. (2012). Fullsibs in cohorts of newly settled coral reef fishes. *PLoS ONE* 7:e44953. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0044953
- Biton, E., and Gildor, H. (2011). The general circulation of the Gulf of Aqaba (Gulf of Eilat) revisited: the interplay between the exchange flow through the Straits of Tiran and surface fluxes. J. Geophys. Res. 116:C08020. doi: 10.1029/2010JC006860
- Bottesch, M., Gerlach, G., Halbach, M., Bally, A., Kingsford, M. J., and Mouritsen, H. (2016). A magnetic compass that might help coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *Curr. Biol.* 26, R1266–R1267. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.10.051
- Bradbury, I. R., Snelgrove, P. V. R., and Pepin, P. (2003). Passive and active behavioural contributions to patchiness and spatial pattern during the early life history of marine fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 257, 233–245. doi: 10.3354/meps257233
- Breitburg, D. L. (1991). Settlement patterns and presettlement behavior of the naked goby, *Gobiosoma bosci*, a temperate oyster reef fish. *Mar. Biol.* 109, 213–221. doi: 10.1007/BF01319389
- Codling, E. A., Hill, N. A., Pitchford, J. W., and Simpson, S. D. (2004). Random walk models for the movement and recruitment of reef fish larvae. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 279, 215–224. doi: 10.3354/meps279215
- Codling, E. A., Pitchford, J. W., and Simpson, S. D. (2007). Group navigation and the "many-wrongs principle" in models of animal movement. *Ecology* 88, 1864–1870. doi: 10.1890/06-0854.1
- Couzin, I. D., Krausew, J., Jamesz, R., Ruxtony, G. D., and Franksz, N. R. (2002). Collective memory and spatial sorting in animal groups. J. Theor. Biol. 218, 1–11. doi: 10.1006/jtbi.2002.3065
- Cowen, R. K., and Sponaugle, S. (2009). Larval dispersal and marine population connectivity. Ann. Rev. Mar. Sci. 1, 443–466. doi: 10.1146/annurev.marine.010908.163757
- Cowen, R. K., Paris, C. B., and Srinivasan, A. (2006). Scaling of connectivity in marine populations. *Science* 311, 522–527. doi: 10.1126/science.1122039
- Dor, M., and Allen, G. R. (1974). Neopomacentrus miryae, a new species of pomacentrid fish from the Red Sea. Proc. Biol. Soc. Washingt. 90, 183–188.
- Fishelson, L., Popper, D., and Avidor, A. (1974). Biosociology and ecology of pomacentrid fishes around the Sinai Peninsula (northern Red Sea). J. Fish Biol. 6, 119–133. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.1974.tb04532.x

contribution in various aspects of this study. We greatly thank two reviewers who substantially improved the quality of our manuscript. This study was supported by the United States–Israel Bi-national Science Foundation (BSF grant 2008/144 to MK and CP).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmars. 2018.00254/full#supplementary-material

- Fisher, R. (2005). Swimming speeds of larval coral reef fishes: impacts on self-recruitment and dispersal. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 285, 223–232. doi: 10.3354/meps285223
- Frank, K. T., Carscadden, J. E., and Leggett, W. C. (1993). Causes of spatio-temporal variation in the patchiness of larval fish distributions: differential mortality or behaviour? *Fish. Oceanogr.* 2, 114–123. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2419.1993.tb00129.x
- Fredj, E., Carlson, D. F., Amitai, Y., Gozolchiani, A., and Gildor, H. (2016). The particle tracking and analysis toolbox (PaTATO) for Matlab. *Limnol. Ocean. Methods* 14, 586–599. doi: 10.1002/ lom3.10114
- Gerritsen, J., and Strickler, J. R. (1977). Encounter probabilities and community structure in zooplankton: a mathematical model. J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 34, 73–82. doi: 10.1139/f77-008
- Gildor, H., Fredj, E., Steinbuck, J., and Monismith, S. (2009). Evidence for submesoscale barriers to horizontal mixing in the ocean from current measurements and aerial photographs. *J. Phys. Oceanogr.* 39, 1975–1983. doi: 10.1175/2009JPO4116.1
- Hill, M. O. (1973). Diversity and Evenness: a unifying notation and its consequences. *Ecology* 54, 427–432. doi: 10.2307/1934352
- Hixon, M. A., and Jones, G. P. (2005). Competition, predation, and densitydependent mortality in demersal marine fishes. *Ecology* 86, 2847–2859. doi: 10.1890/04-1455
- Huebert, K. B., Cowen, R. K., and Sponaugle, S. (2011). Vertical migrations of reef fish larvae in the Straits of Florida and effects on larval transport. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 56, 1653–1666. doi: 10.4319/lo.2011.56.5.1653
- Irisson, J. O., Guigand, C., and Paris, C. B. (2009). Detection and quantification of marine larvae orientation in the pelagic environment. *Limnol. Ocean. Methods* 7, 664–672. doi: 10.4319/lom.2009.7.664
- Irisson, J.-O., Paris, C. B., Guigand, C., and Planesa, S. (2010). Vertical distribution and ontogenetic "migration" in coral reef fish larvae. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 55, 909–919. doi: 10.4319/lo.2010.55.2.0909
- Irisson, J. O., Paris, C. B., Leis, J. M., and Yerman, M. N. (2015). With a little help from my friends: group orientation by larvae of a coral reef fish. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0144060. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144060
- Kimmerling, N., Zuqert, O., Amitai, G., Gurevich, T., Armoza-Zvuloni, R., Kolesnikov, I., et al. (2017). Quantitative species-level ecology of reef fish larvae via metabarcoding. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 2, 306–316. doi: 10.1038/s41559-017-0413-2
- Kingsford, M. J., and Tricklebank, K. A. (1991). Ontogeny and behavior of *Aldrichetta forsteri* (Teleostei: Mugilidae). *Copeia* 1991, 9–16. doi: 10.2307/1446243
- Kiørboe, T., and MacKenzie, B. (1995). Turbulence-enhanced prey encounter rates in larval fish: effects of spatial scale, larval behaviour and size. J. Plankton Res. 17, 2319–2331. doi: 10.1093/plankt/17.12.2319
- Kiorboe, T., and Saiz, E. (1995). Planktivorous feeding in calm and turbulent environments, with emphasis on copepods. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 122, 135–146. doi: 10.3354/meps122135
- Lecchini, D., Peyrusse, K., Lanyon, R. G., and Lecellier, G. (2014). Importance of visual cues of conspecifics and predators during the habitat selection of coral reef fish larvae. C. R. Biol. 337, 345–351. doi: 10.1016/j.crvi.2014. 03.007

- Leis, J. M. (2006). Are Larvae of demersal fishes plankton or nekton? *Adv. Mar. Biol.* 51, 57–141. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2881(06)51002-8
- Leis, J. M., and Carson-Ewart, B. M. (1997). In situ swimming speeds of the late larvae of some coral reef fishes. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 159, 165–174. doi: 10.3354/meps159165
- Leis, J. M., and Carson-Ewart, B. M. (2003). Orientation of pelagic larvae of coral-reef fishes in the ocean. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 252, 239–253. doi: 10.3354/meps252239
- Levin, L. A. (2006). Recent progress in understanding larval dispersal: new directions and digressions. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 46, 282–297. doi: 10.1093/icb/icj024
- Lloyd, M. (1967). 'Mean Crowding'. J. Anim. Ecol. 36, 1-30.
- Marshall, J., Adcroft, A., Hill, C., Perelman, L., and Heisey, C. (1997). A finitevolume, incompressible Navier Stokes model for studies of the ocean on parallel computers. J. Geophys. Res. Ser. 102, 5753–5766. doi: 10.1029/96J C02775
- McGurk, M. D. (1986). Natural mortality of marine pelagic fish eggs and larvae: role of spatial patchiness. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 34, 227–242. doi: 10.3354/meps034227
- Mouritsen, H., Atema, J., Kingsford, M. J., and Gerlach, G. (2013). Sun compass orientation helps coral reef fish larvae return to their natal reef. *PLoS ONE* 8:e66039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066039
- Paris, C. B., and Cowen, R. K. (2004). Direct evidence of a biophysical retention mechanism for coral reef fish larvae. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 49, 1964–1979. doi: 10.4319/lo.2004.49.6.1964
- Partridge, B. L., and Pitcher, T. J. (1980). The sensory basis of fish schools: relative roles of lateral line and vision. J. Comp. Physiol. 135, 315–325.
- R core team (2013). R: The R Project for Statistical Computing. Available online at: https://www.r-project.org/
- Renee Lara, M. (2001). Morphology of the eye and visual acuities in the settlementintervals of some coral reef fishes (Labridae, Scaridae). *Environ. Biol. Fishes* 62, 365–378. doi: 10.1023/A:1012214229164
- Selwyn, J. D., Hogan, J. D., Downey-Wall, A. M., Gurski, L. M., Portnoy, D. S., and Heath, D. D. (2016). Kin-aggregations explain chaotic genetic patchiness, a commonly observed genetic pattern, in a marine fish. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0153381. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153381

- Shaw, E. (1978). Schooling Fishes: the school, a truly egalitarian form of organization in which all members of the group are alike in influence, offers substantial benefits to its participants. Am. Sci. 66, 166–175.
- Shima, J. S., and Swearer, S. E. (2016). Evidence and population consequences of shared larval dispersal histories in a marine fish. *Ecology* 97, 25–31. doi: 10.1890/14-2298.1
- Siegel, D. A., Mitarai, S., Costello, C. J., Gaines, S. D., Kendall, B. E., Warner, R. R., et al. (2008). The stochastic nature of larval connectivity among nearshore marine populations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 8974–8979. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802544105
- Skamarock, W. C., Klemp, J. B., and Dudhia, J. (2001). "Prototypes for the WRF (Weather Research and Forecasting) model," in *Preprints, 9th Conference on Mesoscale Processes, J11–J15, American Meteorological Society* (Fort Lauderdale, FL).
- Staaterman, E., Paris, C. B., and Helgers, J. (2012). Orientation behavior in fish larvae: a missing piece to Hjort's critical period hypothesis. J. Theor. Biol. 304, 188–196. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2012.03.016
- Staaterman, E., Paris, C. B., and Kough, A. S. (2014). First evidence of fish larvae producing sounds. *Biol. Lett.* 10:20140643. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2014.0643
- Visser, A. W., and Kiørboe, T. (2006). Plankton motility patterns and encounter rates. *Oecologia* 148, 538–546. doi: 10.1007/s00442-006-0385-4
- Weihs, D. (1975). "Some hydrodynamical aspects of fish schooling," in *Swimming and Flying in Nature*, eds T. Y. T. Wu, C. J. Brokaw, and C. Brennen (Boston, MA: Springer), 703–718.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Berenshtein, Paris, Gildor, Fredj, Amitai and Kiflawi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

